
Policy and Performance 
Advisory Committee 
7 November 2023 
 

 

 

 

Time and venue: 3pm, in the Council Chamber, County Hall, St Anne's Crescent, 
Lewes, East Sussex, BN7 1UE. 
 
Membership: Councillor Christine Brett (Chair); Councillors  Janet Baah, 
Ciarron Clarkson, Graham Clews, Ezra Cohen, Paul Davies, Nikki Fabry, Paul Keene, 
Imogen Makepeace, Paul Mellor and Daniel Stewart-Roberts 
 
Quorum: 3 
 

Published: Monday, 30 October 2023 
 

Agenda 
  
1 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 5 - 12) 

  
2 Apologies for absence   

  
3 Declarations of Interest   
 
 Disclosure by councillors of personal interests in matters on the agenda, the 

nature of any interest and whether the councillor regards the interest as 
prejudicial under the terms of the Code of Conduct. 
  

4 Urgent Items   
 
 Items not on the agenda which the Chair of the meeting is of the opinion should 

be considered as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances as 
defined in Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972. A 
Supplementary Report will be circulated at the meeting to update the main 
Reports with any late information. 
  

5 Written Questions from Councillors   
 
 To deal with written questions from councillors pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 12.3 

(page D8 of the Constitution). 
  

PERFORMANCE REVIEW 
  
6 Updates and Reports from the Policy and Performance Advisory Committee 

Work Programme.   
  

 (a) 2023 Air Quality Annual Status Report  (Pages 13 - 102) 
  

 (b) Policy and Performance Advisory Committee Southern Water Panel - 
verbal update   

  

Public Document Pack



 

POLICY INPUT AND DEVELOPMENT 
  
7 Requested reports due for consideration by the Cabinet on 9 November 

2023  (Pages 103 - 106) 
  

 (a) Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy - Annual update 2023  
(Pages 107 - 158) 

  
 (b) War Pensions and Armed Forces Compensation Policy  (Pages 159 - 

162) 
  

 (c) Lewes Local Plan - Towards a Spatial Strategy and Policies 
Approaches  (Pages 163 - 382) 

  
8 Forward Plan of Decisions  (Pages 383 - 398) 
 
 To receive the Forward Plan of the Cabinet. 

  
9 Policy and Performance Advisory Committee Work Programme  (Pages 399 

- 402) 
 
 To receive the Policy and Performance Advisory Committee Work Programme. 

  
10 Date of Next Meeting   
 
 To note that the next meeting of the Policy and Performance Advisory Committee 

is scheduled to be held on 30 November 2023 at The Marine Workshops, Railway 
Quay, Newhaven, East Sussex, BN9 0ER. 
 

 

Information for the public 
Accessibility:   
Please note that the venue for this meeting is wheelchair accessible and has a hearing 
loop to help people who are hearing impaired.  If you would like to use the hearing loop 
please advise Democratic Services (see below for contact details) either in advance of the 
meeting or when you arrive so that they can set you up with the relevant equipment to link 
into the system.   
 
This agenda and accompanying reports are published on the Council’s website in PDF 
format which means you can use the “read out loud” facility of Adobe Acrobat Reader. 
Filming/Recording:  
This meeting may be filmed, recorded or broadcast by any person or organisation. Anyone 
wishing to film or record must notify the Chair prior to the start of the meeting. Members of 
the public attending the meeting are deemed to have consented to be filmed or recorded, 
as liability for this is not within the Council’s control. 
Public participation:  
Please contact Democratic Services (see end of agenda) for the relevant deadlines for 
registering to speak on a matter which is listed on the agenda if applicable. 
 
 



3 
 

Information for councillors 
Disclosure of interests:   
Members should declare their interest in a matter at the beginning of the meeting.  
 
In the case of a disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI), if the interest is not registered (nor 
the subject of a pending notification) details of the nature of the interest must be reported 
to the meeting by the member and subsequently notified in writing to the Monitoring Officer 
within 28 days. 
 
If a member has a DPI or other prejudicial interest he/she must leave the room when the 
matter is being considered (unless he/she has obtained a dispensation). 
Councillor right of address:   
A member of the Council may ask the Chair of a committee or sub-committee a question 
on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affect the 
District and which falls within the terms of reference of that Committee or Sub-Committee. 
 
A member must give notice of the question to the Head of Democratic Services in writing 
or by electronic mail no later than close of business on the fourth working day before the 
meeting at which the question is to be asked. 
Other participation:  
Please contact Democratic Services (see end of agenda) for the relevant deadlines for 
registering to speak on a matter which is listed on the agenda if applicable. 
 
Democratic Services 
For any further queries regarding this agenda or notification of apologies please contact 
Democratic Services. 

Email: committees@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk   

Telephone: 01323 410000 

Council website: https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/ 
 
Modern.gov app available: View upcoming public committee documents on your device.  
Free modern.gov  iPad app or Android app or Microsoft app . 
 

mailto:committees@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/
https://apps.apple.com/gb/app/modern-gov/id1453414073
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.modernmindset.xapp
https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/p/moderngov/9pfpjqcvz8nl?activetab=pivot:overviewtab


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
Policy and Performance Advisory Committee 

 
Minutes of meeting held in Room 209/210 Marine Workshops - Marine 
Workshops, Newhaven on 7 September 2023 at 2.30 pm. 
 
Present: 
Councillor Christine Brett (Chair). 
Councillors Janet Baah, Ciarron Clarkson, Graham Clews, Ezra Cohen, Paul Keene, 
Paul Mellor and Daniel Stewart-Roberts. 
 
Officers in attendance:  
Philip Brown (Property Lawyer), Luke Dreeling (Performance Lead), Nick Peeters 
(Committee Officer), Linda Farley (Head of Customer First), Parmjeet Jassal (Interim 
Head of Financial Planning), Lisa Rawlinson (Head of Regeneration) and Ross Sutton 
(Head of Financial Reporting). 
  
11 Minutes of the previous meeting 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on the 11 July 2023 were submitted and the 
Deputy Chair was authorised to sign them as a correct record. 
  

12 Apologies for absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Davies, Fabry and 
Makepeace. 
  

13 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were none. 
  

14 Urgent Items 
 
There were none. 
  

15 Written Questions from Councillors 
 
There were none. 
  

16 Requested reports due for consideration by the Cabinet on 14 September 
2023 
 
It was agreed that all the reports on the agenda would be considered by the 
Committee. 
  

16a Cost of Living Update 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



Policy and Performance Advisory Committee 2
 7 September 2023 

 

Seanne Sweeny, Community Services Lead, presented the report which 
updated Members on the work delivered by the Council in supporting 
residents through the cost-of-Living crisis, with proposals to continue and 
build on key work-streams and partnerships. During discussion, the following 
points were highlighted: 
  
       The Equality & Fairness analysis, which was updated with each Cabinet 

report, would be provided to Members. 
  
       The Cost-of-Living Project Officer role would continue to be a secondment 

from within the organisation. Retaining the position on an annual basis and 
allowed the Council an element of flexibility. 

  
       Further information would be provided on the Policy and Practice 

dashboard (LIFT), which had been funded by East Sussex Council, 
particularly on how it would implemented and monitored, who was 
responsible for its management and whether it had dedicated staff 
assigned to it. It had already been rolled out for Eastbourne Borough 
Council. 

  
       Preliminary discussions with Lewes District Food Partnership had been 

held following the Poverty Truth Hearing and a number of actions were 
being looked at. 

  
       The ‘no wrong door principle’ was aimed at ensuring, where possible, that 

the initial point of contact with Council staff resulted in a first -time 
resolution for customers and avoided the passing on of enquiries. 

  
Resolved to support the officer recommendations in the Cabinet report, in 
full. 
  

16b Revenue & Capital Financial Monitoring report Quarter 1 2023-24 
 
Parmjeet Jassal, Interim Head of Financial Planning, and Ross Sutton, Head 
of Financial reporting, presented the report which provided an assessment of 
the Council’s financial performance against its approved 2023-24 budget, 
incorporating key financial risks, issues and opportunities identified at Quarter 
1 for the General Fund, the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and Capital 
Programme. During discussion, the following points were highlighted: 
  
       It had been necessary to take on agency staff in certain service areas, 

where vacancies existed, in order that the Council could continue to 
deliver statutory services. There was a work stream, as part of the stability 
and Growth programme, that would review agency costs. A number of 
recommendations had already been made including identifying funding at 
the point of recruitment and managing carefully the resources dedicated to 
both agency and full-time staff. 
  

       Depreciation within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) was part of the 
rent setting process. The revaluation of properties could result in higher 

Page 6



Policy and Performance Advisory Committee 3
 7 September 2023 

 

depreciation – this depreciation was used for improvements to stock as 
part of the Major Repairs Reserve. 

  
       The initial Recovery and Stabilisation savings on the East Sussex County 

Council contract business case, in relation to the car parking contract, 
remained unrealised as the contract was with an external contractor and 
its termination would be determined by the terms of the contract. 

  
       The Capital Programme was continually reviewed and updated, and 

covered spend and profiling over several years. Rising costs and capacity 
impacted on schemes, which then had to be revised.   

  
       Members requested that acronyms in future reports be given their full title, 

possibly in the form of a glossary. 
  

Resolved to support the officer recommendations in the Cabinet report, in 
full. 
  

17a Portfolio progress and performance report quarter 1 - 2023-2024 
 
Luke Dreeling, Performance Lead, presented the report which allowed 
Members to consider the Council’s progress and performance in respect of 
service areas for the First Quarter of the year (April-June 2023) as shown in 
Appendix 1 to the report. During discussion, the following points were 
highlighted: 
  
       The provision of the performance indicator for air quality had been 

impacted by staffing issues. The Quarter 2 Performance report would 
include the values for the first and second quarters of the year. More detail 
around the values would be provided. 

  
       The Council’s chatbot, Ellis, was live on the website and already dealing 

with a limited number of enquiries over the phone. The next phase would 
be to look at questions that customers were likely to ask and formulating 
the responses from Ellis into versions that would be easily understood. 
Following this, there would be a continual review of the output from Ellis 
with a focus on the quality of responses provided, and a minimum 
expected deflection target of 35% for calls that the Council is not 
responsible for.  

  
       There were currently limited services at the new contact centre in Lewes 

High Street. Further work on utilities at the centre were being undertaken 
to allow more staff to operate there. It was anticipated that the Council’s 
Housing team and the Citizen’s Advice Bureau would eventually be 
located there – the new contact centre was three times busier than the 
previous facility at Southover House. An update on the new contact centre 
would be provided to a future meeting. 

  
       Further information on the performance indicator for decreasing the 

average number of days to re-let Council homes (excluding temporary 

Page 7



Policy and Performance Advisory Committee 4
 7 September 2023 

 

lets) would be provided, particularly around the re-let process and the 
impact from the condition of the property and efficiency of the contractor 
employed to carry out works. 

  
       Further detail on the performance indicator for customer complaints 

logged at stage 2 and resolved within 20 working days, would be provided, 
particularly around the percentage of those complaints upheld against the 
total number received (which would be included in future commentary).  

  
Resolved to support the officer recommendations in the Cabinet report, in 
full. 
  
  

17b Community Wealth Building Action Plan update 
 
The Chair, Councillor Brett, introduced the report which provided an update 
on the progress of the Community Wealth Building Delivery plan. Members 
noted the report and requested that the following information be provided: 
  
       Concern was expressed that the financial risk associated with projects that 

encountered issues, was not highlighted. 
  
       What the long-term sustainability of the total spending locally was and was 

there an expectation of when the large capital projects end? Additionally, 
was there a target for when gaps in total spend/local spend needed to be 
addressed? 

  
       How often were the Council’s land and building assets reviewed; what was 

the process for the review; were the socially productive uses of the assets 
considered; and were external bodies provided with an opportunity to 
suggest uses? Additionally, where were the assets located and were they 
distributed evenly across the District? 

  
Resolved to support the officer recommendations in the Cabinet report, in 
full. 
  
  
  

17c Business support for Lewes District 
 
Lisa Rawlinson, Head of Regeneration, presented the report which provided 
an update on the achievements of the Local Enterprise and Apprenticeship 
Platform (LEAP) business start-up, and the general business support 
programmes, funded by Lewes District Council. During discussion, the 
following additional information was requested by Members: 
  
       Whether a cost/benefit analysis had been included as part of the work and 

whether a feasibility assessment had been undertaken. 
  
       Whether, in relation to key outcomes, the annual turnover and number of 

Page 8



Policy and Performance Advisory Committee 5
 7 September 2023 

 

staff involved should be monitored as indicators that determined the 
success of a business. 

  
       Further detail on the business that was no longer operating and which 

sector of business it had operated in, as a possible indicator of what 
worked and what didn’t work. 

  
       Members felt there should be wider communication of the scheme with 

successes advertised and promoted. 
  

Resolved to support the officer recommendations in the Cabinet report, in 
full. 
  

17d Funding Simplification Pathfinder Pilot 
 
Lisa Rawlinson, Head of Regeneration, presented the report which provided 
further detail on the Funding Simplification Pathfinder Pilot that Lewes District 
Council has been invited to participate in. During discussion, the following 
points were highlighted: 
  
       Flexibility within the scheme allowed for the monitoring of rising costs and 

continued assessments of project viability. Funds were reallocated where 
necessary, to ensure viable projects were delivered. Any changes were 
reflected in the investment plan. The report highlighted those projects that 
were no longer progressing and the funds allocated to those projects were 
returned to the consolidated pool. Reprofiling allowed identification of 
additional costs to fully cover other projects. 

  
       The Newhaven Town Deal Board had strategic oversight of schemes, with 

Lewes District Council remaining as the accountable body, and was made 
up of representatives from a wide range of organisations including local 
councils, education providers and local businesses.  

  
       The 10 local authorities chosen to pilot the scheme were those that had 

received funding through the Levelling Up Fund, the Town Deal and the 
Future High Street Funding. A memorandum of understanding was in 
place for each of these funding programmes. Once the Government has 
approved the Council’s investment plan, a new MoU would be issued and 
the existing grant funding agreements would need to be amended to 
reflect this. 

  
Resolved to support the officer recommendations in the Cabinet report, in 
full. 
  

18 Exclusion of the public 
 
Resolved to enter into an exempt part of the meeting for item 7e Robinson 
Road Depot – Capital Development Project and item 10 Robinson Road Depot 
– Capital Development Project Exempt Appendix 2, as it was considered that 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in 

Page 9



Policy and Performance Advisory Committee 6
 7 September 2023 

 

disclosing the information. 
  
Exempt reason 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
  

18a Robinson Road Depot - Capital Development Project Update 
 
Nathan Haffenden, Head of Development, Investment and Delivery, 
introduced the report which provided an update on the progress of the plans 
to redevelop the waste and recycling depot in Robinson Road, Newhaven to 
meet the future needs of the service. 
  
Members discussed the management of the project within an agreed budget 
and the provision of sufficient resources. It was noted that part of the due 
diligence undertaken by the Council would include looking at all options for 
renewable energy across the entire scheme. 
  
Resolved to support the officer recommendations to the Cabinet, in full. 
  

19 Robinson Road Depot - Capital Development Project Update - Exempt 
Appendix 2 
  

20 Forward Plan of Cabinet Decisions 
 
The Chair, Councillor Brett, introduced the Cabinet Forward Plan of Decisions, 
which outlined decisions due to be presented to the Cabinet at its future 
meetings. 
  
Resolved to note the Forward Plan of Cabinet Decisions. 
  

21 Policy and Performance Advisory Committee Work Programme 
 
The Chair, Councillor Brett, introduced the Policy and Performance Advisory 
Committee’s work programme. Officers confirmed that the Southern Water 
Panel would be holding its first meeting on the 5 October, with Southern Water 
representatives in attendance. It was further confirmed that Councillor Brett 
would be replacing Councillor Fabry on the Panel, to enable it to be politically 
proportionate. 
  
Resolved to note the Committee’s work programme. 
  

22 Date of Next Meeting 
 
Resolved to note that the that the next scheduled meeting of the Policy and 
Performance Advisory Committee was scheduled to be held on 2 November 
2023 at The Marine Workshops, Railway Quay, Newhaven, East Sussex, BN9 
0ER. 
 

The meeting ended at 4.00 pm 

Page 10



Policy and Performance Advisory Committee 7
 7 September 2023 

 

 
Councillor Christine Brett (Chair) 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report to: Policy and Performance Advisory Committee 

 
Date: 2 November 2023 

 
Title: 2023 Annual Air Quality Status report 

 
Report of: Simon Russell, Head of Democratic Services 

 
Ward(s): 
 

All 

Purpose of report: 
 

To update Members on the 2023 Annual Air Quality Status 
report for Lewes District. 

Officer 
recommendation(s): 
 

1) That the Committee note the report and highlight any 
areas where further scrutiny may be needed  

Reasons for 
recommendations: 
 

To respond to the Committee’s request for air quality in 
Lewes District to be scrutinised. 

Contact Officer(s): Name: Nick Peeters 
Post title: Committee Officer, Democratic Services 
E-mail: nick.peeters@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
Telephone number:  
 

 
1  Introduction 

 
1.1  At previous meetings Members of the Policy and Performance Advisory 

Committee requested that air quality in Lewes District be included on the 
Committee’s work programme. The 2023 Annual Air Quality Status report 
provides information on the Air Quality Management Areas in Lewes District, 
how local engagement can improve the environment, and actions going forward 
that will be carried out to improve air quality in the District. 
 

2  Background 
 

2.1  Following concerns being raised by the Committee over air quality in Lewes 
District and its potential impact on the health and safety of residents, the item 
was added to the range of topics that Members wished to be considered at 
future meetings. The production of the 2023 Annual Air Quality Status report will 
allow Members to discuss the issue with current and relevant data. 
 

3  Outcomes 
 

3.1  The report and the Air Quality Status report are for noting. Members may wish to 
provide feedback and decide if there are any areas highlighted that may require 
further scrutiny 
 

4  Financial appraisal 
 

5.1 There are no direct financial implications as a result of this report. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6a



 
5  Legal implications 

 
6.1 There are no direct legal implications as a result of this report. 

 
6  Risk management implications 

 
7.1 There are no direct risk management implications as a result of the report. 

 
7  Equality analysis 

 
8.1 There are no direct equality issues as a result of the report 

 
8  Environmental sustainability implications 

 
9.1 
 

There are no direct environmental sustainability implications as a result of this 
report. 

9  Appendices 
 

 Appendix 1 - Annual Status Report Appraisal Letter 
Appendix 2 - 2023 Air Quality Annual Status Report 

 

Page 14



   
 

Local Authority: Lewes and Eastbourne Councils 

Reference: ASR23-1763 

Date of issue August 2023 
 
 

Annual Status Report Appraisal Report  1 
 

Annual Status Report Appraisal Report 
 

The Annual Status Report sets out new information on air quality obtained by Lewes and 

Eastbourne Councils (LECs) as part of the Review & Assessment process required under the 

Environment Act 1995 (as amended by the Environment Act 2021) and subsequent Regulations. 

A consolidated Annual Status Report has been submitted for Lewes District Council (LDC) and 

Eastbourne Borough Council (EBC). 

There are currently two Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) declared within LECs jurisdiction, 

both within LDC declared for exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective: 

• Lewes Town Centre AQMA. 

• A259 Newhaven ring road and Town Centre No 1  

 

The revocation of an AQMA should be considered following three consecutive years of 

compliance with the relevant objective as evidenced through monitoring. Where there have been 

no exceedances for the past five years, local authorities must proceed with plans to revoke the 

AQMA. The LAQM Technical Guidance 2022 is clear in this respect:  

"There should not be any declared AQMAs for which compliance with the relevant objective has 

been achieved for a consecutive five-year period." (Point 3.57, page 50). 

AQMAs should identify areas where air quality objectives are not being met or are likely to be at 

risk of not meeting them. Keeping AQMAs in place longer than required risks diluting their 

meaning and impacting public trust in LAQM. Both AQMAs in LEC have been compliant for 3 

years plus (LDC discounts 2020 and 2021 in years of compliance as these were anomalous 

years affected by COVID-19). LDC should review the status of their AQMAs and consider 

revocation.  

Eastbourne Borough Council has no declared AQMA. From 2023 those authorities who have not 

had to designate AQMAs and produce AQAPs will be required to draw up a local Air Quality 

Strategy. These strategies will not have a set format and authorities will be able to draw on 

content within their ASRs and local transport plans to produce them. The local Air Quality 

Strategy requirement aims to encourage local authority prevention and reduction of polluting 

activities in preference to only taking steps to reduce air pollution once exceedances have been 

identified. 

Page 15



   
 

Local Authority: Lewes and Eastbourne Councils 

Reference: ASR23-1763 

Date of issue August 2023 
 
 

Annual Status Report Appraisal Report  2 
 

 

Automatic monitoring was undertaken at one site in LDC and two sites in EBC during 2022, each 

measuring NO2 and PM10. PM2.5 was also monitored at one newly established site within LDC, 

LS8 and one site in EBC, EB3. No exceedances of the short or long-term objectives for any 

pollutant were recorded at any automatic monitoring site in 2022. O3 was additionally monitored 

at EB1. On 12 occasions in 2022, the 8-hour mean was reported to be greater than 100 µg/m3, 

exceedance the AQS objective of 10 times annually.  

Non-automatic (passive) monitoring of NO2 was conducted at 50 sites in LDC and 21 sites in 

EBC. During 2022, there was one exceedance of the annual mean objective for NO2, 41.3 µg/m3   

at Site 3, located at 16 Southway in Newhaven. Upon distance correction this value fell to 24.4 

µg/m3. The highest annual mean NO2 concentration recorded in EBC was 26.8 µg/m3. Increases 

are recorded in measured NO2 concentrations at some sites between 2021 and 2022. The 

Council have attributed this to the lifting of COVID-19 related lockdowns and restrictions. 

LECs have robust QA/QC procedures, which were applied appropriately and accurately to the 

2022 monitoring data. Six diffusion tube sites required annualisation (5 in LDC and 1 in EBC). A 

national bias adjustment factor of 0.83 was applied to the 2022 diffusion tube data. Site 3 in LDC 

required distance correction. Appropriate calculations were shown. All automatic achieved data 

capture of above 75% and thus annualisation was not required. Distance correction was also not 

required at any automatic site.  

Several measures were taken forward to address air quality in the Councils. LDC continues to 

progress Cycle Route 90. In 2022, EBC completed the detailed design for the Eastbourne Town 

Centre Improvement Scheme Phase 2a. Both councils continued anti-idling campaigns. In 2023, 

LDC started preparing a revised AQAP and dispersion modelling is currently being undertaken 

to evaluate the AQMA’s located in Lewes Town Centre and Newhaven. 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



   
 

Local Authority: Lewes and Eastbourne Councils 

Reference: ASR23-1763 

Date of issue August 2023 
 
 

Annual Status Report Appraisal Report  3 
 

Defra recommends that Directors of Public Health approve draft ASRs. Sign off is not a 

requirement, however collaboration and consultation with those who have responsibility for Public 

Health is expected to increase support for measures to improve air quality, with co-benefits for 

all. Please bear this in mind for the next annual reporting process. 

On the basis of the evidence provided by the local authority the conclusions reached are 

accepted for all sources and pollutants. Following the completion of this report, Lewes and 

Eastbourne Councils should submit an Annual Status Report in 2024. 

  

Page 17



   
 

Local Authority: Lewes and Eastbourne Councils 

Reference: ASR23-1763 

Date of issue August 2023 
 
 

Annual Status Report Appraisal Report  4 
 

Commentary 

The report is well structured, detailed, and provides the information specified in the Guidance. 

The following comments are designed to help inform future reports: 

1. Comments from previous ASR appraisals are included and directly responded to. This 

is welcomed and encouraged for future reports. 

2. LDC has two active AQMAs, both have been compliant with the relevant AQS 

objectives for 3 years. The have stated their intention to review these AQMAs alongside 

the revision of their AQAP. This is encouraging to hear.  

3. The councils have included a good Local Engagement and How to get Involved section 

with lots of information for the public about how to get involved with improving air quality.  

4. It is noted that some sections of Table 2.2 are left blank. The council should endeavour 

to complete all sections of this table with available information.  

5. There are instances where pollutants are not subscripted. For example, NO2 in Table 

A.3. whilst this does not affect the readability of the report, the Councils should ensure 

future reports are checked for such errors.  

6. The O3 8-hour objective was exceeded at EB1 in 2022. While LECs are not required to 

report monitoring data in this report, the councils are encouraged to keep this under 

supervision in the event of any further exceedances. 

7. The councils have included appropriate maps of their monitoring network. The zoomed 

in sections aid the readability.  

8. Overall, the report is detailed and satisfies the relevant criteria. The councils should 

continue their good and thorough work.   

 
This commentary is not designed to deal with every aspect of the report.  It highlights a number of issues that 
should help the local authority either in completing the Annual Status Report adequately (if required) or in 
carrying out future Review & Assessment work. 

 
Issues specifically related to this appraisal can be followed up by returning the attached comment form 
to Defra, Welsh Government, Scottish Government or DOE. 

 
For any other queries please contact the Local Air Quality Management Helpdesk: 
Telephone: 0800 0327 953 
Email:  LAQMHelpdesk@bureauveritas.com 
  

Page 18



   
 

Local Authority: Lewes and Eastbourne Councils 

Reference: ASR23-1763 

Date of issue August 2023 
 
 

Annual Status Report Appraisal Report  5 
 

LAQM Guidance Notes – 2023 
Through the Environment Act 2021 and updated Local Air Quality Management Statutory Policy 

Guidance 2022, the Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) framework has been considerably 

strengthened. This page highlights some of the changes for delivery to help you prioritise action 

for improved air quality:  

1. Strengthened Criteria for Air Quality Action Plans (AQAPs)  

Where a Local Authority is not meeting air quality objectives, they must create an AQAP setting 

out their intentions to improve air quality in the area. Without current action plans in place, Local 

Authorities risk negatively impacting their communities by not proactively working to reduce air 

pollution in the area.   

The requirements and guidance around AQAPs were recently strengthened under the 

Environment Act 2021 and revised LAQM Statutory policy guidance, which Local Authorities must 

have regard to. The key criteria for action plans are that they: 

• set out the measures they will take to secure the achievement, and maintenance, of air 

quality standards and objectives 

• specify a date by which each measure will be carried out 

• are revised no later than every five years 

2. New Escalation Process for Reporting  

To ensure ASRs and AQAPs are delivered on time, Defra has introduced a new reminder and 

warning letter system for Local Authorities. This system was set out in the LAQM Statutory Policy 

Guidance 2022, published on 6 August 2022. 

From 30 June 2023, Local Authorities with overdue ASRs and AQAPs will start to receive their 

first reminder letters. As set out in the Tables 1 and 2 below, if reporting requirements continue 

to be missed, the matter can be escalated to a Section 85 Secretary of State direction to the 

relevant Local Authority Chief Executive specifying action.  

You are therefore advised to ensure all statutory reporting duties for LAQM are met on time. 

Please refer to the LAQM Statutory Policy Guidance 2022 for more information.  

 

Page 19



   
 

Local Authority: Lewes and Eastbourne Councils 

Reference: ASR23-1763 

Date of issue August 2023 
 
 

Annual Status Report Appraisal Report  6 
 

Table 1: Reminder and warning process for ASRs  

 

 Table 2 – Reminder and warning process for AQAPs - Due to be revised at least every five 
years 

  

  

Page 20



   
 

Local Authority: Lewes and Eastbourne Councils 

Reference: ASR23-1763 

Date of issue August 2023 
 
 

Annual Status Report Appraisal Report  7 
 

3. Public Bodies Required to Contribute to Action Plans  

The Environment Act 2021 amended the Environment Act 1995 to increase the number of public 

bodies that have a duty to co-operate with Local Authorities for LAQM. Air quality partners are 

certain other public bodies that a Local Authority identifies as having responsibility for a source 

of emissions contributing to an exceedance of local air quality objectives. This could be a 

neighbouring authority, National Highways, or the Environment Agency. Once identified, there is 

a statutory requirement for such public bodies to engage and to contribute actions they will take 

to secure achievement of the local air quality objective and to maintain achievement thereafter. 

All tiers of local Government are also now required by law to collaborate to address exceedances 

of Air Quality Objectives. County councils, the Mayor of London and combined authorities have 

similar duties to air quality partners. The difference is that, when requested, they must contribute 

to an action plan being prepared by a Local Authority, regardless of whether the local authority 

has identified them as being responsible for a source of emissions.  

Under the new legislation, you may choose to request the support of another public body in the 

development of an AQAP and the same may be requested of your organisation.  

Please refer to the LAQM Statutory Policy Guidance 2022 for more information. Should you 

require further assistance, please contact the LAQM Helpdesk:  

Web: http://laqm.defra.gov.uk/helpdesks.html  

FAQs: http://laqm.defra.gov.uk/laqm-faqs/  

Tel: 0800 032 7953 

Email: laqmhelpdesk@uk.bureauveritas.com  

The Air Quality Hub also provides free online information and is a knowledge sharing resource 

for local authority air quality professionals: https://www.airqualityhub.co.uk/ 

  

Page 21

http://laqm.defra.gov.uk/helpdesks.html
http://laqm.defra.gov.uk/laqm-faqs/
mailto:laqmhelpdesk@uk.bureauveritas.com
https://www.airqualityhub.co.uk/


   
 

Local Authority: Lewes and Eastbourne Councils 

Reference: ASR23-1763 

Date of issue August 2023 
 
 

Annual Status Report Appraisal Report  8 
 

Appraisal Response Comment Form 
 

Contact Name:   

Contact Telephone number:  

Contact email address: UKLAQMAppraisals@aecom.com 

 

Comments on appraisal/Further information: 
 

Page 22



 

 

 

2023 Air Quality Annual Status Report 

(ASR) 

In fulfilment of Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 

Local Air Quality Management, as amended by the 

Environment Act 2021 

Date: 30th June, 2023 

 

Page 23



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 

Information 
Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough 

Councils Details 

Local Authority Officer Rachel Sadler   

Department Green Consultancy – Air Quality 

Address 

Lewis District Council 

Southover Road 

Lewes (BN7 1ANB) 

Eastbourne Borough Council 
Town Hall 

Grove Road 

Eastbourne (BN21 4UG) 

Telephone 01273 085611 

E-mail Rachel.Sadler@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 

Report Reference Number ASRLDC&EBC2023 

Date June 2023 

 

 

Page 24



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

1 

 

Executive Summary: Air Quality in Our Area 

Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts. It is recognised as a 

contributing factor in the onset of heart disease and cancer. Additionally, air pollution 

particularly affects the most vulnerable in society: children, the elderly, and those with 

existing heart and lung conditions. There is also often a strong correlation with equalities 

issues because areas with poor air quality are also often less affluent areas1,2. 

The mortality burden of air pollution within the UK is equivalent to 29,000 to 43,000 deaths 

at typical ages3, with a total estimated healthcare cost to the NHS and social care of £157 

million in 20174. 

Air Quality in Lewes District Council 

There are two Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) within the administrative boundary 

of Lewes District Council (LDC), both of which were declared as a result of exceedances 

of the UK Air Quality Standard (AQS) for annual mean nitrogen dioxide (NO2). Full details 

and maps of these AQMAs can be viewed at: https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-

authorities?la_id=146.  

The AQMAs cover parts of Lewes Town Centre and the Newhaven ring road and Town 

Centre and were declared in 2005 and 2014 respectively.  In 2009 and 2016, respective 

Air Quality Action Plans (AQAPs) for Lewes and Newhaven were put in place to reduce 

pollutant emissions. The plans included details on the management of air quality 

monitoring stations established in each area to assess the impact of measures proposed 

in the AQAPs.  

 

1 Public Health England. Air Quality: A Briefing for Directors of Public Health, 2017 

2 Defra. Air quality and social deprivation in the UK: an environmental inequalities analysis, 2006 

3 Defra. Air quality appraisal: damage cost guidance, January 2023 

4 Public Health England. Estimation of costs to the NHS and social care due to the health impacts of air 

pollution: summary report, May 2018 

Page 25

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=146
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=146


Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

2 

 

In 2022, NO2 monitoring using diffusion tubes was carried out at 50 strategically positioned 

sites throughout the district. The number of tubes and their respective locations were 

unchanged from 2021. 

In 2022, all but one site reported annual mean NO2 concentrations below the 40 µg/m3 

AQS. Site 3, located at 16 Southway in Newhaven, reported an exceedance of the annual 

mean NO2 concentration of 41.3 µg/m3. However, it should be noted that following 

distance correction to predict annual mean concentrations at the nearest receptor (in this 

case, the façade of the nearest residential building), the value fell to 34.4 µg/m3, which is 

no longer within 10% of the annual mean NO2 objective (36 µg/m3).  

The majority of sites within the Newhaven AQMA reported small increases in NO2 annual 

mean concentrations when compared to 2021 data, and in all but one location, annual 

means remain above the anomaly of 2020 (pandemic) levels. Within the Lewes Town 

Centre AQMA, more sites reported decreases in annual means compared to 2021. 

There was one locally managed automatic monitoring station (LS8) operational in LDC in 

2022, which is situated on Little East Street, within the existing AQMA in Lewes Town 

Centre. The site monitors NO2, PM10 and PM2.5. No exceedances of annual means for all 

pollutants monitored were reported at the site: PM10 and PM2.5 annual means were 15.6 

µg/m3 and 9.8 µg/m3 respectively, both well below the annual objectives (40 µg/m3 for 

PM10 and 20 µg/m3 for PM2.5), while annual average NO2 was reported to be 12.1 µg/m3. 

There was 1 reported exceedance of the 24 hour mean for PM10 (50 µg/m3, not to be 

exceeded more than 35 times a year), and 9 reported exceedances of the 1 hour mean for 

NO2 (200 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more than 18 times a year). In both cases, the 

number of exceedances reported by LS8 is permitted by the relevant AQS objective. 

Air Quality in Eastbourne Borough Council 

There are no declared AQMAs within Eastbourne Borough Council (EBC) at present, and 

there are no current or historical concerns regarding exceedances of UK Air Quality 

Standards within the area. Despite continued compliance with all AQS, NO2 remains the 

primary pollutant of concern: In 2022, it was monitored using diffusion tubes placed at 21 

strategic locations within the borough. The number and location of monitoring sites was 

unchanged from 2021.  

Page 26



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

3 

 

The highest annual mean NO2 concentration was 26.8 µg/m3, well below the UK AQS, and 

was recorded at site 14, 109 Whiteley Road. Despite no exceedances of the annual mean 

NO2 AQS, 15 of the 21 sites reported increases compared to 2021 data, and annual 

means at all sites remained higher than 2020 levels.  

There are two automatic monitoring sites located within EBC: EB1 (Devonshire Park) 

which monitors NO2, ozone (O3) and PM10 and is locally managed, and EB3 (Holly Place) 

which is part of the Automatic Urban and Rural Monitoring Network (AURN) and monitors 

NO2, PM10 and PM2.5.  

24 hour mean PM10 concentrations greater than 50 µg/m3 were reported on five days at 

site EB1 and one day at site EB3, although both sites still comply with the UK AQS 

objective, which permits up to 35 exceedances per year. Annual means for EB1 and EB3 

were 19.3 µg/m3 and 14.6 µg/m3 respectively, which are well below the 40 µg/m3 UK AQS 

value. Annual mean concentrations of PM2.5 recorded at EB3 have consistently remained 

well below the 25 µg/m3
 AQS, with values of 8.4 µg/m3 and 8.9 µg/m3 reported in 2021 and 

2022 respectively. 

O3 is monitored exclusively at site EB1. The monitor had a data capture rate for O3 of 

99.1% (which is classed as adequate data capture that does not require annualisation). 

On 12 occasions in 2022, the 8 hour mean was reported to be greater than 100 µg/m3. 

The UK AQS O3 objective is 100 µg/m3, not to be exceeded more than 10 times a year, 

and as such, the concentrations recorded at site EB1 did not meet the UK AQS for ground 

level ozone. O3 reacts with atmospheric NO (formed from the interaction of NO2 with 

sunlight) to form O2 and NO2, so uncharacteristically high O3 concentrations are most likely 

due to ongoing impacts of the reduction in NOx emissions during and after the COVID-19 

pandemic. High concentrations of O3 were also observed in 2021, so it is likely that levels 

are still equilibrating in response to the impact of COVID-19 and the nationally imposed 

lockdowns. 

Actions to Improve Air Quality 

Whilst air quality has improved significantly in recent decades, there are some areas 

where local action is needed to protect people and the environment from the effects of air 

pollution.  

Page 27



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

4 

 

The Environmental Improvement Plan5 sets out actions that will drive continued 

improvements to air quality and to meet the new national interim and long-term PM2.5 

targets. The National Air Quality Strategy, due to be published in 2023, will provide more 

information on local authorities' responsibilities to work towards these new targets and 

reduce PM2.5 in their areas. The Road to Zero6  details the approach to reduce exhaust 

emissions from road transport through a number of mechanisms; this is extremely 

important given that the majority of Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) are 

designated due to elevated concentrations heavily influenced by transport emissions. 

Actions to Improve Air Quality in Lewes District Council 

During 2022, LDC continues to progress the Cycle Route 90. The eastern section route, 

from Cliffe High Street to Southerham roundabout, has been agreed by Cycle Lewes and 

the preliminary design has been completed. Feasibility designs are ongoing for town 

centre and western section options. 

LDC also has several ongoing initiatives and schemes in place, such as their eco-driving 

campaign, which is aimed at reducing emissions from idling vehicles at schools across 

both Lewes and Eastbourne councils. This anti-idling message will be continually delivered 

to schools over the next few years. There are also several ongoing measures in place 

aiming to improve coordination of building and road works in Lewes town centre and 

promote sustainable transport modes. 

Other measures can be found in Actions to Improve Air Quality and Table 2.2 – Progress 

on Measures to Improve Air Quality in Lewes District Council. 

Conclusions and Priorities for Lewes District Council 

In 2022, there were no exceedances of PM10 or PM2.5 AQS. One site (Site 3 at 16 

Southway, Newhaven) reported an annual mean NO2 concentration that exceeded the 

NO2 annual mean AQS of 40 µg/m3 prior to fall off with distance correction.  

 

5 Defra. Environmental Improvement Plan 2023, January 2023 

6 DfT. The Road to Zero: Next steps towards cleaner road transport and delivering our Industrial Strategy, 

July 2018 

Page 28



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

5 

 

In 2023, LDC started preparing a revised AQAP and dispersion modelling is currently 

being undertaken to evaluate the AQMA’s located in Lewes Town Centre and Newhaven. 

LDC will continue to monitor the impact of ongoing Transport Planning and Infrastructure 

measures aimed at emissions reduction and will continue to work towards the 

implementation of the planned Cycle Network, which is currently in the design stages. A 

new continuous monitoring site, LS8, was operational in 2022, and has allowed for LDC to 

monitor PM2.5 in Lewes Town Centre. LDC will continue to monitor particulate matter and 

NO2 in 2023.  

LDC will continue to work with ESCC, Sustrans and community groups to implement 

transport-related measures which will improve air quality across the borough. 

 

Actions to Improve Air Quality in Eastbourne Borough Council 

In 2022, EBC has completed the detailed design for the Eastbourne Town Centre 

Improvement Scheme Phase 2a, with construction due to commence this year. The 

Eastbourne Town Centre Improvement Scheme (ETCIS) is a joint project between East 

Sussex County Council and Eastbourne Borough Council. The ETCIS aims to Create an 

attractive pedestrian friendly environment addressing current issues of pedestrian 

congestion experienced along Terminus Road. 

EBC is also continuing the anti-idling education campaign aimed at schools over both 

Lewes and Eastbourne councils. This anti-idling message will be continually delivered to 

schools over the next few years. 

Conclusions and Priorities for Eastbourne Borough Council 

No exceedances of nitrogen dioxide or particulate matter were recorded at any monitoring 

location in 2022. Slight increases in NO2 concentrations were seen at 15 (of 21) monitoring 

locations when compared to 2021 data, but all reported annual means were still well below 

the AQS of 40 µg/m3. 

EBC will continue to monitor NO2, PM10, PM2.5 and O3 in the next year. 

EBC will continue to work with ESCC, Sustrans and Living Streets to implement transport-

related measures which will improve air quality across the borough. 

  

Page 29



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

6 

 

Local Engagement and How to get Involved 

Both LDC and EBC have recently set a carbon zero target for Council activities to be 

carbon neutral by 2030. The link to the Lewes climate change and sustainability strategy 

can be found here and the Eastbourne sustainability policy can be found here.  

Measures so far achieved include: 
 

• Air source heat pumps installed in off-gas social houses 

• Social housing photovoltaics installed 

• Stock condition surveys completed as preliminary to retrofitting 

• Green electricity supply purchased corporately 

• Alternative fuelled refuse vehicles trialled 

• Community action facilitation 

• Tree planting and re-wilding 

• Procurement underway for EV charge points 

 
Help improve your own environment: 
 
Can you cut down on the use of your vehicle? 

• Use public transport 

• Cycle 

• Walk 

• Use alternative routes to get from A to B. Instead of walking or cycling along a major 

road, use alternative quieter and less polluted routes.  

 
Not only can you help in improving our environment, but it gives you the added benefit of 

exercise and helps improve general health and well-being. 

 

Idling engines: 

Vehicle idling causes air pollution and engines should not be left running unnecessarily. 

Breathing polluted air is not only extremely unpleasant but is also detrimental to our health. 

The air inside the vehicle can be worse than outside! 

Why it’s good to turn off vehicle engines - Cut Engine Cut pollution 

Page 30

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/community/lewes-district-climate-change-and-sustainability/
https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/s8799/Appendix%201%20-%20Sustainability%20Policy%20Development.pdf


Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

7 

 

• Exhaust emissions contain a range of air toxic pollutants such as carbon monoxide, 

benzene, formaldehyde, Polyaromatic hydrocarbons, nitrogen dioxide and particulate 

matter. 

• Every minute your car idles you could fill 150 balloons with harmful chemicals. 

• Turning off your car engine and restarting it after one minute causes less pollution 

and uses less fuel than keeping the engine running. 

• Modern batteries need less engine running time to stay charged. 

• It takes up to an hour for an engine to cool down which means your car heating fan 

will work with your engine turned off. 

• Idling does not keep a catalytic converter warm. They retain heat for approximately 

25 minutes after the engine is switched off. 

Air quality is as important as exercise and diet for health. Reducing air pollutants can help 

reduce respiratory problems, heart disease, lung cancer and asthma attacks.  

 
Changing your vehicle: 
 

• If you are considering buying a new or second-hand vehicle/s consider the options of 

newer cleaner models – e.g. hybrids, electric.  

• Have a good look at the vehicles emission credentials before buying.  

• Consider alternatives – could you join a Car Club? 

 

There are various organisations and clubs which offer help and advice on getting active, for 

example:  

• Sustrans: http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-you-can-do, 

• Walking: https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/walk-to-school 

• Bikeability: http://bikeability.org.uk/  

These programmes involve schools and workplaces to try to encourage sustainable and 

active travel (cycling and walking activities).   

 

Public Health England published a very informative document on air pollution and health. 

This can be found on this link: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-pollution/health-matters-air-

pollution. Public Health England7 says: ‘Epidemiological studies have shown that long-term 

exposure to air pollution (over years or lifetimes) reduces life expectancy, mainly due to 

Page 31

http://www.sustrans.org.uk/what-you-can-do
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/walk-to-school
http://bikeability.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-pollution/health-matters-air-pollution
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-pollution/health-matters-air-pollution


Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

8 

 

cardiovascular and respiratory diseases and lung cancer. Short-term exposure (over hours 

or days) to elevated levels of air pollution can also cause a range of health impacts, including 

effects on lung function, exacerbation of asthma, increases in respiratory and cardiovascular 

hospital admissions and mortality.’ 

 

Details, including local air quality monitoring data, annual air quality reports and the impact 

air quality may have on health can be found on the Sussex-air website. Sussex-air also runs 

the Sussex Air Quality Alert service providing warnings to people with respiratory and 

cardiovascular conditions, health professionals and carers in Sussex. The service is FREE 

to register/subscribe to and anyone can join. Alerts are sent direct to the Sussex Air Quality 

Alert app, email, mobile phone via text message or home phone. The app is provided as a 

free service by the Sussex Air Quality Partnership and supported by the Public Health 

Bodies (East Sussex & West Sussex County Council). Further information can be found at: 

http://www.sussex-air.net or by telephone: 01273 484337. 

 

Business 

Businesses in East Sussex can obtain assistance from energy advisors LoCASE (Low 

Carbon Across the South East). Your business may be eligible for a free energy audit and 

funding for energy efficiency solutions identified with a grant. More information can be 

found at: http://locase.co.uk/partners-and-services/ 

1.1 Local Responsibilities and Commitment 

This ASR was prepared by the Green Consultancy – Air Quality Department of Lewes 

District Council and Eastbourne Borough Council with the support and agreement of the 

following officers and departments: 

- Councillor Emily O’Brien 

This ASR has been approved by: 

Rachel Sadler  

This ASR has not been signed off by a Director of Public Health. 

If you have any comments on this ASR please send them to Rachel Sadler at: 

Lewis District Council 

Southover Road 

Page 32

https://sussex-air.net/
http://www.sussex-air.net/
http://locase.co.uk/partners-and-services/


Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

9 

 

Lewes (BN7 1ANB) 

Eastbourne Borough Council 

Town Hall 

Grove Road 

Eastbourne (BN21 4UG)01273 085611 

Rachel.Sadler@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

 

Page 33

mailto:Rachel.Sadler@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

x 

 

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary: Air Quality in Our Area .................................................................. 1 

Air Quality in Lewes District Council ............................................................................................ 1 

Air Quality in Eastbourne Borough Council .................................................................................. 2 

Actions to Improve Air Quality ..................................................................................................... 3 

Actions to Improve Air Quality in Lewes District Council ........................................................................... 4 

Conclusions and Priorities for Lewes District Council ............................................................................... 4 

Actions to Improve Air Quality in Eastbourne Borough Council ................................................................ 5 

Conclusions and Priorities for Eastbourne Borough Council ..................................................................... 5 

Local Engagement and How to get Involved ................................................................................ 6 

1.1 Local Responsibilities and Commitment............................................................................ 8 

1 Local Air Quality Management ................................................................................... 1 

2 Actions to Improve Air Quality ................................................................................... 2 

2.1 Air Quality Management Areas ......................................................................................... 2 

2.2 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air Quality in Lewes District Council and 
Eastbourne Borough Council ....................................................................................................... 4 

2.2.1 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air Quality in Lewes District Council ................. 5 

2.2.2 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air Quality in Eastbourne Borough Council ...... 6 

2.3 PM2.5 – Local Authority Approach to Reducing Emissions and/or Concentrations ........... 11 

3 Air Quality Monitoring Data and Comparison with Air Quality Objectives and 
National Compliance ....................................................................................................... 13 

3.1 Summary of Monitoring Undertaken ................................................................................ 13 

3.1.1 Automatic Monitoring Sites ...................................................................................................... 13 

3.1.2 Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites .............................................................................................. 13 

3.2 Individual Pollutants ........................................................................................................ 14 

3.2.1 Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) ............................................................................................................ 14 

3.2.2 Particulate Matter (PM10) ......................................................................................................... 16 

3.2.3 Particulate Matter (PM2.5) ......................................................................................................... 17 

Appendix A: Monitoring Results .................................................................................... 18 

Appendix B: Full Monthly Diffusion Tube Results for 2022 ......................................... 50 

Appendix C: Supporting Technical Information / Air Quality Monitoring Data QA/QC
 ........................................................................................................................................... 53 

New or Changed Sources Identified Within Lewes District Council and Eastbourne Borough 
Council During 2022 .................................................................................................................. 53 

Additional Air Quality Works Undertaken by Lewes District Council and Eastbourne Borough 
Council During 2022 .................................................................................................................. 53 

QA/QC of Diffusion Tube Monitoring ......................................................................................... 53 

Diffusion Tube Annualisation ................................................................................................................... 54 

Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Factors ................................................................................................. 54 

Page 34



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

xi 

 

NO2 Fall-off with Distance from the Road ................................................................................................ 56 

QA/QC of Automatic Monitoring ................................................................................................ 56 

PM10 and PM2.5 Monitoring Adjustment ................................................................................................... 56 

Automatic Monitoring Annualisation ........................................................................................................ 57 

NO2 Fall-off with Distance from the Road ................................................................................................ 57 

Appendix D: Maps of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs ............................................. 58 

Appendix E: Summary of Air Quality Objectives in England ....................................... 61 

Glossary of Terms ........................................................................................................... 62 

References ....................................................................................................................... 63 

Page 35



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

xii 

 

Figures 

Figure A.1 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations within Newhaven AQMA in 

Lewes District Council........................................................................................................ 32 

Figure A.2 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations within Lewes AQMA in Lewes 

District Council ................................................................................................................... 33 

Figure A.3 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations outside of AQMAs in Lewes 

District Council: Part 1 ....................................................................................................... 34 

Figure A.4 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations outside of AQMAs in Lewes 

District Council: Part 2 ....................................................................................................... 35 

Figure A.5 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations in Eastbourne Borough Council: 

Part 1 ................................................................................................................................. 36 

Figure A.6 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations in Eastbourne Borough Council: 

Part 2 ................................................................................................................................. 37 

Figure A.7 – Trends in Annual Mean PM10 Concentrations in Eastbourne Borough Council

 ........................................................................................................................................... 42 

Figure A.8 – Trends in Number of 24-Hour Mean PM10 Results > 50µg/m3 in Eastbourne 

Borough Council ................................................................................................................ 45 

Figure A.9 – Trends in Annual Mean PM2.5 Concentrations in Eastbourne Borough Council

 ........................................................................................................................................... 48 

 

Figure D.1 – Map of Monitoring Sites in LDC: Northern Lewes and Lewes Town Centre 

AQMA ................................................................................................................................ 58 

Figure D.2 – Map of Monitoring Site in LDC: Southern Lewes with Newhaven Ring Road 

AQMA ................................................................................................................................ 59 

Figure D.3 – Map of Monitoring Site in EBC ...................................................................... 60 

Tables 

Table 2.1 – Declared Air Quality Management Areas .......................................................... 3 

Table 2.2 – Progress on Measures to Improve Air Quality in Lewes District Council ........... 8 

Table 2.3 – Progress on Measures to Improve Air Quality in Eastbourne Borough Council 9 

 

Table A.1 – Details of Automatic Monitoring Sites in Lewes District Council ..................... 18 

Table A.2 – Details of Automatic Monitoring Sites in Eastbourne Borough Council ........... 18 

Table A.3 – Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites in Lewes District Council ............. 19 

Page 36



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

xiii 

 

Table A.4 – Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites in Eastbourne Borough Council ... 23 

Table A.5 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results: Automatic Monitoring (µg/m3) in Lewes 

District Council ................................................................................................................... 25 

Table A.6 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results: Automatic Monitoring (µg/m3) in 

Eastbourne Borough Council ............................................................................................. 26 

Table A.7 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results: Non-Automatic Monitoring (µg/m3) in 

Lewes District Council........................................................................................................ 27 

Table A.8 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results: Non-Automatic Monitoring (µg/m3) in 

Eastbourne Borough Council ............................................................................................. 30 

Table A.9 – 1-Hour Mean NO2 Monitoring Results in Lewes District Council, Number of 1-

Hour Means > 200µg/m3 .................................................................................................... 38 

Table A.10 – 1-Hour Mean NO2 Monitoring Results in Eastbourne Borough Council, 

Number of 1-Hour Means > 200µg/m3 ............................................................................... 39 

Table A.11 – Annual Mean PM10 Monitoring Results (µg/m3) in Lewes District Council .... 40 

Table A.12 – Annual Mean PM10 Monitoring Results (µg/m3) in Eastbourne District Council

 ........................................................................................................................................... 41 

Table A.13 – 24-Hour Mean PM10 Monitoring Results, Number of PM10 24-Hour Means > 

50µg/m3 in Lewes District Council ..................................................................................... 43 

Table A.14 – 24-Hour Mean PM10 Monitoring Results, Number of PM10 24-Hour Means > 

50µg/m3 in Eastbourne Borough Council ........................................................................... 44 

Table A.15 – Annual Mean PM2.5 Monitoring Results (µg/m3) in Lewes District Council .... 46 

Table A.16 – Annual Mean PM2.5 Monitoring Results (µg/m3) in Eastbourne Borough 

Council ............................................................................................................................... 47 

Table A.17 – Running 8-Hour Mean O3 Monitoring Results in Eastbourne Borough 

Council, Number of 8-Hour Means > 100µg/m3 ................................................................. 49 

 

Table B.1 – NO2 2022 Diffusion Tube Results (µg/m3) in Lewes District Council .............. 50 

Table B.2 – NO2 2022 Diffusion Tube Results (µg/m3) in Eastbourne Borough Council .... 52 

 

Table C.1  – Annualisation Summary (concentrations presented in µg/m3) in LDC ........... 54 

Table C.2  – Annualisation Summary (concentrations presented in µg/m3) in EBC ........... 54 

Table C.3 – Bias Adjustment Factor .................................................................................. 55 

Table C.4 – NO2 Fall off With Distance Calculations (concentrations presented in µg/m3) in 

LDC.................................................................................................................................... 56 

Page 37



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

xiv 

 

 

Table E.1 – Air Quality Objectives in England ................................................................... 61 

Page 38



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 1 

1 Local Air Quality Management 

This report provides an overview of air quality in Lewes District Council and Eastbourne 

Borough Council during 2022. It fulfils the requirements of Local Air Quality Management 

(LAQM) as set out in Part IV of the Environment Act (1995), as amended by the 

Environment Act (2021), and the relevant Policy and Technical Guidance documents. 

The LAQM process places an obligation on all local authorities to regularly review and 

assess air quality in their areas, and to determine whether or not the air quality objectives 

are likely to be achieved. Where an exceedance is considered likely the local authority 

must declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and prepare an Air Quality Action 

Plan (AQAP) setting out the measures it intends to put in place in order to achieve and 

maintain the objectives and the dates by which each measure will be carried out. This 

Annual Status Report (ASR) is an annual requirement showing the strategies employed by 

Lewes District Council and Eastbourne Borough Council to improve air quality and any 

progress that has been made. 

The statutory air quality objectives applicable to LAQM in England are presented in Table 

E.1. 

 

Page 39



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 2 

2 Actions to Improve Air Quality 

2.1 Air Quality Management Areas 

Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) are declared when there is an exceedance or 

likely exceedance of an air quality objective. After declaration, the authority should prepare 

an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) within 18 months. The AQAP should specify how air 

quality targets will be achieved and maintained, and provide dates by which measures will 

be carried out.  

A summary of AQMAs declared by LDC can be found in Table 2.1. The table presents a 

description of the two AQMAs that are currently designated within LDC.  Appendix D: 

Maps of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs provides maps of AQMAs and also the air 

quality monitoring locations in relation to the AQMAs. The air quality objective pertinent to 

the current AQMA designations is as follows: 

• NO2 annual mean; 

EBC currently does not have any declared AQMAs. A map of all monitoring locations 

within the administrative area of EBC is provided in Appendix D: Maps of Monitoring 

Locations and AQMAs.

Page 40



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 3 

Table 2.1 – Declared Air Quality Management Areas 

*Level of exceedance after fall off with distance correction to calculate annual mean concentration at the nearest receptor. 

**Number of years compliant includes 2020 and 2021, which are likely anomalies due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and nationally 
imposed lockdowns on emissions. Excluding anomalous years, this is the first year that both AQMAs have been compliant with the Air Quality 
Objective. 

☒ LDC confirm the information on UK-Air regarding their AQMA(s) is up to date. 

☒ LDC confirm that all current AQAPs have been submitted to Defra. 

 

 

 

AQMA 
Name 

Date of 
Declaration 

Pollutants 
and Air 
Quality 

Objectives 

One Line Description 

Is air quality 
in the AQMA 
influenced 
by roads 

controlled 
by Highways 

England? 

Level of 
Exceedance: 
Declaration  

Level of 
Exceedance: 
Current Year 

Number of 
Years 

Compliant 
with Air 
Quality 

Objective  

Name and 
Date of 
AQAP 

Publication 

Web Link to 
AQAP 

Lewes 
Town 
Centre 
AQMA 

Declared 
30/06/2005 

Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

Annual 
Mean 

An area encompassing 
a section of Lewes 

Town Centre extending 
north to include the 

Police Station, south to 
St Andrews Place. 

NO 53 µg/m3 29.3 µg/m3 3 years** 
LDC AQAP 

May-09 

https://www.lew
es-

eastbourne.gov.
uk/_resources/a
ssets/inline/full/0

/261611.pdf  

A259 
Newhaven 
ring road 
and Town 

Centre No 1 

Declared 
16/07/2014 

Nitrogen 
dioxide NO2 

Annual 
Mean 

The designated area 
incorporates 

Newhaven Town 
Centre, Southway, 

Northway, and sections 
of the A259 Brighton 
Road, Lewes Road 

and the swing bridge. 

NO 49 µg/m3 
41.3 (34.4)* 

µg/m3 
3 years** 

Newhaven 
AQAP 
Jun-16 

https://sussex-
air.net/reports/N
ewhavenAQAP2

016.pdf  

P
age 41

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/261611.pdf
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/261611.pdf
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/261611.pdf
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/261611.pdf
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/261611.pdf
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/261611.pdf
https://sussex-air.net/reports/NewhavenAQAP2016.pdf
https://sussex-air.net/reports/NewhavenAQAP2016.pdf
https://sussex-air.net/reports/NewhavenAQAP2016.pdf
https://sussex-air.net/reports/NewhavenAQAP2016.pdf


Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 4 

2.2 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air Quality in 

Lewes District Council and Eastbourne Borough Council 

Defra’s appraisal of last year’s ASR concluded that “The report is well structured, detailed, 

and provides the information specified in the Guidance.” The following comments were 

made to help inform future reports: 

1. There is a good discussion of annual mean concentration trends across the district 

and the AQMAs, with reference to the COVID-19 pandemic. Observed trends are 

also presented clearly, this is encouraged.  

2. Some of the policy text, for example around the Environment Act, which was 

amended in 2021, is now outdated and so could be updated. 

3. There was an error regarding a missing reference source under the section NO2 

Fall-off with Distance from the Road. It is important that future reports have been 

formatted correctly.  

4. There was an error in the text beneath Table C.3 – NO2 Fall off With Distance 

Calculations that stated that ‘No diffusion tube NO2 monitoring locations within 

Eastbourne Borough required distance correction during 2021’, which was 

contradictory of the distance correction for site 3 that was presented above it. The 

text should be checked to ensure consistency.  

5. It seems that robust QA/QC procedures have been used. The council could provide 

a screen capture of the National Diffusion Bias Adjustment Factor Spreadsheet to 

ensure accuracy. 

6. The map provides an overview of the monitoring sites and AQMA boundary, this is 

welcomed. The map should be updated to include the automatic monitoring site at 

LS5, Lewes Town West Street. 

7. Overall, this report is comprehensive and well detailed. Lewes District and 

Eastbourne Borough Council are committed to improving air quality, with plans to 

draft an updated AQAP in 2022. Further comments on the progress of this should 

be included in the 2023 ASR. 

In 2023, LDC and EBC are committed to providing a well-structured ASR which follows 

and provides all of the information specified in the Guidance. All appraisal comments from 

the 2022 ASR have been addressed. 

Page 42



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 5 

2.2.1 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air Quality in Lewes District 

Council  

LDC has taken forward a number of direct measures during the current reporting year of 

2022 in pursuit of improving local air quality. Details of all measures completed, in 

progress or planned are set out in Table 2.2. Nine measures are included within Table 2.2, 

with the type of measure and the progress LDC have made during the reporting year of 

2022 presented. Where there have been, or continue to be, barriers restricting the 

implementation of the measure, these are also presented within Table 2.2. 

More detail on these measures can be found in their respective Action Plans, the Lewes 

District Local Plan, East Sussex Strategic Partnership and the Local Transport Plan.  

Key areas of progress made towards completion of measures are:  

• Lewes – Cycle Route 90: preliminary design for the eastern section of Lewes Cycle 

Route 90, including toucan crossing and 40 mph speed limit; 

• Partnership work with train and bus operators (LTP): provision of additional 

undercover cycle parking at Lewes station; 

• Flow and congestion around Newhaven ring road addressed as a result of 

improvements to crossings on Newhaven Ring Road completed in 2021; 

• Target long-distance freight management and heavy traffic through Lewes Town 

Centre: committed to address as part of the review of East Sussex Local Transport 

Plan 4, which will see the development of a county-wide freight policy. 

LDC expects the following progress on measures to be made over the course of the next 

reporting year:   

• New pipeline schemes – cycling and infrastructure: detailed design for School 

Streets Southover CofE Primary 

• A259 South Coast Corridor Package – A259 Corridor Package: submission of 

Strategic Outline Business Case to the Department for Transport for Major Road 

Network Funding 

LDC’s priorities for the coming year are to carry out further design work and consultation 

with key stakeholders for Lewes Cycle Route 90, and to continue to make progress on the 

Local Transport Plan. 

LDC worked to implement these measures in partnership with the following stakeholders 

during 2022: 

Page 43

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/planning-policy/lewes-core-strategy-local-plan-part-1/
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/planning-policy/lewes-core-strategy-local-plan-part-1/
http://www.essp.org.uk/What-we-do/Pride-of-Place/Environment
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/roads-transport/transport-planning/local-transport-plan


Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 6 

• National Highways (NH); 

• ESCC; 

• ESCC Network Management; 

• Lewes Town Council (LTC); 

• LDC; 

• Sussex Police; 

• Cycle Lewes; 

• Business Community; 

• Network Rail/Southern (Lewes Rail Station); 

• Private operators. 

Whilst the measures stated above and in Table 2.2 will help to contribute towards 

compliance, LDC anticipates that further additional measures not yet prescribed will be 

required in subsequent years to achieve compliance and enable the revocation of Lewes 

Town Centre AQMA and A259 Newhaven Ring Road AQMA. The additional measures will 

be included in the updated AQAP which is currently being developed. 

Excluding years 2020 and 2021, which are likely to be anomalies due to the impact of the 

COVID-19 pandemic and nationally imposed lockdowns, both AQMA’s will need to 

maintain compliance for two additional consecutive years before revocation can be 

considered. 

2.2.2 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air Quality in Eastbourne 

Borough Council  

EBC currently does not have any declared AQMAs, and therefore is not required to define 

measures or implement an AQAP. The Council will however need to specify if they are 

developing an Air Quality Strategy, which is now a requirement of Local Authorities who 

don’t have AQMA’s.  

EBC has taken forward a number of direct measures during the current reporting year of 

2022 in pursuit of improving local air quality. Details of all measures completed, in 

progress or planned are set out in  

 

Table 2.3. 17 measures are included within  

 

Page 44



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 7 

Table 2.3 with the type of measure and the progress EBC have made during the reporting 

year of 2022 presented. Where there have been, or continue to be, barriers restricting the 

implementation of the measure, these are also presented within the table. 

EBC expects the following measures to be completed over the course of the next reporting 

year:  

• Hailsham/Polegate/Eastbourne Sustainable Transport Corridor PHASE 1: detailed 

design to be completed 2023, earliest completion date is 2023/2024.  

• Eastbourne / South Wealden cycling and walking improvements-Eastbourne Cycle 

Parking: individual locations subject to local consultation (completed in 2022) and 

TRO in some cases. Expected completion by September 2023; 

• Eastbourne / South Wealden cycling and walking improvements- Eastbourne Town 

Centre Wayfinding: scheme delivered by EBC and construction is nearing 

completion. Expected completion by June 2023. 

EBC’s priorities for the coming year are to secure funding to enable the construction of the 

Eastbourne Walking and Cycling Network to begin in 2023/2024, and to rework the 

detailed design of Hailsham/Polegate/Eastbourne Sustainable Transport Corridor PHASE 

1 to address drainage issues.  

EBC worked to implement these measures in partnership with the following stakeholders 

during 2022: 

• ESCC; 

• EBC; 

• WDC (Wealden District Council). 

The principal challenges and barriers to implementation that EBC anticipates facing 

regarding the planned construction of Eastbourne Walking and Cycling Network are the 

availability of full funding and the capacity within the wider construction programme. The 

progress of the Hailsham/Polegate/Eastbourne Sustainable Transport Corridor is 

dependent on fitting the construction of PHASE 3 Ersham Road roundabout, Hailsham into 

the wider delivery programme of various other junction improvements on the A22 corridor 

around Hailsham, and the reallocation of road space that will be required for PHASE 4 and 

PHASE 5. 

Progress on the delivery of PHASE 1 of the Hailsham/Polegate/Eastbourne Sustainable 

Transport Corridor has been delayed due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on 

Page 45



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 8 

operations of the council, and the need to rework the detailed design to address drainage 

issues.  

  

Page 46



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 9 

Table 2.2 – Progress on Measures to Improve Air Quality in Lewes District Council 

Measure 
No. 

Measure Category Classification 

Year 
Measure 

Introduced 
in AQAP 

Estimated / 
Actual 

Completion 
Date 

Organisations 
Involved 

Funding 
Source 

Defra 
AQ 

Grant 
Funding 

Funding 
Status 

Estimated 
Cost of 

Measure 

Measure 
Status 

Reduction 
in Pollutant 
/ Emission 

from 
Measure 

Key 
Performance 

Indicator 
Progress to Date 

Comments / Barriers to 
Implementation 

1 
Lewes – Cycle Route 90 

 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Cycle Network  
Estimated for 

eastern section 
2024/25 

ESCC 
NH 

Cycle Lewes 
LTC 

Development 
Contributions 

and ESCC 
No   Planning 

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission 

Increased use 
of sustainable 

transport 
modes 

Preliminary design 
for eastern section, 

including toucan 
crossing and 40mph 
speed limit complete. 
Feasibility Designs 
ongoing for town 

centre and western 
section options. 

Eastern section route, Cliffe High 
Street to Southerham roundabout 

has been agreed by Cycle 
Lewes. Implementation subject to 

securing full funding. The town 
centre and western section 

requires more design work and 
further consultation with key 

stakeholders. 

2 
Better coordination of building 
and road works in the Lewes 

town area (LTP) 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other   
ESCC Network 
Management 

TBC TBC   Implementation 

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission 

Number of 
agreements 

and s.61 
agreements 

Ongoing Ongoing 

3 
Target long-distance freight 
management & heavy traffic 

through town (LTP) 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other  March 2024 
ESCC, LDC, 

Sussex Police 
(enforcement) 

TBC TBC 
 
 

 Planning 

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission 

Traffic counts Committed 

A county wide freight policy will 
be developed as part of the 

review of the East Sussex Local 
Transport Plan 4. 

4 
Reduce emissions from idling 

vehicles - raise awareness 
through eco-driving campaign 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other   LDC 
In-house 
resources 

No   Implementation 

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission 

NO2/ 
Participation/ 
Enforcements 

Ongoing As funding available 

5 

Lewes Parking 
Management (LTP) - 

Intensification of existing/planned 
LTP programmes a) extension of 

parking-controlled area b) re-
allocation of parking/loading 

spaces c) higher charges for long 
stay parking d) higher charges 
for residents second parking 

permits e) discounted permits for 
low-emission vehicles f) 

introduce car spaces for low-
emission vehicles, car-clubs and 
car share g) maintain/increase 

provision of two-wheelers 
parking 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other  

Higher charges 
for residents 

second parking 
permits and 
discounted 
permits for 

lower emission 
vehicles; the 
most recent 

increase was 
in 2020 

ESCC, LDC, 
Lewes Town 

Council, 
Business 

Community, 
Network 

Rail/Southern 
(Lewes Rail 

Station), private 
operators 

TBC TBC   Ongoing 

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission 

Reduced traffic 
and congestion 
at peak time, 
reduced re-
circulation, 

reduced 
emissions; and 
modal shift and 

sustainable 
travel 

behaviour 

Higher charges for 
residents second 

parking permits and 
discounted permits 
for lower emission 
vehicles; the most 

recent increase was 
in 2020. 

Will be undertaken as part of 
parking reviews 

6 

Partnership work with bus & train 
operators (LTP) Increase bus 
and train patronage: through 

supporting marketing campaign, 
extend use of 

subsidised/discounted fares, 
improve bus stop facilities, bus 

information, provision of 
additional undercover cycle 

parking at Lewes station 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other  Ongoing 

ESCC/LDC 
Bus Operators 
Train Operating 

Companies 

TBC TBC   Implementation 
Accessibility/ 
awareness 

 

Ongoing 

Point c – Lewes 
station cycle parking 

is complete 

As funding is available. 

7 
New pipeline schemes - cycling 
infrastructure (Local Cycling & 
Walking Infrastructure Plan) 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Cycle network  Ongoing ESCC 

ESCC Local 
Transport 

Capital 
Programme 

No   Planning 

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission 

 Feasibility 

As funding is available. 
Pipeline scheme – School 

Streets Southover CofE Primary 
– detailed design during 2023. 

8 
Address traffic flow & congestion 

on Newhaven Ring Road 
Traffic 

Management 

UTC, 
Congestion 

management, 
traffic reduction 

   ESCC    Implementation 

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission 

 
Traffic flow/NO2 

Improvements to 
crossings completed 
summer 2021 has 
helped to address 

flow and congestion 

Will be further considered 
through A259 South Coast 

Corridor Package 

9 
A259 South Coast Corridor 
Package – A259 Corridor 

Package 

Multi Modal 
Transport 

Study 
Other    ESCC    Implementation 

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission 

 Feasibility 

Strategic Outline Business Case 
– submission to Department for 

Transport for Major Road 
Network funding - autumn  2023 

 

 

P
age 47



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 10 

Table 2.3 – Progress on Measures to Improve Air Quality in Eastbourne Borough Council 

 

Measure 
No. 

Measure Category Classification 

Year 
Measure 
Introduc

ed in 
AQAP 

Estimated / 
Actual 

Completion Date 

Organisations 
Involved 

Funding 
Source 

Defra 
AQ 

Grant 
Funding 

Funding 
Status 

Estimated 
Cost of 

Measure 

Measure 
Status 

Reduction 
in Pollutant 
/ Emission 

from 
Measure 

Key 
Performance 

Indicator 
Progress to Date 

Comments / Barriers to 
Implementation 

1 

Hailsham/Polegate/Eastbourne 
Sustainable Transport Corridor 

PHASE 1 

 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other  2023/24 earliest ESCC, EBC, WDC 
ESCC Local 

Growth 
Funding 

No   Planning 

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

 
Detailed design to be 

completed 2023 

Delivery delayed due to 
impact of the Covid 19 

Pandemic on operations of 
the council and need to 

rework detailed design to 
address drainage issues 

2 

Hailsham/Polegate/Eastbourne 
Sustainable Transport Corridor 

PHASE 2 Victoria Drive bus lane 

 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other  
Completion within 

4 years 
ESCC, EBC, WDC 

Development 
Contributions

/ Other 
national 
funding 

No   Planning 

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

 Detailed Design  

3 

Hailsham/Polegate/Eastbourne 
Sustainable Transport Corridor 

PHASE 3 Ersham Road 
roundabout, Hailsham 

 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other  
Completion within 

2/3 years 
ESCC, EBC, WDC CIL No   Planning 

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

 

LMTE report on 
consultation and next steps 

Oct 22 – resolved to 
progress to detailed design 

and construction. 
Detailed design to 

commence 2023/24 

Village Green de-
designated to enable 

roundabout to be delivered 

Various other junction 
improvement on the A22 
corridor around Hailsham 
will mean construction will 
need to be fitted into that 
wider delivery programme 

4 

Hailsham/Polegate/Eastbourne 
Sustainable Transport Corridor 

PHASE 4 A2021 Kings 
Drive/Rodmill Roundabout 

 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other  
Completion by 
March 2025 

ESCC, EBC 
Bus Service 
Improvement 
Plan funding 

No   Planning 

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

 

Feasibility – part of Bus 
Service Improvement Plan 

funded package of bus 
priority measures. 

Will require the re-
allocation of road space 

Short timescales for design 
and delivery 

5 

Hailsham/Polegate/Eastbourne 
Sustainable Transport Corridor 

PHASE 5 – Rodmill roundabout 
to town centre (northbound bus 

lane on approach to Rodmill 
roundabout) 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other  
Completion by 
March 2025 

ESCC, EBC, WDC 

Development 
Contributions
/Bus Service 
Improvement 
Plan funding 

No   Planning 

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

 

Feasibility – part of Bus 
Service Improvement Plan 

funded package of bus 
priority measures. 

Will require the re-
allocation of road space 

Short timescales for design 
and delivery 

6 
Eastbourne town centre 

improvement scheme Phase 2a 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other  mid 2024 ESCC, EBC 

ESCC Local 
Growth 

Funding, 
ESCC 

No    

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

 

Detailed design 

Construction to commence 
in 2023 

 

7 
Eastbourne town centre 

improvement scheme Phase 2b 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other  March 2025 ESCC, EBC 
EBC 

Levelling Up 
Fund 

No    

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

 Detailed design 
Public consultation still be 

undertaken 
TRO consultation 

8 
A22/A2290 MRN Corridor Study 
(Golden Jubilee Way to Seaside) 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other  Unknown ESCC 
Major Road 

Network 
Funding 

No    N/A N/A 

Consultation undertaken in 
summer 2021 & Strategic 

Outline business case 
being developed 

Securing funding 

9 

Eastbourne Walking and Cycle 
Network - Horsey Way Phase 

1B (Cavendish Place to 
Ringwood Road) 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Cycle network  March 2024 ESCC 
ESCC Local 

Growth 
Funding 

No    

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

Increased use 
of sustainable 

transport 
modes  

Consultation completed 
2021.Detailed Design 

being undertaken in 2022. 
Construction to commence 

2023. 

Construction will be subject 
to full funding being 

available and capacity 
within wider construction 

programme. 

10 
Eastbourne Walking and Cycle 
Network - Langney Rise cycle 

route 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Cycle network  December 2024 ESCC 
ESCC Local 

Growth 
Funding 

No    

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

Increased use 
of sustainable 

transport 
modes  

Consultation completed 
2021.Detailed Design 
being undertaken in 

2022/23. Construction to 
commence 2023/24. 

Construction will be subject 
to full funding being 

available and capacity 
within wider construction 

programme 

11 
Eastbourne Walking and Cycle 

Network- Willingdon Drove 
cycle route 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Cycle network  March 2024 ESCC 
ESCC Local 

Growth 
Funding 

No    

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

Increased use 
of sustainable 

transport 
modes  

Consultation completed 
2021.Detailed Design 

being undertaken in 2022. 
Construction to commence 

2023/24. 

Construction will be subject 
to full funding being 

available and capacity 
within wider construction 

programme 

12 

Eastbourne / South Wealden 
cycling and walking 

improvements - Stone Cross 
Royal Parade via Langney 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Cycle network  Unknown ESCC 
ESCC Local 

Growth 
Funding 

No    

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

Increased use 
of sustainable 

transport 
modes  

Consultation completed 
2021.Detailed Design 

being undertaken in 2022. 
Subject to securing funding 

P
age 48



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 11 

Measure 
No. 

Measure Category Classification 

Year 
Measure 
Introduc

ed in 
AQAP 

Estimated / 
Actual 

Completion Date 

Organisations 
Involved 

Funding 
Source 

Defra 
AQ 

Grant 
Funding 

Funding 
Status 

Estimated 
Cost of 

Measure 

Measure 
Status 

Reduction 
in Pollutant 
/ Emission 

from 
Measure 

Key 
Performance 

Indicator 
Progress to Date 

Comments / Barriers to 
Implementation 

13 

Eastbourne / South Wealden 
cycling and walking 

improvements-Eastbourne 
Cycle Parking 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Cycle network  Sept 2023 ESCC 
ESCC Local 

Growth 
Funding 

No    

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

Increased use 
of sustainable 

transport 
modes  

Consultation completed in 
2022 

Individual locations subject 
to local consultation and, in 
some cases, TRO process. 

14 

Eastbourne / South Wealden 
cycling and walking 

improvements - Eastbourne 
town centre cycle routes 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Cycle network  March 2024 ESCC 
ESCC Local 

Growth 
Funding 

No    

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

Increased use 
of sustainable 

transport 
modes  

Consultation completed 
2021.Detailed Design 

being undertaken in 2022. 
Construction to commence 

late 2022. 

Construction will be subject 
to full funding being 

available and capacity 
within wider construction 

programme 

15 

Eastbourne / South Wealden 
cycling and walking 

improvements- Eastbourne 
Town Centre Wayfinding 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Cycle network  June 2023 EBC 
ESCC Local 

Growth 
Funding 

No    

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

Increased use 
of sustainable 

transport 
modes  

Construction 
Scheme delivered by EBC, 

nearing completion. 

16 
Eastbourne seafront cycle 

feasibility study 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Cycle network  March 2024 ESCC 

ESCC Local 
Transport 

Capital 
Programme 

No    N/A N/A  Feasibility  

17 
New pipeline schemes - cycling 
infrastructure (Local Cycling & 
Walking Infrastructure Plan) 

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Cycle network  March 2024 ESCC 

ESCC Local 
Transport 

Capital 
Programme 

No    

Reduction of 
NO2 (and 

PM) 
emission  

Increased use 
of sustainable 

transport 
modes  

Feasibility 

As funding is available. 
Pipeline schemes – School 
Streets Langney Primary – 

detailed design during 
2023 & cycle route Royal 

Parade – pre-liminary 
design 2023 

 

 

 P
age 49



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 12 

2.3 PM2.5 – Local Authority Approach to Reducing Emissions 

and/or Concentrations 

As detailed in Policy Guidance LAQM.PG22 (Chapter 8), local authorities are expected to 

work towards reducing emissions and/or concentrations of PM2.5 (particulate matter with 

an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5 µm or less). There is clear evidence that PM2.5 has a 

significant impact on human health, including premature mortality, allergic reactions, and 

cardiovascular diseases. 

Lewes District Council 

In 2022 PM2.5 was monitored at one newly established site within LDC, LS8 in Lewes 

Town Centre and within the existing AQMA. Data capture at this site during 2022 was 

86.6% giving an annual mean of 9.8 μg/m3.  Site LS7 in Newhaven, the sole site 

monitoring PM2.5 in 2021, was not operational during 2022.   

Many of the measures to improve air quality currently being implemented in LDC are 

expected to lower PM2.5 concentrations over time by reducing emissions from road traffic. 

LDC plan to implement a cycle route and new pipeline schemes for cycling infrastructure 

as part of their Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan to promote sustainable 

transport modes. The eco-driving campaign aiming to reduce emissions from idling 

vehicles and measures to intensify existing/planned LTP programmes are also expected to 

reduce PM2.5 road traffic emissions.  

The Public Health Outcomes Framework data tool compiled by Public Health England 

quantifies the mortality burden of PM2.5 within England on a county and local authority 

scale. The 2021 fraction of mortality attributable to particulate air pollution across England 

is 5.5%, and the fraction within LDC significantly lower than the national average at 4.7% 

and the South East regional average of 5.4%. 

Eastbourne Borough Council 

Within EBC, PM2.5 was monitored at one site, EB3 Holly Place. Data capture at this site 

during 2022 was 96.7%, giving an annual mean of 8.9 μg/m3. This was slightly higher than 

the 2021 reported annual mean (8.4 µg/m3).  

As in LDC, numerous measures to be implemented in EBC are focused on reducing road 

traffic emissions are therefore expected to reduce PM2.5 emissions. The 

Hailsham/Polegate/Eastbourne Sustainable Transport Corridor will be implemented in 

Page 50

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework


Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 13 

phases and aims to improve public transport services, while there are also plans to extend 

the existing cycle network to promote sustainable transport modes. 

The Public Health Outcomes Framework compiled by Public Health England quantifies the 

mortality burden of PM2.5 within England on a county and local authority scale. The 2021 

fraction of mortality attributable to particulate air pollution across England is 5.5%, and the 

fraction within LDC significantly lower than the national average at 4.8% and the South 

East regional average of 5.4%. 

In Defra’s recently published Clean Air Strategy 2019 the government want to cut PM2.5 

levels to those recommended by the World Health Organisation:  

‘We will progressively cut public exposure to particulate matter pollution as suggested by 

the World Health Organisation. We will halve the population living in areas with 

concentrations of fine particulate matter above WHO guideline levels (10 µg/m3) by 2025.’ 

Public Health England published a very informative ‘Health Matters’7 of which an example 

page is reproduced below. The document demonstrates the causes and effects of pollutants 

and links the problems of air pollution and health. This connects well with the schools anti-

idling campaign the council are running, anti-idling signage installed in a few heavily 

trafficked/problematic areas and the new Clean Burn Sussex education campaign which 

has been recently undertaken. Results for this will be reported this year. 

 

7 Health Matters: air pollution, Public Health England, published 14 November 2018. Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-pollution  

Page 51

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-air-pollution


Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 14 

3 Air Quality Monitoring Data and Comparison with Air 

Quality Objectives and National Compliance 

This section sets out the monitoring undertaken within 2022 by Lewes Borough Council 

and Eastbourne District Council and how it compares with the relevant air quality 

objectives. In addition, monitoring results are presented for a five-year period between 

2018 and 2022 to allow monitoring trends to be identified and discussed. 

3.1 Summary of Monitoring Undertaken 

3.1.1 Automatic Monitoring Sites 

LDC undertook automatic (continuous) monitoring at 1 site during 2022. Table A.1 in 

Appendix A shows the details of the automatic monitoring site. The Sussex-Air monitoring 

data page presents automatic monitoring results for LDC.  

EBC undertook automatic (continuous) monitoring at 2 sites during 2022. Table A.2 in 

Appendix A shows the details of the automatic monitoring sites. The Sussex-Air monitoring 

data page presents automatic monitoring results for EBC.  

Maps showing the location of the monitoring sites are provided in Appendix D: Maps of 

Monitoring Locations and AQMAs. Further details on how the monitors are calibrated and 

how the data has been adjusted are included in Appendix C: Supporting Technical 

Information / Air Quality Monitoring Data QA/QC. 

3.1.2 Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites 

LDC undertook non-automatic (i.e. passive) monitoring of NO2 at 50 sites during 2022. 

Table A.3 in Appendix A presents the details of the non-automatic sites. 

EBC undertook non-automatic (i.e. passive) monitoring of NO2 at 21 sites during 2022.  

Table A.4 in Appendix A presents the details of the non-automatic sites. 

Maps showing the location of the monitoring sites are provided in in Appendix D: Maps of 

Monitoring Locations and AQMAs. Further details on Quality Assurance/Quality Control 

(QA/QC) for the diffusion tubes, including bias adjustments and any other adjustments 

applied (e.g. annualisation and/or distance correction), are included in Appendix C: 

Supporting Technical Information / Air Quality Monitoring Data QA/QC. 

Page 52

https://sussex-air.net/air-quality-near-me/site-details/
https://sussex-air.net/air-quality-near-me/site-details/
https://sussex-air.net/air-quality-near-me/site-details/
https://sussex-air.net/air-quality-near-me/site-details/


Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 15 

3.2 Individual Pollutants 

The air quality monitoring results presented in this section are, where relevant, adjusted 

for bias, annualisation (where the annual mean data capture is below 75% and greater 

than 25%), and distance correction. Further details on adjustments are provided in 

Appendix C. 

3.2.1 Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) 

Lewes District Council 

Table A.5 and Table A.7 in Appendix A compare the ratified and adjusted monitored NO2 

annual mean concentrations for the past five years with the air quality objective of 40 

µg/m3. Note that the concentration data presented represents the concentration at the 

location of the monitoring site, following the application of bias adjustment and 

annualisation, as required (i.e. the values are exclusive of any consideration to fall-off with 

distance adjustment). 

For diffusion tubes, the full 2022 dataset of monthly mean values is provided in Appendix 

B. Note that the concentration data presented in Table B.1 includes distance corrected 

values, only where relevant. 

Table A.9 in Appendix A compares the ratified continuous monitored NO2 hourly mean 

concentrations for the past five years with the air quality objective of 200 µg/m3, not to be 

exceeded more than 18 times per year. 

Figures A.1 – A.4 show trends in nitrogen dioxide measured by diffusion tubes from 2018 

to 2022. Each figure illustrates the concentration for groups of sites with data readings. 

Newhaven AQMA 

Figure A.1 presents the annual mean NO2 concentrations for the last 5 years reported at 

diffusion tube sites within the Newhaven AQMA. Compliance has been maintained for the 

past three years, although years 2020 and 2021 are likely anomalies as a result of the 

impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and nationally imposed lockdowns. Excluding these 

years, this the first year Newhaven AQMA has been compliant. Compliance will need to be 

maintained for an additional two consecutive years before revocation can be considered.  

In 2022, DT ID 3 – 16 Southway – reported the highest annual mean of 41.3 µg/m3, which 

exceeds the annual air quality objective of 40 µg/m3. However, it should be noted that 

following fall off with distance correction to estimate the annual mean at the nearest 

Page 53



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 16 

receptor, this value fell to 34.4 µg/m3. All other sites reported values below the annual 

objective, although only two sites – DT ID 2 (9 Southway) and DT ID 40 (The Old Chapel)  

– reported decreases in annual means when compared to 2021 data. The Old Chapel is 

located on a hill, near a junction and will receive ‘launch’ exhaust from vehicles that have 

stopped and then started on the hill at the nearby pedestrian crossing.  

Lewes AQMA 

Table A.9 shows that there were 9 occasions where 1 hour NO2 concentrations greater 

than 200 µg/m3 were reported at the continuous monitoring site, LS8, located within the 

existing Lewes AQMA. As up to 35 exceedances a year are permitted by the NO2 1 hour 

AQS objective, the site is compliant with the 1 hour NO2 AQS objective. Table A.5 shows 

that the annual mean NO2 concentration recorded at LS8 was 12.1 µg/m3, which is well 

below the NO2 annual mean AQS objective (40 µg/m3). LS8 reported a valid data capture 

rate of 88.9% for NO2 in 2022. 

Figure A.2 shows the diffusion tubes within Lewes AQMA. The highest annual mean 

concentration was 29.3 µg/m3, recorded at DT ID 12 (Fisher St. East). Only one site (DT 

ID 10, Fisher St.) reported an increase in annual average concentration compared to 2021 

data. Fisher Street diffusion tubes have shown consistently lower concentrations towards 

the middle and western end of this street where a change of priority in traffic was 

implemented as part of recommendations made in the Lewes AQAP 2009. Lewes AQMA 

has been compliant for the last three years, although excluding the years 2020 and 2021, 

which are likely to be considered aberrational years, this is the first year that there have 

been no annual exceedances within Lewes AQMA. Revocation of the Lewes AQMA will be 

able to be considered if compliance is maintained for the next two years. 

Outside of AQMAs 

Figure A.3 and Figure A.4 show the diffusion tubes outside of any AQMAs in LDC. During 

2022, all sites outside of AQMA’s in LDC recorded NO2 concentrations below the annual 

mean AQS of 40 µg/m3. DT ID 21 recorded the highest annual mean concentration outside 

of AQMAs of 33.0 µg/m3. 

Eastbourne Borough Council 

Table A.6 and Table A.8 in Appendix A compare the ratified and adjusted monitored NO2 

annual mean concentrations in EBC for the past five years with the air quality objective of 

40 µg/m3. Note that the concentration data presented represents the concentration at the 

location of the monitoring site, following the application of bias adjustment and 

Page 54



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 17 

annualisation, as required (i.e. the values are exclusive of any consideration to fall-off with 

distance adjustment). 

For diffusion tubes in EBC, the full 2022 dataset of monthly mean values is provided in 

Appendix B. Note that the concentration data presented in Table B.2 includes distance 

corrected values, only where relevant. 

Table A.10 in Appendix A compares the ratified continuous monitored NO2 hourly mean 

concentrations in EBC for the past five years with the air quality objective of 200 µg/m3, 

not to be exceeded more than 18 times per year. 

Figure A.5 and Figure A.6 show all the diffusion tubes within EBC. Results show that no 

monitoring location has been in exceedance of the annual mean objective of 40 µg/m3 in 

the last 5 years. Table A.10 shows that there were no 1 hour NO2 concentrations greater 

than 200 µg/m3 reported at either of the continuous monitoring sites, EB1 and EB3. 

3.2.2 Particulate Matter (PM10) 

Lewes District Council 

Table A.11 in Appendix A: Monitoring Results compares the ratified and adjusted 

monitored PM10 annual mean concentrations within LDC for the year 2022 with the air 

quality objective of 40 µg/m3. As this is the first year that site LS8 has been operational, 

comparisons with previous years are not possible.   

Table A.13 in Appendix A compares the ratified continuous monitored PM10 daily mean 

concentrations within LDC for the past five years with the air quality objective of 50µg/m3, 

not to be exceeded more than 35 times per year. 

LS8 in Lewes Town Centre monitored PM10 with a data capture of 88.1% for the year 

2022. The annual mean concentration recorded at LS8 was 15.6 µg/m3, well below the 

annual mean AQS. There was 1 recorded exceedance of the 24 hour mean AQS (50 

µg/m3).  

  

Page 55



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 18 

Eastbourne Borough Council 

Table A.12 in Appendix A: Monitoring Results compares the ratified and adjusted 

monitored PM10 annual mean concentrations within EBC for the past five years with the air 

quality objective of 40 µg/m3. 

Table A.14 in Appendix A compares the ratified continuous monitored PM10 daily mean 

concentrations within EBC for the past five years with the air quality objective of 50 µg/m3, 

not to be exceeded more than 35 times per year. 

In 2022, PM10 data was collected at both automatic monitors EB1 and EB3, with data 

capture rates of 95.8% and 96.7% respectively. In 2022, the annual concentrations 

recorded were 19.3 µg/m3 and 14.6 µg/m3 at EB1 and EB3 respectively, well below the 

annual mean AQS. There were 5 recorded exceedances of the 24 hour mean 50 µg/m3 

AQS at EB1 and 1 recorded exceedance of the 24 hour mean AQS at EB3. 

3.2.3 Particulate Matter (PM2.5) 

Lewes District Council 

Table A.15 in Appendix A presents the ratified and adjusted monitored PM2.5 annual mean 

concentrations for 2022. As this is the first year that site LS8 has been operational, 

comparisons with previous years are not possible. In 2022, site LS8 had a valid data 

capture of 86.6%, and recorded an annual mean concentration of 9.8 µg/m3, well below 

the UK AQS of 20 µg/m3. 

Eastbourne Borough Council 

Table A.16 in Appendix A presents the ratified and adjusted monitored PM2.5 annual mean 

concentrations for the past five years. In 2022, PM2.5 data was collected at EB3 Holly 

Place, with data capture rates of 96.7% The annual concentration recorded was 8.9 µg/m3, 

which is slightly higher than the annual mean reported in 2021 (8.4 µg/m3), but still well 

below the annual mean AQS of 20 µg/m3. 

 

 

Page 56



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 19 

Appendix A: Monitoring Results 

Table A.1 – Details of Automatic Monitoring Sites in Lewes District Council 

Site ID Site Name Site Type 
X OS Grid 

Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

In AQMA? 
Which 

AQMA? 

Monitoring 
Technique 

Distance to 
Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1) 

Distance to 
kerb of 
nearest 

road (m) (2) 

Inlet 
Height (m) 

LS8 
Little East 

Street 
Roadside 

 
541637  

 
110276 

NO2, PM10, 

PM2.5 
Yes (Lewes 

AQMA) 
Chemiluminescent 13.1 3.1 2.25 

Notes: 

(1) 0m if the monitoring site is at a location of exposure (e.g. installed on the façade of a residential property). 

(2) N/A if not applicable 

Table A.2 – Details of Automatic Monitoring Sites in Eastbourne Borough Council 

Site ID Site Name Site Type 
X OS Grid 

Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

In 
AQMA? 
Which 

AQMA? 

Monitoring 
Technique 

Distance to 
Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) (1) 

Distance to 
kerb of 
nearest 

road (m) (2) 

Inlet 
Height (m) 

EB1 
Eastbourne – 

Devonshire Park 
Urban 

Background 
561146  98346 

NO2, O3, 
PM10 

No 

Chemiluminescent 
BAM Beta-

attenuation; UV 
absorption 

N/A 5 3 

EB3 
Eastbourne- 
Holly Place 

Urban 
Background 

560155  103150 
NO2, PM10, 

PM2.5 
No 

Chemiluminescent 
FDMS 

N/A N/A 4 

Notes: 

(1) 0m if the monitoring site is at a location of exposure (e.g. installed on the façade of a residential property). 

(2) N/A if not applicable 

  

P
age 57



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 20 

Table A.3 – Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites in Lewes District Council 

Diffusion 
Tube ID 

Site Name Site Type 
X OS Grid 

Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

In AQMA? 
Which 

AQMA? 

Distance 
to 

Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) 

Distance 
to Kerb 

of 
Nearest 

Road (m) 

Tube Co-
located 
with a 

Continuou
s Analyser 

Height 
(m) 

1 
Seaford- Sutton Pk 
Rd/Warwick Ave 

Roadside 548420 99223 NO2 No 4.5 2.8 No 2.8 

2 
LDC 10 - 9 Southway – 

Newhaven 
Kerbside 544354 101388 NO2 

Yes - 
Newhaven 

AQMA 
5.0 1.0 No 2.5 

3 
LDC    - 16 Southway – 

Newhaven 
Kerbside 544414 101273 NO2 

Yes - 
Newhaven 

AQMA 
2.5 1.0 No 2.5 

4 
LDC 11 - Lewes Rd – 

Newhaven 
Roadside 544273 101532 NO2 No 4.0 2.0 No 2.5 

5 
Telscombe – South Coast 

Rd/Central Ave 
Roadside 540063 101263 NO2 No 6.0 1.8 No 2.6 

6 
LDC  8 - 8 Bay Vue Rd - 

Newhaven 
Urban 

Background 
544521 101089 NO2 No 3.0 N/A No 2.5 

7 
LDC 25 - Westgate 

Chapel 
Roadside 541285 109969 NO2 No 2.2 1.9 No 2.3 

8 
LDC 26 - Mount 

Pleasant/Sun Street 
Roadside 541481 110277 NO2 

Yes- Lewes 
AQMA 

0.5 2.0 No 2.5 

9 
LDC 27 - West St Police 

Station 
Roadside 541541 110246 NO2 

Yes- Lewes 
AQMA 

5.0 2.6 No 2.3 

10 LDC 18 - Fisher Street Kerbside 541505 110236 NO2 
Yes- Lewes 

AQMA 
0.0 1.4 No 2.5 

11 LDC 36 - Fisher St West Kerbside 541519 110167 NO2 
Yes- Lewes 

AQMA 
N/A 1.0 No 2.2 

12 LDC 1- Fisher St East Kerbside 541540 110130 NO2 
Yes- Lewes 

AQMA 
N/A 1.0 No 3.5 

13 LDC 29 - Market St Kerbside 541598 110169 NO2 
Yes- Lewes 

AQMA 
1.5 1.0 No 2.5 

P
age 58



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 21 

Diffusion 
Tube ID 

Site Name Site Type 
X OS Grid 

Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

In AQMA? 
Which 

AQMA? 

Distance 
to 

Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) 

Distance 
to Kerb 

of 
Nearest 

Road (m) 

Tube Co-
located 
with a 

Continuou
s Analyser 

Height 
(m) 

14 
Peacehaven – o/s 223 

South Coast Rd 
Kerbside 540969 100974 NO2 No 2.9 1.4 No 2.7 

15 LDC 31 - North St Kerbside 541646 110370 NO2 No 5.0 1.0 No 3.0 

16 
LDC 33 - Cuilfail 

Tunnel/Thomas St 
Roadside 542178 110454 NO2 No 8.0 5.0 No 3.0 

17 
LDC 4 - 159 Malling St – 

Lewes 
Roadside 542315 110733 NO2 No 3.0 2.0 No 3.5 

18 LDC 6 East Street Roadside 541669 110278 NO2 No 0.0 3.5 No 2.5 

19 LDC 30 - Little East St Roadside 541726 110335 NO2 No 1.0 2.7 No 2.5 

20 LDC 45 - School Hill Kerbside 541755 110206 NO2 No 2.5 1.0 No 2.5 

21 LDC - 204 School Hill Roadside 541684 110181 NO2 No 0.0 2.7 No 2.6 

22 
LDC 35 - Walmer 

Lane/Lansdowne Terrace 
Roadside 541709 109990 NO2 No 1.8 3.0 No 2.4 

23 
LDC 23 - Station 

St/Lansdowne Terrace 
Roadside 541615 109968 NO2 

Yes- Lewes 
AQMA 

N/A 1.8 No 2.5 

24 
LDC 14 - Station St - 

Lewes 
Roadside 541603 110001 NO2 

Yes- Lewes 
AQMA 

2.0 1.9 No 3.0 

25 
LS6 - Denton Community 

Centre 
Urban 

Background 
545142 102433 NO2 No N/A N/A No 2.0 

26 
Peacehaven – South 

Coast Rd/Steyning Ave 
Roadside 541231 100957 NO2 No 10.0 3.0 No 2.7 

27 
Give Way Sign Adj. To 1 

Abinger Place 
Roadside 541438 110293 NO2 No 4.0 1.5 No 2.0 

P
age 59



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 22 

Diffusion 
Tube ID 

Site Name Site Type 
X OS Grid 

Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

In AQMA? 
Which 

AQMA? 

Distance 
to 

Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) 

Distance 
to Kerb 

of 
Nearest 

Road (m) 

Tube Co-
located 
with a 

Continuou
s Analyser 

Height 
(m) 

28 8 Abinger Place Roadside 541430 110328 NO2 No 1.2 1.5 No 2.5 

29 
Peacehaven – o/s 53 

South Coast Rd 
Roadside 542168 100675 NO2 No 10.0 3.0 No 2.7 

30 
ESCC 20 - A259 SFD (nr 

Chyngton Gardens) 
Roadside 550077 99291 NO2 No 10.0 1.5 No 3.0 

31 
ESCC 23 - Railway Rd – 

Newhaven 
Kerbside 544996 101264 NO2 No 5.0 1.0 No 3.0 

32 
ESCC 24 - 35 Heighton 

Crescent - Denton 
Urban 

Background 
544908 102704 NO2 No 10.0 N/A No 1.8 

33 
ESSCC 2 - Ringmer 

Village Hall 
Roadside 544681 112441 NO2 No N/A 1.8 No 2.0 

34 
ESCC 18 - High St – 

Ditchling 
Roadside 532605 115203 NO2 No 5.0 2.0 No 2.5 

35 Ditchling High Street 2 Kerbside 532587 115410 NO2 No 1.0 1.0 No 1.8 

36 
ESCC 22 - Southover 

High St – Lewes 
Roadside 541032 109613 NO2 No 1.0 2.0 No 2.1 

37 Newhaven - Bridge Pub Kerbside 544603 101485 NO2 
Yes - 

Newhaven 
AQMA 

N/A 0.5 No 2.0 

38 Newhaven- Essex Place Roadside 544497 101499 NO2 
Yes - 

Newhaven 
AQMA 

5.0 1.2 No 2.0 

39 Newhaven - Rathan Court Roadside 544330 101423 NO2 
Yes - 

Newhaven 
AQMA 

10.0 1.5 No 2.0 

40 
Newhaven - The Old 

Chapel 
Roadside 544497 101285 NO2 

Yes - 
Newhaven 

AQMA 
3.0 1.5 No 2.5 

P
age 60



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 23 

Diffusion 
Tube ID 

Site Name Site Type 
X OS Grid 

Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

In AQMA? 
Which 

AQMA? 

Distance 
to 

Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) 

Distance 
to Kerb 

of 
Nearest 

Road (m) 

Tube Co-
located 
with a 

Continuou
s Analyser 

Height 
(m) 

41 The Drove - Newhaven Roadside 544948 101549 NO2 No N/A 4.0 No 2.5 

42 
Knight's Gate Road - 
Falmer Roundabout 

Roadside 535187 108928 NO2 No 20.0 2.5 No 1.9 

43 
A26 South Heighton/nr 

Hollow 
Roadside 544886 102879 NO2 No 12.0 1.0 No 1.0 

44 C7 Piddinghoe Rd Roadside 543431 103022 NO2 No 3.5 1.3 No 1.8  

45 
O/S Kingston Primary 

school 
Roadside 539543 108284 NO2 No 15.0 2.5 No 1.8  

46 
Opp Seaford Station - 

Station Approach 
Roadside 548167 99160 NO2 No 2.0 1.5 No 3  

47 
Plumpton Green/Station 

Rd, flood sign 
Roadside 536441 116231 NO2 No 7.0 1.0 No 2  

48 
Barcombe High Str o/s old 

shop 
Roadside 542029 115781 NO2 No 3.0 2.5 No 2.5  

49 O/S Covers, Cooksbridge Roadside 540141 113548 NO2 No 0.0 2.0 No 2  

50 O/S 64 Brighton Rd Roadside 544185 101350 NO2 No 2.5 1.5 No 2.8  

Notes: 

(1) 0m if the monitoring site is at a location of exposure (e.g. installed on the façade of a residential property). 

(2) N/A if not applicable. 

  

P
age 61



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 24 

Table A.4 – Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites in Eastbourne Borough Council 

Diffusion 
Tube ID 

Site Name Site Type 
X OS Grid 

Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

In 
AQMA? 
Which 

AQMA? 

Distance 
to 

Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) 

Distance to 
Kerb of 
Nearest 

Road (m) 

Tube Co-
located 
with a 

Continuou
s Analyser 

Height 
(m) 

1 Post Office Kerbside 560774 99163 NO2 No 2.0 0.0 No 3.1 

2 Langney KFC Kerbside  561458 99116 NO2 No 4.0 0.0 No 2.9 

3 27 Pevensey Kerbside  561568 99108 NO2 No 3.0 0.0 No 2.7 

4 Nail Fairy Seaside Kerbside 561717 99061 NO2 No 3.0 0.0 No 2.8 

5 34 Seaside Kerbside 561621 99004 NO2 No 3.0 0.0 No 2.8 

6 Top of Cavendish Kerbside  561737 98948 NO2 No 3.0 0.0 No 2.6 

7 
Royale 

Parade/Prince’s Park 
Kerbside  562692 100149 NO2 No 4.0 0.0 No 2.7 

8 Seaside Tesco Kerbside 562655 100970 NO2 No 10.0 0.0 No 2.8 

9 Larkspur / Friday Kerbside  561885 103847 NO2 No 8.0 1.0 No 2.7 

10 East Dean Rd Roadside  557829 98190 NO2 No 20.0 3.0 No 2.0 

11 The Goffs Roadside 560440 99352 NO2 No 3.0 2.0 No 3.0 

12 32 The Avenue Kerbside 560943 99480 NO2 No 7.0 0.9 No 2.4 

13 68 Susans Kerbside 561354 99279 NO2 No 3.0 0.6 No 2.4 

P
age 62



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 25 

Diffusion 
Tube ID 

Site Name Site Type 
X OS Grid 

Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

In 
AQMA? 
Which 

AQMA? 

Distance 
to 

Relevant 
Exposure 

(m) 

Distance to 
Kerb of 
Nearest 

Road (m) 

Tube Co-
located 
with a 

Continuou
s Analyser 

Height 
(m) 

14 109 Whiteley Rd Roadside 561527 99846 NO2 No 6.5 1.5 No 2.5 

15 Opp 7 Lewes Roadside 561043 99828 NO2 No 2.0 1.6 No 2.7 

16 Lottebridge Tesco Kerbside 562583 101109 NO2 No N/A 0.9 No 2.7 

17 3 Mountfield Roadside 560749 102189 NO2 No 5.0 1.6 No 2.6 

18 43 Brassey Ave Roadside 560505 102196 NO2 No 7.0 1.7 No 2.5 

19 Kings Drive / Weavers Roadside 560134 100561 NO2 No 5.5 2.9 No 2.8 

20 DGH Kings Drive Roadside 559894 101035 NO2 No 11.0 0.9 No 2.9 

21 114 Willingdon Roadside 559730 100251 NO2 No 10.0 1.5 No 2.4 

Notes: 

(1) 0m if the monitoring site is at a location of exposure (e.g. installed on the façade of a residential property). 
(2) (2) N/A if not applicable. 

 

P
age 63



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 26 

Table A.5 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results: Automatic Monitoring (µg/m3) in Lewes District Council 

Site ID 
X OS Grid 

Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data Capture 
for Monitoring 
Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data Capture 
2022 (%) (2) 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

LS8 541637 110276 Roadside 88.9 78.8 - - - - 12.1 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% and >25% in line with LAQM.TG22. 

☒ Reported concentrations are those at the location of the monitoring site (annualised, as required), i.e. prior to any fall-off 

with distance correction. 

Notes: 

The annual mean concentrations are presented as µg/m3. 

Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold. 

All means have been “annualised” as per LAQM.TG22 if valid data capture for the full calendar year is less than 75%. See Appendix C 
for details. 

Concentrations are those at the location of monitoring and not those following any fall-off with distance adjustment. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar 
year is 50%). 

  

P
age 64



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 27 

Table A.6 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results: Automatic Monitoring (µg/m3) in Eastbourne Borough Council 

Site ID 
X OS Grid 

Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data Capture 
for Monitoring 
Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data Capture 
2022 (%) (2) 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

EB1 561150 98341 
Urban 

Background 
88.3 88.3 16.0 14.0 15.5 13.1 12.8 

EB3 560085 103118 
Urban 

Background 
81.1 87.2 12.0 11.0 9.0 9.4 9.3 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% and >25% in line with LAQM.TG22. 

☒ Reported concentrations are those at the location of the monitoring site (annualised, as required), i.e. prior to any fall-off 

with distance correction. 

Notes: 

The annual mean concentrations are presented as µg/m3. 

Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold. 

All means have been “annualised” as per LAQM.TG22 if valid data capture for the full calendar year is less than 75%. See Appendix C 
for details. 

Concentrations are those at the location of monitoring and not those following any fall-off with distance adjustment. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar 
year is 50%). 

  

P
age 65



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 28 

Table A.7 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results: Non-Automatic Monitoring (µg/m3) in Lewes District Council  

Diffusion 
Tube ID 

X OS Grid 
Ref 

(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data Capture 
for Monitoring 
Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data Capture 
2022 (%) (2) 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

1 548420 99223 Roadside 83.3 84.7 24.5 25.2 18.5 20.7 20.1 

2 544354 101388 Kerbside 91.7 92.1 37.2 33.4 24.2 28.5 28.1 

3 544414 101273 Kerbside 100.0 99.7 39.9 40.7 31.6 36.9 41.3 

4 544273 101532 Roadside 100.0 99.7 28.1 30.7 22.0 24.3 23.4 

5 540063 101263 Roadside 50.0 49.9 23.0 23.4 16.6 18.0 18.3 

6 544521 101089 Urban Background 100.0 99.7 18.7 14.8 12.4 15.5 14.1 

7 541285 109969 Roadside 100.0 99.7 28.7 29.9 19.9 21.0 19.4 

8 541481 110277 Roadside 58.3 58.0 22.3 23.7 14.9 18.0 16.0 

9 541541 110246 Roadside 91.7 92.1 20.8 21.0 14.4 16.2 13.5 

10 541505 110236 Kerbside 75.0 74.9 23.4 24.1 15.5 16.8 17.4 

11 541519 110167 Kerbside 100.0 99.7 32.4 32.0 20.6 24.1 23.1 

12 541540 110130 Kerbside 100.0 99.7 42.2 41.9 27.6 30.0 29.3 

13 541598 110169 Kerbside 91.7 91.3 36.0 36.8 27.9 26.5 22.5 

14 540969 100974 Kerbside 83.3 81.2 28.8 30.5 21.3 23.3 19.3 

15 541646 110370 Kerbside 75.0 75.5 21.9 21.4 15.1 15.2 16.2 

16 542178 110454 Roadside 100.0 99.7 29.5 30.4 22.3 24.9 22.4 

17 542315 110733 Roadside 83.3 82.8 30.5 29.8 20.9 22.3 22.3 

18 541669 110278 Roadside 83.3 83.9 24.1 23.2 15.3 17.0 16.8 

19 541726 110335 Roadside 100.0 99.7 22.1 21.4 14.1 15.5 14.5 

20 541755 110206 Kerbside 100.0 99.7 37.6 38.5 27.6 29.4 27.9 

21 541684 110181 Roadside 83.3 83.1 41.4 43.6 31.6 33.0 35.3 

22 541709 109990 Roadside 100.0 99.7 22.0 20.4 13.5 14.8 12.7 

23 541615 109968 Roadside 66.7 66.2 25.8 24.7 16.1 19.1 17.7 

24 541603 110001 Roadside 83.3 81.7 34.4 33.7 22.2 24.4 22.6 

25 545142 102433 Urban Background 100.0 99.7 11.6 11.2 8.2 9.1 8.6 

26 541231 100957 Roadside 83.3 82.8 23.2 22.8 16.9 17.4 18.4 

27 541438 110293 Roadside 83.3 81.7 29.6 30.7 21.4 21.7 17.8 

28 541430 110328 Roadside 91.7 90.7 28.3 29.4 19.2 21.2 20.7 

P
age 66



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 29 

Diffusion 
Tube ID 

X OS Grid 
Ref 

(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data Capture 
for Monitoring 
Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data Capture 
2022 (%) (2) 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

29 542168 100675 Roadside 91.7 92.1 21.9 19.5 14.5 16.9 16.2 

30 550077 99291 Roadside 91.7 91.3 30.2 29.0 22.5 26.7 14.3 

31 544996 101264 Kerbside 100.0 99.7 22.0 20.1 15.4 18.6 22.6 

32 544908 102704 Urban Background 100.0 99.7 14.4 13.8 10.5 11.7 17.8 

33 544681 112441 Roadside 100.0 99.7 21.8 20.9 14.7 17.2 12.2 

34 532605 115203 Roadside 100.0 99.7 29.7 26.9 18.2 20.8 20.0 

35 532587 115410 Kerbside 100.0 99.7 23.1 21.4 13.8 16.2 16.0 

36 541032 109613 Roadside 58.3 58.6 31.9 32.2 20.3 22.8 18.9 

37 544603 101485 Kerbside 100.0 99.7 38.7 39.2 28.7 28.8 30.7 

38 544497 101499 Roadside 100.0 99.7 31.2 30.7 21.5 24.0 25.1 

39 544330 101423 Roadside 100.0 99.7 28.4 27.1 19.9 21.8 22.4 

40 544497 101285 Roadside 83.3 83.9 44.1 44.6 34.1 35.8 33.7 

41 544948 101549 Roadside 83.3 82.6 27.0 23.6 19.1 20.1 19.5 

42 535187 108928 Roadside 50.0 50.4 - 57.0 25.6 30.8 31.8 

43 544886 102879 Roadside 100.0 99.7 - 29.5 18.3 20.1 19.4 

44 543431 103022 Roadside 91.7 91.6 - 24.3 15.8 17.1 17.3 

45 539543 108284 Roadside 100.0 99.7 - 21.1 16.9 13.5 14.1 

46 548167 99160 Roadside 91.7 90.7 - 29.5 17.9 21.6 19.5 

47 536441 116231 Roadside 91.7 92.1 - 13.9 8.5 11.8 8.5 

48 542029 115781 Roadside 83.3 83.9 - 16.6 10.7 13.8 12.2 

49 540141 113548 Roadside 100.0 99.7 - 18.5 10.7 13.1 12.0 

50 544185 101350 Roadside 100.0 99.7 - 42.6 25.8 29.1 29.1 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% and >25% in line with LAQM.TG22. 

☒ Diffusion tube data has been bias adjusted 

☒ Reported concentrations are those at the location of the monitoring site (bias adjusted and annualised, as required), i.e. 

prior to any fall-off with distance correction. 

Notes: 

P
age 67



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 30 

The annual mean concentrations are presented as µg/m3. 

Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold. 

NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and 
underlined. 

Means for diffusion tubes have been corrected for bias. All means have been “annualised” as per LAQM.TG22 if valid data capture for 
the full calendar year is less than 75%. See Appendix C for details. 

Concentrations are those at the location of monitoring and not those following any fall-off with distance adjustment. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar 
year is 50%). 

  

P
age 68



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 31 

Table A.8 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results: Non-Automatic Monitoring (µg/m3) in Eastbourne Borough Council  

Diffusion 
Tube ID 

X OS 
Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data Capture 
for Monitoring 
Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data Capture 
2022 (%) (2) 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

1 560774 99163 Kerbside 100.0 98.4 14.0 15.5 19.8 22.5 23.4 

2 561458 99116 Kerbside 100.0 98.4 12.0 11.7 14.2 16.9 17.1 

3 561568 99108 Kerbside 100.0 98.4 - 26.0 19.1 19.3 20.3 

4 561717 99061 Kerbside 100.0 98.4 - 21.6 22.9 23.9 24.8 

5 561621 99004 Kerbside 100.0 98.4 - 24.7 22.8 23.9 23.9 

6 561737 98948 Kerbside 100.0 98.4 - 30.1 15.5 17.8 18.0 

7 562692 100149 Kerbside 100.0 98.4 - 31.9 16.6 20.9 20.6 

8 562655 100970 Kerbside 83.3 84.9 - 24.2 22.4 25.9 25.5 

9 561885 103847 Kerbside 100.0 98.4 - 23.8 15.0 17.5 17.3 

10 557829 98190 Roadside 100.0 98.4 - 21.5 12.5 13.8 14.3 

11 560440 99352 Roadside 100.0 98.4 - 10.4 17.5 19.6 19.8 

12 560943 99480 Kerbside 100.0 98.4 - 18.5 17.1 18.7 19.5 

13 561354 99279 Kerbside 100.0 98.4 - 25.9 17.3 18.2 18.2 

14 561527 99846 Roadside 100.0 98.4 - 27.3 26.8 26.4 26.8 

15 561043 99828 Roadside 66.7 66.2 - 25.6 17.3 18.4 19.6 

16 562583 101109 Kerbside 100.0 98.4 - 39.3 18.9 22.2 24.3 

17 560749 102189 Roadside 100.0 98.4 - 27.4 18.0 21.6 21.5 

18 560505 102196 Roadside 100.0 98.4 - 31.8 16.2 17.6 17.8 

19 560134 100561 Roadside 100.0 98.4 - 30.8 12.9 14.4 15.2 

20 559894 101035 Roadside 100.0 98.4 - 25.1 18.0 20.9 21.8 

21 559730 100251 Roadside 83.3 81.0 - 20.8 21.0 24.8 25.1 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% and >25% in line with LAQM.TG22. 

☒ Diffusion tube data has been bias adjusted 

☒ Reported concentrations are those at the location of the monitoring site (bias adjusted and annualised, as required), i.e. 

prior to any fall-off with distance correction. 

Notes: 

P
age 69



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 32 

The annual mean concentrations are presented as µg/m3. 

Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold. 

NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and 
underlined. 

Means for diffusion tubes have been corrected for bias. All means have been “annualised” as per LAQM.TG22 if valid data capture for 
the full calendar year is less than 75%. See Appendix C for details. 

Concentrations are those at the location of monitoring and not those following any fall-off with distance adjustment. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar 
year is 50%).  

P
age 70



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 33 

Figure A.1 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations within Newhaven AQMA in Lewes District Council 

 

P
age 71



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 34 

Figure A.2 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations within Lewes AQMA in Lewes District Council 

  

P
age 72



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 35 

Figure A.3 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations outside of AQMAs in Lewes District Council: Part 1 

 

P
age 73



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 36 

Figure A.4 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations outside of AQMAs in Lewes District Council: Part 2 

 

P
age 74



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 37 

Figure A.5 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations in Eastbourne Borough Council: Part 1 

 

P
age 75



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 38 

Figure A.6 – Trends in Annual Mean NO2 Concentrations in Eastbourne Borough Council: Part 2 

P
age 76



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 39 

Table A.9 – 1-Hour Mean NO2 Monitoring Results in Lewes District Council, Number of 1-Hour Means > 200µg/m3 

Site ID 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data Capture 
for Monitoring 
Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data 
Capture 2022 

(%) (2) 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

LS8 541637 110276 Roadside 88.9 78.8 N/A N/A N/A N/A 9 (158.2) 

Notes: 

Results are presented as the number of 1-hour periods where concentrations greater than 200µg/m3 have been recorded. 

Exceedances of the NO2 1-hour mean objective (200µg/m3 not to be exceeded more than 18 times/year) are shown in bold. 

If the period of valid data is less than 85%, the 99.8th percentile of 1-hour means is provided in brackets. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar 
year is 50%). 

P
age 77



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 40 

Table A.10 – 1-Hour Mean NO2 Monitoring Results in Eastbourne Borough Council, Number of 1-Hour Means > 200µg/m3 

Site ID 
X OS Grid 

Ref (Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data Capture 
for Monitoring 
Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data 
Capture 2022 

(%) (2) 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

EB1 561150 98341 Urban Background 88.3 88.3 0 0 0 0 0 

EB3 560085 103118 Urban Background 87.2 81.1 0 0 0 0 0 (66.6) 

Notes: 

Results are presented as the number of 1-hour periods where concentrations greater than 200µg/m3 have been recorded. 

Exceedances of the NO2 1-hour mean objective (200µg/m3 not to be exceeded more than 18 times/year) are shown in bold. 

If the period of valid data is less than 85%, the 99.8th percentile of 1-hour means is provided in brackets. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar 
year is 50%). 

  

P
age 78



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 41 

Table A.11 – Annual Mean PM10 Monitoring Results (µg/m3) in Lewes District Council 

Site ID 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data Capture 
for Monitoring 
Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data 
Capture 2022 

(%) (2) 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

LS8 541637 110276 Roadside 99.4 88.1 - - - - 15.6 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% and >25% in line with LAQM.TG22. 

Notes: 

The annual mean concentrations are presented as µg/m3. 

Exceedances of the PM10 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold. 

All means have been “annualised” as per LAQM.TG22 if valid data capture for the full calendar year is less than 75%. See Appendix C 
for details. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar 
year is 50%). 

  

P
age 79



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 42 

Table A.12 – Annual Mean PM10 Monitoring Results (µg/m3) in Eastbourne District Council 

Site ID 
X OS Grid 

Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data 
Capture for 
Monitoring 

Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data 
Capture 

2022 (%) (2) 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

EB1 561150 98341 Urban Background 95.8 95.8 19 17 17 17.2 19.3 

EB3 560085 103118 Urban Background 96.7 96.7 N/A 15.5 14 13.1 14.6 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% and >25% in line with LAQM.TG22. 

Notes: 

The annual mean concentrations are presented as µg/m3. 

Exceedances of the PM10 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold. 

All means have been “annualised” as per LAQM.TG22 if valid data capture for the full calendar year is less than 75%. See Appendix C 
for details. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar 
year is 50%). 

  

P
age 80



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 43 

Figure A.7 – Trends in Annual Mean PM10 Concentrations in Eastbourne Borough Council  

  

P
age 81



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 44 

Table A.13 – 24-Hour Mean PM10 Monitoring Results, Number of PM10 24-Hour Means > 50µg/m3 in Lewes District Council 

Site ID 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data Capture 
for Monitoring 
Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data 
Capture 2022 

(%) (2) 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

LS8 541637 110276 Roadside 99.4 88.1 - - - - 1  

Notes: 

Results are presented as the number of 24-hour periods where daily mean concentrations greater than 50µg/m3 have been recorded. 

Exceedances of the PM10 24-hour mean objective (50µg/m3 not to be exceeded more than 35 times/year) are shown in bold. 

If the period of valid data is less than 85%, the 90.4th percentile of 24-hour means is provided in brackets. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar 
year is 50%). 

  

P
age 82



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 45 

Table A.14 – 24-Hour Mean PM10 Monitoring Results, Number of PM10 24-Hour Means > 50µg/m3 in Eastbourne Borough Council 

Site ID 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data Capture 
for Monitoring 
Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data 
Capture 2022 

(%) (2) 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

EB1 561150 98341 Urban Background 95.8 95.8 2 1 1 2 5 

EB3 560085 103118 Urban Background 96.7 96.7 - 3 0 1 1 

Notes: 

Results are presented as the number of 24-hour periods where daily mean concentrations greater than 50µg/m3 have been recorded. 

Exceedances of the PM10 24-hour mean objective (50µg/m3 not to be exceeded more than 35 times/year) are shown in bold. 

If the period of valid data is less than 85%, the 90.4th percentile of 24-hour means is provided in brackets. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar 
year is 50%). 

  

P
age 83



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 46 

Figure A.8 – Trends in Number of 24-Hour Mean PM10 Results > 50µg/m3 in Eastbourne Borough Council 

  

P
age 84



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 47 

Table A.15 – Annual Mean PM2.5 Monitoring Results (µg/m3) in Lewes District Council 

Site ID 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data Capture 
for Monitoring 
Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data 
Capture 2022 

(%) (2) 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

LS8 541637 110276 Roadside 97.8 86.6 N/A N/A N/A N/A 9.8 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% and >25% in line with LAQM.TG22. 

Notes: 

The annual mean concentrations are presented as µg/m3. 

All means have been “annualised” as per LAQM.TG22 if valid data capture for the full calendar year is less than 75%. See Appendix C 
for details. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar 
year is 50%). 

P
age 85



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 48 

Table A.16 – Annual Mean PM2.5 Monitoring Results (µg/m3) in Eastbourne Borough Council 

Site ID 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data Capture 
for Monitoring 
Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data 
Capture 2022 

(%) (2) 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

EB3 560085 103118 Urban Background 96.7 96.7 13 10.4 9 8.4 8.9 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% and >25% in line with LAQM.TG22. 

Notes: 

The annual mean concentrations are presented as µg/m3. 

All means have been “annualised” as per LAQM.TG22 if valid data capture for the full calendar year is less than 75%. See Appendix C 
for details. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar 
year is 50%). 

  

P
age 86



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 49 

Figure A.9 – Trends in Annual Mean PM2.5 Concentrations in Eastbourne Borough Council 

  

P
age 87



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 50 

Table A.17 – Running 8-Hour Mean O3 Monitoring Results in Eastbourne Borough Council, Number of 8-Hour Means > 100µg/m3 

Site ID 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type 

Valid Data Capture 
for Monitoring 
Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data 
Capture 2021 

(%) (2) 
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

EB1 544366 101367 Roadside 99.1 99.1 31 13 26 16 12 

Notes: 

Results are presented as the number of running 8-hour periods where concentrations greater than 100µg/m3 have been recorded. 

Exceedances of the O3 8-hour mean objective (100µg/m3 not to be exceeded more than 10 times/year) are shown in bold. 

(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 

(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar 
year is 50%). 

 P
age 88



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 51 

Appendix B: Full Monthly Diffusion Tube Results for 2022 

Table B.1 – NO2 2022 Diffusion Tube Results (µg/m3) in Lewes District Council 

DT ID 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Annual Mean: 
Raw Data 

Annual Mean: 
Annualised and 
Bias Adjusted 

(0.83) 

Annual Mean: 
Distance 

Corrected to 
Nearest 

Exposure 

Comment 

1 548420 99223 26.2 21.0 27.9   20.5 29.1 24.8 18.3 23.9 21.5 29.3 24.3 20.1   

2 544354 101388 37.1 26.8 45.4 51.0 13.3 26.3 36.3 36.6 30.7  29.1 40.0 33.9 28.1   

3 544414 101273 62.2 40.8 48.1 73.5 23.1 41.5 56.5 54.2 51.2 44.7 49.8 51.9 49.8 41.3 34.4  

4 544273 101532 36.9 26.8 31.9 42.0 12.7 21.8 31.1 27.3 27.6 29.9 32.4 17.8 28.2 23.4   

5 540063 101263 26.6      28.6 21.7  21.7 18.9 22.0 23.3 18.3   

6 544521 101089 23.9 12.7 22.3 26.1 6.0 12.1 17.5 16.2 16.0 15.7 15.2 20.5 17.0 14.1   

7 541285 109969 26.1 21.7 27.6 26.6 1.6 18.5 25.3 23.1 30.1 14.3 19.2 46.0 23.4 19.4   

8 541481 110277   21.3 16.1 14.4  17.9  21.6  20.1 27.1 19.8 16.0   

9 541541 110246  20.1 17.6 14.2 12.3 12.5 15.7 13.5 18.1 10.4 15.8 28.9 16.3 13.5   

10 541505 110236 25.2  23.6 18.1   18.3 16.8 23.6 11.7 17.5 33.6 20.9 17.4   

11 541519 110167 31.4 22.0 33.5 28.5 17.8 23.6 29.9 26.5 33.5 16.9 23.2 46.7 27.8 23.1   

12 541540 110130 35.7 34.0 40.2 38.4 23.8 28.6 36.9 34.2 44.1 20.9 29.7 57.7 35.4 29.3   

13 541598 110169 33.3 34.1 28.6 24.0 20.3 23.0 26.9 25.8 34.8 19.8 27.4  27.1 22.5   

14 540969 100974 30.7 26.4 29.0 42.8 8.1 12.0 19.8  19.4 19.4  24.6 23.2 19.3   

15 541646 110370 23.0 16.9 20.5 17.7 11.0 13.1   20.9  18.2 34.5 19.5 16.2   

16 542178 110454 30.0 30.0 27.8 25.3 17.4 21.7 26.9 23.6 32.3 18.2 27.8 43.0 27.0 22.4   

17 542315 110733 30.4 22.8 29.0 26.4   25.1 25.2 30.4 15.3 21.0 42.8 26.8 22.3   

18 541669 110278 26.7 20.7 17.8 21.3 12.1 14.2 15.8 17.0   16.9 40.3 20.3 16.8   

19 541726 110335 20.4 16.9 23.6 15.2 10.8 13.2 16.7 14.6 19.1 10.0 16.8 32.5 17.5 14.5   

20 541755 110206 37.2 36.7 37.0 31.9 21.4 27.3 30.7 34.2 44.3 21.2 30.5 51.0 33.6 27.9   

21 541684 110181 42.6 45.9 40.8 37.7 32.9 35.3   52.7 32.0 40.6 64.9 42.5 35.3   

22 541709 109990 2.5 18.3 19.0 16.1 9.3 13.0 14.1 14.1 20.6 9.6 13.4 34.0 15.3 12.7   

23 541615 109968   24.8 21.0 12.8 16.0 20.3 18.2 27.3 13.4   19.2 17.7   

24 541603 110001 30.4 21.8 29.8 27.5 22.1 25.4 32.9 27.1 35.2 19.8   27.2 22.6   

25 545142 102433 14.4 9.5 11.8 14.3 4.5 7.4 10.4 9.4 8.3 10.3 9.7 14.8 10.4 8.6   

26 541231 100957 23.5 18.7 21.3 31.4   22.8 19.0 17.2 18.7 20.1 28.3 22.1 18.4   

27 541438 110293 27.2 28.5 28.5 24.3 19.3 21.2 26.2 22.9 0.5 15.7   21.4 17.8   

28 541430 110328 30.4 22.5 29.4 25.0 16.1 18.3 23.1  28.7 15.8 21.4 43.6 24.9 20.7   

29 542168 100675 28.8 16.6 22.8 29.5 7.2 15.5  17.1 17.5 15.8 17.7 25.9 19.5 16.2   

30 550077 99291 27.0 16.0 19.4 18.3 12.3 13.9 17.5 16.7 22.4 11.6 14.6  17.3 14.3   

31 544996 101264 33.9 30.1 31.3 28.8 18.8 18.9 24.4 23.1 32.1 17.4 19.5 48.3 27.2 22.6   

32 544908 102704 29.7 17.9 23.0 30.4 8.7 14.7 21.7 20.1 20.3 19.3 22.1 29.6 21.5 17.8   

33 544681 112441 18.9 16.2 13.9 17.9 6.4 10.6 15.2 12.1 11.3 15.7 14.8 23.1 14.7 12.2   

34 532605 115203 30.7 15.3 25.6 26.1 13.1 18.3 24.0 24.0 30.2 15.4 23.3 42.6 24.0 20.0   

35 532587 115410 23.2 24.7 20.2 16.4 11.5 15.1 18.4 18.3 23.7 12.0 13.6 34.7 19.3 16.0   

36 541032 109613 34.1 29.3 29.2      27.0 0.6 26.3 30.6 25.3 18.9   

37 544603 101485 44.0 36.3 41.0 53.5 17.4 28.5 41.7 36.8 33.2 34.9 35.3 41.3 37.0 30.7   

P
age 89



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 52 

DT ID 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Annual Mean: 
Raw Data 

Annual Mean: 
Annualised and 
Bias Adjusted 

(0.83) 

Annual Mean: 
Distance 

Corrected to 
Nearest 

Exposure 

Comment 

38 544497 101499 36.8 25.6 35.1 46.3 15.9 26.0 37.3 29.2 27.2 24.0 25.7 33.8 30.2 25.1   

39 544330 101423 29.5 23.0 31.9 42.8 10.3 19.8 32.1 28.4 26.3 30.0 22.4 26.9 26.9 22.4   

40 544497 101285 43.7 42.8 40.3 63.1 22.0 32.6  40.4  39.3 40.9 40.9 40.6 33.7   

41 544948 101549 31.6 18.3 27.1 37.6 9.2   24.7 21.0 17.3 22.0 26.0 23.5 19.5   

42 535187 108928       40.0 31.0 17.1 44.6 38.7 45.0 36.1 31.8   

43 544886 102879 26.8 21.1 21.8 31.5 10.8 17.9 30.0 25.1 21.8 24.0 23.1 26.5 23.4 19.4   

44 543431 103022 24.6 16.6 25.7 30.0 8.4 14.4 23.3 20.7  20.7 19.4 25.2 20.8 17.3   

45 539543 108284 22.1 15.7 18.1 23.9 7.1 12.2 19.5 18.0 17.1 16.3 12.9 21.6 17.0 14.1   

46 548167 99160 29.3 8.3 29.2 41.9 9.2 18.1 28.4  23.8 20.8 21.5 27.3 23.4 19.5   

47 536441 116231  11.6 12.8 10.9 6.1 7.3 9.1 7.4 11.8 5.4 8.1 21.8 10.2 8.5   

48 542029 115781 20.9 13.5 16.3 13.9 8.5 9.6 12.7 11.4   11.0 29.6 14.7 12.2   

49 540141 113548 19.5 12.1 16.4 15.0 8.5 11.6 13.6 12.5 16.8 7.6 11.5 29.1 14.5 12.0   

50 544185 101350 37.5 33.7 39.5 53.4 15.0 26.6 38.6 33.3 33.8 33.9 34.7 40.0 35.0 29.1   

☒ All erroneous data has been removed from the NO2 diffusion tube dataset presented in Table B.1. 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% and >25% in line with LAQM.TG22. 

☐ Local bias adjustment factor used. 

☒ National bias adjustment factor used. 

☒ Where applicable, data has been distance corrected for relevant exposure in the final column. 

☐ LDC confirm that all 2022 diffusion tube data has been uploaded to the Diffusion Tube Data Entry System. 

Notes:  

Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold. 

NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and underlined. 

See Appendix C for details on bias adjustment and annualisation. 

 

  

P
age 90



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 53 

 

Table B.2 – NO2 2022 Diffusion Tube Results (µg/m3) in Eastbourne Borough Council 

DT ID 
X OS 

Grid Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Annual Mean: 
Raw Data 

Annual Mean: 
Annualised and 
Bias Adjusted 

(0.83) 

Annual Mean: 
Distance 

Corrected to 
Nearest 

Exposure 

Comment 

1 560774 99163 30.0 22.2 28.5 27.2 26.6 28.3 28.5 30.9 28.9 28.4 24.6 33.7 28.1 23.4   

2 561458 99116 27.4 16.5 24.0 20.8 17.8 18.0 18.3 19.7 21.4 18.2 17.2 28.8 20.7 17.1   

3 561568 99108 29.4 20.0 27.1 23.3 22.6 24.6 23.7 24.8 22.3 24.8 22.3 29.0 24.5 20.3   

4 561717 99061 33.9 25.4 31.2 30.1 26.2 31.5 32.0 28.9 29.9 30.0 26.8 32.9 29.8 24.8   

5 561621 99004 36.9 23.3 31.9 30.4 28.7 25.0 25.6 28.8 29.5 25.9 22.9 36.0 28.8 23.9   

6 561737 98948 29.1 15.0 22.2 21.7 19.8 18.3 20.6 24.1 21.9 18.7 17.1 31.8 21.7 18.0   

7 562692 100149 31.5 20.9 26.5 24.4 22.9 22.5 25.9 22.7 21.8 25.0 20.3 32.1 24.8 20.6   

8 562655 100970 36.6 27.3 29.7 29.5 29.9  28.9  31.3 30.8 29.9 34.1 30.7 25.5   

9 561885 103847 30.4 19.0 23.4 19.1 18.6 17.8 17.6 18.1 19.7 20.3 19.2 26.4 20.8 17.3   

10 557829 98190 17.1 12.5 20.7 17.9 18.2 20.9 19.8 18.7 14.6 16.7 12.5 17.1 17.3 14.3   

11 560440 99352 33.5 19.3 24.9 22.9 21.7 21.7 20.7 22.7 25.7 21.1 21.8 32.0 23.9 19.8   

12 560943 99480 31.8 21.2 28.0 20.2 20.9 20.8 19.6 19.3 22.4 23.1 22.2 31.7 23.5 19.5   

13 561354 99279 28.3 16.7 25.6 19.3 19.8 20.6 18.1 19.3 20.9 22.8 19.9 31.2 21.9 18.2   

14 561527 99846 37.5 26.8 36.0 32.8 29.7 33.2 33.8 34.8 31.8 24.1 30.3 38.8 32.3 26.8   

15 561043 99828 30.8 21.0 24.5 20.8 19.8 23.4    34.0  34.4 26.1 19.6   

16 562583 101109 35.5 20.9 33.1 30.3 26.7 28.7 29.3 31.9 30.4 26.5 24.3 33.2 29.2 24.3   

17 560749 102189 32.8 20.8 29.7 27.6 22.4 22.8 24.5 26.4 24.8 24.7 22.2 32.1 25.9 21.5   

18 560505 102196 25.7 17.5 24.9 20.7 18.1 20.1 19.9 21.1 20.3 20.6 20.2 28.1 21.4 17.8   

19 560134 100561 22.8 14.7 21.6 18.1 14.8 15.8 16.1 16.7 18.3 18.3 16.4 26.1 18.3 15.2   

20 559894 101035 31.9 21.6 29.4 26.2 23.0 24.3 25.1 26.8 26.9 25.7 21.9 32.1 26.2 21.8   

21 559730 100251 37.4 22.1 34.7 32.0 24.7 27.4 27.3 28.6 30.5   38.5 30.3 25.1   

☒ All erroneous data has been removed from the NO2 diffusion tube dataset presented in Table B.1. 

☒ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% and >25% in line with LAQM.TG22. 

☐ Local bias adjustment factor used. 

☒ National bias adjustment factor used. 

☒ Where applicable, data has been distance corrected for relevant exposure in the final column. 

☐ EBC confirm that all 2022 diffusion tube data has been uploaded to the Diffusion Tube Data Entry System. 

Notes:  

Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold. 

NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and underlined. 

See Appendix C for details on bias adjustment and annualisation. 

 

P
age 91



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 54 

Appendix C: Supporting Technical Information / Air 

Quality Monitoring Data QA/QC 

New or Changed Sources Identified Within Lewes District 

Council and Eastbourne Borough Council During 2022 

LDC and EBC have not identified any new sources relating to air quality within the 

reporting year of 2022. 

Additional Air Quality Works Undertaken by Lewes District 

Council and Eastbourne Borough Council During 2022 

Due both to staff shortages and the COVID-19 pandemic, progression on the development 

of the Lewes Town AQAP was temporarily inhibited and is currently at Draft stage. 

Progress will continue to be made throughout the next year. 

EBC has not completed any additional works within the reporting year of 2022. 

QA/QC of Diffusion Tube Monitoring 

The Ambient, Indoor, Workplace Air and Stack Emissions Proficiency Testing Scheme 

(AIR PT) is an independent analytical proficiency-testing scheme, operated by LGC 

Standards and supported by the Health and Safety Laboratory (HSL). Defra and the 

Devolved Administrations advise that diffusion tubes used for LAQM should be obtained 

from laboratories that have demonstrated satisfactory performance in the AIR PT scheme. 

AIR NO2 PT forms an integral part of the UK NO2 Network’s QA/QC, and is a useful tool in 

assessing the analytical performance of those laboratories supplying diffusion tubes to 

Local Authorities for use in the context of Local Air Quality Management (LAQM). 

During 2022 Gradko participated in the AIR PT programme, and obtained a 100% rating 

for AIR-PT AR049 (January – February 2022) and a 100% rating for AIR-PT AR050 (May 

– June 2022). The July 2022 – December 2022 results have not yet been published at the 

time of writing. Results can be found at: https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2022/07/LAQM-NO2-Performance-data_Up-to-June-2022_V2.1.pdf. 

Page 92

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/LAQM-NO2-Performance-data_Up-to-June-2022_V2.1.pdf
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/LAQM-NO2-Performance-data_Up-to-June-2022_V2.1.pdf


Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 55 

The diffusion tubes are supplied and analysed by Gradko utilising the 20% triethanolamine 

(TEA) in water preparation method. Diffusion tube monitoring during 2022 was undertaken 

in line with the Diffusion Tube Monitoring Calendar and recommended exposure period (5 

weeks (+/- 4 days)).  

Diffusion Tube Annualisation 

Table C.1  – Annualisation Summary (concentrations presented in µg/m3) in LDC 

Table C.2  – Annualisation Summary (concentrations presented in µg/m3) in EBC 

Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Factors 

The diffusion tube data presented within the 2023 ASR have been corrected for bias using 

an adjustment factor. Bias represents the overall tendency of the diffusion tubes to under 

or over-read relative to the reference chemiluminescence analyser. LAQM.TG22 provides 

guidance with regard to the application of a bias adjustment factor to correct diffusion tube 

monitoring. Triplicate co-location studies can be used to determine a local bias factor 

based on the comparison of diffusion tube results with data taken from NOx/NO2 

continuous analysers. Alternatively, the national database of diffusion tube co-location 

surveys provides bias factors for the relevant laboratory and preparation method. Figure C 

shows a screenshot of the National Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Factor Spreadsheet 

(March 2023) used in this report. 

Site 
ID 

Annualisation 
Factor 

Brighton 
Preston Park 

Annualisation 
Factor 

Lullington 
Heath 

Annualisation 
Factor 

Portsmouth 

Average 
Annualisation 

Factor 

Raw Data 
Simple Annual 
Mean (µg/m3) 

Annualised 
Data Simple 
Annual Mean 

(µg/m3) 

5 0.9189 1.0382 0.8807 0.9459 23.3 22.0 

8 0.9863 0.9299 1.0051 0.9738 19.8 19.3 

23 1.1195 1.0411 1.1656 0.9459 23.3 22.0 

36 0.8816 0.9711 0.8526 0.9738 19.8 19.3 

42 1.0478 1.1347 1.0023 1.1087 19.2 21.3 

Site 
ID 

Annualisation 
Factor 

Brighton 
Preston Park 

Annualisation 
Factor 

Lullington 
Heath 

Annualisation 
Factor 

Portsmouth 

Average 
Annualisation 

Factor 

Raw Data 
Simple Annual 
Mean (µg/m3) 

Annualised 
Data Simple 
Annual Mean 

(µg/m3) 

15 0.9157 0.8784 0.9131 0.9024 26.1 23.6 

Page 93



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 56 

LDC and EBC have applied a national bias adjustment factor of 0.83 to the 2022 

monitoring data. A summary of bias adjustment factors used by LDC and EBC over the 

past five years is presented in Table C.3. 

Table C.3 – Bias Adjustment Factor 

National Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Spreadsheet (March 2023) 

 

Monitoring Year Local or National 
If National, Version of 
National Spreadsheet 

Adjustment Factor 

2022 National 03/23 0.83 

2021 National 06/22 0.84 

2020 National 09/21 0.81 

2019 National 03/20 0.93 

2018 National 03/19 0.93 

Page 94



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 57 

NO2 Fall-off with Distance from the Road 

Wherever possible, monitoring locations are representative of exposure. However, where 

this is not possible, the NO2 concentration at the nearest location relevant for exposure 

has been estimated using the Diffusion Tube Data Processing Tool/NO2 fall-off with 

distance calculator available on the LAQM Support website. Where appropriate, non-

automatic annual mean NO2 concentrations corrected for distance are presented in Table 

B.1. 

Table C.4 – NO2 Fall off With Distance Calculations (concentrations presented in 

µg/m3) in LDC 

Site 
ID 

Distance (m): 
Monitoring Site 

to Kerb 

Distance (m): 
Receptor to 

Kerb 

Monitored 
Concentration 

(Annualised and 
Bias Adjusted) 

Background 
Concentration 

Concentration 
Predicted at 

Receptor 

3 1.0 3.5 41.3 13.7 34.4 

QA/QC of Automatic Monitoring 

The continuous monitoring station in Lewes District Council is managed by the Sussex Air 

Quality Partnership (https://www.sussex-air.net). The continuous monitoring site EB1 in 

EBC is managed by the Sussex Air Quality Partnership. The second continuous 

monitoring site, EB3, is managed by the AURN. 

All continuous monitoring activities are subject to the same quality assurance/quality 

control objectives set out in the AURN local site operator’s manual. These procedures are:  

• Overnight 24-hour IZS calibration checks (NOx analyser);  

• Fortnightly manual zero/span calibration using certified cylinders (carried out by 

Council employees fully trained in LSO duties);  

• Full data analysis and ratification by Bureau Veritas for Devonshire Park. 

Six monthly service visits are undertaken. Full site audits are not undertaken. 

PM10 and PM2.5 Monitoring Adjustment 

No adjustment of particulate data was undertaken as the data is measured and reported 

as Gravimetric Equivalent from Lewes Little East Street, Eastbourne, Devonshire Park and 

AURN Eastbourne Holly Place. No data was monitored at Newhaven in 2022. 

Page 95



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 58 

Automatic Monitoring Annualisation 

All automatic monitoring locations within Lewes District Council and Eastbourne District 

Council recorded data capture of greater than 75% therefore it was not required to 

annualise any monitoring data. In addition, any sites with a data capture below 25% do not 

require annualisation. 

NO2 Fall-off with Distance from the Road 

Wherever possible, monitoring locations are representative of exposure. However, where 

this is not possible, the NO2 concentration at the nearest location relevant for exposure 

has been estimated using the NO2 fall-off with distance calculator available on the LAQM 

Support website. Where appropriate, non-automatic annual mean NO2 concentrations 

corrected for distance are presented in Table B.1. 

No automatic NO2 monitoring locations within Lewes District Council or Eastbourne 

Borough Council required distance correction during 2021. 

 

Page 96



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 59 

Appendix D: Maps of Monitoring Locations and AQMAs 

Figure D.1 – Map of Monitoring Sites in LDC: Northern Lewes and Lewes Town Centre AQMA 

 

P
age 97



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 60 

Figure D.2 – Map of Monitoring Site in LDC: Southern Lewes with Newhaven Ring Road AQMA 

 

 

P
age 98



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 61 

Figure D.3 – Map of Monitoring Site in EBC 

 

  

Page 99



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 62 

Appendix E: Summary of Air Quality Objectives in 

England 

Table E.1 – Air Quality Objectives in England 

Pollutant Air Quality Objective: Concentration 
Air Quality 
Objective: 

Measured as 

Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) 200µg/m3 not to be exceeded more than 18 times a year 1-hour mean 

Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) 40µg/m3 Annual mean 

Particulate Matter (PM10) 50µg/m3, not to be exceeded more than 35 times a year 24-hour mean 

Particulate Matter (PM10) 40µg/m3 Annual mean 

Sulphur Dioxide (SO2) 350µg/m3, not to be exceeded more than 24 times a year 1-hour mean 

Sulphur Dioxide (SO2) 125µg/m3, not to be exceeded more than 3 times a year 24-hour mean 

Sulphur Dioxide (SO2) 266µg/m3, not to be exceeded more than 35 times a year 15-minute mean 

Ozone (O3) 100µg/m3, not to be exceeded more than 10 times a year 24-hour mean 

 

Page 100



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 63 

Glossary of Terms 

Abbreviation Description 

AQAP 
Air Quality Action Plan - A detailed description of measures, outcomes, 
achievement dates and implementation methods, showing how the local 

authority intends to achieve air quality limit values’ 

AQMA 
Air Quality Management Area – An area where air pollutant concentrations 
exceed / are likely to exceed the relevant air quality objectives. AQMAs are 

declared for specific pollutants and objectives 

ASR Annual Status Report 

Defra Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

DMRB 
Design Manual for Roads and Bridges – Air quality screening tool produced 

by National Highways 

EU European Union 

FDMS Filter Dynamics Measurement System 

LAQM Local Air Quality Management 

NO2 Nitrogen Dioxide 

NOx Nitrogen Oxides 

PM10 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10µm or less 

PM2.5 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm or less 

QA/QC Quality Assurance and Quality Control 

SO2 Sulphur Dioxide 

LDC Lewes District Council 

EBC Eastbourne Borough Council 

NH National Highways 

ESCC East Sussex County Council 

LTC Lewes Town Council 

WDC Wealden District Council 

ETCIS Eastbourne Town Centre Improvement Scheme  

Page 101



Lewes District and Eastbourne Borough Councils 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2023 64 

References 

• Local Air Quality Management Technical Guidance LAQM.TG22. August 2022. 

Published by Defra in partnership with the Scottish Government, Welsh Assembly 

Government and Department of the Environment Northern Ireland. 

• Local Air Quality Management Policy Guidance LAQM.PG22. August 2022. 

Published by Defra in partnership with the Scottish Government, Welsh Assembly 

Government and Department of the Environment Northern Ireland. 

• Lewes District Council 2019 Annual Status Report. 

• Eastbourne Borough Council 2019 Annual Status Report. 

• Lewes District Council 2020 Annual Status Report. 

• Eastbourne Borough Council 2020 Annual Status Report. 

• Lewes District Council and Eastbourne Borough Council 2022 Annual Status 

Report. 

• National Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Factor Spreadsheet, published May 2023. 

• Diffusion Tube Data Processing Tool version 3.0, February 2023, Defra. 

Page 102



Report to: Policy and Performance Advisory Committee 
 

Date: 
 

02 November 2023 

Title: Policy and Performance Advisory Committee – Policy Input 
and Development. 

  
Exemption: 
 

None 

Report of: Simon Russell, Head of Democratic Services 
  
Ward(s): 
 

All 

Purpose of the 
report:  
 
 

This report outlines the responsibilities of the Policy and 
Performance Advisory Committee when choosing to consult 
on reports from the Forward Plan that are due for 
consideration by the Cabinet and provides details of the 
recommendations to the Cabinet for each report. 

  
Recommendations to 
the Committee: 
 

The recommendations are detailed at 1.3 of this report 

Reasons for 
recommendations to 
the Committee: 
 

To provide a critical friend challenge to the Cabinet decision 
and policy making process. 

Contact Officer(s): Name: Nick Peeters 
Post title: Committee Officer 
E-mail: nick.peeters@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
Telephone number: 01323 415272 

 
1 Introduction 

 
1.1  In its role as a provider of public scrutiny and as critical friend, the Policy and 

Performance Advisory Committee has a duty to provide a challenge to the 
executive decision and policy makers.  
 

1.2  The Policy and Performance Advisory Committee is able to provide this 
challenge through the inclusion of the Cabinet’s Forward Plan of Decisions as a 
standing item on each of the Committee’s agendas, allowing the Committee to 
request the inclusion of reports due for consideration by the Cabinet on its 
agenda and by asking that the relevant officers, heads of service or directors, 
attend the Committee meetings and discuss the content of the reports. 
 

1.3  Following consideration of each item, where the Members will be able to ask 
questions of the relevant officers, heads of service, directors and other 
stakeholders, the Policy and Performance Advisory Committee will provide one 
of the following three recommendations to the Cabinet: 
 
1) To support the recommendations in the report in full; or  

Page 103

Agenda Item 7



 
2) To support the recommendation in the report subject to the consideration   

by the Cabinet of any amendments agreed by Committee; or 
 
3) To not support the recommendations in the report and give reasons. 
 

1.4  The Cabinet will be provided with the recommendations from the Policy and 
Performance Advisory Committee when it considers the main report. 
 

3 The following Cabinet reports and recommendations are included in the Policy 
and Performance Advisory Committee agenda for the meeting on the 10 July 
2023:  
 

Cabinet report: 
 

Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy - Annual update 
 

Purpose of the 
report: 
 

To provide an update on the Climate Change and 
Sustainability Strategy and action plan, and set out 
proposals for climate change activities in 2024/25, including 
refreshing the Strategy and action plan. 
 

Officer 
recommendations to 
the Cabinet: 
 

(1) approve the Climate Change and Sustainability Annual 
Update (as attached in Appendix 1) for publication on the 
council’s website. 
 

(2) note progress to date on the Strategy and action plan, as 
set out in Appendix 1. 
 

(3) delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive and 
Director of Planning and Regeneration to deliver the 
Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy refresh, in 
consultation with the portfolio holder. 
 

Reasons for the 
recommendations: 

To progress the aims of the council’s Climate Emergency 
Declaration (2019) to make the authority net zero carbon by 
2030 and to assist the same aim to be achieved within the 
wider district. 
 

Lead Officer Jo Wunsch, Sustainability Advisor 
  
Cabinet report: Housing Benefit War Pension and Armed Forces 

Compensation Policy 
 

Purpose of the 
report: 

To gain Cabinet’s recommendation to Full Council for the 
disregarding, in the assessment of Housing Benefit, War 
Pension and Armed Forces Compensation income above 
the statutory disregard. 
 

Officer 
recommendations:  

Cabinet recommend to Full Council the disregarding in full 
of War Pensions income and the Armed Forces 
Compensation income in the assessment of Housing 
Benefit. 
 

Page 104



Reasons for the 
recommendations: 

As set out in the report. 

Lead Officer Bill McCafferty, Lead for Income Maximisation and Welfare 
  
Cabinet report: 
 

Lewes Local Plan, Preferred Options and Policies Directions 
 

Purpose of the 
report: 
 

To seek agreement for a period of public consultation on 
the Regulation 18 Local Plan ‘Towards a Spatial Strategy 
and Policies Approaches’, and publication of supporting 
documents. 
 
The Local Plan covers the area of the district for which the 
Council is the local planning authority. The area of the 
district covered by the South Downs National Park in not 
included in this Local Plan.  
 
The Local Development Scheme (December 2022) sets out 
the stages of public consultation in preparing the Local Plan 
and the Statement of Community Involvement sets out when 
and how we will consult on planning matters. 
 

Officer 
recommendations to 
the Cabinet: 
 

(1) To approve and recommend to Full Council, the Local 
Plan Regulation 18: Towards a spatial strategy and 
policies directions document, as set out in Appendix 1, 
together with the supporting documents for public 
consultation in accordance with the regulations and the 
Local Development Scheme. 

 
(2) To agree delegated authority to the Director of 

Regeneration and Planning, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Planning and Infrastructure to make 
any minor changes to the appearance, format and text of 
the Local Plan and supporting documents in the 
interests of clarity and accuracy prior to their 
publication for consultation.   

 

Page 105



Reasons for 
recommendations: 
 

The preparation of the Local Plan must be undertaken in 
accordance with the relevant regulations. This includes 
consultation at Regulation 18 of the Town and County 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended). The proposed consultation is at Regulation 18. 
 
The consultation document sets out policy directions for 
policies to be developed further at the subsequent draft 
Local Plan stage. It also sets out the identified development 
needs of the plan area, and the Council’s proposed 
approach to meeting these needs within its plan area.  
 
As part of this consultation, assessment material of land 
submitted in response to the ‘Call for Sites’ will be included. 
This assessment has drawn on the technical evidence 
produced to support this stage of the consultation as well 
as information that has been submitted by parties with an 
interest. 

  
 
2 

 
Financial / Legal / Risk Management / Equality Analysis/ Environmental 
Sustainability Implications/ Background Papers 
 

2.1 All implications are addressed in the Cabinet reports 
 

3 Appendices: None 
 

 

Page 106



 
Report to: Cabinet 

 
Date: 9 November 2023 

 
Title: Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy - Annual update 

 
Report of: Ian Fitzpatrick, Deputy Chief Executive and Director of 

Regeneration and Planning 
 

Cabinet member: 
 

Councillor Emily O’Brien, Cabinet member for Climate, 
Nature and Food Systems 
 

Ward(s): 
 

All 

Purpose of report: 
 

To provide an update on the Climate Change and 
Sustainability Strategy and action plan, and set out 
proposals for climate change activities in 2024/25, including 
refreshing the Strategy and action plan. 
 

Decision type: 
 

Key 

Officer 
recommendation(s): 

Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
(1) approve the Climate Change and Sustainability Annual 
Update (as attached in Appendix 1) for publication on the 
council’s website. 
(2) note progress to date on the Strategy and action plan, as 
set out in Appendix 1. 
(3) delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive and 
Director of Planning and Regeneration to deliver the Climate 
Change and Sustainability Strategy refresh, in consultation 
with the portfolio holder. 
 

Reasons for 
recommendations: 
 

To progress the aims of the council’s Climate Emergency 
Declaration (2019) to make the authority net zero carbon by 
2030 and to assist the same aim to be achieved within the 
wider district. 
 

Contact Officer(s): Name: Jo Wunsch 
Post title: Sustainability Advisor 
E-mail: jo.wunsch@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
Telephone number: 01323 415120 
 

 
1  Introduction 

 
1.1  This paper sets out (through Appendix 1) the progress of the Climate Change 

and Sustainability Strategy and action plan, as approved by Cabinet in February 
2021, as a result of the Climate Emergency Declaration made at Full Council in 

Page 107

Agenda Item 7a



July 2019. The Strategy sets out the vision for a net zero carbon council and 
district by 2030. 
 

1.2  Appendix 1 has been brought forward for approval by Cabinet.  
The Appendix, tracking progress on actions set, will be placed as a standalone 
document on the council’s climate change web page and will sit alongside the 
full Strategy. 
 

1.3  The carbon emission report within Appendix 1 confirms a 16.8% reduction on 
the total baseline figure from 2018/19, and a 13.8% reduction in fleet emissions, 
confirming the council is on track in terms of the emissions commitments. 
 

1.4  The carbon footprint of the district has reduced by 15% based on the 
Department for Energy Security and Net Zero (DESNZ – previously Department 
for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy’s – BEIS) data, since 2018. 
 
No analysis is carried out on the district data and it is provided for monitoring 
purposes only this year. A more in-depth analysis of district and council 
emissions will be carried out in 2024/25. This should enable a review of the 
figures pre, during and post Covid-19 lockdowns due to the 2-year lag in the 
data. 
 

1.5  Partnership working remains key to the success of any local authority’s climate 
change and carbon reduction ambitions, and Lewes District Council places a 
particular importance on the value of partnership working. 
 
The council has progressed many regional and local projects working with 
partners including: 
• Decarbonising social housing roadmap for 2030 zero carbon with the Greater 

Brighton Economic Board (GBEB) and the University of Brighton. 
• Continued support for Ouse Valley Climate Action project led by the South 

Downs National Park and a partnership of 10 local organisations including 
the council. 

• Solar Together – photovoltaic (PV) panel and storage group buying scheme 
with over 220 acceptances and 42 installations across the district as of 
September 2023. 

 
More details and case-studies can be found in the Appendix 1 below. 
 

2  Lewes District Council Carbon Emission Report 
 

2.1  This report provides a summary of the carbon report for the financial year 
2022/23 along with a comparison with the baseline 2018/19. 

2.2  There has been a reduction in the council’s Scope 1 and 2 emissions of 16.8% 
since 2018/19. 

2.3  The full report is available in Appendix 1. 
 
 
 

Page 108



3  Scope 3 emissions 
 

3.1  The council continues to expand upon its Scope 3 emissions reporting.  
The council acknowledges that its greatest source of emissions will be from 
purchasing and contracting.  
 
The councils reporting methods continue to improve as contracts renew. This 
year’s report is contained within Table 3 of Appendix 1. 
 

4  Lewes District Carbon Emissions Summary 
 

4.1  This information can be found in Appendix 1. 
 

5  The Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy – Strategic Action Areas 
Update 
 

5.1  The Strategy currently contains 86 actions across 7 action areas. The scrutiny 
subgroup (called Scrutiny Emergency Climate Change Panel) of Policy and 
Performance Advisory Committee has helpfully identified challenges with the 
current framework for tracking progress, and these will be addressed as part of 
the refresh mentioned in recommendation 3 of this report. 
 
A summary of work to date is below. 68% of actions are currently reported as 
green, 16% as amber, 0% red and 16% complete. Appendix 1 sets out the full 
updated action plan and set of indicators. 
 

5.2  A number of key actions include: 
• Expert input into Local Plan Evidence Base reports by specialist officers 

across the Green Consultancy. 
• Allocation of ‘Cost of Living Crisis’ fund monies to fund green energy and 

energy saving initiatives. 
• As of September 2023, 12 public electric vehicle (EV) charge points have 

been installed in 2 of the council’s car parks. 52 EV charge points will be 
installed in the remaining 7 car parks by the new year, with an additional 3 
EV charge points specifically for car club use. 

• Electric food waste vehicles have been piloted and separate food waste 
collections are being rolled out over the autumn and winter. 

• Solar Together communications generated 1,197 registrations and, as of 
September 2023, 42 residential solar systems had been installed. 

• Natural Flood Management work through the high profile Cockshut Stream 
Restoration Project – success in flood management as well as biodiversity 
improvements and carbon capture, attracted local and national media 
interest, and there are already reported sightings of species not usually seen. 

• 128 vouchers to help purchase reusable products due to a partnership with 
local company Cheeky Wipes have been issued. 

• Publication of Decarbonising our Housing Stock – Roadmap for 2030 Zero 
Carbon. 

• Carbon Literacy Project training (delivered by a local community energy 
organisation) was attended by 13 councillors. 

Page 109



• Provided supporting evidence and partnership working for the Lewes District 
Food Partnership Sustainable Food Places Bronze award application. 

• Funding awarded to the council for a street gum removal and behaviour 
change campaign across the district. 

• Ringmer Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems flood alleviation scheme is 
being delivered with partners and schools. 

 
6  Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy Refresh 

 
6.1  The Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy is a robust and comprehensive 

document that reflects the vision and pathway for the council to reach its 2030 
net zero ambition. The Strategy was published in 2021 and its development 
involved engagement with over 140 individuals and organisations throughout the 
district, reflected on global, national, regional, and local policy to develop an 
evidence base. Baseline figures for the district and the council were produced 
and 7 strategic action areas were identified. Periodic review and refresh is 
required, and this is being proposed to meet the following objectives: 
• Ensure the Strategy remains live and dynamic. 
• Incorporate updates to national, regional and local policy framework. 
• Update organisation and government department names. 
• Update and reflect the ongoing input and partnership working with the 

community in helping to deliver the council’s net zeros goals. 
 

6.2  Process Proposal 
• In line with recommendation 3 of this report, Cabinet is recommended to 

approve delegated authority to the Deputy Chief Executive and Director of 
Planning and regeneration, in consultation with the portfolio holder, to refresh 
the Strategy and corresponding action plan, in readiness for delivery and 
monitoring from the new financial year 2024/25. 

 
6.3  Timeframe 

• Announcement of Strategy refresh following cabinet approval. 
• Strategy refresh to begin in November 2023. 
• Action plan refresh, light touch refresh already underway and to be continued 

more vigorously from November 2023 
• Community and stakeholder engagement ongoing throughout 2023/24. 
• Refreshed Strategy and action plan to be delivered for monitoring by the 

Scrutiny Emergency Climate Change Panel from the new financial year. 
 

7  Financial appraisal 
 

7.1  The financial implications of the Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy and 
action plan will be factored into the 2024/25 budget setting process currently 
underway. 
 

8  Legal implications 
 

8.1  The Climate Change Act 2008 created a framework for reducing the UK’s 
carbon emissions. It legally binds the government to carbon budgets that set 
limits on the UK's greenhouse gas emissions during five-year periods. They 

Page 110



include a target to be over three quarters of the way to net zero in the next 13 
years. ‘Net zero’ means that the amount of greenhouse gas emissions in the UK 
is equal to or lower than the amount of greenhouse gases removed from the 
atmosphere in the UK. The UK has also committed internationally to reduce its 
emissions by at least 68% by 2030 from 1990 levels, as part of its ‘Nationally 
Determined Contribution’ (NDC) under the Paris Agreement. 
 

8.2  In October 2021, BEIS issued The Net Zero Strategy, which sets out the 
government's policies and proposals to ensure the UK continues to meet its 
carbon budgets under the Climate Change Act 2008 and achieves its NDC 
under the Paris Agreement. It also sets out the government's vision for a 
decarbonised economy in 2050. 
 

8.3  The Climate Change Act did not include a statutory duty for local authorities to 
develop plans and deliver cuts in line with its carbon budgets. Nor did it set local 
authorities their own carbon budgets. However, this does not preclude local 
authorities from developing their own climate change and sustainability plans to 
enhance environmental conditions across their own areas and to contribute to 
national efforts. The council has power to do this under its general power of 
competence conferred by sections 1 to 4 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 

8.4  It is legitimate (indeed advisable) for the council to work with other local 
organisations on a partnership basis to advance its plans. Paragraph 1.5 above 
and Appendix 1 sets out examples of such support and collaboration. 
 

8.5  Action to reduce carbon emissions across Lewes district is an executive function 
and proper for Cabinet to determine. Accordingly, Cabinet is the appropriate 
body to consider and approve the recommendations set out on page 1 of this 
report. 
Legal input provided 04.09.23                                      Legal ref: 012451-LDC-OD 
 

9  Equality analysis 
 

9.1  An Equality Analysis already exists for this topic: Cabinet paper February 2021: 
Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy 2021 
 
Further analysis is done on a project-by-project basis. 
 

10  Environmental sustainability implications 
 

10.1  The Strategy is key to delivering the net zero carbon goal of the council by 2030. 
It will seek to ensure that carbon implications are taken into account throughout 
the council and in all decisions. 
 
Implementation of actions to achieve carbon neutrality is key to mitigate the 
predicted negative impacts of climate change on the environment, economy and 
communities. 
 
 
 
 

Page 111

https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/s19142/Climate%20change%20and%20sustainability%20strategy.pdf


11  Contribution to Community Wealth Building 
 

11.1  The Community Wealth Building Strategy and action plan is a fundamental, 
enabling strand of the climate change action plan, and contributes considerably 
to the deliverability of the council’s ambitions. Buying more locally, employing 
local staff, and encouraging local investment in our projects helps increase, and 
keep, wealth and jobs within our community whilst reducing carbon emissions. 
 

12  Appendices 
 

 • Appendix 1 – Lewes District Council Climate Change & Sustainability Update 
November 2023 – for publication on the website 

 
13  Background papers 

 
 The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows: 
 • Cabinet paper November 2022: Climate Change and Sustainability Update 

2022 
 

Page 112

https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=417&MId=3570&Ver=4
https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=417&MId=3570&Ver=4


Appendix 1 

 

P
age 113



2 
 

Lewes District Council Climate Change & Sustainability Update 

November 2023 

Contents 
1. Introduction P3 

 
  
2. Lewes District Council Carbon Emissions Report P4 
      2.1 Methodology  
      2.2 Data summary & review  
      2.3 Scope 3 emissions 
 

 

3. Lewes District Carbon Emissions Summary 
 

P9 

4. Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy- Strategic Action 
Areas Update 
 

P11 

5. Strategy Action Plan Update & Sustainability Indicators 
 

P33 

  
  

 

 

 

 

P
age 114



3 
 

1. Introduction 
This update report on the progress of the Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy adopted in February 2021 provides an 
overview of how work has progressed on the initial action plan and how this work has evolved over the last year. It provides a brief 
update to the evidence base and reports on the multitude of projects that have been delivered by the council, the community and in 
partnership. 

The council provides a summary emission report for the year 2022/23 along with a progress summary against the baseline year 
2018/19. 

The district emissions are reported using publicly available data produced by Department for Energy Security & Net Zero (DESNZ – 
previously Department for Business Energy and Industrial Strategy [BEIS]). BEIS data is national and consistent over many years 
but only consists of scope 1 (direct emissions from fuel use) and 2 (electricity consumed) emissions within the local authority 
boundary, it is reported, for the first time, in units of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e). 

No analysis is carried out on the district data, and it is provided for monitoring purposes only this year. A more in-depth analysis of 
district emissions will be carried out in 2024/25. This should enable a review of the figures pre, during and post COVID-19 
lockdowns. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 115



4 
 

2. Lewes District Council Carbon Emissions Report 
This report provides a summary of the carbon report for the financial year 2022/23, along with a comparison of previous years with 
the baseline 2018/19. 

2.1 Methodology 
We have calculated the baseline using the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol methodology and the appropriate annual conversion 
factors for each year issued by the Department for Energy Security & Net Zero (DESNZ – previously Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy [BEIS]). By using this method and these figures, we are ensuring that the baseline emissions we 
measure can be reported accurately every year to 2030 using a peer reviewed and agreed process. 

Lewes District Council generally uses the ‘operational control’ approach to define the organisational boundary and to inform the 
emissions inventory boundary described in the table below. 

It should be noted, however, that with regards to metered gas and electricity, all sites, regardless of who operates the site, are 
considered to be in scope 1 or 2 if the council is responsible for paying the bills (even if these costs are re-charged to the lessee) 
and for fully maintaining the premises. Where these conditions are not met, the sites will sit within scope 3 (eg. for Wave Leisure 
facilities). 

Scope 1 and 2 emissions form the organisational baseline and are considered to be directly controllable by the Council. 

Category Description Data used in this analysis 
Scope 1 Direct emissions from sources 

owned or controlled by Lewes 
District Council 

Metered gas data (for buildings where the council pays the gas 
bills) 
Litres of fuel consumed for fleet vehicles 

Scope 2 Indirect emissions from the 
generation of energy purchased by 
Lewes District Council 

Metered electricity data (for buildings where the council pays the 
electricity bills) 

Scope 3 Indirect emissions that result from 
other activities that occur in the 
value chain, either upstream or 
downstream 

As per table 3 

 

P
age 116



5 
 

2.2 Data summary & review  
 

April 2018 to March 2023 
This year’s contains condensed information, further detail will be provided during 2024. The emissions summary is provided in 
Table 1 and Graphs 1 and 2. 

The council’s total emissions have reduced by 16.8% since baseline 2018/19. 

Council emissions are reported using the grid standard electricity factor. This is because the electricity supply is a Renewable 
Energy Guarantee of Origin (REGO) certificate backed renewable supply and, although the council’s supplier insists, the authority 
can claim this as zero carbon at actual point of use the grid standard electricity mix is being used, and it is best practice and a 
requirement of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol to report this. 

There has been a further year on year reduction from fleet emissions and there is now have a 13.8% reduction on the baseline 
which is largely down to reduced consumption. 

Gas consumption is now less than the baseline figure, next year, usage with reviewed to see if this reduction continues. 

Operational building gas consumption has reduced by 8.1% on the 2018/19 baseline. 

Electricity emissions have overall reduced by 33% on the baseline – largely due to the increase in renewables within the grid 
electricity mix. It is likely that electricity consumption will increase further in the near future as the work to electrify some of the 
council’s fleet begins. 

Graph 2 shows the trends in the source of emissions by scope (gas, electricity, diesel) from 2018 to 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 117



6 
 

Table 1- Lewes District Council Emissions Summary in CO2e 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Graph 1: Lewes District Council emissions by year 

 
 

 
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

% reduction 
on baseline 
2018/19 

Gas kWh (gross) 360.5 388.5 382.6 409.3 331.2 8.1 

Elec kWh 358.4 299.7 276.8 268.8 240.9 32.8 

Diesel (litres) 870.9 790.7 770.8 761.2 751.0 13.8 

Total 1589.8 1478.9 1430.2 1439.3 1323.1 16.8 

P
age 118



7 
 

Graph 2: Trends in the source of emissions by scope 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.3 Scope 3 emissions 

The council continues to expand upon its Scope 3 emissions reporting. 

The council acknowledges that its greatest source of emissions will be from purchasing and contracting. The councils reporting 
methods continue to improve as contracts renew, as reflected in table 3.  

 

 

 

 

P
age 119



8 
 

Table 3. Scope 3 emissions- tonnes CO2e 

Source 
Data source and 
conversion 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Electricity Transmission and Distribution 
losses 

Utilities consumption 
information 30.52 25.54 23.42 23.78 22 

Water use – supply and treatment Direct from utility company N/A 13.9 19.5 9.6 5.3 

Wave Leisure 

Direct from consumption 
information (water, gas and 
electricity) 953.5 945 365.5 763 705 

Private Business Miles (staff and 
councillors) 

Calculated using miles 
claimed and an average 
petrol car     28.4 20 22.6 

Councillors – taxis 
‘Regular Taxi km’ based on 
spend (average costs)       0.02 N/A 

Public transport (staff and councillors) 
Estimated km based on 
spend (rail assumed)     0.39 0.82 1.3 

Well to Tank (WTT) diesel fuel emissions 
Based on actual 
consumption     185.3 184.8 179 

Well to tank natural gas 
Utilities consumption 
information     56.51 70 57 

Grounds maintenance contract – fuel 
(consumption and WTT) 

Diesel and unleaded petrol 
consumption       83.75 86.5 

              

Total   984t 984t 679t 1156t 1079t 
 

 

 

 

P
age 120



9 
 

3. Whole District Carbon Emissions Summary 
This section summarises the data available for the entire districts carbon emissions. 

 

15% reduction in district wide emissions between 2018 and 2020, with a 10% reduction from 2019 to 2020 (DESNZ/BEIS data) 

Data Source 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 
Anthesis District 
Baseline 

458 kt CO2e N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Scatter Cities 
methodology 

534 kt CO2e 527.2 kt CO2e 514.8 kt CO2e Not available Not available 

DESNZ data July 
2022- UK local 
authority and 
regional CO2 
emissions – data 
tables (excel)  

Data in CO2e is not 
available. 
391 kt CO2 

483.2 kt CO2e 455.2 kt CO2e 407.5 kt CO2e 425.4 kt CO2e 

 

As the data shows above, there is a 15% reduction on the whole district baseline using DESNZ figures, however, this is insufficient 
to meet the district wide carbon budget as determined by the Tyndall Centre. The differing methodologies makes it challenging to 
fully understand the entire picture. https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/E07000063/ 

The district should aim for a year-on-year reduction of 13.3% if it is to stay within the carbon budget for 2020-2021. 

It needs to be noted that the available district information is not directly comparable with the district baseline produced by Anthesis 
in 2020 due to variations in calculation methodology. Therefore, the available information from the Scatter tool (also produced 
though collaboration by the same consultants Anthesis, Nottingham City Council, the Tyndall Centre and the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority with funding from BEIS/DESNZ) is reported for 2017, and it is compared with the DESNZ data available for 
local authority areas. 

Variation between Scatter and DESNZ figures are due to variations in methodology and the scopes reported. Scatter is the only 
method to count some scope 3 indirect emissions, including ‘cruise impacts’ as a result of aviation (calculated on percentage of 

P
age 121

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2020
https://tyndall.ac.uk/
https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/E07000063/


10 
 

population assuming flying is uniformly distributed across the whole population) and waterborne transportation, neither of which are 
covered in the DESNZ data. 

 

 
  

P
age 122



11 
 

4. The Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy – Strategic Action Areas – Update 2023 
 

Summary of progress 
The Strategy currently contains 87 actions across 7 action areas. A summary of work to date across the district is below – the full 
spreadsheet in Appendix 1 sets out more information on the actions within each area. 

68% of actions are currently reported as green, 16% as amber, 0% red and 16% complete. 

 

ENERGY & THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT 
Progress towards goals: 

1. We will have built and encouraged affordable, energy efficient and climate resilient homes 
The council’s Co-operative Alliance is moving positively towards delivering 200 new council homes within the 
district over the 2020-2024 period, having 189 homes either in development, planning, under construction or 

completed. These include developments in Ringmer, Newhaven, Chailey, Lewes and Plumpton with more brownfield sites 
under consideration. The council has secured a modular housing contract to speed up development delivery and the 
provision of energy-efficient locally produced housing, is taking a fabric first approach to ensure high levels of insulation and 
appropriate low carbon heating and cooling requirements as well as building to Healthy Homes principles. Technologies 
considered at each site include solar panels, batteries, heat pumps, and green roofs/walls. The council continues the 
process of collating evidence for the new Local Plan to ensure that all development, not just council housing, is fit for 
purpose for the future, low carbon and climate resilient. 
 

2. We will have shifted the district to low and zero carbon heat and electricity 
The council is continuing to work with organisations, such as UK Power Networks (UKPN) regarding upgrading of power 
supplies within the district in order to facilitate the uptake of low carbon electricity, in order to enable the increased uptake of 
electric vehicles, and technology such as heat pumps. 
 
Solar Together is a successful group buying scheme to enable and facilitate the able to pay market to access best value 
solar panels and battery storage. By encouraging domestic solar suitable properties, the council enables residents to reduce 

P
age 123



12 
 

reliance on centrally produced energy and lowers the overall emissions from domestic housing for the district, this has the 
double benefit of not only lowering emissions but also buffering residents against a volatile energy market. 
 

3. We will engage early on with developers to ensure they produce low cost, low energy buildings 
Early engagement with private developers is critical to meeting our net zero goals and continues to be a key focus for the 
council. This is, however, completed against the backdrop of the current Local Plan which contains our planning policy 
documents. Moving forward, updating the Local Plan is key to ensuring the development of low carbon, highly energy-
efficient buildings enabling early engagement to go hand-in-hand with clear policy direction. 
 

Targets, facts and figures 
 

We are currently on track to reduce council carbon emissions by around 50% by 2025 

 

Domestic buildings are responsible for 37 % of Lewes District’s emissions (BEIS LA (local authorities) GHG estimates 2020) 

62.5 % of homes in the district have an energy efficiency rating of D or lower as of Sept 2022 – this is an improvement on the 
previously reported figure of 71% meaning homes in the district are becoming more energy efficient. 

Solar generation capacity as of end 2021 16.7 MW 

Council energy consumption has reduced by 9.5% on the baseline 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 124



13 
 

Case Studies 
Ovesco Energy Champions provide household energy advice. 

Ovesco is a not-for-profit community interest company which develops community-
owned renewable energy in the Lewes district and across East Sussex. Ovesco 
Energy Champions offer free, impartial energy advice to residents and helped 840 
people in 2022/23. Trained Energy Champions are on hand to provide energy bill 
health checks, help with reducing energy usage, and have free energy reducing kits 
and insulation materials. They can check eligibility for the warm home discount and 
energy related financial support, help with approaching suppliers regarding arrears, 
direct debits, and payment plans. They are also available to provide advice on eco 
heating upgrades, renewables and retrofitting. As well has having a dedicated Energy 
Room at the Climate Hub (supported by the council) situated in Lewes House on 

Lewes High Street, the energy champions attend community events and venues such as community supermarkets in Peacehaven 
and Newhaven, Fitzjohns foodbank, Ringmer Library and the Home First tenants conference. The Energy Champions are available 
for drop-ins at Lewes House three days a week, as well as for home visits and advice through an Energy Advice hotline. 
 
Decarbonising our Housing Stock: Roadmap for 2030 zero carbon 

Zero carbon homes could now be possible thanks to the completion of a ground-breaking study 
between Lewes District and Eastbourne Councils, the University of Brighton and the council’s 
sustainability joint venture Clear Futures. The study looked at the most realistic solutions that 
could be delivered by 2030, which includes more investment in local green energy and a 
targeted approach to retrofit. Delivering these solutions though will require a coordinated effort 
between Local Authorities, central government, and energy companies, as well as the 
development of local energy systems. The methodology for this work was to analyse and 
evaluate our housing stock using archetypes, SAP and dynamic modelling, remote seasonal 
monitoring, physical inspections from PAS 2035 assessors and architects, stock profiling, and 

asset plan modelling. The work was underpinned by a peer review panel made up of leading national expert individual and 
organisations. 

P
age 125



14 
 

Solar Together 

Solar Together Sussex brings the cost benefit of bulk purchasing solar PV panels and battery 
storage to residents of the district. The council participated in the summer 2023 solar together 
scheme. The scheme offered residents solar PV panels with optional battery storage and as well as 
batteries for those with existing solar PV. Home electric vehicle charge points were also included in 
the scheme for the first time. A high level of interest in the scheme led to 1,197 registrations from 
residents. 

 
 

SUSTAINABLE TRAVEL & AIR QUALITY 
Progress towards our goals: 

We will have improved air quality and reduced carbon emissions by: 

 
1. Reducing reliance on cars and the need for personal car ownership 

The council recognises our dependency on cars and is working with car clubs to deliver more communally accessible vehicles 
as part of new housing developments.  The council is also in the process of enabling existing and future car club vehicles to 
transition to electric where these are cited within our car parks. The council is working with car clubs to increase access to car 
clubs in more areas of the district. 
 
The council is working with the community to improve connectivity to sustainable travel (eg. by providing cycle parking in key 
locations and continues to work with the county council on increasing cycle parking and car clubs). 
 
2. Encouraging a more sustainable and low carbon district wide transport network 
Whilst the council is not the transport authority, studies have been completed by the council in partnership with community 
groups and other organisations to enable better cycle access around the district, these include a study into facilitating better 
cycling and more secure cycle parking in Lewes town. Community groups have been particularly active in this area gaining 
funding from various sources to improve facilities for both pedestrians and cyclists. 
 
3. Working with East Sussex County Council to promote and develop sustainable travel across the district 

P
age 126



15 
 

The council continues to work with the county council, Transport for the South-East and rail operators to further improve the 
transport network and more locally to develop school streets and cycle parking. We have been actively working with the county 
council in starting the process of rolling out on-street electric vehicle charge points. 
 

Targets, Facts, and figures 
The council is on track to have 64 EV (Electric Vehicle) charge points in 11 car parks across the district by the new year, we 
will continue to roll out charge points to further car parks after this. 

The council is on track to enable 2 car club vehicles to transfer from petrol to EV. 

As a result of the fleet decarbonisation strategy, that is contributing to the electrification of our fleet, we are on track to have a 
zero carbon fleet by 2030 
 

The council is on track to reach around 90% percentage reduction in fleet direct fossil fuel use by 2025 this will significantly 
exceed our 20% target. 

On road transport is responsible for 37.4 % of Lewes district’s emissions (BEIS LA GHG estimates 2020). 

921 Ultra Low Emission Vehicles registered by the end of Q1 2022 in the district, of which 546 are pure electric – an increase in 
ULEVs of 146% since the end of 2019. 

The Air Quality Action Plans for Lewes and Newhaven are currently under development with publication expected in 2024. 

 

Case Studies 
Electric Vehicle Charge installed in Council car parks 

The council entered into a 15-year contract with Connected Kerb, one of the UK’s leading 
providers of electric vehicle charging solutions, to roll out standard chargers in our car 
parks across the district. Initially, charge points are being installed 11 car parks across the 
district, with a total of 64 charging bays, and an additional 2 bays in Lewes town and one in 
Newhaven to enable the electrification of car club vehicles. The car parks are in areas 

P
age 127



16 
 

where the majority of residents have no access to off road parking and these charge points will help overcome a barrier to electric 
vehicle charging. Over the coming year, the council will be delivering more EV charge points across the district. The council is also 
working with ESCC which is responsible for on street charge points. 

 

Ouse Valley Climate Action (OVCA) Active Travel Hub Newhaven 

The OVCA Active Travel Hub at The Sidings in Newhaven has acted as a facility with space free 
of charge for Sussex Community Development Association (SCDA). The active travel hub has 
provided a facility and resource for cycling and training with access to a good store of bikes and 
tools. Since starting the project, a huge range of cycling activities have been delivered for young 
people in the Newhaven Area. These include a ‘bike fix’ day, where young people were 
instructed by a qualified mechanic, learning how to do basic repairs and servicing for their bikes. 
Weekly ‘learn to ride’ sessions are led for younger children to attend after school and learn to 
ride, unaided, for the first time. This has been a wonderful and heart-warming experience for 
everyone involved and it has been great to see children come in on stabilisers and leave, at full 

speed on two wheels. Over 20 children have attended and passed Bikeability Level 1 to improve their cycling skills. The hub has 27 
good quality lightweight bikes that are used for lessons and loaned out to children without a bike of their own, who have learnt to 
ride. 

 

BIODIVERSITY 
Progress towards our goals: 

 
1.  All developments maximise the opportunities for well-considered gains in biodiversity 
The council currently seeks to maximise biodiversity on all of our own development sites this includes the 

installation of green walls and green roofs, where feasible. The update to the Local Plan will see net gain written into 
planning policy for all developments. A green wall is to be included in the development of the health, wellbeing and cultural 
hub in Newhaven. 
 

P
age 128



17 
 

2. We have increased biodiversity on council owned and managed landholdings 
The council’s Biodiversity Strategy was approved by Cabinet in 2021. This strategy complements the pollinator strategy and 
pesticide policy adopted in 2019. Projects to increase valuable ecological habitats through better mowing practice, tree and 
hedge planting and continual reviews of management and contracts for council owned land and property support and 
proactively pursue measures to help arrest biodiversity losses, restore habitats and species and work for climate resilience 
to promote healthy and thriving communities. 
 

3. We have engaged and enabled community led nature-based projects and we are involved in partnerships that 
promote natural capital across the district including coast and sea 
Community led projects and partnership working are key to delivering improvements to our natural environment. The council 
has an active Green Consultancy Team consisting of in-house specialists across water, coast, ecology and parks 
management, that work with outside organisations and private landowners to deliver work across the district. 

 

For more information on wildflowers, conservation, natural flood management and more: Home - Making a Difference in Lewes 
(makingadifferenceinlewesdistrict.com) 

Targets, facts and figures 
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) has become a key part of ecology planning consultations, which involves our ecologists reviewing 
submitted BNG assessments and metric calculations, providing comments and working with planners, developers and their 
consultants. This has resulted in all major planning applications achieving 10% net gain since Cabinet approval for our technical 
advice note in February 2021. 
 
BNG as part of planning policy work has seen our in-house ecologists advising on BNG considerations and reviewing information 
produced by consultants for biodiversity evidence gathering. This initiative will deliver on one of the council’s key corporate 
objectives and put the environment and the enhancement of biodiversity at the centre of the emerging local plan. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 129

https://makingadifferenceinlewesdistrict.com/
https://makingadifferenceinlewesdistrict.com/


18 
 

Case Studies 
Cockshut Stream Restoration Project 

The Cockshut is a 3km long chalk stream that flows from springs at the foot of 
the South Downs in Kingston, eventually joining The River Ouse before 
flowing out to sea. Work began earlier this year to realign the stream into a 
new channel which now flows through a 6.8-hectare wetland habitat to the 
east of the Stanley Turner Ground in Lewes. The stream has a long and 
vibrant history as a working waterway. Over time, the stream has been 
straightened, deepened, widened, and disconnected from the surrounding 
landscape. The current channel is steep-sided, slow flowing and shallow. The 

Cockshut Stream currently contains the non-native invasive Parrots Feather, a water plant which 
has grown so vigorously, and has blocked out light into the stream, preventing the natural balance 
of indigenous species. The project's aim to eradicate it will not only benefit The Cockshut but 
other local waterways, too. A rare and unique habitat, an estimated 85% of the 220 world’s chalk 
streams are found in England, and a high proportion of these have been adversely affected by human activities. In 1988, the site 
was classified as an SSSI (Site of Special Scientific Interest), however, more recent studies of the site have not revealed the 
presence of the flora and fauna cited in the classification. The Ecological Impact Assessment states that ‘it is anticipated that on 
completion there will be a positive residual effect, significant at the County Level as the population of notable Odonata species and 
molluscs of conservation importance should increase.’ 
The Cockshut Stream Restoration Project is set to not only 
enhance biodiversity, help with flood management, and carbon 
storage but also to restore the rights of the stream to flow 
unimpeded, unpolluted and with its native plants and wildlife 
protected. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 130



19 
 

Changing Chalk – restoring lost habitats, bringing histories to life 

Over four years, Changing Chalk will create connections across the urban and rural areas of the Downs and 
will restore and reconnect the fragmented areas of remaining chalk grassland. Changing Chalk will support 
nature’s recovery and climate resilience in the area and create opportunities for work, learning and leisure 
time for people in the area by provide engaging activities for people to enjoy, enhancing health and 
wellbeing. The Changing Chalk Ranger works with community groups across Lewes and in Newhaven, 
running a varied program of activities to protect chalk grassland, including practical tasks such as footpath 
maintenance, step and fence repair, scrub management, glade 
creation, and pond restoration. Inspiring others about rare chalk 
grassland ecology with surveying and wildlife discovery such as 
breeding and wintering bird surveys, wildflower, grasses, 
pollinator, reptile, and fungi ID and surveys. Encouraging 

engagement with the sites from disadvantaged groups who may typically be excluded 
such as the deaf community, diversity resource international, BPOC writers and artists, 
people from socio-economically deprived areas, unpaid carers, and youth groups. Over 
40 volunteers have been educated on habitat management. A group of 14 volunteer 
scythers have been trained to maintain the meadows, and a group of 12 site checkers 
have been supported to look after the sites.  

 

Sustainable Horticulture at the Council 

As part of the council’s Pollinator and Biodiversity Policies, we ensure that we look at the best ways to manage the land that we 
own. This may include leaving some grass areas uncut, or cut to different lengths, to create linked up biodiversity areas and areas 
where wildflowers can grow for the benefit of pollinating insects. As well as wildflowers, these areas create great habitats for other 
bugs, beetles, and lizards. We often enhance these areas with newly seeded wildflower areas, with plants that are particularly 
useful for pollinators. 

P
age 131



20 
 

We have significantly reduced our use of annual bedding plants – restricting them to high profile 
sites. Annual bedding looks attractive but does require a lot of water, especially during hotter 
summers. It also needs heated green houses for its production, which is expensive and burns 
energy, adding to climate change. Previous areas where bedding was grown have been changed 
primarily to perennial planting, again with an emphasis on pollinator plants or wildflower seeding. 
Our bedding plants and shrubs are grown in non-peat or peat reduced composts wherever 
possible and where plastic pots are used these are returned to the supplier for re-use. 

The council has a pesticide policy that states that we will not use pesticides unless there is a 
specific problem, such as Knot weed. In these cases, all other options would be considered first, 
and, if essential, a minimum amount of pesticide would be applied. Many of our parks are classed 
as “Pesticide Free” parks, where no pesticides are used. The council has not used Glyphosate in 
its parks, open spaces and play areas for at least 4 years. Looking forward, we will be bringing in 
more sustainable equipment into our parks and open spaces, including using electric powered 
strimmers and hedge cutters. 

Walk The Chalk – a community arts, nature, and heritage celebration. 

Walk the Chalk was a celebratory event for the King Charles III England Coast Path which will be the longest coastal trail in the UK. 
In late September 2023, a five-day event centred on South Hill Barn, Cuckmere Haven and the Seven Sisters, focused on local 
heritage, chalk, fossils, flora, fauna, history and folklore through art and creativity. Walk the Chalk celebrated the joys of being in 
nature and our iconic coastal landscape. Much of Walk the Chalk’s activity took place on a Site of Special Scientific Interest, it is 
also part of the South Downs National Park, the Sussex Heritage Coast and a Marine Conservation Area. South Hill Barn hosted a 
full programme of exhibitions, music, performance, debate and sound installation and a Living Coast Undersea Experience 
enabling visitors to virtually dive into Seaford Bay and discover the unique marine wildlife of the area. 

 

P
age 132



21 
 

AGRICULTURE & FOOD 
Progress towards our goals: 

We will work in partnership with others to: 

 

1. Educate and enable residents to access affordable, local and seasonal food through supporting opportunities for 
local production and distribution. 
The council works with the Lewes District Food Partnership (LDFP) and others to ensure accessibility to affordable food. 
This may be through the provision of space for community organisations in order to enable projects to go ahead, such as 
community larders and community fridges. Enabling and supporting local food markets where we can and engaging with 
landowners. The LDFP is bringing together communities, food businesses, local growers and producers, emergency food 
providers, food waste activists and other organisations from across the district at the October 2023 Lewes District Food 
Summit, in order to connect the dots and create better food systems for everyone. 
 

2. Implement a district and Sussex wide food strategy. 
The food partnerships within Sussex are working together along with SCDA and others to explore how we can make the 
local food system in East Sussex work for its people, boost the local economy, and protect and enhance the environment 
through a regional event in October 2023. 
 

3. Enable and support local food growing using regenerative farming methods 
The council continues to promote more sustainable farming methods whenever there are conversations with landowners and 
farmers occurring. This is a crucial strand of how, Sussex wide, we can ensure local food businesses have the opportunity to 
thrive and tackle the climate and nature emergency at the same time. This action links to projects occurring within other 
action areas such as biodiversity. 

 

P
age 133



22 
 

Targets 
The council has supported Lewes District Food Partnerships application to Sustainable Food Places Bronze Award for the district. 

 
 
Case Studies 
Lewes District Food Partnership: Grow Cook Eat Network – Building a Good Food Movement for Lewes District 

The ‘Building a Good Food Movement for Lewes District’ aims to ensure food equality, security 
and sustainability, and explores how to ensure everyone has access to good quality and 
affordable food, that is good for our health, the health of our planet and future generations. It looks 
at food as a whole system, where improvements in one area do not cause failures in others. 
LDFP supports community projects that connect people to Growing Cooking and Eating 
opportunities, whilst also supporting local food businesses and a sustainable food economy. 
Building local food security is key, so the network works with growers, chefs, teachers, 
businesses, community groups, to build a Good Food Movement for Lewes District. The Grow 
Cook Eat network, which is supported by volunteers, aims to create a future where we can share 

resources such as land to grow food locally whilst encouraging community connections through cooking and eating together. A 
future where nature is not viewed as an invisible asset but is included in a circular economy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 134



23 
 

Lewes District Food Partnership: Emergency Food Network – Feeling the Pinch: Have your Say. 

‘Feeling the Pinch: Have Your Say’ is a project which amplifies the voices of residents who have 
experienced food insecurity through the Cost-of-Living Crisis. The project challenges misconceptions 
around food poverty in Lewes District and raises awareness. Feeling the Pinch project talks about the 
psychological impacts of food poverty. The project explores how to ensure nobody is left worrying 
where their next meal will come from, whilst ending the need for food banks. The project focuses on 
how access to support should be non-judgemental and led with dignity; working with Kingston & 
Brighton University, to create a Toolkit for Dignified Food Support. The district has many examples of 
projects that are inclusive, accessible, and for many food banks it’s not just food that is being offered 
but social connectedness and an antidote to isolation and loneliness, as well as access to advice and 
information services. Whether it be a cup of tea and a chat or a Community Café offering a hot meal, 

these have become part of the key-offer for many community food support projects in Lewes District. LDFP supports the concept 
that food security comes not just from the provision of food but from promoting well-being and opportunities to engage & connect 
with each other, as well as robust information & advice services. 

 

REDUCING EMISSIONS FROM WASTE 
 
Progress towards our goals: 
 
1. We will have reduced emissions from waste collection. 
In June 2022, Cabinet adopted the ‘Fleet Replacement Strategy 2030’. This will lead to a new fleet of ultralow 

emission refuse and recycling vehicles by 2030. As an interim step, in 2023 existing diesel vehicles moved to a low carbon 
renewable diesel, and food waste collection pods (fitted on diesel refuse vehicles) were replaced with small dedicated electric 
trucks. Fleet procurement is now aligned to the zero carbon 2030 target. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 135



24 
 

2. We have minimised the waste generated by residents, businesses, and visitors. 
Communications to increase recycling continue to be a corporate priority and we use all the engagement tools available. The 
'Reduce Reuse Recycle' (RRR) bulletin has been well received by members and residents. We have used the RRR bulletin to 
promote safe disposal of batteries; tips to reduce food waste; guidance on what to include in your dry mixed recycling. We have 
developed a Planning Technical Advice Note relating to construction waste and this is now a planning app validation 
requirement. 
 
3. We will have increased the proportion of the waste collected by the council that is recycled and reduced the 

emissions from this activity where we can influence and control this. 
Enthusiasm around the introduction of the new EV food waste fleet is seeing more food waste being recycled. This 
complements the ongoing communication strategy implemented by the council including the ‘RRR’ email bulletin. 

 

Targets, facts & figures 

 

The Council is on track to a zero carbon waste fleet by 2030. 

 

Lewes recycles about 41% of its rubbish. 

The council met its target to produce a pathway to a zero-carbon waste fleet by the end of 2022, Cabinet having adopted the 
strategy in June 2022. Delivery of the pathway is subject to budget and due diligence. The council is continuing to work on 
strategies to recycle 55% of the district waste by 2025. 

‘Cheeky Wipes’ – our partnership scheme has issued 128 vouchers for local parents to swap to reusable nappies or reusable 
wipes. 

 

 

P
age 136



25 
 

Case Studies 
Electric vehicles collect food waste across the district. 

Food waste collections in Lewes district are becoming more environmentally friendly 
with the introduction of new all-electric collection vehicles. Council refuse crews have 
already started collecting food waste using electric vehicles on some rounds across the 
district and will be rolling out separate food waste collections to all rounds throughout 
autumn and winter. Using electric vehicles to collect food waste – and then composting 
it – is an important step in our ambition of becoming carbon net zero and fully climate 
resilient in Lewes district by 2030. The council is committed to making the fundamental 
changes needed to prevent climate change, and using ultra-low emission vehicles for 
food waste collections is a significant part of the journey. Residents may notice that 
their regular refuse crews are taking household rubbish or refuse and leaving the other 
bin behind – but this is because they are being collected separately. 
 

 
Chewing Gum Task Force – cleaning up and changing behaviour. 

The council is one of 56 across the country to be awarded funds from the Chewing Gum Task 
Force, now in its second year, to clean chewing gum off pavements and prevent it from being 
littered again. Established by Defra and run by environmental charity Keep Britain Tidy, the 
Chewing Gum Task Force Grant Scheme is open to councils across the UK who wish to clean 
up gum in their local areas and invest in long-term behaviour change to prevent gum from being 
dropped in the first place. 
 
The Task Force is funded by major gum manufacturers, including Mars Wrigley and Perfetti Van 
Melle. Monitoring and evaluation carried out by Behaviour Change has shown that in areas that 

benefitted last year a reduced rate of gum littering is still being observed six months after clean-up and the installation of prevention 
materials. Estimates suggest the annual clean-up cost of chewing gum for councils in the UK is around £7 million and, according to 
Keep Britain Tidy, around 77% of England's streets and 99% of retail sites are stained with gum. 
 
 

P
age 137



26 
 

Community recycling workshops 

The council’s Community Engagement and Recycling Officer delivers workshops not only on recycling but on the journey of 
household waste. Demand for the workshops became apparent as residents enquired about what happens to their recycling and 
waste once collected. The talk is available to community groups, organisations, and residents of the district, such as Scout Troops, 
Gardening Groups and Homes First residents. It covers how recycling first travels to Light Brothers facility and then continues its 
journey to the Material Reclaim Facility in Kent. Information about what can be put in recycling containers to avoid contamination 
along with information on how to recycle Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment recycling (WEEE), batteries and dual material 
products like tetra pack and blister packs are addressed. 

 

WATER 
 
Progress towards our goals: 
 
We will work in partnership with others to achieve: 
 

1. Reduced water consumption in the district, and conserved and protected water resources, including our aquifer 
2. Well managed and protected waterways and coastal areas that benefit residents and the natural environment 
3. Communities that are resilient against flooding and coastal erosion 

The council has an excellent track record of working in partnership to meet the goals above. Examples of these are provided in 
the case studies below but also include working with the Environment Agency to assess options for our coastal frontage and 
maintain ongoing discussions with East Sussex County Council, Southern Water and other stakeholders. 
 
• Works are currently underway in Peacehaven to repair and maintain the sea defences to provide protection to the toe of the 

cliffs from erosion. A study has been commissioned to understand the challenges and opportunities of maintaining these sea 
defences during the middle period of the century as we anticipate sea levels to rise. We continue to work with a range of 
organisations to monitor how the cliffs along develop and the risks posed by a changing coast. 

P
age 138



27 
 

• The council works in partnership with the Ouse & Adur Rivers Trust and the Sussex Wildlife Trust to deliver a programme of 
Natural Flood Management works across the district between 2023-2029. Schedules are currently being developed for 
delivery over autumn and winter 2023/2024. Some of the current NFM and delivered projects are below: 
o Ringmer Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) is currently being developed with two Ringmer schools, to retrofit 

SuDS in schools with funding from the Department for Education, with further details in the case study below. 
o In 2022/23 the council delivered Ringmer Wetlands, a Natural Flood Management project with Ouse & Adur Rivers Trust. 

The creation of three linked retention ponds provided 560,000 litres of storage – an Olympic size pool stores 2,500,000 
litres and reduced the risk of flooding to 15 properties in Ringmer. 

o Working with the Sussex Wildlife Trust (through the Sussex Flow Initiative Partnership, which is now known as the 
Wilder Ouse), constructed over 568 leaky natural woody dams, which hold back an estimated 568,000 L4 of water per 
flood event over the last 5 years. As well as creating storage for over 17 million litres of flood water (or around 17,000 
tonnes) – much of which is held back each time there is a new flood event. 

 
Targets, facts and figures 
The council’s new Local Plan policies will seek to achieve best practice water consumption in new developments, and we will 
continue to both work with and hold accountable water companies where there is pollution of our water ways and encourage water 
conservation and activities through communications and events. 
 
Case Studies 
 
Storing the Storm – Ringmer Parish SuDS 

Storing the Storm aims to minimise and manage surface 
water run-off by delivering small Sustainable urban 
Drainage Systems (SuDS) to reduce local flood risk and 
respond to a changing climate. Funding for 'Storing the 

Storm' was provided by Lewes District Council, as part of its Ouse Valley flood risk management work. 
Ringmer village has experienced significant problems with surface water flooding in the past, and run-off and 
drainage issues remain a major ongoing concern to residents. 
 

P
age 139



28 
 

Ouse & Adur Rivers Trust worked with Ringmer Scouts to install two SuDS rain-planters on a community building. The rain-planters 
collectively intercept rainfall from 65m2 of roof and slow its journey into the drainage system. The rain-planters are situated along 
the side of the building where members of the public can view them working during rainy weather. Additional native hedging was 
added to the fence line to further intercept surface water. 
 
Each small rain-planter contributes to the reduction of local flooding and is part as part of a wider Natural Flood Management 
approach for the Ouse catchment. They reduce volume and 'slows flow' into the drainage system. Managing rainfall contributes to 
lower risk of sewage overflows. The rain-planters demonstrate the principle and value of SuDS to the local community, are low cost 
and maintenance, and looks attractive. There are Biodiversity benefits (shelter, food etc.) for wildlife species particularly pollinators. 
The planters provide natural filtration, trapping pollutants and improving quality of water entering rivers and streams. 
 
Rights of River Ouse 
Lewes District Council has passed a motion that sets us on a path to exploring the implications of a rights of rivers approach to 
assist the Ouse Catchment Partnership deliver natural mechanisms for improving water quality and water availability, creating a 
climate resilient landscape. Rights of Rivers was included as a concept at the Love Our Ouse River Festival in September 2022 
where people from across Lewes district proposed a draft charter for the River Ouse. 
 

CIRCULAR ECONOMY & COMMUNITY WEALTH 
 

Progress towards our goals: 

1. The council has a sustainable procurement policy that facilitates local supply chains and encourages a 
circular economy 

• Local spending data over the last financial year suggests that local spend by the council has almost doubled in Lewes 
District. A Social Value Charter has been produced and a strategy for monitoring, reporting and maximising opportunities to 
deliver social value projects that benefit communities is being developed. The council has insourced its public convenience 
cleansing service and office cleaning contract. 

P
age 140



29 
 

• The council has shifted to more local providers delivering some aspects of our housing repairs, so that more locally based 
and locally run businesses are benefitting from the delivery of this work for the council. This ensures more wealth is retained 
locally. 

• A modular housing framework has been established for the council, and other councils, to use. Local contractor, Boutique 
Modern have, been able to establish a substantial program of works, using modern sustainable construction techniques. 

 
2. The council is making use of its land and assets to enable sustainable community wealth 

• The Marine Workshops (former Newhaven UTC) was acquired by the council in June 2022 to support the regeneration of 
Newhaven town. The building is being developed into a mixed hub supporting marine and education, commercial space and 
new public space. The building will, from September 2023, provide accommodation for East Sussex College Group where it 
will be a ‘blue space/climate hub’ for aquaculture and marine based industry and training. 

• Southover House has been leased to Charleston Trust, an arts and heritage organisation who plan are using the building as 
a gallery and exhibition space which will contribute to community wealth by further developing the strong visitor and cultural 
economy of the town. 

• In Newhaven, several under-utilised buildings in the town centre are currently being developed with high sustainability 
standards, to create a new health and wellbeing hub for the town. 

 
Using the principles of ‘meanwhile use’, the council is also allowing spaces for Lewes Community Volunteers and Lewes 
Climate Hub to deliver their services in Lewes. In Newhaven, a longer-term meanwhile use has been provided to The Sidings, a 
bistro style waterside café close to the Marine Workshops. 

 
3. Investment in the local urban, coastal and rural economies increasing local employment opportunities and reducing 
income inequality 
The council has been allocated £12.8 million from the Levelling Up Fund for the ‘capturing the value of the catch’ project in 
Newhaven. The project aims to: Provide two new fish landing stages to accommodate 16 small vessels from the Newhaven 
fishing fleet, build a New Centre of Excellence for Seafood Processing in the town including an auction room and marketplace, 
and create a new restaurant and community destination on the promenade area by West Beach. The purpose of this project is 
to retain spending in Newhaven for longer and stimulate a local market for fish, creating jobs and wealth locally. 
• In 2020, the council designed and implemented a new grants programme which allowed an open bidding process for a wider 

range of voluntary and community groups to apply for grants for the first time.  

P
age 141



30 
 

• The council recently also provided a loan to a local community energy group to enable them to develop an innovative project 
in the district. The loan has now been fully repaid to the council, with interest. 
 

4. Local skills supply chains and employment opportunities are improved as a result of our partnerships with East 
Sussex College Group, public sector organisations, social enterprises, cooperative businesses, as well as other forms 
of business particularly focusing on clean and green technologies 
• To help develop our approaches locally, council officers have met regularly with representatives from the Centre for Local 

Economic Strategy (CLES), the national think tank for CWB, to learn about best practice around the country. The council has 
recently collaborated with CLES to deliver a briefing to members on how CWB is in line with similar approaches to economic 
development such as ‘Doughnut Economics’ – a sustainable economic model put forward by the economist Kate Raworth. 

• Since the inception of the CWB approach, the council has also engaged with key local and regional partners (such as East 
Sussex County Council, the universities, colleges, Sussex Community Development Association etc) to discuss opportunities 
to collaborate on CWB. We will continue to work with partners to share best practice and embed CWB principles wherever 
possible.  

• The council has successfully applied to join the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network. This network is a group of 
councils committed to applying and sharing best practices around cooperative principles in local government. The work of 
this Network closely aligned with the principles of CWB. 

 

Targets, facts and figures 

The council is exploring the feasibility of providing home loans for energy retrofitting. 

The council is developing partnerships with anchor institutions in the region to progress our work on circular economy and 
community wealth incorporating a focus on sustainability. 

Over the last year, the council’s local spend has increased from 20% to almost 30%. Through our Strategic Procurement Manager 
and Community Wealth Building Project Manager, we expect to incrementally increase the proportion of annual council spend to 
be provided locally within Sussex as contracts are tendered and come up for renewal, in order to meet our 50% local, spend 
target by 2030. 

 

P
age 142



31 
 

Case Study 

Lewes District Start Up Programme 

As part of its commitment to Community Wealth Building, the council has been working to 
promote local social entrepreneurialism. The main vehicle for providing this support over the past 
3 years has been the Lewes Enterprise and Apprenticeship platform (LEAP) delivered by Edeal.  
Edeal has delivered a successful Social Enterprise programme for pre-starts and start-ups 
consisting of a workshop and 121 mentoring. They also have a mentor experienced in supporting 
social enterprise which residents and businesses have been able to access via the free general 
support and the annual LEAP business start-up programme. 
 
 
 
 
 

Between April 2018 to March 2023, there have been: 
• 155 one-to-one business mentoring sessions 
• 104 one-to-one social media training sessions 
• 65 one-to-one specialist consultations in the form of a ‘Business Review’ 
• 14 additional one day business start-up workshops with a total of 69 attendees.  
• 2 start-up workshops with mentoring support for social enterprises. These programmes supported a total of 14 attendees.  
• 2 leadership and management workshops with mentoring support for local businesses assisting a total of 9 attendees.  
• Please see this link for a recent example of Sussex Lavendar, who produce “land-to-hand” eco-contemporary products – 

'Exciting' new businesses secure £3,000 prize pot - Lewes and Eastbourne Councils (lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk) 
 

 

 

 

P
age 143

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/article/2328/Exciting-new-businesses-secure-3-000-prize-pot


32 
 

5. Strategy action plan update and sustainability indicators 
The council’s Scrutiny Emergency Climate Panel have been monitoring and tracking progress of the action plan and sustainability 
indicators. The panel has helpfully identified challenges with the current framework for tracking progress that chime with the views 
of the portfolio lead member for Climate, Nature, and Food Systems. The Strategy and action plan will, therefore, be refreshed to 
reflect updates to national policy and strategy and associated local impacts and will prioritise revisiting methods for carbon 
counting. A light touch refresh has commenced, and a full refresh will be concluded in full to coincide with reporting arrangements 
for the new financial year 2024/25. 

P
age 144



The Action Plan 2023 RAG Status
TIMEFRAMES Green Performance that is at or above target. Project is on track.
Short 2023-2024 Amber Performance that is slightly below target but is within an acceptable tolerance. Projects where there are issues causing significant delay, changes to planned activities, scale, cost pressures or risks.
Medium 2024-2026 Red Performance that is below target. Projects that are not expected to becompleted on time within requirements.
Long 2027-2030 Complete Target/activity or project has been completed.

Action 
reference ACTION OUTCOME

ACTION OWNERS (note: the 
Cabinet Member for Climate, 
Nature and Food Systems has 
oversight of all actions)

TIMEFRAME RESOURCES DATE FOR 
COMPLETION Annual Update November 2023 RAG 

Status

1. Energy & the built environment Lead Officers- Sustainability Lead & Strategic Programme Manager-Property & Development
Actions by the council to enable the district to become net zero carbon by 2030

E1 Maintain asset register with up to date 
social housing stock condition surveys

Provides baseline information to 
enable retrofit and long term 
planning

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for tenants and 
those in housing need

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Business as 
usual- Ongoing

73% of assets have had their stock 
condition inspections completed this 
year. Subsequent project 
Decarbonising Our Housing Stock 
(DOHS) delivered and report 
delivered. Next steps will be subject 
to funding 

Green

E2

Explore collaboration on joint Social 
Housing Decarbonisation Fund bid (or 
equivalent) to test joint working. If 
successful consider scaling up for major 
works. 

Best value is achieved through 
collaborative working, best solutions 
are determined and method is 
agreed to deploy retrofit measures, 
initially as pilots with a plan 
developed for roll out of appropriate 
solutions across the portfolio

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Members for tenants and 
those in housing need, Community 
wellbeing and Climate, nature & food 
systems

Short 
Term 

£500,000 
allocated from 
HRA

Mar-24

Altenative funding arrangements are 
being explored to progress this work. 
The ground breaking study at the 
following link sets out our next steps- 
https://www.lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk/article/1853/Deca
rbonising-our-Housing-Stock-
Roadmap-for-2030-zero-carbon 

Amber

E3

Develop and deliver the project plan (and 
long-term housing asset management plan) 
to decarbonise all social housing based on 
findings and experience of the 
Decarbonising Our Housing Stock project 

All social housing is as energy 
efficient as it can be and carbon 
emissions are reduced as far as 
practicably possible

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Members for tenants and 
those in housing need and Climate, 
nature and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Delivery costs to 
be determined 
once plan is 
prepared

Outline plan 
produced by 
March 2023

Altenative funding arrangements are 
being explored to progress this work. 
The ground breaking study at the 
following link sets out our next steps- 
https://www.lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk/article/1853/Deca
rbonising-our-Housing-Stock-
Roadmap-for-2030-zero-carbon 

Amber

E4 Produce a Housing Strategy and implement 
the actions defined within it

Housing standards in the rented 
sector improved

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for tenants and 
those in housing need

Mediu
m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

March 2024 for 
plan production

Housing Strategy has been updated 
to reflect our sustainability intentions. Amber

E5
Explore opportunities with Southern Water 
on capturing and using heat from waste 
water

Low carbon heat source enabled

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Members for Planning & 
Infrastructure and Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

As opportunities 
arise

To be closed - Adur exploring further, 
original project did not go ahead. 
Whenever there is a redevelopment 
this should be considered as an 
option

N/A

E6 Support and progress development of 
hydrogen hubs

Enable and devlop a clean hydrogen 
economy for transport and heating

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Members for Planning & 
Infrastructure and Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Greater Brighton Hydrogen Strategy 
now produced: https://www.brighton-
hove.gov.uk/news/2023/discover-
how-greater-brighton-championing-
transition-
hydrogen#:~:text=Developed%20by
%20local%20company%20Ricardo,g
ain%20economic%20and%20environ
mental%20benefits.

Amber

E7 Enable and invest in community energy 
schemes where this is financially viable

Community energy schemes are 
supported to deliver projects

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Planning & 
Infrastructure and Climate, nature 
and foood systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Project specific Ongoing
In conversation with Community 
Energy South/OVESCO to determine 
next steps

Green

P
age 145



E8

Determine need for a Sustainable Design 
guide for developers that could link to 
circular economy work- once local Plan 
evidence has been gathered.

Developers are advised as to 
expectations for new development 
and can easily access information on 
how to design for sustainability

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Planning & 
Infrastructure

Mediu
m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Mar-24

A policy will be included in the 
consultation document for November 
2023.  The Local Development 
scheme was adopted by full council 
in July 2023 which sets out the work 
programme to 2025.  The next 
milestone is the November 
consultation on the prefrerred 
options document.  This will set out 
the policy direction as well as an 
emerging spatial strategy for the 
Local Plan. Work on preparing the 
next iteration of the plan is 
progressing and evidence base for 
this stage is nearing completion. 
Draft policy directions are being 
developed for the next consultation 
stage and should there be an impact 
on targets amendments will be 
proposed here accordingly

Green

E9

Deliver ongoing programme of awareness 
raising and promotion of energy efficiency 
initiatives, especially in fuel poor and hard 
to reach communities

Educate and raise awareness, those 
most vulnerable benefit from energy 
efficiency advice and measures

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Community 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Monthly drop in cost of living 
sessions at Saxon House, 
Newhaven, organised by 
Neighbourhood First. OVESCO 
energy champions - drop in energy 
advice sessions and energy room on 
Lewes High Street & warm
spaces. Tech Resort help and advice 
sessions. Regular energy saving in 
Tenant Magazine.. Reguarly updated 
grants and benefits information 
produced by Income Maximisiation 
Team. Links with OVESCO and 
Energise South energy champions to 
provide regular updates to tenants of 

Green

E11

Develop comprehensive training and 
guidance  for staff on climate change and 
carbon reduction. Also- specific training to 
ensure decisions properly take into account 
the carbon emission implications

All staff will improve their 
environmental awareness to enable 
carbon reductions in their work and 
private life.
It will be clear to councillors, officers 
and the public the carbon 
consequences of all decisions

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Members for innovation, 
delivery and people & Climate, 
nature and food systems

Short 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Mar-24

E learning carbon literacy training is 
on target for delivery by year end. 
Carbon literacy training was included 
in new Councillor induction 
programme, and will form part of new 
member induction in future

Green

E12

Work in collaboration with others to 
advertise the Government's Green Homes 
Grant and associated funding streams and 
retrofit schemes. Enable residents to 
access these and associated schemes.

Private sector housing can access 
funds to help retrofit and improve 
energy efficiency

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Community 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing- ad-
hoc

We have continued to promote 
energy advice sessions being 
delivered in Lewes and Eastbourne. 
We have also promoted the Warmer 
East Sussex home checker service 
during the warmer months, while 
there is less demand so shorter 
waiting times for appointments and to 
ease demand during the autumn and 
winter. 

Complete

E13

Work in collaboration  with others to 
develop bids for the Local authority delivery 
strands of the Government's Green Homes 
Grant and associated funding streams

Public and private sector housing 
can access funds to help retrofit and 
improve energy efficiency

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing - ad-
hoc

Agreeing commercials with the 
Government for roll out of HUG2 Green

E15 Support and facilitate access to the Warm 
Homes Check service East Sussex scheme Fuel poverty on the borough reduces

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for tenants and 
those in housing need & Community 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing - ad-
hoc

Attend the East Sussex energy 
Partnerships funded by public Health 
East Sussex, we make referrals and 
get statistics each quarter. Promoting 
through seeing tennants as a private 
housing Team and via the Council's 
communication channels where 
appropriate.

Green

P
age 146



E16
Support the roll out of smart meters through 
promotion of the national SmartEnergyGB 
scheme

Supports transition to smart energy 
grid and makes energy use more 
visible to residents which enables 
reductions

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for tenants and 
those in housing need & Community 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing- ad-
hoc

As and when there is a policy 
change, we will promote the scheme 
accordingly (no update in this report)

Green

E17
Support delivery of regional plans- the 
Greater Brighton Energy Plan and the 
South2East Energy Strategy 

Decarbonisation at a regional level 
is progressed and joint aims are met

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Planning & 
Infrastructure

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing - ad-
hoc

We continue to maintain a watching 
brief on both of these strategies Green

E18 Support the delivery of Communiheat - Zero 
Carbon Village

Transformation of Barcombe 
communities energy system to 
become the UK's  first Net Zero 
Village 

OVESCO leading
Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Members for Finance, 
assets and community wealth & 
Climate, nature and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Externally 
funded- though 
innovative 
council funded 
schemes will 
need evaluation 
and resources 
to be 
determined

Ongoing- ad-
hoc

This will be revisited as part of the 
proposed refresh in line with action 
E7

Green

E19 Support the delivery of Net Zero Firle 
Village

Creation of a local microgrid for heat 
and power BHESCo

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term Externally fundedOngoing - ad-
hoc

Latest information provided at the 
following link:  
https://bhesco.co.uk/firle

N/A

E20 Support the delivery of Solar Schools to 
achieve regional aims Expansion of PV on schools ESCC in partnership

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term Externally fundedOngoing- ad-
hoc No input from LDC - to be closed Complete

Actions to make the council net zero carbon by 2030

E21

Complete the Non-Housing Asset 
Management Strategy and carbon reduction 
plan (inc. work through Reset & Recovery 
Programme) (Also see WA8)

The strategy will enable a long-term 
plan to be developed to reduce 
energy consumption and increase 
power generation on our non-
housing assets

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Finance, assets 
and community wealth

Short 
Term 

Strategy cannot 
be delivered 
using existing 
resources- 
*Funds for 
energy surveys 
have been 
requested for 
23/24
*Condition 
surveys funding -
TBC

Dec-23 Funding opportunties are being 
explored to complete this action. Amber

E23 Deliver the carbon reduction plan for non-
housing assets

Non-housing assets are energy 
efficient and generating energy

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Finance, assets 
and community wealth & Climate, 
nature and food systems

Mediu
m Term

Long 
Term 

Delivery costs to 
be determined 
once plan is 
prepared. 
Cannot be 
delivered within 
existing 
resources
*Funds for 
external 
consultancy 
support with 
regards to bids 
has been 
requested for 
23/24

TBC Funding opportunties are being 
explored to complete this action. Amber

E24 Ensure the the council purchases a green 
electricity provider

100% of electricity supplied will be 
REGO backed energy that will 
qualify a 100% reduction in carbon 
emissions from consumed electricity

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Finance, assets 
and community wealth  

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Completed 
October 2020

Completed 
October 2020-
24 year contract

Current contract expires end Sept 
2024 - potentially be procuring 
through a different framework - still 
100% green 

Complete

2. Sustainable Travel and Air Quality Lead Officers- Specialist Advisor Air Quality, Sustainability Lead & Environment Lead

P
age 147



Action 
reference ACTION OUTCOME

ACTION OWNERS (note: the 
Cabinet Member for Climate, 
Nature and Food Systems has 
oversight of all actions)

TIMEFRAME RESOURCES Date for 
completion Annual Update November 2023 RAG 

Status

Actions by the council to enable the district to become net zero carbon by 2030

T1
Procure a supplier of Electric Vehicle 
Chargepoints and produce initial delivery 
plan

The council can make a decision as 
to how to progress with increasing 
charging infrastructure in the district 
and a new project delivery action will 
be created if this goes ahead

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Finance, 
assets and community wealth & 
Climate, nature and food systems

Short 
Term 

Proposal can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources- 
implementation 
TBC

Dec-22

Completed - at delivery stage
Current installations - 
https://www.lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk/article/1906/Publi
c-chargers-for-electric-vehicles

Complete

T2
Plan temporary road closures such as 
School Streets especially in areas of high 
foot fall

Gradual modal shift to reduce private 
vehicle travel  and sustainable travel 
becoming the norm

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources 
(ESCC)

Ongoing

Led by ESCC working with other 
partners. Planning temporary 
closures led by District to encourage 
Active Travel & improve Air quality. 
None others currently being looked 
at other than School Streets - 
Southover to be completed as 
currently going through studies, 2-
year estimated timeline

Green

T3

Work with NHS and Public Health partners 
via Sussex-air to provide guidance on 
health impacts of poor air quality. Upgrade 
Sussex-air website to include information 
on how to reduce pollution and live 
sustainably.

Improved public health, better AQ 
and lots of engaging material for the 
LDC AQ/sustainability web 
pages/Twitter feed/local media

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing funding Sep-23

Sussex local authorities all pay for 
Sussex Air, information, monitoring & 
health impact information on their 
website. People are signposted to 
this website on our own Air Quality 
pages, currently updating the 
website to be finalised by end 2023. 
WHO targets are being 
acknowledged and this will inform 
our thinking on what is on the 

Green

T4

Hold sustainability/air quality events with 
schools, community groups, etc. to raise 
awareness of the health impacts of poor air 
quality and climate change

Bringing awareness of AQ/ 
Sustainibility issues to a personal 
level in a positive and fun 
environment

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Requires 
external funding Ongoing

Working in partnership with Sustrans 
- funding is allocated, not successful 
in the last round so project being 
worked on now will complete around 
Dec23-Mar24, all planned so nothing 
more could be added 
(schools/community events). If 
successful with new bid can plan for 
future projects in Feb/March 24. 
Project being completed currently - 
Sustrans to work with schools and 
community groups across Sussex on 
impacts of poor air quality, and 
encouraging and supporting active 
travel

Green

T5

Determine if the council can produce a 
Construction Code of Practice with 
guidance on use of low emission non-road 
mobile machinery and using on-grid energy 
instead of diesel generators where 
reasonably practicable

Lowering of emissions from 
construction sites, particularly in 
relation to NRMM

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Planning and 
Infrastructure

Mediu
m Term

Resources are 
limited to deliver 
non-statutory 
function

No date

Aiming to attend a quarterly planning 
meeting (Sussex wide) with Planners 
to present our requirements, 12 
month goal is to ensure a standard 
condition is included in any approval 
notice 

Green

T6

Ensure that local planning policy and 
guidance includes requirements for passive 
and active EVCPs and cycle parking on all 
new major developments

Increase of sustainable travel 
infrastructure utilising planning 
policy 

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Infrastructure

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2025
A policy will be included in the 
consultation document for November 
2023.

Green

T7

Work in partnership with ESCC to deliver 
new cycling and walking initiatives as 
detailed in the Draft East Sussex Local 
Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan 
(LCWIP) and seek opportunities for 
funding.

Additional cycling and walking routes

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Members for Planning and 
Infrastructure & Climate, nature and 
food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

TBC

County lead - working with Highways 
on A27 cycling lanes, just received 
further funding for this (Active Travel 
fund 4) LDC are responsible for part 
of this pathway, some funding 
received for LDC for cycle lanes

Green

P
age 148



T8 Support development of hydrogen hubs (as 
per action E6)

Enable and devlop a clean hydrogen 
economy for transport and heating

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Members for Planning and 
Infrastructure & Climate, nature and 
food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing As per action E6 - repeat action in 
Transport theme Amber

T9

Support Greater Brighton and ESCC to 
develop a network of EV charge points so 
that all residents are 'within a convenient 
distance' of a place to charge their car 
(Pledge #4)

Coherent network is developed

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Members for Planning and 
Infrastructure & Climate, nature and 
food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2030 Continuing to support ESCC re:on 
street charging. Green

T10

Work in partnership with Greater Brighton 
to have enabled 50% of Greater Brighton's 
fleet vehicles to be low carbon by 2025 
(Pledge #3)

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2025

Applying the learning from the 
Greater Brighton experience to 
complement the roll out of new waste 
fleet vehicles.

Complete

T11
Enable expansion of car clubs through 
discussions with operators, parking space 
owners and the community

Residents can car share instead of 
owning their own vehicle- reduces 
vehicle numbers in town and 
provides control over type/efficiency 
of vehicle used.

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Funding 
requested Nov 
2022- final 
decision Feb 
2023

2023/24 if 
budget is 
allocated and 
project 
proceeds

Work is progessing to extend access 
to car clubs to Newhaven and 
Seaford.

Green

T12

Determine how to support reduction in 
emissions  from deliveries to local 
businesses/residents in particular 'last mile 
deliveries.' E - cargo bikes, restricted 
delivery times, provision of logistics 
facilities.

Reduction of traffic and emissions 
during peak travel times. Healthier, 
quieter and less polluted streets with 
potential to prioritise walkers/cyclists 
so increasing dwell time and 
improving local economy

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Get Bikery linking with several local 
businesses for last mile delivery and 
cargo bike rental. Focused promotion 
to business community next step. 
Newhaven e cargo bikes developing. 

Green

T13
Determine if the council can install pocket 
parks, micro green/blue spaces to improve 
diversity and AQ encouraging active travel

Supports visitors and residents in 
choosing active travel over private 
car use

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

May potentially 
be delivered 
using existing 
resources 
however 
external funding 
likely to be 
necessary

2023

Drawing up a new Air Quality plan for 
the whole district, have to wait for 
updated monitoring results, so in 
progress. Possible timeline mid 2024

Pocket parks - we have successfully 
installed 5 pocket parks (parklets) 1 
Lewes, 2 Newhaven, 1 Peacehaven, 
1 Seaford with funding from the 
welcome back fund, further progress 
is subject to future funding and free 
space

Green

T14 Implementation of anti-idling campaigns
Discourage unnecessary idling by 
vehicles to reduce pollution and air 
quality issues

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

A bylaw would need to be 
implemented before enforcement 
action and capacity would need to be 
considered if this is an aspiration to 
be discussed further at strategy 
refresh.
Campaigning has taken place and 
signage progressed

Green

T15 Develop a pathway to a low carbon taxi 
fleet

Reduced carbon and other GHG 
emissions and improved air quality

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

End Feb 2023

Survey completed mid July - awaiting 
the report in September onwards. 
This will inform our further actions Green

T16

Organise partnership work on transport 
issues required at a county level and 
nationally, in partnership with community 
groups- in particular public transport and 
trains

Coherent district infrastructure is 
delivered to achieve transport 
decarbonisation aims

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Planning and 
Infrastructure

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Ongoing, limited progress can be 
progressed on trains without central 
government decision, however the 
Council will continue to work with 
local partnerships including 
communtiy rail and TFSE including 
supporting reopening the Lewes to 
Uckfield disused railway line, as 
capacity allows

Green

P
age 149



T21 Complete Electric Vehicle Chargepoint 
installations at priority car park sites

Charging is available at key priority 
car parks in areas where residents 
lack off-street parking

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Dec-23

Great progress has been made to 
date, completion early 2024. 
Current completed installations - 
https://www.lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk/article/1906/Publi
c-chargers-for-electric-vehicles

Green

T22
Review housing sites for electric vehicle 
charging options and determine strategy to 
enable installations.

Accessibility to charging is equitable 
and easily available to our tenants

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

End 2023

Policy development is developing for 
the next phase of this work. Current 
activity has focused on the roll out of 
public car park charging. 

Amber

T23 Prepare delivery & funding plan for non-
priority car park sites

Electric Vehicle charging is enabled 
throughout the district.

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Delivery plan 
can be 
completed using 
existing 
resources- 
finance needs to 
be determined

Dec-23
Finance has been confirmed and 
work to deliver phase 2 car parks is 
under way. 

Green

T24 Enable car clubs to convert ICE vehicles to 
electric

Each area with a car club sited in 
one of our car parks has at least one 
EV option.

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Funding may 
need to be 
sought through 
capital fund 
allocation, S106 
or CIL as 
appropriate at 
the time.

Initial 
conversion of 2 
sites in Lewes 
by end of 2023

Waiting for completion of EVCP bays 
in 2 Lewes locations for EV car club 
cars.  1 EV car club car planned for 
Newhaven.

Green

Actions to make the council net zero carbon by 2030

T18
Produce pathway to decarbonise non- RCV 
fleet vehicles operated by the Council 
(small & medium vans, cars, other vehicles) 

Plan to move to a low carbon fleet

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Mediu
m Term

Fleet decisions 
to be costed at 
the appropriate 
time

end 2023

We are on track with the detailed 
plan set out in the Cabinet papers, 
June 2022  Outputs for the year 
2023/24 ahead include procurement 
of EV food fleet in autumn

Green

T19

Implement the fleet decarbonisation plans 
to remove non-RCV fossil fuel fleet vehicles 
(small and medium  vans, cars, other 
vehicles) - Neighbourhood First

Zero emission at tail-pipe fleet 
achieved

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Long 
Term 

Fleet decisions 
to be costed at 
the appropriate 
time

2030

Looking at potential sites and 
working on the strategy (aim to 
complete by end 2023) which will 
inform delivery the following year

Green

T20

Introduce sustainability criteria into council 
procurement policies with weighting given 
to tenderers with proven sustainability 
policy particularly in the areas of logistics 
and servicing due to their high vehicle use 
and emissions

Support for sub-contractors with 
green credentials to work with LEC 

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Mar-22

Working towards introducing criteria 
into every procurement opportunity - 
acknowledging some are easier to 
introduce than others given the 
nature of the product. Aiming for new 
financial year 2024

Green

3. Biodiversity Lead Officer - Environment Lead

Action 
reference ACTION OUTCOME

ACTION OWNERS (note: the 
Cabinet Member for Climate, 
Nature and Food Systems has 
oversight of all actions)

TIMEFRAME RESOURCES Date for 
completion Annual Update November 2023 RAG 

Status

Actions by the council to enable the district to become net zero carbon by 2030 and to address the ecological emergency

B2

Local Plans – work closely with Planning 
Policy and planners and partners to achieve 
biodiversity wording that is fit for purpose 
and ambitious to arrest declines

Green and biodiversity beneficial 
Local Plans

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Planning & 
Infrastructure

Mediu
m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2025

We have provided comments on the 
draft biodiversity study to 
consultants.  Work on a biodiversity 
policy is underway and this will be 
part of the consultation document.
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) as part 
of planning policy work has seen our 
in-house ecologists advising on BNG 
considerations and reviewing 
information produced by consultants 
for biodiversity evidence gathering. 

Green

P
age 150



B4

Council Officer training in biodiversity to be 
completed - Sussex Wildlife Trust could 
provide this for example- and ensure up to 
date information & signposting is readily 
available to decision makers

Decision makers are better informed 
about biodiversity and nature based 
solutions

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Innovation, 
delivery and people

Short 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Mar-22

Aim to have live "Carbon Literacy 
Training" to reflect biodiversity needs 
through OLLE as a mandatory 
course - can include links to 
biodiversity strategy/further bespoke 
tailoring

Green

B5

We will encourage and support tree 
planting, and other natural habitat
creation measures, providing direct 
assistance when required

To improve biodiversity, store 
carbon, protect against
flooding and generally enhance the 
environment which can benefit our
physical health and mental well-
being

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Bid submitted for determination.  
Partners include Trees for Seaford, 
Lewes Urban Arboretum & Chailey 
Parish Council. 

Green

B6 To work with the Sussex Wildlife Trust to 
deliver their 'Vision for Sussex'  

Sussex is a place where people and 
nature thrive Sussex Wildlife Trust (SWT) leading

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term Ongoing

SWT have appointed a new project 
officer for Wilder Ouse. LDC is 
developing Natural Flood 
Management scope of works for 
autumn/ winter 23/24, with partners 
as part of the Wilder Ouse vision.

Green

B7

Investigate possible partnerships with the 
Sussex Wildlife Trust/Sussex Nature 
Partnership to deliver a district wide 
approach to the wildlife crisis

To work with landowners, 
partnerships and community groups 
to build a resilient ecological network 
througout the district

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term Ongoing

The sucessful Cockshut restoration 
is now in the delivery phase with 
landscaping taking place through the 
summer 2023, attractive local and 
national media attention.

Green

B8 Develop pipeline of projects for biodiversity 
net gain and 'offsetting' 

Increase in biodiversity and projects 
enabled

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2023

The purchase of land at Landport 
Brooks has been completed with
potential for biodiversity 
improvements and habitat creation. 
Ecological assessment underway.

Green

B9
Review land holdings for possible 
biodiversity and nature based climate 
solutions and carry out feasibility work 

Internal and Partnership projects 
enabled

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Budget has been allocated for 
biodiversity improvements on LDC 
land holdings and plans are in 
development.
https://www.lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk/eastbourne-
downland-whole-estate-plan-2020-
2045

Green

B10

Complete University of Brighton student 
GIS mapping project for areas of land 
suitable for large scale tree planting - Due 
July 2021

GIS tools are easily available for all 
officers to use to aid decision making

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing as 
projects and 
student interests 
permit

Sussex Nature Partnership has 
published maps as reference for 
nature based projects in the region. 

Complete

B11 Support Changing Chalk bid and the 
delivery of the project if successful

Community ranger for 
countryside/nature/downland 
education and involvement

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2025/26 Completed - Bid successful and 
delivery is underway Complete

B12 Continue work with community groups, 
education and communication

Community groups encouraged and 
work progressed

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Volunteer sessions took place at 
Landport Bottom. Grasses ID training 
completed in Aug 23. Diversity UK - 
guided walks in Newhaven and 
Cuckmere Haven with refugee 
groups. Making it Happen, Care for 
the Carers guided walks at Castle 
Hill, Newhaven and other activities. 
Walk the Chalk took place also in  
Autumn 2023

Green

B13

Continue to provide project support for 
partnership projects, including expertise, 
volunteer management and fund raising 
support  

Partners projects are enabled and 
supported to achieve multiple 
outcomes dependent on project

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Work continues around playground 
refurbishment.  Fund raising advice 
has been given to Telscome Town 
Council this quarter.

Green

P
age 151



B14 Support Greater Brighton to re- establish a 
10 mile Kelp forest off the coast of Sussex 

A new kelp forest could capture 
70,000 tonnes carbon per year and 
help prevent coastal erosion

Director of Regeneration & Planning 
& Cabinet Member for Climate, 
nature and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Completed -see: 
https://sussexwildlifetrust.org.uk/help
ourkelp
We are exploring any potential links 
with project with the Newhaven 
Levelling Up funded project 
supporting the local fishing economy

Complete 

B15
Support Greater Brighton and the University 
of Sussex in rewilding and rain garden 
research

Knowledge is developed and shared 
to enable more and better designed 
projects

Director of Regeneration & Planning 
& Cabinet Member for Climate, 
nature and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2025

This has now transitioned into a local 
programme of delivery.  We have 
funding to retrofit SUDs (Sustainble 
Urban Drain Systems) in Kings 
Academy Ringmer Primary and 
Nursery school - see Storing the 
Storm project- 
https://oart.org.uk/project/natural-
flood-management/
Funding covers a two year period in 
which SUDs will be delivered 
accordingly working in partnership 
for completion March 2025.

Green

B24
Closer working with Planning colleagues to 
secure biodiversity and sustainability 
benefits

Planning applications are reviewed 
by specialists to support alignment 
with policy

Directors of Service Delivery and 
Regeneration & Planning & Cabinet 
Member for Climate, nature and food 
systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Green Consultancy has worked
alongside Planning Policy on
evidence-gathering requirements for 
the Local Plan. A set of planning
policies that reflect the need for
Biodiversity and Green/Blue
infrastructure is the desired outcome

Green

Actions to make the council net zero carbon by 2030 and address the ecological emrgency on its own land

B16
Develop a programme of works on LDC 
land to increase joining up of biodiversity 
corridors & ecological networks

Increase in biodiversity
Improved well being of residents

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Repeat of B7/B8 - suggest to 
consolidate the two as part of 
proposed refresh.

Green

B17 Determine & provide suitable land to enable 
tree planting and re-wilding

Carbon capture through trees, 
increased biodiversity, improved 
mental wellbeing, increased summer 
shading 

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Resources to be 
determined 2025

Small biodiversity project approx:15 
standard trees and 200 whips 
planted in autumn - winter 23/24 
across the district. Please see target 
B8

Green

B18 Maintain reduced mowing practices on 
District Council land Improved habitat for insects

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Action complete. Complete 

B19

Continue to review our ability to reduce the 
use of pesticides on District Council land.  
Lobby East Sussex County Council to do 
the same

Improved habitat for insects

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Reduced to the absolute minimum
(sports pitches). We continue to
research alternatives.

Green

B20 Increase and maintain wildflower and 
pollinator planting where suitable Improved habitat for insects

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing Action complete. Complete

B21

Increase community management of council 
owned land and ensure biodiversity 
commitments are enshrined in all devolved 
land holdings

Increased community ownership of 
sites
Improved habitat for wildlife.

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Devolved land use is difficult to
monitor - may propose amendments 
to this targets when this is explored 
further.

Amber

P
age 152



B22 Create wildlife friendly parks & open spaces Improved natural habitats - for 
example 'hedgehog highways' 

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

BAU delivered 
using existing 
resources - 
additional/new 
projects will 
require costing 

Ongoing
Capacity issues mean delivery of the 
management plans has been 
delayed to Spring 2024

Amber

B23 To develop an approach to habitat carbon 
counting and reporting

Will improve our awareness of the 
capacity of our habitats to sequester 
carbon 

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Members for Climate, nature 
and food systems & Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Mediu
m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2025

Methodology not yet available. 
Potentially working with South 
Downs National Park to develop 
methods.

Green

4. Agriculture & Food Lead Officer - Sustainability Lead

Action 
reference ACTION OUTCOME

ACTION OWNERS (note: the 
Cabinet Member for Climate, 
Nature and Food Systems has 
oversight of all actions)

TIMEFRAME RESOURCES Date for 
completion Annual Update November 2023 RAG 

Status

Actions by the council to enable the District to become net zero carbon by 2030 and to address the ecological emergency

A1

Support local food growing initiatives by 
making suitable land available and 
incorporating it into our work with social 
housing tenants as part of DOHS

More residents can access lcoal 
food and grow their own

Director of Regeneration & Planning 
& Cabinet Member for tenants and 
those in housing need

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2022 Action complete. Complete

A2
Work with SCDA and partners to develop a 
food partnership- led by SCDA and funded 
by ESCC

By end of 2021 SCDA intend to have- 
governance structure for district food 
partnership- draft strategy or action 
plan- food systems map

Director of Regeneration & Planning 
& Cabinet Member for Climate, 
nature and food systems

Short 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Mar-22 Action Complete. Complete

A3 Work with the food partnership to enable 
more local food distribution

Residents can access locally 
produced food more easily

Director of Regeneration & Planning 
& Cabinet Member for Climate, 
nature and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Lewes District Food Partnership are 
working strategically and
partnership working with groups,
organisations and Sustain. LDC 
feeds into the Partnership via 
Steering Group membership and 
offers support to the Grow Eat Cook 
Network and Emergency Food 
Network, by promoting any events 
and iniatives

Green

A5
Support initiatives that promote or enable 
low carbon and nature-friendly farming 
locally eg South East Downs Farm Cluster

This wider working will faciliate local 
(Sussex) food production 

Director of Regeneration & Planning 
& Cabinet Member for Climate, 
nature and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Resources to be 
determined Ongoing

South Downs National Park may be 
able to progress this, investigations 
are ongoing
Lewes District Food Partnership food 
summit taking place on 18th October

Amber

5. Reducing Emissions from Waste Lead Officer- Environment Lead

Action 
reference ACTION OUTCOME

ACTION OWNERS (note: the 
Cabinet Member for Climate, 
Nature and Food Systems has 
oversight of all actions)

TIMEFRAME RESOURCES Date for 
completion Annual Update November 2023 RAG 

Status

Actions by the council to enable the District to become net zero carbon by 2030

W1

Review waste & recycling service provision 
to align them with the requirements of 
increasing recycling and decreasing 
residual waste. 

We recycle more than we incinerate, 
and our collection methods and 
schedules enable that and champion 
it.

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Mar-22

New fleet of EV food collection 
vehicles, September 23 with related 
positive communications and 
engagement to encourage greater 
participation

Green

P
age 153



W2

Continue with planned communications with 
regular emphasis on food waste reduction 
eg. 'How to use Christmas leftovers 'and 
incorporate these comms into the 
overarching sustainability comms plan

Consistent messaging and comms 
planned on sustainability issues

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term Ongoing

Most recent edition of RRR bulletin 
in July - curbside recycling what 
can/cant be recycled, love food/hate 
waste - an impact of food waste on 
the climate. Food caddys/liners 
information for people who want to 
sign up. Litter pickers in parks, 
advice on communal shared bins 
(flats etc), Cheeky wipes nappies 
vouchers, and thanks for litter 
pickers on Seaford beach

Green

W3
Help develop, and encourage the use of, 
local reuse and repair schemes which divert 
and reduce waste.

Encourages a local circular economy 
and these schemes provide the most 
help and benefit to people in greater 
need.

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Regular recycling workshop Friday 
mornings at Seaford Alliance hub, 
many local schemes are self 
sufficient - e.g. Greenhaven (library 
of things, bring and take recycling 
and reuse) no council assistance 
required/asked for but promotion 
given from council through RRR 
bulletins and comms. Sharing 
best/good practice also takes place 
between groups

Green

Actions to make the Council net zero carbon by 2030

W5 Deliver on zero carbon RCV fleet Zero carbon fleet achieved
Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood 
wellbeing

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Financial 
implications to 
be assessed at 
the time

2030 Pathway is complete - cabinet 
approved 2022. Green

W6

Eliminate use of Single Use Plastic (SUP) 
at LDC operated events and third party 
events supported by LDC wherever 
possible

Reduced plastic waste. 
Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2022
Now standard practice not to use
SUPs at events such as the Gin &
Fizz festival

Complete

W7
Eliminate use of unsustainable paper for 
printed marketing materials and within 
democratic services

Reduced emissions from 
consumption of paper products

Director of Regeneration & Planning 
& Cabinet Member for Climate, 
nature and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing - BAU

Democratic Services have now gone 
paperless with paperless agendas 
produced giving a significant 
Sustainability saving alongside 
financial savings. Target complete on 
the democratic services side
"The print department has been 
using sustainable paper and 
products for a number of years, and 
Paper from Responsible Sources.
‘Printing presses’ have not been 
used for about 8 years, thus the inks 
are not used either, all products have 
been removed from the department. 
We now only use Copiers

Complete

6. Water Lead Officer - Environment Lead

Action 
reference ACTION OUTCOME

ACTION OWNERS (note: the 
Cabinet Member for Climate, 
Nature and Food Systems has 
oversight of all actions)

TIMEFRAME RESOURCES Date for 
completion Annual Update November 2023 RAG 

Status

Actions by the council to enable the District to become net zero carbon and climate resilient by 2030

WA1
Complete the new Local Plan and ensure 
that planning policies and guidance reflect 
our strategic goals for water 

New development is low carbon, 
energy efficient and is resilient to 
future climate change

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Planning & 
Infrastructure

Mediu
m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2025

Work is ongoing on local plan 
policies relating to water.  We are 
looking at policy options around 
water consumption levels.

Green

P
age 154



WA2

Expand upon the successful Sussex Flow 
Intiative and Ouse &Adur Rivers Trust and 
introduce other natural flood management 
projects

Flood risk is reduced using natural 
methods which also supports the 
environment

Director of Service Delivery &
Cabinet Member for Climate, nature 
and food systems

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Resources to be 
determined Ongoing

The programme is transitioning to a 
broader Adur and Ouse catchment 
partnership plan, seeking to deliver a 
range of eco system services to 
include projects to create space for 
water, reduce flood risk and improve 
water quality - associated targets to 
follow.

Green

WA3

Work in partnership with the Environment 
Agency to explore the options viable to 
manage the risks posed by the undefended 
cliffs at The Esplanade, Telscombe Cliffs.

The Environment Agency's larger 
technical capability and resources 
can be utilised to seek an 
appropriate solution to managing the 
risks posed by an eroding coast at 
this location.

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Planning & 
Infrastructure

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Partnership 
working 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing To be refreshed in line with the 
proposed refresh. Green

WA5

Support the Greater Brighton partnership to 
deliver Pledge 2- Water Recycling: 
partnership projects to introduce recycled 
water into new homes.

Research and knowledge is gained 
and can be transferred for use on 
new developments within our district 

Southern Water & Greater Brighton 
Economic Board

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2025
Initiatives relating to water harvesting 
and meters limiting water usage are 
delivering positive results.

Amber

WA6
Ensure planning policy reflects the need to 
avoid substantial development on flood 
plain

Essential flood plain is retained and 
flood risk is minimised

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Planning & 
Infrastructure

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term
Long 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

Ongoing

Continued engagement with the

Lead Local Flood Authority and the

Environment Agency - the policy will 
be included in the local Plan - next 
milestone November 2023.

Green

WA7
Develop guidance to meet water 
consumption for new builds of no more than 
80?? litres per day (part of GB pledge #10)

Preservation of water resources

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Planning & 
Infrastructure

Mediu
m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2025 Covered in WA6 Green

Actions to make the Council net zero carbon by 2030

WA8

Once Asset Management Strategy is 
complete- As per action E22-  Develop a 
water consumption reduction plan for all 
remaining non-housing assets

Plan allows for structured and 
planned delivery to meet carbon 
neutrality goal

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Finance, assets 
and community wealth building

Mediu
m Term

Cannot be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2025

Delivery of this target is dependant 
upon funding - exploring as part of 
business planning, bid to progress 
this work to be completed

Amber

7. Circular Economy and Community Wealth Lead Officer- Head of Business Planning & Performance

Action 
reference ACTION OUTCOME

ACTION OWNERS (note: the 
Cabinet Member for Climate, 
Nature and Food Systems has 
oversight of all actions)

TIMEFRAME RESOURCES Date for 
completion Annual Update November 2023 RAG 

Status

Actions by the council to enable the district to enable a green recovery and become net zero carbon by 2030

C1
Implement the 'Re-imagining Lewes District 
Action Plan' As per the cabinet paper 
December 2020

The council will have delivered on 
the following work streams:
1. Lewes District Council as a 
community wealth building council
2. Progressive procurement of goods 
and services
3. Fair employment and just labour 
markets
4. Socially productive use of land 
and assets
5. Making financial power work for 
local places
6. Plural ownership of the economy

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Finance, assets 
and community wealth building

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2026

Target on track, see additional 
targets proposed to give a more 
focused view on the work streams 
identified in the outcome. In process 
of developing new action plan. Draft 
Action plan went to 14 September 
cabinet.

Green

C2
Produce a council sustainable procurement 
strategy with a focus on local and 
sustainable purchasing

Reduced emissions from 
procurement. Increased local spend 
and resulting improved community 
wealth

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Finance, assets 
and community wealth building 

Short 
Term 

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

01/03/2022 - 
changed to 
March 2024 to 
reflect staff 
capacity.

A Sustainable Procurement Policy 
will be drafted by the end of Q3 with 
the aim to implement it by the end of 
Q4 with a revised completion date of 
March 2024.

Green

P
age 155



C4

Determine if the council can set up a 
community investment programme 
potentially using municpal bonds (utilising 
output of Net Zero Innovation Fund)

Legal work and project pipeline 
completed to enable bonds to be 
raised.
Community can invest in local 
projects.

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Finance, assets 
and community wealth building

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2023

Financial and legal due dilligence 
has been completed. Given the 
current rates of interest associated 
work has paused.  Market conditions 
will be reviewed quarterly and the 
scheme progressed when rates 
become favourable and market 
conditions allow.

Amber

C5 Investigate partnerships to enable local 
people to fund the retrofitting of their homes

Council investment works to enable 
retrofitting and to reduce carbon 
emissions from homes

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Finance, assets 
and community wealth building 

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2023

Further to the completion of legal 
and finaincial due dilligence, work is 
ongoing to agree parameters and 
criteria to enable the retrofitting of 
homes in Lewes, procure a delivery 
vehicle and potentially roll out such a 
scheme accordingly. 
A Request for Information has been 
published to test the market

Green

(C6) (NEW/JULY 23) Socially productive use of 
land and assets 

Council facilities used to support 
social and environmental uses. 

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Finance, assets 
and community wealth building

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term 
Long 
Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2026

Marine Workshops in Newhaven has 
opened at the start of in 2023 as a 
marine, commercial and public 
space. As well as providing a new 
office base for council staff, the 
building will provide accommodation 
for a local college and will be a ‘blue 
space/climate hub’ for aquaculture 
and marine based industry and 
training.

Green

(C7) (NEW/JULY 23) Support social enterprises 
in the district 

Deliver business start-up programme 
with specialist provision to support 
local entrepreneurs wanting to 
pursue a social enterprise model 
including community and 
environmental goals.

Director of Planning and 
Regeneration &
Cabinet Member for Finance, assets 
and community wealth building

Short 
Term Mediu

m Term 
Long 
Term

Can be 
delivered using 
existing 
resources

2026

Report going to 14 September 
cabinet with recommendations to 
approve funding for new contract. 
and to rename to 'Lewes District start-
up programme'

Green

P
age 156



                            .

P
age 157



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report to: Cabinet 

 
Date: 9 November 2023 

 
Title: Housing Benefit War Pension and Armed Forces 

Compensation Policy 
 

Report of: Tim Whelan, Director of Service Delivery 
 

Cabinet member: 
 

Councillor Zoe Nicholson, Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet member for finance, assets and community wealth 
building 
 

Ward(s): 
 

All 

Purpose of report: 
 

To gain Cabinet’s recommendation to Full Council for the 
disregarding, in the assessment of Housing Benefit, War 
Pension and Armed Forces Compensation income above 
the statutory disregard. 
 

Decision type: 
 

Budget and policy framework 

Officer 
recommendation(s): 

Cabinet recommend to Full Council the disregarding in full 
of War Pensions income and the Armed Forces 
Compensation income in the assessment of Housing 
Benefit.  
 

Reasons for 
recommendations: 
 

As set out in the report. 

Contact Officer(s): Name: Bill McCafferty 
Post title: Lead for Income Maximisation and Welfare  
E-mail: bill.mccafferty@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
Telephone number: (01323) 415171 
 

 
1  Introduction 

 
1.1  The Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 make provision for the first £10.00 of 

income from War Widows (Widowers)/War Disablement Pension and the 
Armed Forces Compensation Scheme to be disregarded in any benefit 
assessment. The cost of this disregard is fully reimbursed to the Council 
 

1.2  The Social Security Administration Act 1992 gives the Council discretion to 
disregard any amount it chooses in addition to the statutory provision. The 
Council has taken advantage of this provision and fully disregarded income 
claimants receive from the War Widows (Widowers)/War Disablement Pension 
and the Armed Forces Compensation Schemes. 
 

Page 159

Agenda Item 7b



2  Proposal 
 

2.1  That Cabinet recommends to Full Council the continued support our veterans by 
disregarding in full any amounts above the statutory disregard.   

3  Outcome expected and performance management 
 

3.1  That Veterans continue to receive additional support with their housing costs in 
recognition of the service they provided to the country. 
 

4  Consultation 
 

4.1  No consultation has taken place as the policy has been in place for several 
years. 
 

5  Corporate plan and council policies  
 

5.1  This report supports the Council’s commitment to the Armed Forces Covenant  
 

6  Business case and alternative option(s) considered 
 

6.1  There is an option to not disregard part or all of the income above the statutory 
disregard. However, this would lead to an adverse publicity from the Armed 
Forces Community and not be in keeping with the Council’s commitment to the 
Armed Forces Covenant.  
 
 

7  Financial appraisal 
 

7.1  The additional housing benefit awarded in 2021/22 due to the application of the 
policy was £18,472. The mechanics of the housing benefit subsidy claim meant 
that the actual cost to the Council was £4,562. The pre-audited expenditure in 
2022/23 shows an expenditure of £15,219 with a cost to the Council of £3,805. 
The 2022/23 figures may change slightly following the audit. 
 

8  Legal implications 
 

8.1  The provision in paragraph 1.1 above is specified in regulation 40(2) and 
paragraph 15 of Schedule 5 to the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006. 
 

8.2 The discretionary provision in paragraph 1.2 above is specified in section 134(8) 
of the Social Security Administration Act 1992. 
 
Date of legal input: 22.08.23                                                               Legal ref: 012336-JOINT-OD 
 
 

9  
 

Risk management implications 
 

9.1  There is a risk that the cost to the Council could increase. The service will 
regularly monitor expenditure and report to finance and the Portfolio holder any 
significant rises 

Page 160



10  Equality analysis 
 

10.1  The disregard of War widows and war compensation payments, when assessing 
someone’s income for Housing benefit, will have a positive impact on veterans. 
This means the policy will have a positive impact on people with disabilities, 
people of working age as well as older residents. 
 

11  Environmental sustainability implications 
 

11.1  The disregard of War widows and war compensation payments, when assessing 
someone’s income for Housing benefit, will have a positive impact on veterans. 
This means the policy will have a positive impact on people with disabilities, 
people of working age as well as older residents. 
 

12  Contribution to Community Wealth Building  
 

12.1  Increasing the amount of housing benefit a veteran receives means they have to 
spend less of their disposable income on rent which in turn could be spent on 
goods and services in the local area thus increasing employment opportunities 
and contribute to business growth. 
 

13  Appendices 
 

 • None  
 

14  Background papers 
 

 The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows:  
 

 • None 
 

 

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report to: Cabinet 

 
Date: 9 November 2023 

 
Title: Lewes Local Plan, Preferred Options and Policies Directions 

 
Report of: Ian Fitzpatrick, Deputy Chief Executive and Director of 

Regeneration and Planning 
 

Cabinet member: 
 

Councillor Laurence O’Connor, Cabinet member for 
planning and infrastructure 
 

Ward(s): 
 

Areas of the district for which the Council is the local 
planning authority 
 

Purpose of report: 
 

To seek agreement for a period of public consultation on 
the Regulation 18 Local Plan ‘Towards a Spatial Strategy 
and Policies Approaches’, and publication of supporting 
documents. 
 
The Local Plan covers the area of the district for which the 
Council is the local planning authority. The area of the 
district covered by the South Downs National Park in not 
included in this Local Plan.  
 
The Local Development Scheme (December 2022) sets out 
the stages of public consultation in preparing the Local Plan 
and the Statement of Community Involvement sets out when 
and how we will consult on planning matters. 
 

Decision type: 
 

Key decision 

Officer 
recommendation(s): 

(1)  To approve and recommend to Full Council, the Local 
Plan Regulation 18: Towards a spatial strategy and policies 
directions document, as set out in Appendix 1, together with 
the supporting documents for public consultation in 
accordance with the regulations and the Local Development 
Scheme. 
 
(2) To agree delegated authority to the Director of 
Regeneration and Planning, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Planning and Infrastructure to make any minor 
changes to the appearance, format and text of the Local 
Plan and supporting documents in the interests of clarity 
and accuracy prior to their publication for consultation.   
 

Page 163

Agenda Item 7c



Reasons for 
recommendations: 
 

The preparation of the Local Plan must be undertaken in 
accordance with the relevant regulations. This includes 
consultation at Regulation 18 of the Town and County 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended). The proposed consultation is at Regulation 18. 
 
The consultation document sets out policy directions for 
policies to be developed further at the subsequent draft 
Local Plan stage. It also sets out the identified development 
needs of the plan area, and the Council’s proposed 
approach to meeting these needs within its plan area.  
 
As part of this consultation, assessment material of land 
submitted in response to the ‘Call for Sites’ will be included. 
This assessment has drawn on the technical evidence 
produced to support this stage of the consultation as well 
as information that has been submitted by parties with an 
interest. 
 

Contact Officer(s): Name: Nadeem Din 
Post title: Planning Policy Lead 
E-mail: Nadeem.din@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  
Telephone number: 07800 689269 
 

 
ES1. Executive Summary 

ES2 Members will recognise that a key part of the local plan making process is to 
establish the development needs for the Plan Area and then through 
extensive consultation and engagement with the public, stakeholders, 
community groups, and elected councillors identify appropriate locations that 
will help meet this need. In carrying out this exercise we must take into 
account any conflict with national policy or if the harm caused would 
outweigh the benefits of the development.  

ES3 This need is informed by a suite of evidence documents and earlier consultation(s) 
from which officers have drawn key issues and themes, this sets the structure to the 
Regulation18 consultation document. 

ES4 Studies within the evidence base acknowledge that the Plan Area is highly 
constrained and that these constraints will have a direct impact upon the growth 
potential for the Plan Area (outside of the National Park).  

ES5 One of the key themes of the Regulation18 consultation relates to new housing to 
meet the identified need and specifically where within the Plan Area this growth 
could potentially be located. While there is much focus on housing need, the Local 
Plan also has to make provision of other development types, such as employment or 
Green Infrastructure needs. 

ES6 Members will be aware that land-owners/land-promoters submitted locations for all 
types of development through a ‘call for sites’ exercise in 2020. Officers have 
reviewed these sites and tested them against the evidence base received to date. 

Page 164

mailto:Nadeem.din@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


This assessment of the sites is presented through the Land Availability Assessment 
documentation. 

ES7 Sites within the LAA are assessed as ‘Deliverable or Developable’ (Green), 
‘Potentially Deliverable or Developable’ (Amber, and require further engagement) or 
‘Not deliverable or Developable’ (Red).  

ES8 It is only the amber and green sites that the Reg 18 document considers could 
contribute towards meeting the housing needs.  
The Green sites alone mark the lower end of the housing growth.  
The Green and Amber sites in full mark the upper end of new housing growth.  
See paragraphs ES15 & 16 below for numbers 

ES9 The Strategic site at North Barnes Farm is assessed as ‘Not deliverable or 
Developable’ and therefore is considered to NOT be a suitable location for 
development for this plan to take forward through this consultation. 

ES10 It is likely through this consultation, and as the local plan progresses that some of 
the assessed sites may become ‘Not deliverable or developable’ and others will 
come into evaluation. Against this backdrop and to recognise the flux in sites officers 
are recommending that the Regulation 18 consultation document should consult on 
several scenarios including a lower and upper range for housing growth. 
 

ES11 This range is informed by the development capacity of submitted sites and an 
evaluation of constraints. 

ES12 Scenario 1, Benchmarking against the Government 2014 Standard Methodology 
target is 602 dwellings per annum. 

ES13 Scenario 2 Benchmarking against the Standard Methodology using 2018 data would 
be 396 dwellings per annum 

ES14 Scenario 3 Benchmarking against the Standard Methodology using 2021 data would 
be 574 dwellings per annum 

ES15 Against this housing growth Members should note that the process allows for certain 
dwellings to be counted towards meeting the identified need. These would include, 
for example sites with valid planning permission, sites that have an existing 
allocation that have not been built out and a number/proportion that cannot be 
identified that will come forward as windfall sites. 
Approximately 5000 units fall within this category. 

ES16 At the lower end of the range (Green sites only) and including those already 
accounted for’ then the local plan would be seeking new sites to accommodate 
approximately 21 residential unit per annum. (approx. 413 over plan period) 

ES17 At the upper end of the range (Green & Amber in full) and including those already 
accounted for then the local plan would be seeking new sites to accommodate 
approximately 210 residential unit per annum. (approx. 4200 over plan period) 

ES18 Members should note that due to the highly constrained nature of the plan area and 
the development potential of the amber and green sites that the housing need as 
established in scenario 1 using the Government’s 2014 Standard Methodology 
cannot be met.  

Page 165



ES19 Members should also note the lower end of the growth range is in the region of the 
level within the existing adopted plan and that the upper end settles midway between 
the 2018 projections and the 2021 Census data position.  

ES20 Officers recommend to Cabinet that the range for housing growth reflects the sites 
received and assessed to date and that Cabinet should recommend to Full Council 
that the Regulation 18 consultation documentation should be consulted upon 
publicly. 

1 Introduction  

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with the necessary information to 
endorse the Regulation 18 Local Plan ‘Towards a Spatial Strategy and policies 
approaches’ (Appendix 1) and refer the document to Council for statutory public 
consultation.  
 

1.2 May 2021 marked the 5-year anniversary for the adopted Joint Local Plan (adopted 
in 2016). Government expects a Local Plan to be reviewed every five years and 
updated where necessary. This means, that although the Joint Local Plan (LPP1) 
was adopted in May 2016 and Local Plan Part 2 adopted in Feb 2020, we are having 
to review a fairly recent plan when compared to some other local planning authority 
local plans. Lewes District Council (LDC) commenced its review in 2020, and in 
summer 2021 the council published the Issues and Options consultation to seek 
views on a range of issues and options for the local plan to further develop. The 
response to this initial stage consultation was unprecedented and over 42,000 
comments were received. The full set of comments is available to view on the 
council’s website as well as a summary report. These comments, alongside national 
planning guidance and technical evidence studies have also been used to inform the 
preparation of this iteration of the Local Plan. 
 

1.3 In preparing a new Local Plan, the National Planning Policy Framework (September 
2023), must be taken into account, and the Local Plan must be in conformity with the 
Framework or risk being rejected by the Planning Inspector. Local planning 
authorities also need to make sure that their Local Plan prepares for sustainable 
development. We are concluding that our Local Plan will not be able to plan to meet 
housing ‘need’ in full, and will only be able to deliver between a range of 
approximately 271 dwellings per annum (which would be comparable to the 2016 
adopted Local Plan, and 45% of the identified need) and approximately 468 
dwellings per annum (which is between the 2018 and 2014 population projections). 
This upper level (468dpa) would be approximately 25% lower than the housing need 
(602dpa) identified using the government Standard Method algorithm for the plan 
area. 
 

1.4 Of the dwellings contributing towards the supply, approximately 5,000 (or 
approximately 250dpa) are from existing sources of supply (including completions 
between 2020-23, windfall allowance and adopted Local Plan allocations). This 
means that for the Local Plan, in order for it, to meet the lower range new site 
allocations for approximately 21 new dwellings per annum would be needed (approx. 
413dpa over plan period), or approximately 210 dwellings per annum at the higher 
range.  Further work will be required following this consultation and prior to a 
housing requirement being determined for the draft Local Plan stage.  
 

Page 166

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/media/1718/Adopted-Joint-Core-Strategy-2016/pdf/Adopted_Joint_Core_Strategy_2016.pdf?m=638180377206470000
https://planningpolicyconsult.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/LDLP_IO/consultationHome
https://planningpolicyconsult.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/LDLP_IO/consultationHome


1.5 The Local Plan will cover the period up to 2040 and, the Regulation 18 Local Plan 
consultation document presents the direction to be taken on a number of potential 
policies under a series of themes. These policy directions, as well as any additional 
policies which are identified as a result of this consultation will be further developed 
for the draft Local Plan.  
 

1.6 This consultation will enable the Local Plan to be shaped by early, proportionate, 
and effective engagement with communities, local organisations, businesses, 
infrastructure providers and operators and statutory consultees. The consultation 
document will be accompanied by a Sustainability Appraisal, on which we will also 
be inviting comments. The evidence studies which have informed this Local Plan will 
also be made available for reference purposes. 
 

2 Proposal  
 

2.1 The Local Plan is the main development plan document, setting out a vision and 
strategy for future development in the area of the district for which the Council is the 
local planning authority. A new Local Plan is being prepared to ensure that 
appropriate and up to date planning policies are in place for the ‘plan area’ and is 
vital to the council gaining control over local planning decisions. Once in place, the 
Local Plan will address the needs and opportunities in relation to housing, the local 
economy, community facilities and infrastructure. 
 

2.2 The Local Plan consultation document (Appendix 1) sets out the direction for the 
detailed Local Plan policies that will be prepared for managing growth and change, 
offering protection to our natural environment, meeting the climate change 
challenge, securing good design from development, and allocating specific land 
uses. 
 

2.3 Of particular importance is the potential level of growth that will be brought forward 
through the Local Plan. At this stage, no definitive level of growth is required to be 
set. However, as mentioned in 1.3 above, a constrained level of growth is being 
planned for and Members’ attention is being drawn to ‘Section D: Developing a 
spatial strategy in response to climate change and other challenges’ of the 
consultation document (Appendix 1) which details the range for growth to be 
assessed further following this consultation.  

The table below provides a summary of the different levels of modelled growth and 
the range as a lower and upper percentages against each scenario. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 167



2.4 
        local plan range as a % 

against scenarios 

Housing 
need 
scenarios 

Housing Need 
calculation 

Local Plan period 
(2020-2040) 

Annualised over 
Local Plan Period 

Lower 
range 

Upper 
range 

1 SM 2014 12040 602 45% 78% 

2 SM 2018 7920 396 68% 118% 

3 SM 2021 11480 574 47% 82% 

  
Adopted and 
Emerging 
Local Plan  

        

4a 
Adopted Local 
Plan - plan 
area 

5500 275 98% 170% 

4b 
Adopted Local 
Plan - district 
wide 

6900 345 78% 136% 

  
Regulation 18 
Local Plan 
Lower range 

5412 271     

 
Regulation 18 
Local Plan 
Upper range 

9365 468     

 
2.5 

 
This report seeks endorsement from Cabinet and referral of the Local Plan 
document (appendix 1) to Council for approval for public consultation. A number of 
other documents will also be published alongside the consultation document, 
providing information to assist the consultation, including the technical evidence 
studies used to prepare the Local Plan. 
 

2.6 How the Local is being prepared? 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and accompanying Guidance2 sets 
the parameters under which local plans are to be prepared. There are a number of 
stages in the preparation of the Local Plan. In addition, there are procedural 
requirements that the council is required to comply with throughout. These stages 
and requirements are prescribed by national policy and legislation. This includes 
undertaking public consultation, at key stages of the Local Plan’s journey towards 
Submission and Examination. The diagram below gives effect to the Local Plan 
preparation process and our current position. 
 

Page 168

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


 
 

2.7 Policy Context  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) clearly states, that where there are 
no development plan policies, or where policies which are most important for 
determining an application are considered out of date, the council must grant 
planning permission (unless very limited exceptional circumstances apply). Since the 
introduction of the Housing Delivery Test in 2019, not being able to demonstrate a 
five-year housing land supply (5YHLS) also results in the application of the 
‘presumption in favour of development’, in line with NPPF paragraph 11. At present, 
the council is unable to demonstrate a 5YHLS of deliverable sites against its 
Standard Method housing target and is experiencing more ‘planning by appeal. 
 

2.8 The timetable for preparing the Local Plan is set out in the Council’s adopted Local 
Development Scheme (LDS), December 2022. This document recognises that the 
Preferred Options Consultation Regulation 18 is scheduled for Autumn 2023. 
 

2.9 It is important to note that the Local Plan is still evolving, and no firm decisions have 
been or are being made at this stage. Evidence will continue to be gathered 
throughout the Local Plan making process and this consultation forms an important 
aspect of the process. Additionally, it is a legal requirement that the Local Plan is 
prepared in accordance with an up-to-date LDS, and this will be tested at the Plan’s 
examination.   
 

2.10 What evidence has informed the preparation of the local plan? 
 
The Local Plan has to be underpinned by a robust evidence base to justify policy 
requirements and will be tested through the examination process. We have compiled 
several studies and supporting documents to help inform the preparation of the new 
Local Plan. These have been prepared, both by the Council and other organisations, 
including government bodies. Collectively, this evidence base helps to ensure that 
the policy directions in the Local Plan (Appendix 1) are appropriate and justified, 
including considering the latest available information. 
 

2.11 The evidence studies supporting the Local Plan consultation document include: 
 
• Local Housing Needs Assessment 
• Land Availability Assessment 
• Economic Needs Assessment 
• Retail and Leisure Needs 
• Landscape Character Assessment 
• Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 
• Strategic Transport Evidence Base 

Page 169



• East Sussex Gypsy and Traveller Need Accommodation Assessment 
• Settlement Hierarchy Study 
• Development Capacity Study 
• Settlement Services Assessment 
• Water Cycle Study Scoping study 
• Sustainability Assessment 
 

2.12 The evidence base documents will be made publicly available and form part the 
Local Plan library. While the majority of our evidence is gathered, we are still working 
to refine some of the evidence and will need to commission more evidence to inform 
the draft Local Plan and the Regulation 19 Submission versions of the Local Plan. 
 

2.13 The Local Plan consultation document has also been informed by the responses to 
the Issues and Options consultation held in summer 2021. All comments received 
were made available publicly on the Council’s website in May 2022 and a 
consultation summary document will be made available in time for the consultation. 
 

2.14 The Local Plan Steering Group has been presented with the policies within the 
consultation document with the exception of ‘Policy SDS1: Approach to the spatial 
development strategy’. This is to be tabled at the LPSG meeting scheduled for 12 
October 2023. Following this engagement with Members, amendments have been 
incorporated into the draft consultation document including grammatical corrections 
and punctuation errors. 
 

2.15 For legibility the Local Plan in Appendix 1 has taken a departure from the adopted 
Local Plan. It is a single document set in sections with the policy directions contained 
under a series of themes. However, it must be read as a whole, particularly for 
planning and investment purposes. 
 

2.16 The Local Plan is organised into sections: 

Section A: About this Plan – provides the background information on the Local 
Plan. The consultation also includes a new ‘call for sites’ for housing, 
employment, Biodiversity Net Gain, and climate change mitigation and 
adaptation. 
 
Section B: Lewes Local Area in 2040 – Sets out the Vision and aims for the 
Local Plan area. 
 
Section C: Key facts about our Plan area – key statistics about the plan area 
and the wider areas of the district 
 
Section D: Developing a spatial strategy in response to climate change and 
other challenges - seeks to provide the context for the Local Plan’s preparation 
and the challenges of planning in a constrained area. 
 

Page 170



Section E: The Plan themes – set out, under a number of themes, the strategic 
and non-strategic policy directions.1 These are based on evidence and have 
regard to national policy. Feedback, in response to the earlier Issues and Options 
public consultation has also shaped the policy directions. The policy direction 
parameters set out the purpose of each policy. These are not full policies but 
outline the scope or framework of the emerging policy. It is on these policy 
directions that we are seeking comments prior to developing them into detailed 
policies for the next stage (draft Local Plan).  
 
Section F: Delivery and Monitoring - will set out at the draft Local Plan stage 
the framework for performance indicators for the Local Plans and which will be 
reported upon through the Authority Monitoring Report annually.  
 

2.17 Next Steps 
 
The next stage, after this consultation, is to prepare a draft Local Plan (still at 
Regulation 18). The draft Local Plan will set out the requirements under each policy 
and any further policies that are identified as being needed. It will also seek to 
identify sites which will help deliver the strategy for meeting the identified housing 
need. Representation received during this consultation will be taken into 
consideration in the preparation of the draft Local Plan. The draft Local Plan will then 
be returned to the Council for approval for consultation, currently programmed for 
spring 2024.  
 

2.18 While a significant amount of evidence has been gathered, there remains work to be 
undertaken. This includes: 
 

• Some of the evidence that has been prepared to support this stage of the 
consultation will require finer grain analysis / updates. 
 

• Some new evidence, which has not been commissioned for this stage will be 
needed  
 

• further interrogation of sites which are within the ‘potentially deliverable / 
developable’ category will be required before they can be included in the 
‘deliverable/developable’ category for consideration for allocation in the draft 
Local Plan. 
 

• further work required to seek [alternative/additional] land opportunities to 
ensure the plan is able to exhaust all opportunities through a further ‘call for 
sites’ exercise alongside consultation on the Local Plan document. This is 
because an insufficient amount of land has been identified to meet the level of 
identified housing need and at Examination, we will be required to 
demonstrate that a ‘no stone unturned’ approach was undertaken in seeking 

 
1 Non-strategic policies are locally specific policies that will be used in day-to-day planning 
decisions and against whose criteria development proposals will be required to comply. 
Strategic policies are for the starting point for the non-strategic policies and seek to 
address the council’s strategic priorities. 

Page 171



to meet the housing need.  
 

• testing of the [alternative/additional] land identified through the ‘call for sites’ 
to assess its suitability in helping meet the housing and other development 
needs in the plan area. 

 
3 Outcome expected and performance management. 

 

3.1 Following this consultation, the Local Plan will then be returned to Council for further 
consideration and approval sought for consultation on it at the draft Local Plan stage 
scheduled to take place in spring 2024.  
 

4 Consultation 

4.1 Preparing the Local Plan and its successful implementation requires a positive and 
proactive approach to working alongside a wide range of stakeholders. Meaningful 
dialogue recognises the importance of engaging with local residents, community 
groups, businesses, infrastructure providers, landowners, neighbouring local 
authorities, statutory bodies, and other stakeholders. 
 

4.2 Consultation on the Local Plan will be undertaken in accordance with the Statement 
of Community Involvement, which is itself required by law. This sets out how and 
when we will consult and involve the community and other stakeholders in planning 
matters.  The consultation asks questions to actively engage and invite comments 
from communities, businesses, the development industry, and others. 
 

4.3 The council’s retained consultation platform will be used to host the public 
consultation documents, and respondents will be encouraged to use this as the main 
channel for providing their representations. 
 

4.4 The following methods of public consultation, amongst others, are to be arranged 
and undertaken by officers: 
 

• ‘Drop in’ events across the plan area [and Lewes Town Centre] 
• Use of social media to highlight key themes. 
• Webinars for Parish Councils 
• Deposit of documents in key locations for ‘inspection’ 
• All district councillor webinar ahead of public consultation 

 
Circulation of an Executive Summary of the Plan to encourage interest and stimulate 
involvement from local residents, businesses, and other stakeholders. 
 

4.5 The public consultation is proposed to run from 29th November to 8th February 2024. 
This is in excess of the minimum period of consultation set out in our adopted 
Statement of Community Involvement and takes account of the Christmas/new year 
period. 
 

Page 172



5 Corporate Plan and Council Policies  

5.1 The Local Plan sets out the long-term development strategy for the plan area and is 
one of the most important Council plans. It makes provision for new housing, 
employment, and other development needs, as well as for infrastructure. It has a 
central role in implementing the spatial aspects of the Council’s corporate strategy 
and policy priorities. 
 

6 Business case and alternative option(s) considered. 
 

6.1 An alternative would be to not carry out consultation at this stage and to consult at 
the draft Local Plan Stage. However, this would not allow for views to be gained from 
consultees prior to policies being developed, nor allow the council to set out its 
development capacity issues, as well as other options, at this early stage of the plan 
making process.  
 

6.2 Failure to proceed in a timely manner with the preparation of the new local plan 
through to adoption will leave the council with a dated Local Plan, and the 
application of the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ in place for 
much longer. 
 

7 Financial Appraisal  

7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from approving the consultation and 
noting the document relating to it. The costs associated with preparing, publishing, 
and consulting on the Local Plan are included in existing budgets. 
 

8 Legal Implications 

8.1 The Lewes Local Plan, Preferred Options and Policies Directions document is to be 
consulted upon pursuant to Regulation 18 Town and Country (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012. This sets out who must be consulted and requires that 
in preparing the Local Plan, the council must take into account any representation 
made.    
 

8.2 The Local Plan is a statutory development plan and the legal requirements for the 
preparation of Local Plans are set out in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004, The Localism Act 2011, The Housing and Planning Act 2016 and associated 
regulations and the Town and County Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended). Failure to comply with the statutory requirements 
will potentially lead to an unsound plan at the examination in public stage. 
  
Legal Implications provided 04.10.23 JCS. 
 
 
 
 

Page 173



9 Risk management  

9.1 None as a result of this report. However, a failure or delay in delivering the Local 
Plan may lead to uncertainty in the planning process and a potential increase in 
planning appeals, with a risk of intervention by the Secretary of State in the Local 
Plan preparation process.  
 

9.2 Additionally, national planning policy is in flux at present, with changes to the 
national planning policy framework anticipated for introduction in the autumn, and 
further changes with the enactment of the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill, upon 
its passage through parliament. There is also a risk to the Local Plan from a general 
election being called in the next year and this may mean more alterations to national 
planning policy.  
 

10 Equality analysis 

10.1 The consultation and engagement programme recognises that all sections of the 
community need to be engaged if we are to prepare a forward-looking local plan. 
 

10.2 We have prepared an initial screen which sets out our commitment to producing and 
Equality and Fairness assessment following consultation. Publishing at this stage 
enables views on the content of the document and any likely adverse impact of the 
policy directions on equalities groups to be identified prior to policies being 
developed for the next stage of the Local Plan process. 
 

11 Environmental sustainability implications  

11.1 The Local Plan will play an important role in helping us respond to the climate 
emergency. The Plan provides a strategic framework for climate mitigation and 
adaptation with regards to land use. The policy directions within the Plan are cross 
cutting and seek to ensure that new development will be designed, constructed, and 
operated is a way that is sustainable, but also reflects the complexity of the 
challenges in aiming to plan positively for climate change resilience. 
 

11.2 The evidence suite prepared to inform the Local Plan includes a Sustainability 
Appraisal to minimise the environmental impact of the local plan policies. A Climate 
change study, Biodiversity Study and Water Cycle Study amongst others have also 
been prepared. 
 

12 Contribution to Community Wealth Building 
 

12.1 The production of the Local Plan documents may have health and wellbeing 
implications. These will be considered during the next stage of the plan-making 
process for the Local Plan documents through the preparation of Health Impact 
Assessments.  
 

12.2 Policies within the Economy and Regeneration theme will likely contribute to wealth 
building through linking development with employment opportunities locally. 
Developments which are allocated through the local plan will also potentially bring 

Page 174



forward opportunities to create or support wealth building projects through locally 
implemented labour agreements. 
 

13 Appendices  
 

13.1 Appendix 1 - Regulation 18 Local Plan, ‘Towards a Spatial Strategy and Policy 
Approaches’ consultation document 
 

14 Background Papers 
 

14.1 The background papers used in compiling this report were as follows:  
 

• Local Development Scheme (December 2022) 
• Statement of Community Involvement  
• Local Plan evidence studies 

 
 

Page 175

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/media/1090/Lewes-Local-Development-Scheme/pdf/Lewes_Local_Development_Scheme.pdf?m=638259626046230000
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/media/1105/Lewes-Statement-of-Community-Involvement-2020/pdf/Lewes_Statement_of_Community_Involvement_2020.pdf?m=638121518468500000


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

 

Lewes District Council 

 

 

Towards a Local Plan spatial strategy 

and policies directions 
 

 

(Regulation 18 Consultation) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Autumn 2023 

  

Page 177



 

2 

Welcome 
[Welcome text to be added] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Councillor Laurence O’Connor  

Cabinet Member for Planning and Infrastructure  

 

 

Lewes District Council 

  

Page 178



 

3 

Contents page 
Welcome..................................................................................................................... 2 

Contents page ............................................................................................................ 3 

Executive Summary .................................................................................................... 7 

Getting involved .........................................................................................................11 

A. About this Plan ...................................................................................................12 

1. What is the Lewes Local Plan? ....................................................................12 

2. How does Local Plan fit with other plans and strategies? .............................14 

3. Our plan-making journey so far ....................................................................16 

4. What is the timetable and, how is the Local Plan prepared? ........................18 

5. The purpose of this plan making stage .........................................................19 

6. The structure of the new Local Plan .............................................................21 

B. Lewes Local Plan Area in 2040 ..........................................................................22 

Vision and Aims .....................................................................................................22 

Vision for Lewes District’s plan area ......................................................................23 

Proposed Aims for our Local Plan ..........................................................................24 

C. Key facts about our Plan Area ............................................................................27 

D. Consultation questions .......................................................................................30 

E. Developing a spatial strategy in response to climate change and other 

challenges .................................................................................................................33 

What development do we have to plan for? ...........................................................33 

Delivering new housing in a managed way ............................................................39 

Other Development Needs .....................................................................................41 

F. The Plan Themes ...............................................................................................43 

Theme: Development strategy [responding to Climate Change] ...............................43 

Strategic Policy SDS1: A spatial development strategy approach .........................44 

Strategic Policy SDS2: Settlement Hierarchy .........................................................57 

Strategic Policy SDS 3: Settlement boundaries .....................................................60 

Theme: Climate Change ............................................................................................62 

Strategic Policy CC1: Mitigating and Adapting to Climate Change ........................62 

Policy CC2: A design response to a changing climate ...........................................65 

Policy CC3: Solar PV, Storage and Demand Management ...................................69 

Policy CC4: Sustainable Construction ...................................................................71 

Page 179



 

4 

Policy CC5: Renewable Energy Development .......................................................74 

Strategic Policy CC6: Coastal Change ..................................................................76 

Theme: Natural Environment .....................................................................................79 

Strategic Policy NE1: Green and Blue Infrastructure .............................................80 

Policy NE2: Biodiversity .........................................................................................83 

Policy NE3: Landscape ..........................................................................................86 

Policy NE4: Clean and Healthy Environment .........................................................89 

Theme: Homes for Everyone .....................................................................................93 

Strategic Policy H1: Meeting Housing Needs .........................................................95 

Policy H2: Suitable Homes for All  ..........................................................................99 

Strategic Policy H3: Affordable Housing ..............................................................104 

Policy H4: Specialist Accommodation for Vulnerable People ...............................109 

Policy H5: New Residential Development in the Countryside ..............................113 

Policy H6: Making Best Use of Existing Rural Buildings ......................................117 

Policy H7: Making Best Use of the Existing Housing Stock .................................120 

Policy H8: Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople .122 

Theme: Economy and Regeneration .......................................................................127 

Strategic Policy E1: Meeting Economic Needs ....................................................128 

Strategic Policy E2: Newhaven Town ..................................................................131 

Policy E3: Newhaven Port ....................................................................................135 

Policy E4: Local Labour Agreements ...................................................................138 

Policy E5: Rural Employment ...............................................................................142 

Policy E6: Retail and Town Centres .....................................................................144 

Policy E7: Visitor Economy ..................................................................................147 

Policy E8: Equestrian Development .....................................................................149 

Theme: Infrastructure and Community Facilities .....................................................151 

Strategic Policy IC1: Infrastructure Provision .......................................................153 

Policy IC2: Water Supply and Wastewater Management .....................................155 

Policy IC3: Digital Infrastructure and Communications ........................................158 

Policy IC4: Safeguarding Community Facilities ....................................................161 

Policy IC5: Commercial community uses .............................................................163 

Policy IC6: Outdoor Playing Space ......................................................................167 

Policy IC7: Local Food Infrastructure ...................................................................169 

Page 180



 

5 

Policy IC8: Sustainable transport and movement ................................................171 

Policy IC9: Parking Standards [and EVCP] ..........................................................174 

Policy IC10: Former Lewes to Uckfield railway line ..............................................176 

Policy IC11: Public Rights of Way ........................................................................179 

Theme: Design, Landscape and the Built Environment ...........................................181 

Strategic Policy D1: Development Principles .......................................................183 

Policy D2: Achieving High-Quality Design in Development ..................................186 

Policy D3: Landscape Character ..........................................................................189 

Policy D4: Conservation and Enhancement of Heritage Assets ...........................191 

Policy D5: Public Realm .......................................................................................193 

Theme: Water ..........................................................................................................195 

Strategic Policy W1: Flood risk and flood management .......................................196 

Policy W2: Protection of water resources and water quality .................................199 

Policy W3: Water efficiency in new development .................................................202 

Page 181



 

6 

Table of Figures 
Figure 1: Consultation Document Order ..................................................................... 8 

Figure 2: Map of District within the wider South East ................................................13 

Figure 3: Map of the Plan Area ..................................................................................13 

Figure 4: Planning Policy Framework ........................................................................14 

Figure 5: Our Plan Making Journey ...........................................................................16 

Figure 6: Local Development Scheme Timetable ......................................................18 

Figure 7: Key Facts About Our Plan Area .................................................................29 

Figure 8: Historic Housing Delivery Rates .................................................................35 

Figure 9: Spatial Development Approach ..................................................................45 

Figure 10: Spatial Option 1 Indicative Locations ........................................................48 

Figure 11: Spatial Option 2 Indicative Locations ........................................................49 

Figure 12: Spatial Option 3 Indicative Locations ........................................................51 

Figure 13: Spatial Option 4 Indicative Locations ........................................................52 

Figure 14: Spatial Option 5 Indicative Locations ........................................................54 

Figure 15: Spatial Option 6 Indicative Locations ........................................................55 

Figure 16: Proposed Settlement Hierarchy ................................................................58 

 

 

Table 1: Existing sources of supply ...........................................................................37 

Table 2: Supply from new sites identified in the LAA .................................................38 

Table 3: Development Capacity Study Potential Sites ...............................................39 

Table 4: Spatial Option 1 Development Yield ............................................................48 

Table 5: Spatial Option 2 Development Yield ............................................................50 

Table 6: Spatial Option 3 Development Yield ............................................................51 

Table 7: Spatial Option 4 Development Yield ............................................................53 

Table 8: Spatial Option 5 Development Yield ............................................................54 

Table 9: Spatial Option 6 Development Yield ............................................................56 

 

 

  

Page 182

https://leweseastbournegovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/Lewesplanningpolicy/Shared%20Documents/Lewes%20Local%20Plan%20-%20Preferred%20Options%20(2022-23)/12.%20Draft%20Local%20Plan/20231020%20Preferred%20Options%20DRAFT%20-%20For%20PPAC.docx#_Toc148956094


 

7 

Executive Summary 

Introduction 

Lewes District Council is preparing its new Local Plan with the aim of providing 

the planning framework for our plan area to 2040. 

 

The new Local Plan will help to make sure that our plan area provides the 

homes, jobs, community facilities and services to meet the people living, 

working and visiting in the plan area in a sustainable manner.  

 

Once adopted the new Local Plan will replace the current Local Plan, which 

consists of: 

▪ Part 1 Joint Core Strategy 2010-2030: Adopted in 2016 and sets out 

the strategic vision, objectives and spatial strategy for the district 

(including the areas that are within the South Downs National Park).  

▪ Part 2: Site Allocations and development management policies, which 

sets out more detailed (non-strategic) planning policies for different 

types of development  

 

Until the new Local Plan is adopted (scheduled for 2025), the current Local 

Plan will continue to be used when making planning decisions.  

 

The ‘Towards a Local Plan spatial strategy and policies directions’ document 

makes a key stage in the plan making process and provides the basis for 

consultation with residents, businesses and organisations on how we should 

develop the plan area for the  future. The document outlines the preferred 

vision, aims and key planning issues affecting the plan area, as well as 

proposed policy directions for addressing these and potential locations for new 

development and growth. 

 

We are now seeking views on the preferred policy directions and options for 

growth. We are also asking for thought on whether there are any additional 

policies or growth options we should be considering.  

 

The consultation runs from Wednesday 29 November 2023 to Thursday 8th 

February 2024. You can give us your views and thoughts in a number of ways: 

▪ Online via the consultation platform 

▪ Email: localplan@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 

▪ In writing: Lewes District Council, C/O Eastbourne Borough 

Council. Town Hall, Grove Road Eastbourne,  

 

 

  

Page 183

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/257159.pdf
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/287648.pdf
mailto:localplan@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


 

8 

The consultation document is organised in the following order: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lewes’ Local 

Plan Area in 2040, including Vision and Aims 

We set out some of the key characteristics of our plan area and its population. 

The Lo al Plan will need to establish a clear vision to set out what the Plan 

Area should look like by 2040. As part of this consultation, we have set out the 

preferred vision and supporting aims, informed by the key issues, consultation 

feedback and taking account of other relevant plans and strategies. 

 

The document identifies seven aims that reflect and underpin the visions and 

priorities for the Plan Area. These form the basis for the strategic policy 

directions within the consultation document.  

Developing a Spatial Strategy in response to climate change and 

other challenges  

We also need to make sure that the Local Plan prepares for sustainable 

development, however it is unlikely that we will be able to plan to meet 

housing ‘need’ in full. d will only be able to deliver between a range of 

approximately 270 dwellings per annum (which would be lower than the 2016 

• Introduction

• About this Plan

• Lewes Local Plan Area in 2040

• Vision and aims

• Key Facts about the Plan Area

• Developing a spatial strategy in response 
to climate change and other challenges

• The Plan Themes

• Monitoring and Delivery

Figure 1: Consultation Document Order 

 

Page 184



 

9 

adopted Local Plan, and 45% of the identified need) and approximately 460 

dwellings per annum (which is between the 2018 and 2014 population 

projections)1.  

 

This upper level would be approximately 25% lower than the housing need 

(602dpa) identified using the government Standard Method algorithm for the 

plan area. Further work will be required following this consultation and prior to 

a housing requirement being determined for the draft Local Plan stage. 

The Plan Themes 

The new Local Plan will set out strategic and policies to underpin and guide 

development within the Plan Area. The strategic policies under each theme 

will be designed to deliver the strategic aims and vision over the plan period. 

As part of the thematic approach of this consultation document, a number of 

strategic policies and policy directions have been proposed: 

▪ Development Strategy 

▪ Climate Change 

▪ Natural Environment 

▪ Homes for Everyone 

▪ Economy and Regeneration 

▪ Infrastructure and Community Facilities 

▪ Design, Landscape and the Built Environment 

▪ Water 

Options for Growth 

The new Local Plan will need to consider a range of options to deliver the 

development which is needed. The Issues and Options consultation document 

identified the following growth options: 

▪ Intensification of development within the coastal towns 

▪ Further outward expansion of Newhaven and Peacehaven 

▪ Urban extensions to Burgess Hill and Haywards Heath 

▪ Focussing growth on the most sustainable villages in the Low Weald 

▪ Dispersing growth across all villages in the Low Weald  

▪ A new settlement within the Low Weald 

This consultation document takes a high level approach to assessing the 

options and their respective contribution to meeting development need.  

 

Next Steps 

We are asking a number of questions in this document on which we want your 

views. These will help us to shape the next stage of the Local Plan. At the end 

 
1 The figure have been rounded to the nearest 10. 

Page 185



 

10 

of the consultation period, we will consider all the comments together with 

evidence collected to inform the next stage. It is anticipated that we will consult 

on the draft Local Plan in spring 2024.    

 

  

Page 186



 

11 

Getting involved 
Lewes District Council is consulting on this stage of its local plan between 

Wednesday 29th November 2023 and 09:00 on Thursday 8th February 2024. This is a 

ten-week consultation period, taking into consideration the Christmas and New Year 

holiday period. 

 

You can find out how to respond to the consultation online by visiting 

 [link to consultation webpage] 

 

You can also reach the website by scanning the QR code  

 

[QR code to webpage]. 

 

The consultation document includes a series of consultation questions that we are 

asking you.  Your answers will help us to further develop our policies and strategy.  

 

The best way to submit your response is by using our online portal: 

[details of the innovem consultation page here, including link] 

 

However, if you are having difficulty registering to use the portal, then you may 

download the questionnaire from our website, or request it by emailing 

localplan@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 

 

You can also post your completed questionnaire to:  

Lewes District Council,  

C/O Eastbourne Borough Council,  

Town Hall, Grove Road  

Eastbourne  

 

Data Protection / Confidentiality 

Responses to the consultation cannot be treated as confidential so please do not 

include any personal or identifiable information within your comments. Responses to 

the consultation will be published on the council’s website, together with the name 

and/or organisation name of the respondent. 

 

  

Page 187

mailto:localplan@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


 

12 

A. About this Plan 
 

1. What is the Lewes Local Plan? 

There are two local plans covering Lewes District area. The first is the Lewes District 

Local Plan 2010-2030, which itself is in 2 parts: 

▪ Part 1 Joint Core Strategy 2010-2030: Adopted in 2016 and sets out the strategic 

vision, objectives and spatial strategy for the district (including the areas that are 

within the South Downs National Park).  

▪ Part 2: Site Allocations and development management policies, which sets out 

more detailed (non-strategic) planning policies for different types of development 

 

The second is the South Downs Local Plan (2014-2033), adopted in 2019 and 

covering those areas of the District inside the South Downs National Park for which 

the South Downs National Park Authority is the local planning authority. 

 

The two parts of the Lewes District Local Plan 2010-2030, alongside the adopted 

Neighbourhood Plans and Supplementary Planning documents make up the 

statutory development plan for the area for which Lewes District Council (LDC) is the 

planning authority.  

 

The new Lewes Local Plan will cover the area of the district which is outside of the 

South Downs National Park. The areas that the plan will cover are separated by the 

South Downs National Park and has distinct characteristics: 

▪ the coastal strip including the towns of Seaford, Newhaven, Peacehaven 

and Telscombe, which are located to the south of the National Park, and 

▪ the countryside and villages of the Low Weald, to the north of the South 

Downs National Park within Lewes District’s boundary.  

 

Together these two parts of the district are referred to as ‘the plan area’ throughout 

this document. LDC will be working with the South Downs National Park Authority 

and other partners to tackle any cross-boundary issues affecting the wider area, such 

as where new strategic transport and utilities infrastructure may be needed.  Figure 2 

shows how the district relates to neighbouring areas in the South East. Figure 3 

shows the plan area within Lewes District. 

  

Page 188

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/257159.pdf
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/257159.pdf
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/257159.pdf
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/287648.pdf
https://www.southdowns.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/SD_LocalPlan_2019_17Wb.pdf
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/257159.pdf


 

13 

Figure 2. [MAP OF DISTRICT within the wider SE area, 

 

 

 
Figure 2: Map of District within the wider South East 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3: Map of the Local Plan Area 

 

 
Figure 3: Map of the Plan Area 

  

Page 189



 

14 

 

2. How does Local Plan fit with other plans and strategies? 

The Planning Framework 

The Local Plan is required to be consistent with national policy, including the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2023), planning Circulars and Written Ministerial 

Statements. The NPPF sets out the government’s planning policies for England and 

how they should be applied. In addition to including the parameters for the 

preparation of the local plan, the NPPF is also a material consideration in planning 

decisions. The National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) supports the NPPF, giving 

greater detail on various matters. 

 

Lewes Development Plan Documents 

The Lewes District Local Plan 2010-2030 is the development plan for the planning 

area and planning applications must be determined in accordance with it, unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise. Figure 4 illustrates how the local plan and 

its supporting documents sit within the wider planning framework. 

 

Figure 4: Planning Policy Framework

 
Figure 4: Planning Policy Framework 

 

Since the Issues and Options consultation (Summer 2021), government has 

published a revised NPPF, and has proposed further planning reforms. The Local 

Plan will need to conform to NPPF, NPPG and associated legislation. Once adopted 

the new Local Plan 2020-2040 will replace the Lewes District Local Plan 2010-2030 

Part 1: Joint Core Strategy and Part 2: Site Allocations and Development 

Management Policies. 

 

  

Page 190

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/257159.pdf
https://planningpolicyconsult.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/LDLP_IO/consultationHome
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/media/1718/Adopted-Joint-Core-Strategy-2016/pdf/Adopted_Joint_Core_Strategy_2016.pdf?m=638180377206470000
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/media/1739/Local-Plan-Part-2-2020/pdf/Local_Plan_Part_2_2020.pdf?m=638180384366430000
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/media/1739/Local-Plan-Part-2-2020/pdf/Local_Plan_Part_2_2020.pdf?m=638180384366430000


 

15 

Corporate Plan 2024-2028 

LDC’s Corporate Plan was approved in 2020 and sets out the high level priorities of 

the council. We are preparing a new Corporate Plan to cover the period 2024-2028. 

The focus for the new Corporate Plan is: 

▪ Responding to the challenges of the cost of living crisis 

▪ Providing leadership to the district in tackling the climate emergency 

▪ Creating sustainable community wealth 

▪ Building homes you can afford to live in 

▪ Delivering high quality, responsive services to local people 

 

Neighbourhood Plans 

Local communities can shape the future development of their areas through 

preparing neighbourhood plans. Almost every parish within the plan area has an 

adopted neighbourhood plan; the policies of which were assessed as being in 

general conformity with the strategic policies in the adopted Local Plan.  

 

The policies within these adopted neighbourhood plans must be used when 

determining any planning application within the relevant area. Although the new 

Local Plan will postdate the adopted Neighbourhood Plans, we will fully endorse and, 

seek to implement all the policies within the Neighbourhood Plans while local 

communities review their Neighbourhood Plans. 

 

  

Page 191



 

16 

3. Our plan-making journey so far 

The Lewes Local Plan Part 1 was identified as being more than five-years old by May 

20212. Work to review the local plan commenced during 2020. Several stages are 

involved in the preparation of the plan, as well as having to comply with the required 

procedures. These stages, prescribed in national policy and legislation, require 

multiple rounds of consultation before submitting a draft local plan to the Secretary of 

State for checking that it is ‘sound’ through independent testing at public 

examination; that it is realistic, deliverable and based on evidence.  

    

Figure 5 sets out the key stages of the plan making process, highlighting where in the 

process we are at currently. 

 

Figure 5: Our Plan Making Journey 

 

 
Figure 5: Our Plan Making Journey 

We held a Local Plan Issues and Options public consultation during the summer of 

2021. This was the first public stage of preparing the new Local Plan and among 

other questions we asked about how we could approach planning for additional 

housing, how we could promote and require measures to address climate change 

from development, and what improvements could be made to transport. You can still 

see the consultation document on the council’s website. 

 

We received over 42,000 comments to the Issues and Options consultation from over 

4,000 individuals and organisations. Thank you for taking part and for giving us 

your views. These responses have been analysed and considered by the council 

when preparing this consultation document. For each of the policies in this document 

we have set out a section entitled ‘What you have told us so far’, which 

summarises the comments made in response to the themes in the Issues & Options 

consultation.  

 

In addition to the Issues and Options consultation, we also undertook a ‘Call for Sites’ 

exercise. This gave landowners, developers and other stakeholders the opportunity 

 
2 Under Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)(England) Regulations (as 
amended) local planning authorities must review their local plans at least once every 5 years from the 
adoption date to ensure that policies remain relevant and address the needs of the local community 
effectively.  

Page 192

https://planningpolicyconsult.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/gf2.ti/-/1301314/107546021.1/PDF/-/Lewes_District_Local_Plan_-_Issues_and_Options_-_July_2021_-_08-07-21.pdf


 

17 

to submit sites to the council for consideration. 66 new sites were submitted through 

this process, and 186 sites sourced from other supply were assessed as part of the 

interim land availability assessment that was published in February 2022.  

 

While the initial ‘call for sites’ has already taken place, we will continue to receive 

additional sites while we prepare the plan. As part of this consultation, we are asking 

for sites to be put forward that are adjacent to and share a boundary with sites that 

have already been assessed as either potentially deliverable/developable (orange 

shade on map) or assessed as deliverable/developable (green shade). We are also 

asking for sites suitable to accommodate Gypsy and Traveller pitches and ‘Green 

sites’ to be put forward which could be used to help mitigate against climate change, 

in particular sites that would either be suitable for Biodiversity Net Gain or Carbon 

offsetting.  

 

You can complete a ‘call for sites’ form for a new site that you would like us to 

consider on the consultation portal. 

 

  

Page 193

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/article/1934/Land-Availability-Assessment?q=interim


 

18 

4. What is the timetable and, how is the Local Plan prepared? 

The Local Plan is being prepared within the context of a wider planning framework, 

which sets out the local plan making parameters, its content and operation. The 

timetable for the Local Plan review is set out in the council’s Local Development 

Scheme (December 2022) and is summarised in Figure 6. 

 

Figure 6: Local Development Scheme Timetable 

 

Stage  Proposed dates  

Preferred Option Consultation (Reg. 18)  Autumn 2023  

Draft Plan consultation (Reg. 18)  Spring 2024  

Publication (of pre-submission plan) and 

consultation (Reg. 19)  

Winter 2024  

Submission to Secretary of State (Reg. 22)  Spring 2025  

Examination in Public (Reg. 24)  *Autumn/Winter 2025  

Adoption and Publication (Reg. 26)  * Subject to progress of 

independent Examination  

Figure 6: Local Development Scheme Timetable 

This consultation stage moves our Local Plan forward from the Issues and Options 

2021 and, in legal terms, is part of our Regulation 18 of the Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.3 We will keep the timetable 

under review and it may be amended depending on several factors including new or 

updated evidence, comments received through consultation, and changes to the 

planning system consulted on by the government. We do not yet know the outcome 

of the government’s winter 2022/23 consultation on reforms to the planning system.  

 

Further updates of the timetable will be published on our website in our Local 

Development Scheme. 

 

Evidence Base 

While public consultations are one of the means by which we collect evidence and 

information, the Local Plan is supported by a suite of technical evidence studies and 

supporting documents. It is critical that the council and all stakeholders have a 

thorough understanding of the issues and needs facing the plan area. The evidence 

studies have been prepared by the council and other organisations.  

Several studies have informed the development of the spatial strategy and policies 

directions. Key new evidence to support to the Local Plan to this stage includes: 

▪ Water Cycle Study Scoping study 

▪ Landscape Character Assessment 

 
3 England’s primary legislation providing the main basis for the plan led system is the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

Page 194

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/local-development-scheme
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/local-development-scheme


 

19 

▪ Landscape Sensitivity Assessment 

▪ Local Housing Needs Assessment 

▪ Land Availability Assessment 

▪ Development Capacity Study 

▪ East Sussex Gypsy and Traveller Need Accommodation 

Assessment 

▪ Economic Needs Assessment 

▪ Retail and Leisure Needs 

▪ Strategic Transport Evidence Base 

▪ Settlement Hierarchy Study 

▪ Settlement Services Assessment 

▪ Playing Pitch Needs Assessment 

▪ Sustainability Assessment 

The majority of our evidence studies have been completed, but we are still working to 

refine some of the evidence and will need to commission more evidence to inform the 

next stage of plan making, the draft local plan. This process will continue in the 

months ahead and as we move towards examination of the plan by the Secretary of 

State. 

 

Working with our neighbouring Local Authorities and other 

statutory bodies 

The Localism Act (2011), regulations and the NPPF place a statutory duty on local 

planning authorities to cooperate with each other, and other bodies such as Natural 

England and the Environment Agency, when preparing, or reviewing policies that 

have cross border implications. The government has proposed replacing the ‘Duty to 

Co-operate’ requirement with an ‘Alignment Policy’ “to secure appropriate 

engagement between authorities where strategic planning considerations cut across 

boundaries.” Details are not yet known as to when and what form this new approach 

will take. In the meantime, we will continue to work positively with our neighbouring 

authorities and other bodies to share evidence and develop planning solutions across 

a range of topics. 

 

Assessing environmental impacts 

This consultation document is accompanied by a Sustainability Appraisal. 

Consultation with statutory consultees on the Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 

was undertaken ahead of the Issues and Options consultation. The report provides a 

baseline of information on the social, economic and environmental impacts of the 

plan. Further assessments will be undertaken at subsequent stages of the Local Plan 

making process. 

 

5. The purpose of this plan making stage 

This document is not the draft Local Plan, which we will prepare later in the process, 

it is our next step in the plan making journey and is our consultation document 

Page 195



 

20 

following on from the Issues and Options consultation and before we consult on our 

draft Local Plan in spring 2024. It builds on, and is informed by, the previous 

consultation alongside the latest evidence studies. It reflects our understanding of the 

main issues for the new Local Plan and the possible approaches to address these 

through planning policy. We set out the reasons for taking these approaches as well 

as any alternatives considered in each of the policies. 

 

This document also sets out our initial approach to what we consider to be an 

appropriate spatial (growth) strategy to deliver the plan’s housing and economic 

development need. We will continue to refine this following this consultation stage 

and there will be further opportunities to comment on the new Local Plan through 

future consultations. 

 

The Local Plan covers many land uses like new homes, businesses, shops, 

transport, community facilities, green spaces and biodiversity. At this stage we want 

to know what you think about these and, whether the vision and aims to address 

these issues as we have set out are the correct ones for our area. Through this 

consultation we are asking questions to gather your ideas and views before we 

develop the approaches into detailed planning policies and firm up the spatial 

strategy. 

 

  

Page 196



 

21 

6. The structure of the new Local Plan 

We have taken a thematic approach to preparing this Local Plan document. This 

means that it is arranged under a number of themes but needs to be read a whole, 

particularly for the purpose of planning and investment decisions. The document 

includes a vision and aims setting out what the Local Plan aims to achieve. In 

simple terms, this is to ensure sustainable development – both social, economic and 

environmental – when planning for the homes, jobs and infrastructure needed, 

alongside protecting and enhancing the environment. 

 

The spatial strategy, at the start of the document, sets out how the plan area as a 

whole and the different towns and villages within it should develop, together with our 

response to climate change within the plan period. How much development will take 

place, where this will be located and when it will be delivered will be key to delivering 

the plan area’s vision and aims.  

 

Each of the themes contains strategic policies and non-strategic policies. The 

strategic policies are those necessary to address the strategic priorities of the whole 

plan area and provide a starting point for any non-strategic policy. The strategic 

policies support the delivery of the spatial strategy and establish the principles of 

development in the plan area.  

 

The non-strategic policies provide the detailed design and technical criteria and 

standard against which proposed development will be assessed. They support the 

delivery of strategic policies, spatial strategy and vision. This document contains a 

number of non-strategic policies but it does not preclude the matters from being 

addressed elsewhere either through Neighbourhood Plan or subsequent local 

planning documents, as long as they are in conformity with the strategic policies.  

  

Page 197



 

22 

B. Lewes Local Plan Area in 2040 
 

Vision and Aims 

The Planning Acts require that each local planning authority must identify the 

strategic priorities for the development and use of land in the authority’s area. The 

Local Plan adopted in 2016 for our district was prepared jointly with the South Downs 

National Park Authority (SDNPA). Its Vision and Objectives were for the entire Lewes 

District authority area. However, the SDNPA adopted its own local plan in 2019, and 

therefore the vision and objectives need to be revised and updated.   

 

Although the Issues and Options consultation in 2021 did not ask for views on the 

existing vision and objectives, we want to adopt an ambitious and succinct vision for 

development in the plan area, which reflects our ambitions and priorities for the future 

and is achievable. In setting a vision, clear aims for development aspects such as 

housing, infrastructure, environmental protection and economic growth will need to 

be developed.  

 

‘Good’ growth is an underlying foundation of our vision. Our understanding of ‘good 

growth’ is one which is helping to meet the needs of our residents and businesses 

and building community wealth, but it should not be at any cost. Any growth has to be 

socially and economically inclusive and environmentally sustainable – we will expect 

the highest standards to the benefit of all those who live and work here and for 

development to be sensitive to the local context.  

 

Also, we need to take into consideration amendments to the NPPF (updated in July 

2021 and revised in September 2023) when developing a vision, aims and spatial 

strategy for the new Local Plan: 

▪ The NPPF includes specific reference to the 17 Global Goals for Sustainable 

Development agreed by members of the United Nations of which the United 

Kingdom was a signatory. These address social progress, economic wellbeing 

and protections for the environment, including specific goals on sustainable 

communities and cites, reducing inequalities, health and well-being and climate 

action. 

▪ The presumption in favour of sustainable development was updated in relation to 

plan-making, to add reference to the need for all plans to promote sustainable 

patterns of development that seeks to meet the development needs of their area; 

align growth and infrastructure; improve the environment; mitigate and adapt to 

climate change [and its effects.]  

▪ Chapter 12 of the NPPF was expanded, with a stronger emphasis on design and 

beauty. A change to Chapter 11, puts forward the use of area based character 

assessments, design guides and codes and masterplans to help ensure land is 

used efficiently, while also creating sustainable and beautiful places.  

Page 198



 

23 

Vision for Lewes District’s plan area 

The vision for the plan area, responding to the changes and issues identified, is set 

out below. 

 

In 2040 Lewes’ planning area will be: 

Green – putting the environment at the heart of everything that is 

built and regeneration to improve air quality and support the 

health and wellbeing of our resident communities, businesses 

and visitors, now and into the future.  

 

New development will minimise carbon emissions, put active 

travel ahead of reliance on the private car, increase nature and 

biodiversity and safeguard our heritage and landscapes.  

 

The Local Plan will contribute to mitigating and adapting to the 

greatest challenge of our lifetime – Climate Change.  

 

 

Inclusive – our plan area has many unique and distinct 

settlements, places which are both beautiful to live and work in 

but also places which are challenging because of extremes of 

wealth and inequality. 

 

We will narrow the inequality which exists and ensure that we 

provide the truly affordable homes, the employment opportunities 

and access to services that all our residents, and especially the 

most vulnerable, need.  

 

We will support the economy of our towns and villages to thrive 

and perform to their full potential, taking advantage of new digital 

infrastructure to attract new start-ups and support existing 

businesses.  

 

We will support our plan area to be a dynamic place, reflecting 

our communities’ strengths with our partnership working at its 

core. 

  

  

Page 199



 

24 

[Great / Beautiful] Places to live & work – Our plan area will be 

a place where all generations can not only live, but also thrive. 

 

A place where visitors will experience the opportunities and 

assets that we take pride in – from the coastal towns offer to the 

beauty of our rural villages.  

 

Investment from new development will secure wider public realm 

infrastructure, from trees providing shade and cooling in our 

towns and village centres to new routes that make cycling and 

walking natural choices.  

 

Our residents will live in healthy, safe and cohesive communities; 

in homes which are [sustainably] designed to a higher quality 

and improve sense of place but also meet their need, especially 

those looking for smaller homes.  

 

 

We want to deliver this vision co-operatively in consultation with everyone who has a 

stake in our area. We want to include our community partners, Parishes and Town 

councils, supported by policies in this Local Plan and our powers as a local planning 

authority. Most of all we want you to love living in our area. 

 

Proposed Aims for our Local Plan 

The following section sets out our aims for this plan: 

 

[A RESPONSE TO] CLIMATE CHANGE – We want to future-proof our 

communities by supporting action on climate change and aid the transition to 

net zero through a combination of mitigation and adaptation measures.  

Ensuring that, where possible, new development is designed to reduce car 

use by increasing the use of the most sustainable transport modes – walking 

and cycling through new cycleways and walkways that link our village and 

settlements.  

Supporting a low carbon circular economy/principle; maximising energy 

efficiency of new and existing development will help to realise long-term 

reductions in energy use and carbon emissions as well as support the health 

and well-being of our communities through improved air quality.  

Working in partnership with other agencies, we also want to guard against the 

risk of flooding and coastal erosion and improve the water quality of our rivers; 

by ensuring that new development is appropriately located and retains and 

enhances flood defences through river restoration works.  

 

Page 200



 

25 

HOMES FOR ALL / [Accommodating population growth] – within our 

constrained plan area housing will be tailored to respond to population growth 

and provide access to a wide range and mix of high-quality housing. This will 

include genuinely affordable homes that meet the varying needs of our 

population, including the needs of those from all age groups at different stages 

of life, families and those with a requirement for specialist housing. 

Ensuring the right size, right type and tenure in the right locations will provide 

a choice of housing for people, enabling families and individuals to both settle 

and remain rooted in their local area. 

 

 

[A THRIVING LOCAL] ECONOMY – We see our town and local centres as 

being the focus for community activity.  

Investing to support growth in retail, tourism, business and cultural activities; 

this will not only increase local job and business opportunities but help to 

tackle the inequalities that exist in our plan area by providing local people of all 

ages the jobs that allow them to remain here.  

Supporting measures to build on the diverse economy of the plan area and 

build our community’s wealth. Allowing the economy to thrive and adapt to 

changing economic challenges and arising opportunities - from taking 

advantage of the opportunities offered by Newhaven Enterprise zone to 

strengthening our coastal towns’ economies and rural centres - through 

enabling a quality environment and flexible mix of uses.  

Protecting land for commercial use within [neighbourhoods] and seeking 

contributions to employment and skills support programmes will help increase 

the variety and number of jobs available locally. 

 

 

[OUR NATURAL ENVIRONMENT] BIODIVERSITY AND GREEN SPACES – 

We want new development to enhance and deliver biodiversity net gains 

rather than detrimentally impact on our environmental assets including 

designated national sites, landscape character, water quality and biodiversity.  

Supporting opportunities to increase and improve the ecological quality of 

open space and multi-functional green infrastructure, the retention of existing 

trees and the planting of more trees. Good development links to and upgrades 

existing green spaces, improves access for new and existing residents as well 

as delivering green spaces closer to where people live in our towns and 

villages.  

 

  

Page 201



 

26 

[SUPPORTING] COMMUNITY HEALTH AND WELLBEING – Places we 

create will encourage and allow people to pursue active and healthy lifestyles 

irrespective of their age or ability.  

Encouraging the principles of healthy lifestyle in the design of the built 

environment will contribute to improving our residents’ health and wellbeing 

and reduce health inequalities.  

Expecting new development to create an environment that encourages and 

enables people to take advantage of our coast, rivers and South Downs 

landscape and other leisure assets; using these outdoor opportunities to 

promote healthier living and reduce inequalities in health and wellbeing.  

 

 

[PUTTING IN PLACE THE] INFRASTRUCTURE – Development will be 

supported by the necessary physical, social and green and blue infrastructure 

to meet people’s current and future needs. We want the infrastructure to be in 

the right places; built at the right time to serve our communities’ needs for 

education, health, energy, water and transport, as well as the digital 

infrastructure for the 21st century.  

Continuing in our role to co-ordinate investment to secure the timely delivery of 

new infrastructure, including through CIL and planning contributions; we will 

work with East Sussex County Council and transport providers to increase 

public transport capacity and accessibility as well as improved facilities for 

pedestrians and cyclists between our towns and villages.  

 

[CREATING] ATTRACTIVE AND DISTINCT PLACES – We want our 

residents [communities] to take pride in the place(s) they live and work in – 

whether that is in the coastal towns or the rural villages and settlements.  

Working with our stakeholders to create and maintain distinctive local places 

which respond positively and value, through excellent design of buildings and 

the public realm, our heritage, identity, cultural [tourist] assets, and the natural 

environment. Jobs close to homes locally will not only help develop and 

sustain the unique character of our villages and towns but will ensure their 

long-term economic prosperity. 

 

  

Page 202



 

27 

C. Key facts about our Plan Area  
 

INFOGRAPHIC ON KEY FACTS ABOUT OUR DISTRICT/PLAN AREA  
 

 1 
People and 

Communities 

Total population 99,905 

Villages/towns 

Total Settlements - 16:  

Towns - 3: 

Rural Service Centres – 2:  

Service Villages - 4: 

Local Villages - 4:  

Hamlets - 3. *PLAN AREA* 

Deprivation 
Proportion of LSOAs in most 

deprived 10% nationally - 195. 

Gender 
Females: 51,800 (51.9%);  

Males: 48,100 (48.1%).  

2 Environment 

Household waste 

recycled 

Residual household waste per 

household (kg/household) - 449.3: 

Percentage of household waste 

sent for reuse, recycling or 

composting - 39.8%. 

Parks and open 

spaces 

Average distance to nearest open 

space (m) - 442.16: 

Average size of nearest open 

space (m2) - 34,053:  

Average no. of open spaces within 

1km - 4.  

SNCI, SSSI, SANGs, 

SACs LWS 

SSSI - 16: Nature reserves - 4: 

Sussex Wildlife Trust sites - 4: 

SANG - 1: SAC - 2. 

water courses/ rivers 1 River - Ouse 

3 
Culture and 

Heritage 

Number of listed 

buildings 
1,269 

Page 203



 

28 

conservation areas 15 *PLAN AREA* 

libraries 

3 Libraries - Peacehaven, 

Newhaven and Seaford *PLAN 

AREA* 

Theatres / museums 

/ battle grounds? 

4 Theatres and Theatre Groups 

*PLAN AREA* 

4 Education 

Number of schools 

rated ‘good’ or 

‘outstanding’ 

22 (81% of total primary and 

secondary schools) *PLAN AREA* 

number continuing 

post 16 education 
4,330 

Number of post-16 

apprenticeships  
510 

5 
Health and 

Care 

Physically active 

adults (expressed as 

% of total adults) 

73% - Lewes 

Meeting their '5-a-

day' (expressed as 

% of total adults) 

61% - Lewes 

 Life expectancy – 

female / male 
84 - Female: 80 - Male. 

  

Number of residents 

in employment aged 

16 and over March 

2021 

44,507 

Number of business 

enterprises 

(September 2022) 

4,350 

% of residents 

unemployed, 

employed 

3% unemployment rate 

7 Transport 

Number of train 

stations in the plan 

area 

4 *PLAN AREA* 

% of adults aged 16 

and over engaging in 

cycling or walking 

14.6% cycle once per month: 

49.1% walk at least 10 minutes 

three times per week  

Page 204



 

29 

Method of travel to 

work (expressed as 

% of cell D24) 

WFH - 35.3%: Train - 2.3%: Other 

Rail - 0.1%: Bus - 4.6%: Taxi - 

0.2%: Motorised Cycle - 0.5%: 

Driving - 44.2%: Passenger - 3%: 

Cycle - 1.4%: Walk - 7.5%: Other - 

1% 

Distance travelled to 

work (expressed as 

% of cell D24) 

WFH - 35.3%: Less than 10km - 

25.2%: 10km to 30km - 18.7%: 

30km and over - 4.2%: Other - 

16.5% 

Cars owned (hybrid 

expressed as % of 

total) 

51,100 cars total - 2,200 (4%) 

Hybrid Electric 

8 Housing 

Number in the 

District 
43,700 

households living in 

social housing 
4,774 

number living in 

private sector 

dwellings** 

7,431 

Figure 7: Key Facts About Our Plan Area 

  

Page 205



 

30 

D. Consultation questions 
 

This consultation seeks your views on whether we have chosen the right policy 

directions to respond to each of the plan themes. Under each theme we ask whether 

we have chosen the right policies and whether there are any other policies you think 

should be included within that theme. We also ask you why you think extra policies 

should be included so that we can start to understand how best to address those 

comments.  Some of the themes have specific questions in relation to the policy 

directions. For clarity, we have set out all of the consultation questions below 

although they are repeated at the start of each theme in this consultation document. 

 

Vision and aims 

▪ What are your views on the proposed vision and aims?  

▪ Is there an alternative vision or aims (or parts of) that we should be considering? 

 

Spatial Strategy 

▪ Do you agree that the proposed range identified to determine the housing 

requirement is the correct approach? If not, please explain why. 

▪ Do you think there is an alternative settlement hierarchy that we should consider? 

If so, what is it? 

  

Climate Theme 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included to respond to Climate 

Change?  Why do you think they should they be included? 

▪ Should the new local plan require minimisation of and compensation for the loss 

of carbon sequestration, and if so, how should off site compensation be 

addressed? 

 

Natural Environment Theme 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included to protect and 

enhance our natural environment? Why do you think they should they be 

included? 

▪ Do you think the policy direction for Green and Blue infrastructure is the right 

one? If not, please identify how it can be changed and why? 

▪ Do you think the policy direction for Biodiversity is the right approach? If not 

please identify how it can be changed and why? 

▪ Should the local plan consider preparing an urban greening policy which requires 

a minimum level of greening on a development site? 

 

Homes for Everyone Theme 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included to meet housing 

needs? Why do you think they should they be included? 

Page 206



 

31 

 

▪ Do you agree with the emphasis on securing two-bedroom homes through new 

development and retaining smaller homes in the housing stock?  If not, please 

explain why. 

▪ Do you agree with the affordable housing policy direction that is being set in the 

Affordable Housing policy? If not, please identify how it could be changed. 

▪ Do you agree with prioritising rented affordable tenures over affordable home 

ownership tenures? If not, please explain why you think different tenure 

proportions should be sought. 

▪ Can you identify specific sites that could accommodate Gypsies and Travellers?  

If you can identify a site, please submit it to our call for sites using the form on the 

consultation portal. 

 

Economy and Regeneration Theme 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included to meet economic 

and regeneration needs? Why do you think they should they be included? 

▪ Do you agree with the policy direction for employment and economic 

development? What other issues should the policy consider? 

▪ Do you agree with our policy direction relating to retail and leisure? If not, what 

would you change and why? 

 

Infrastructure and Community Facilities Theme 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included to meet the need for 

infrastructure and community facilities? Why do you think they should they be 

included? 

▪ Should there be a separate policy on resisting the loss of playing pitches? 

• Should a design-led policy for parking standards be progressed and included in 

the next version of the local plan? 

• How should we seek to manage cycle hire schemes to encourage the modal shift 

but at the same time avoid their potential for cluttering the street scene?  

 

Design, Landscape and Built Environment Theme 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included to guide Design, 

Landscape and the Built Environment? Why do you think they should they be 

included? 

▪ Do you agree with the proposed policy directions that are being considered for 

further development? Are there alternatives that we should be looking at? 

▪ Do you think that having concept masterplans for all residential development sites 

would assist in bringing forward sites and retain the design quality of the 

development? If yes, what stage of the plan should these be prepared and 

agreed? 

 

Page 207



 

32 

Water Theme 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included to respond to water 

resources and water management? Why do you think they should they be 

included? 

▪ Should the water quality policy specify standards for development for intensive 

livestock production? 

▪ Should the new local plan continue with the existing policy approach set out in 

Policy DM18: Recreation and Rivers or go further and consider specific locations 

for recreational uses, and other, or more specific areas/water bodies. 

 

  

Page 208



 

33 

E. Developing a spatial strategy in response to 

climate change and other challenges 
 

What development do we have to plan for? 

Our commitment to tackling climate change, which is the single greatest challenge of 

our time is set out in our Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy. Development 

is, and will continue to be, one of the biggest influences on climate change. We want 

to use the planning system and the new Local Plan as a vehicle to shape our 

response to it, for example by encouraging carbon resilient design and protecting our 

valued natural environment.  At the same time, we need to seek to meet our 

development needs through sustainable development in our plan area. All growth, 

therefore, must maintain or improve the quality of our communities – both new and 

existing.  

 

The government’s presumption in favour of sustainable development4 means that our 

Local Plan must help to facilitate new development that seeks to meet identified 

needs over the plan period. The council, as the local planning authority, must 

therefore plan positively through the Local Plan to meet these identified needs. This 

includes planning for housing, workspaces, space to accommodate town centre uses, 

office space and industrial uses and other land uses. However, we want to do this in 

a manner that balances and minimises our environmental impacts and takes account 

of the different roles and character of our area. 

 

Housing Need 

National policy requires that a Local Plan should plan for a fifteen year period 

following adoption.5 We anticipate our new Local Plan being adopted in 2025 in 

accordance with the Local Development Scheme. The NPPF also requires local 

planning authorities to meet their full need for both market and affordable housing as 

far as is consistent with other policies in the Framework.  

 

National Planning Policy requires that to determine the minimum number of homes, 

Local Plans should be informed by a local housing needs assessment, conducted 

using the Standard Method in national planning guidance.6 Our Local Housing Needs 

 
4 See Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2023 
5 NPPF 2023, Paragraph 22 
6 The Standard Method is the government’s algorithm or calculating housing need, Local Planning 
authorities are expected to determine their housing needs, using this algorithm unless there are 
exceptional circumstances.  
The government also consulted in December 2022 on making the LHN an advisory starting point for 
plan-making. However, any housing number put forward is still required to be based on evidence and 
to be tested by the Planning Inspectorate at Examination. There are examples of Local Plans planning 
for a lower level of housing than their identified housing need which have been adopted following 
Examination. A recent example is Worthing, which adopted its local plan earlier this year.  

Page 209

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/article/1630/Lewes-district-climate-change-and-sustainability
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1182995/NPPF_Sept_23.pdf
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/media/1090/Lewes-Local-Development-Scheme/pdf/Lewes_Local_Development_Scheme.pdf?m=638259626046230000
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1182995/NPPF_Sept_23.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1182995/NPPF_Sept_23.pdf


 

34 

Assessment (LHNA, 2023)7, based on the Standard Method using the 2014 

household projections as required by Government guidance8, generates an average 

‘annual housing need’ of 602 dwellings for our plan area. This equates to 12,040 

homes for the plan area over the twenty-year plan period from 2020 to 2040.9 The 

Economic Needs Assessment does not require us to consider a higher number of 

homes to plan for because of economic growth projections over that generated by 

the Standard Method 

 

Alternatives to national policy for determining housing need 

 

We know that our plan area is constrained10 in terms of landscape impact, flood risk 

and infrastructure especially transport, and as such we have looked at the 

appropriateness of using an alternative to the government's Standard Methodology 

for identifying our housing need. We have looked at three potential alternatives to the 

government’s standard methodology. These are: 

▪ Calculating housing need using the 2018 household projections in the 

Standard Methodology formula. 

▪ Calculating housing need using the available Census 2021 dataset in the 

Standard Methodology formula.  

▪ Testing the appropriateness of planning at the adopted local plan 

requirement level 275 dwellings per annum for the plan area. 

 

Through the LHNA we have tested the level of housing need using the 2018 

household projections.  This results in a housing need of 397dpa (7,940 over plan 

period) rather than 602dpa in the plan area.11 We have also, through the LHNA, 

considered the Census 2021 population or dwelling stock data for calculating housing 

need.  The Census 2021 results in a housing need figure of 574dpa or 11,480 over 

the plan period. 

 

However, since the full Census 2021 data is scheduled for release only in mid-2024, 

calculating housing need on the basis of the available Census 2021 data when 

combined with a lack of clarity from government as to how it will implement changes 

to the Standard Methodology, carries a higher risk to the Local Plan than using the 

2014 projections.12 

 

 
7 AECOM, Local Housing Needs Assessment, 2023; Economic Needs Assessment, 2022 
8 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments 
9 Standard Method is set out in National Planning Policy Guidance. The 2014 household projections 
were published in autumn 2016. While the Local Plan covers a 20 year period (2020-2040), from the 
adoption (in 2025) to the end of the Plan period (2040) will be 15 years.  
10 see Landscape Character Assessment, Landscape Sensitivity Study, Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment 
11 The 2018 projections are closest to the Census 2021 data as released, hence their relevance in 
being tested through the LHNA. 
12 We may revisit this once full dataset and changes to Standard Method have been implemented.  

Page 210



 

35 

The government, in its December 2022 consultation, made clear that for the time 

being, the methodology set out in national Planning Policy Guidance would continue 

to use the 2014 based household projections. 

 

Additionally, the current minimum level of identified housing need for the plan period 

(602 dwellings per annum) is a much higher level of housing to be delivered than we 

have either historically planned for or been able to deliver. To put this in context 

following independent examination13, our adopted Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 

set a housing requirement of 345 dwellings for the whole of the district including the 

South Downs National Park area. This was subsequently revised to 275 dwellings per 

annum for our plan area (i.e. excluding the area inside the national park).14  

 

The challenge of meeting the Standard Method (602dpa) figure is not to be 

understated when considering delivery rates against the adopted Local Plan; an 

average annual delivery rate for 2010 to 2023 was approximately 250 net housing 

completions. Even the 536 net additional housing completions in 2022/23, which 

were the highest annual level to date, has been unable to deliver at the Standard 

Method target. Figure 8 sets out our net delivery rate over the adopted Local Plan 

period to 2023. 

  

Figure 8: Historic Housing Delivery Rates 

 
Figure 8: Historic Housing Delivery Rates 

 

The rate of housing delivery within the Plan area is largely controlled by the 

development industry.  The rate at which developers deliver sites is influenced by 

 
13 The Inspector in his report Inspectors Final Report (lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk) agreed with this level 

of housing need. See Paragraphs 20 to 31. 
14 Lewes District Council, Approach to Local Housing Need, May 2021 

Page 211

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/media/1718/Adopted-Joint-Core-Strategy-2016/pdf/Adopted_Joint_Core_Strategy_2016.pdf?m=638180377206470000
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/media/1716/Inspectors-Final-Report-March-2016/pdf/Inspectors_Final_Report_March_2016.pdf?m=638180377199700000
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/media/1716/Inspectors-Final-Report-March-2016/pdf/Inspectors_Final_Report_March_2016.pdf?m=638180377199700000
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/media/2499/Approach-to-Calculating-Local-Housing-Need-for-purposes-of-Five-Year-Housing-Land-Supply/pdf/Approach_to_Calculating_Local_Housing_Need_for_purposes_of_Five_Year_Housing_Land_Supply.pdf?m=638203712733670000


 

36 

local and national market conditions, potential market saturation, availability of 

development land, funding and government support, changes to national planning 

policy, the current state of the economy, supply chain challenges, the availability of 

workers, interest rates and the costs of borrowing.  

 

While we seek to plan positively to establish whether housing delivery can be 

increased, in considering our historic delivery rate, the supporting evidence informing 

the Local Plan, and our limited ability to influence the rate of housing delivery, 

alongside the significant challenges faced nationally in seeking to increase the rate of 

housing delivery, it is unlikely that the gap between the level of identified need and 

delivery rates can be closed. This means some very difficult choices and, potentially 

a new approach to planning and delivering development will be needed if the full 

needs are to be met through the new Local Plan. 

 

Towards setting a Housing Target 

The scale of change required to increase delivery across our area is very significant. 

To achieve this, both a sufficient amount and variety of land has to come forward 

where it is needed to address the specific needs of different groups and for 

development on land with planning permission to not be unduly delayed. 

 

Our plan will seek to ensure that a continuous supply of land for housing over the 

plan period is made available by drawing on several sources. These include: 

▪ Completions – the new plan period overlaps with the previous plan period 

and account therefore needs to be taken of dwellings that have been 

completed.  

▪ Remaining allocations and commitments – sites which are allocated in the 

previous local plan and are being taken forward through the new Local 

Plan, neighbourhood plan allocations and sites where permission has been 

granted but the development not yet built. 

▪ Windfall sites - Sites that have not been permitted or specifically allocated 

for development, and unexpectedly become available for development 

during the Plan period. 

▪ New sites allocations in the new Local Plan – sites which have been 

assessed through the LAA as being suitable for allocation. 

 

Housing Supply at March 2023 

Table 1 shows the land supply position at 31 March 2023. There have been a 

significant number of completions and commitments through the grant of planning 

permission since 2020, together with a windfall allowance that can be deducted from 

the total housing need figure.  

 

Table 1: Existing sources of supply 

Page 212



 

37 

 Supply Source Net Number 

of Homes 

A Total Target15 12,040 

 Existing Supply:  

B Completions (2020-2023) 1,118 

C Allocations Commitments (unimplemented 

planning permissions) 5YHLS 

1,790 

D Remaining Allocations and Commitments16 1,503 

E Windfall Allowance  588 

F Total existing supply 4,999 

G Residual Amount = A–F 7,041 
Table 1: Existing sources of supply 

Windfall sites17 

The NPPF states that ‘windfall sites’ should be supported through Local Plan ‘policies 

and decisions – giving great weight to the benefit of using suitable sites within 

existing settlements for homes’.18 Sites which make up the small sites windfall 

element of the supply typically comprise homes from change of use, residential 

conversions and/or extensions, non-residential redevelopment (permitted 

development) and residential redevelopment.  

 

Our assessment of the contribution likely to be made from windfall sites, based on 

past trends, shows that windfall developments have clearly played a role in the 

supply of small sites for housing. It shows an average of 42 dwellings being 

completed on small sites per annum between 2011/12 and 2020/21. However, it is 

not possible to identify these in advance as they fall below the size or capacity 

thresholds for inclusion in the Land Availability Assessment and allocation for 

development. Where such development proposals are put forward, we will look to 

support them where they are in accordance with the other Local Plan policies. At 

present, there is no evidence to suggest that these types of sites will not be available 

over the plan period.  

 

The government’s introduction and proposed further expansion of Permitted 

Development rights will potentially result in even more opportunities for developers to 

bring forward this type of ad-hoc residential development. Therefore, there is no 

reason to revise forecasts downwards.  The anticipated contribution from windfall will 

continue to be reviewed annually. 

  

 
15 This is the Housing Need identified in the LHNA 2023,   
16 Supply sites which are likely to come forward from Year 6 of the Plan period but over which there is 
less certainty.  
17 These are sites which are not specifically identified in the development plan but are expected to 
come forward through the development control process in accordance with policies set out in the Local 
Plan and through the use of permitted rights. 
18 NPPF 2023, Paragraph 69 

Page 213

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1182995/NPPF_Sept_23.pdf


 

38 

Future supply 

Taking the above sources of supply into account leaves a residual19 housing amount 

that will need to be planned for through new allocations in order to meet the 

Government’s standard method annual target of 602 new dwellings over the plan 

period. There also needs to be some flexibility to allow for phasing issues and for an 

element of non-delivery. We will seek to meet as much of this residual need as 

possible given the ecological, environmental, national policy and land constraints. 

 

The Land Availability Assessment (LAA) is a key piece of evidence informing the 

Local Plan options for meeting housing need. It provides the mechanism through 

which the quantity and suitability of land potentially available for housing 

development is determined. The LAA identifies a potential capacity of approximately 

4,053 dwellings from new sites, out of which only an approximate 413 dwellings are 

assessed as ‘Deliverable20 or Developable21’ sites at this stage.  

 

For sites that currently fall within the ‘potential’ category, additional evidence to 

determine their ‘deliverability’ as well as the capacity will be required before they can 

be considered for allocation. Sites within this potential category, which are assessed 

as not being deliverable or developable may result in a further reduction from this 

supply source that can be considered for /allocation through the draft Local Plan.  

 

Table 2 sets out the supply from the LAA source and the residual need once this is 

factored into the supply. 

 

Table 2: Supply from new sites identified in the LAA 

 Supply Source Approx. Net 

Number of Homes 

 LAA sources:  

H Deliverable or Developable Sites 

(LAA) 

413 

I Potentially Deliverable or 

Developable Sites (LAA) 

3,745 

J Total LAA sites supply 4,158 

K Residual Need Amount = A–(F+J) 2,883 
Table 2: Supply from new sites identified in the LAA 

 

 
19 Residual housing calculated by deducting the total supply from the housing target  
20 The NPPF Glossary says: ‘To be considered deliverable, sites for housing should be available now, 

offer a suitable location for development now, and be achievable with a realistic prospect that housing 
will be delivered on the site within 5 years…’ 
21 The NPPF Glossary says: To be considered developable, sites should be in a suitable location for 
housing development with a reasonable prospect that they will be available and could be viably 
developed at the point envisaged. 

Page 214

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-2-glossary
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-2-glossary


 

39 

Capacity for development in existing area 

National planning policy expects a proactive approach to site identification to be 

taken in the preparation of Local Plans. The Development Capacity Study (DCS) 

seeks to fulfil this role. It assesses the possible supply of land within the built-up 

areas of our settlements in addition to what has been assessed in the Land 

Availability Assessment. 

 

While it identifies sites with development potential, it is the Local Plan that sets out 

the locations for development, which will be managed and assessed through the 

development management process.  

 

The DCS is based on the best available knowledge and is a snapshot of capacity and 

any constraints, based on a desktop exercise, at the time of writing (Sept 2023). 

Assumptions about the availability, suitability and viability of land to help contribute 

towards supply have been high-level and will need to be carried out in detail.  

 

A total of twelve additional potential development sites were identified within or 

adjacent to the top tier settlements of Newhaven, Seaford, Peacehaven & 

Telscombe, Newick and Ringmer and key transport hubs in the plan area. 

Cumulatively, these sites have a theoretical capacity of approximately 208 dwellings 

which may contribute towards the overall housing supply. Table 4 details the 

contribution from this source towards the housing need. 

 

Information on these sites is likely to change over time and will be further refined as 

more detailed information for the sites becomes available. The DCS will be updated 

to reflect any changes to inform future iterations of the Local Plan as needed.   

 
Table 3: Development Capacity Study identified potential sites  

 Supply Source Approx. Number 

of Homes 

L DCS potential sources supply 208 

M Residual Need Amount = A–(F+J+L) 2,675 
Table 3: Development Capacity Study Potential Sites 

 

Taking all of the supply together means that, at this stage we are only able to identify 

a lower theoretical housing land supply than the housing need under the standard 

method from the above supply sources.  

 

Delivering new housing in a managed way 

New development will inevitably lead to pressures on existing natural resources, 

infrastructure and services. The Local Plan needs to strike a balance between the 

need for new homes and the impacts resulting from any new development. Planning 

for new development, gives us a greater ability to secure funding from development 

and design schemes to mitigate impacts.  

Commented [MH1]: Updated 

Page 215



 

40 

 

In order to ensure that the scale and location of proposed growth has been informed 

by carefully considering the evidence, the negative and positive impacts of this 

growth and its contribution to social, economic and environmental objectives, it is 

more appropriate to express the requirement as a range rather than a single figure at 

this stage of our plan-making. We consider that the range for the housing 

requirement would fall between approximately 5,412 (271dpa) and approximately 

9,365 (468dpa).The lower end of this range is derived by the lower level of supply 

(i.e. supply from Rows F & H, (Tables 1 and 2).  The upper end of this range also 

includes supply from sites that are currently assessed as potential (i.e. Rows F, J & L 

in Tables 1, 2 and 3 above).  

 

Taking such an approach will allow us to continue to investigate how we can seek to 

accommodate our housing need and the potential constraints to development which 

we need to take account of within our Plan area and set a single definitive figure for 

the scheduled draft Local Plan consultation in spring 2024. 

 

Therefore, while proactively seeking sustainable locations for growth though our call 

for sites, which will allow new development to be delivered in a coherent and well 

managed manner, we are continuing to test issues like: 

▪ Impacts on landscape, environment, air quality, flood risk and water supply, 

and the cumulative impact of development on landscape 

character/sensitivity. 

▪ Impacts on services and critical infrastructure, particularly constraints 

related to highways infrastructure capacity. 

▪ Ability of the market to absorb new housing, especially with regards to 

market saturation in parts of the plan area.  

▪ The capacity of potential development sites in the existing urban areas. 

▪ Appropriate densities for potential new developments based on the 

character of the surrounding areas and the types of housing needed. 

▪ The viability of new development in the area, and the implications for the 

delivery of local housing needs.  

▪ Any further constraints to development in the area such as environmental 

designations and pollution. 

 

This further Local Plan evidence work will comprehensively assess the ability of the 

Plan area to accommodate housing needs by maximising the development capacity 

of the area within the limits of the constraints that exist.   

 

Additionally, through the Issues and Options consultation, you told us that you had 

concerns about infrastructure including transport, healthcare, education, landscape, 

flood risk and air and water quality. These and other issues may mean that we need 

to phase development. This would see the Local Plan allocate a larger number of 

Page 216



 

41 

homes to be built later in the plan period allowing for the infrastructure required to be 

delivered by the time new homes are occupied.  

 

Other Development Needs 

While the delivery of housing is a key aim of this Local Plan, planning for other land 

uses such as renewable energy generation, land for biodiversity off-setting, carbon 

sequestration, community and leisure facilities, and commercial/industrial spaces is 

also within the scope of this Local Plan and we will plan for these needs as well. 

 

Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation 

Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople are recognised as ethnic groups and 

are protected from discrimination by the Equality Act 2010. We are required to 

assess and plan for their specific needs for cultural appropriate accommodation. 

 

The need is identified through the East Sussex Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 

Showpeople Accommodation Needs Assessment (May 2022). The need for our area 

over the plan period is for six pitches to meet the needs of those that meet the ethnic 

definition of Gypsies and Travellers.  We are required to identify land for enough sites 

for Gypsies and Travellers that meet the definition set out in the national Planning 

Policy for traveller sites (2015).  For Gypsies and Travellers that meet the planning 

definition, three pitches are required over the plan period. 

 

Employment 

We want our towns and villages to sustain their services and continue to be the great 

places people live and work in. Hence our approach is to support sustainable 

economic growth. We want to promote and enhance the economic offer of our area. 

We want our residents to be able to have the suitable jobs and employment 

opportunities within our plan area.  

 

The Economic Needs Assessment (ENA) details the demand for employment space 

in our plan area in order to meet the needs of existing, as well as new, businesses.22 

It identifies 39 employment clusters, ranging from small (under 500sqm) to large 

(over 2000sqm) units, as well as their quality. The ENA also concludes that while 

most of these clusters are performing well, potential opportunities to either intensify 

and/or redevelop exist in certain cases.  The ENA’s recommendation is that no new 

site allocations are needed for employment and instead ‘well-performing’ sites 

should be protected.   

 

To ensure that a range of employment sites and premises are available, we will seek 

through this local plan (principally through Policy E1) to safeguard existing 

employment sites, mainly located in Newhaven, and encourage their intensification. 

 
22 Employment space relates to office an industrial use classes 

Page 217



 

42 

The delivery of new spaces through mixed use allocations, where they support 

existing communities, and are supported by consultation respondents, may also help 

to meet the modest demand that has been identified.  

 

Retail 

We know from anecdotal evidence that what happens in our town centres is changing 

with the growth of on-line shopping, ‘click and collect’ and the behavioural changes 

engendered as a consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. We, therefore, 

commissioned a Retail and Leisure Study23 for the whole of the district (including the 

planning area covered by the South Downs National Park). This recommends a 

tiered retail hierarchy approach should be developed to deliver the forecasted retail 

uses for the plan period to 2040. 

 

Given their important roles in the lives of our residents, we will need to positively 

support the growth, management and adaptation of our town and local centres. We 

need to ensure that alongside new development, the existing stock of premises has a 

role in accommodating the identified need. Our retail centres will need to service the 

changing habits and needs of our communities and visitors as well encourage people 

to shop locally rather than travelling further afield to Brighton or Eastbourne. The 

policy direction that we consider will help us meet the level of retail need that the 

evidence identifies is set out in Policy E6: Retail and Town Centres. 

 

Additionally, in accordance with National Planning Policy, the Local Plan confirms the 

hierarchy of centres and will direct development appropriately to them. This will 

ensure that the vitality and viability of our high streets, and town/local centres is 

maintained over the plan period. 

  

 
23 AECOM, 2023, Retail and Leisure Study  

Page 218



 

43 

 

F.  The Plan Themes 
 

Theme: Development strategy [responding to 

Climate Change] 
 

Aim: The development strategy sets out the locations where development may take 

place to help meet the identified need, as well as the supporting infrastructure 

 

 

Which Policies Are We Proposing?  

The following policies are being proposed under this theme: 

 

SDS 1: A spatial development strategy approach 

SDS 2: Settlement Hierarchy  

SDS 3: Settlement Boundary 

 

Consultation Questions for Spatial Strategy 

▪ Do you agree that the proposed range identified to determine the housing 

requirement is the correct approach? If not, please explain why. 

▪ Do you think there is an alternative settlement hierarchy that we should consider? 

If so, what is it? 

 

 

  

Page 219



 

44 

Strategic Policy SDS1: A spatial development strategy approach 

 

Objectives 

The overarching spatial strategy will be central to delivering the vision and aims for 

the Plan area to 2040 and will inform the preparation of neighbourhood plans. 

 

In setting out the long-term planning strategy for directing growth, our development 

strategy for the area will recognise our environmental constraints, the availability of 

land for development, the viability of development and the need to balance such 

matters against supporting the local economy and seeking to meet local housing 

need, including for affordable housing. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction  

The policy will seek to direct development to locations that are the most sustainable, 

which is often brownfield land within existing settlements. It will seek to protect and 

enhance nature, address the impacts of climate change and help deliver many of the 

Council’s wider aspirations.  

 

Depending on where in the range (level of development) the Local Plan seeks to plan 

for, and drawing on our evidence and consultation feedback, our approach will be a 

blended strategy meeting the needs of our diverse area, responding to issues in the 

plan area and reflecting the sources of land supply. At present influences on the 

emerging spatial strategy include: 

▪ A strong commitment to reducing climate change impacts, locating homes 

and jobs close to each other and where active and sustainable travel can 

be maximised. 

▪ Making the best use of brownfield land; especially previously developed 

land in the built areas. 

▪ Supporting economic growth within the plan area. 

▪ Supporting rural communities to thrive and sustaining local services. 

▪ Increasing the supply of affordable homes.  

▪ Supporting growth in locations which support or maximise the capacity of 

existing infrastructure and provide opportunities for new infrastructure. 

▪ Achieving a high-quality environment – balancing the protection of our 

natural landscapes, heritage, and watercourses with meeting our social 

and development needs. 

▪ National policy requirements and other plans and strategies affecting the 

area. 

▪ Governments principles of sustainable development. 

 

A potential blended approach to spatial development is illustrated through the 

diagram in Figure 9. 

 

Page 220



 

45 

 

Figure 9: Spatial Development Approach 

 

 
Figure 9: Spatial Development Approach 

 

We are scheduled to consult on our Draft Local Plan in spring 2024. The locations 

identified in the Draft Local Plan will be our preferred locations for new development 

to meet our social responsibility for providing housing (including affordable housing, 

improve access to jobs services and facilities, and achieve a high-quality 

environment whilst addressing climate change to create resilient and adaptive 

environments.  For this reason, the final spatial strategy will need to ensure that it 

maximises the contribution from appropriate previously developed land within the 

existing built-up area, locations which maximise existing infrastructure capacity or 

Page 221



 

46 

support delivery of new key infrastructure. Greenfield land in the most sustainable 

locations adjacent to existing built-up areas will also have to be included to meet the 

assessed development need.  

 

Alongside looking at the best locations for new homes, and safeguarding 

employment locations, we want to set out locations where our area’s habitat networks 

can be restored and where new green and blue spaces can be created to help 

improve the health and wellbeing of our communities as well as our natural 

environment. This may mean that sites are identified for the provision of this 

infrastructure or that the green/blue infrastructure is delivered as part of a wider 

development site. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

The many distinctive places in our plan area give it its unique character and identity. 

Communities in our plan area take pride in their neighbourhoods, and the new Local 

Plan can help steer the right development to ensure they continue to be places that 

people are proud of and want to live in. 

 

Climate change has, internationally, been recognised as the single most pressing 

environmental challenge of our time. It impacts on the council’s activities and how we 

meet the needs of all residents in the plan area. At the heart of our spatial strategy is 

a commitment to responding to the climate and nature emergencies that we declared 

and to deliver sustainable placemaking in which people want to live in. 

 

The NPPF24 indicates that the efficient use of land is a priority and that planning 

policies should support development that makes efficient use of land. The strategy 

will also need to have regard to the sustainability of the location and character and 

amenities of the location’s surroundings. Densities that will be achieved in the area 

will reflect the diversity of our settlements. Higher densities will be sought in locations 

in higher order settlements as identified in the Settlement Hierarchy Study. 

  

The Issues and Options consultation document included broad options for growth 

which the council considered could be approaches to accommodating growth in the 

plan area. Six options for residential growth were included. The six strategic growth 

options were: 

▪ Option 1: Intensification of development within the coastal towns 

▪ Option 2: Further outward expansion of Newhaven and Peacehaven 

▪ Option 3: Urban extensions to Burgess Hill and Haywards Heath 

▪ Option 4: Focussing growth on the most sustainable villages in the Low Weald 

▪ Option 5: Disperse growth across all villages in the Low Weald. 

▪ Option 6: A new settlement within the Low Weald 

 

 
24  NPPF Paragraphs 119 and 120 

Page 222

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1182995/NPPF_Sept_23.pdf


 

47 

Through the Issues and Options consultation document the advantages and 

disadvantages of each option were set out and we asked for views on each of the 

options. We also said it was likely that on their own each option would potentially not 

be enough, and it would be a combination of the options that would make up the 

spatial strategy. While there were varying levels of support for each option.  Such a 

response is not uncommon, particularly when issues concerning the possible 

locations of new growth are involved. 

 

We have now considered, in further detail, each of these options and a high-level 

assessment considering national planning policy. The extensive research and 

technical studies which make up our evidence base is also informing our 

understanding of the potential contribution of each of the spatial options towards 

developing a preferred spatial strategy. 

 

The following section provides further information on each of the six options and the 

potential amount of development that could come forward were the option included in 

the final spatial strategy. Where options are similar, an element of duplication in the 

sites/yield is to be expected. 

 

Spatial Option 1: Intensification of development within the coastal towns 

Under this option housing development would be located within the coastal towns of 

the plan area. Using the existing built-up area, re-using brownfield land, and 

increasing the density of development where possible within the coastal towns in the 

plan area.25 

What you told us 

Generally, a positive response to this strategic option was received through the 

Issues and Options consultation. Many of these positive comments were supportive 

of the approach as it would focus development on the settlements which have the 

best level of services and facilities. 

 

Comments in particular considered this option as providing a host of opportunities for 

regenerating the coastal towns and bringing economic prosperity to these areas. This 

option was also considered to give greater protection of the rural landscape 

especially within the South Downs National Park, countryside and wildlife, preserving 

agricultural land and minimising the need to develop on greenfield land.  

What does this option look like? 

A high-level analysis of the option suggests that it is consistent with the preferred 

settlement hierarchy which seeks to focus development on the most sustainable 

settlements. It should therefore continue to be explored further as a preferred option 

 
25 Seaford, Newhaven, Peacehaven & Telscombe 

Page 223



 

48 

for development. Work to understand the potential of sites, including those identified 

through the Development Capacity Study will need to be undertaken. This option, on 

its own is unlikely to meet the range identified for development needs and sites 

outside of the existing coastal towns would need to be considered. 

 

The map in Figure 10 provides an indicative illustration of development locations 

under this option including potential sites identified through the Land Availability 

Assessment. Table 4 provides details on the supply of dwellings and sites that would 

contribute to this option. 

 

Figure 10: Spatial Option 1 [INSERTCAD MAP] 

 
Figure 10: Spatial Option 1 Indicative Locations 

 

Table 4: Spatial Option 1 - Intensification of development within the coastal towns  

Supply source Number of sites Yield (Number of 

Dwellings) 

LAA sites - 

Deliverable/Developable 

4  103  

LAA Sites - Potentially 

deliverable/Developable 

13  205  

LAA Sites – Not 

deliverable/Developable 

14 0 

Commitments (Planning 

Applications) 

80  866  

Allocations (LPP1 & LPP2) 18  874  

Completions (2020-2023) 85  447  

TOTAL SUPPLY IN OPTION 214  2,495  

Table 4: Spatial Option 1 Development Yield 

  

Page 224



 

49 

Spatial Option 2: Further outward expansion of Newhaven and 

Peacehaven 

This option looks at development opportunities on greenfield locations coming from a 

limited area outside the built-up areas of Newhaven and Peacehaven – the area 

North of Telscombe Road and Valley Road as well as at Peacehaven Heights.  

What you told us. 

Similarly, to Option 1, this option was considered to provide the most opportunities for 

regenerating Newhaven and Peacehaven as well as bringing in new investment to 

those settlements. There was also a view that it could maximise tourism opportunities 

for Newhaven, taking advantage of the port and its offer. 

What does this option look like?  

A high-level analysis of the option suggests that it is consistent with the preferred 

settlement hierarchy which seeks to focus development on the most sustainable 

settlements. While it should continue to be explored further as a preferred option for 

development, its potential contribution towards meeting need, on its own, would be 

very limited. 

  

The map in Figure 11 provides an indicative illustration of development locations 

under this option including potential sites identified through the Land Availability 

Assessment. Table 5 provides details on the supply of dwellings and sites that would 

contribute to this option. 

 

Figure 11: Spatial Option 2 [INSERTCAD MAP] 

 
Figure 11: Spatial Option 2 Indicative Locations 

 

 

Page 225



 

50 

Table 5: Spatial Option 2 - Further outward expansion of Newhaven and Peacehaven 

Supply source Number of 

sites 

Yield (Number of 

Dwellings) 

LAA sites - Deliverable/Developable 1  15  

LAA Sites - Potentially 

deliverable/Developable 

0  0  

LAA - Not deliverable/Developable 15  0  

Commitments (Planning Applications) 4  191  

Allocations (LPP1 & LPP2) 1  400  

Completions (2020-2023) 3  187  

TOTAL SUPPLY IN OPTION 24  793  

Table 5: Spatial Option 2 Development Yield 

Spatial Option 3: Urban extensions to Burgess Hill and Haywards 

Heath  

Both Burgess Hill and Haywards Heath are outside the plan area and are located 

within Mid-Sussex’s administrative area. Nevertheless, they are closely linked and 

function as the principal centres for the population in the northern part of the plan 

area. 

What you told us 

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation thought that this option provides 

opportunities to better grow the existing towns and to enhance existing infrastructure, 

rather than the need and cost to deliver new infrastructure. Respondents thought that 

the option, rather than spreading housing piecemeal in rural areas, would also have 

brownfield opportunities. Respondents also commented that Option 3 was also 

reflective of the view that the rural area does not have adequate roads or services to 

support development, 

What does this option look like?  

A high-level analysis of the option suggests that it is consistent with the preferred 

settlement hierarchy which seeks to focus development on the most sustainable 

settlements. While it should continue to be explored further as a preferred option for 

development, its potential contribution towards meeting need, on its own, would be 

very limited and we would need to work closely with Mid Sussex District Council, 

under the Duty to Co-operate, to realise this option. 

  

The map in Figure 12 provides an indicative illustration of development locations 

under this option including potential sites identified through the Land Availability 

Assessment. Table 6 provides details on the supply of dwellings and sites that would 

contribute to this option. 

Page 226



 

51 

Figure 12: Spatial Option 3 [INSERTCAD MAP] 

 
Figure 12: Spatial Option 3 Indicative Locations 

 
Table 6: Spatial Option 3 - Urban extensions to Burgess Hill and Haywards Heath  

Supply source Number of 

sites 

Yield (Number 

of Dwellings) 

LAA sites - Deliverable/Developable 0  0  

LAA Sites - Potentially 

deliverable/Developable 

4  504  

LAA - Not deliverable/Developable 6  0  

Commitments (Planning Applications) 2  24  

Allocations (LPP1 & LPP2) 0  0  

Completions (2020-2023) 1  53  

TOTAL SUPPLY IN OPTION 13  581  

Table 6: Spatial Option 3 Development Yield 

Spatial Option 4: Focus growth on the most sustainable villages in 

the Low Weald 

This option would see the locations for development coming from the most 

sustainable villages within the plan area. These are places which have access to 

jobs, shops, schools, public transport connections and other services and facilities. 

What you told us 

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation commented that this was one of 

the options with the least impact on the environment and was preferred over Option 

2. There was a preference to distribute development across the plan area rather than 

building large developments. However, not all of the comments were supportive of 

this option, and comments that this option should only come forward if required 

Page 227



 

52 

enhancements of existing infrastructure are delivered given the limited scope of the 

villages to absorb development. 

What does this option look like?  

A high-level analysis of the option suggests that it is consistent with the preferred 

settlement hierarchy which seeks to focus development on the most sustainable 

settlements. By maintaining the network of larger service centres we can help ensure 

that everyone in the plan area can have access to a basic range of services and 

facilities. While it should continue to be explored further as a preferred option for 

development, its potential contribution towards meeting need, on its own, would not 

deliver the level of need identified. 

 

The map in Figure 13 provides an indicative illustration of development locations 

under this option including potential sites identified through the Land Availability 

Assessment. Table 7 provides details on the supply of dwellings and sites that would 

contribute to this option. 

 

Figure 13: Spatial Option 4 [INSERTCAD MAP] 

 
Figure 13: Spatial Option 4 Indicative Locations 

 
  

Page 228



 

53 

Table 7: Spatial Option 4 - Focussing growth on the most sustainable villages in the Low Weald 

Supply source Number of 

sites 

Yield (Number of 

Dwellings) 

LAA sites - Deliverable/Developable 1  123  

LAA Sites - Potentially 

deliverable/Developable 

14  1,566  

LAA - Not deliverable/Developable 18  0  

Commitments (Planning Applications) 22  227  

Allocations (LPP1 & LPP2) 15  63  

Completions (2020-2023) 11  227  

TOTAL SUPPLY IN OPTION 81  2,206  

Table 7: Spatial Option 4 Development Yield 

Spatial Option 5: Disperse growth across all villages in the Low 

Weald 

This option would see the new housing for the plan area distributed across a wide 

range of settlements, from our largest to the smallest villages and hamlets. The level 

of new housing apportioned would relate to the level of service and facilities available 

within the settlement. 

What you told us 

A range of comments were provided on this option. Responses seemed to suggest 

that such an option would be less sustainable since many of the smaller settlements 

have much poorer access to services and facilities. This would lead to increased car 

usage due to a lack of public transport serving smaller settlements. 
 

A number of comments suggested that a dispersed approach to growth could help to 

meet housing needs closest to where it arose, particularly in those smaller villages. 

This could help to support services and facilities within these smaller settlements 

where they already exist or even encourage new provision.  

What does this option look like?  

A high-level analysis of the option suggests that it is inconsistent with the preferred 

settlement hierarchy which seeks to focus development on the most sustainable 

settlements. Under this option growth will be spread across all settlements within the 

plan area including rural hamlets and therefore it would not contribute positively 

towards the objective of reducing the need to travel, contribute towards the reduction 

of CO2 emissions or associated climate change aims and could potentially lead to 

growth at less sustainable settlements. While it should continue to be explored further 

as a preferred option for development, its potential contribution towards meeting 

need, on its own, would not deliver the level of need identified. 

  

The map in Figure 14 provides an indicative illustration of development locations 

under this option including potential sites identified through the Land Availability 

Page 229



 

54 

Assessment. Table 8 provides details on the supply of dwellings and sites that would 

contribute to this option. 

 

Figure 14: Spatial Option 5 [INSERTCAD MAP] 

 
Figure 14: Spatial Option 5 Indicative Locations 

 

Table 8: Spatial Option 5 - Dispersing growth across all villages in the Low Weald26 

Supply source Number of 

sites 

Yield (Number 

of Dwellings) 

LAA sites - Deliverable/Developable 5  295  

LAA Sites - Potentially 

deliverable/Developable 

26 3,036 

LAA - Not deliverable/Developable 45 0 

Commitments (Planning Applications) 44 575 

Allocations (LPP1 & LPP2) 19 114 

Completions (2020-2023) 19 341 

TOTAL SUPPLY IN OPTION 158  4,361  

Table 8: Spatial Option 5 Development Yield 

Spatial Option 6: New settlement within the Low Weald 

This option would see growth focussed on one or more new sustainable settlement in 

the Plan area. This approach could absorb the majority of new development with a 

smaller level of growth allocated to key settlements in the plan area. 

What you told us 

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation commented that while there are 

benefits associated with a new settlement, there are constraints such as 

 
26 This include all sites/dwelling shown in Option 4 

Page 230



 

55 

infrastructure costs and requirements, the long lead in time and risk of market 

saturation.  

 

A significant number of objections to this option were made through the consultation 

citing various reasons. 

What does this option look like?  

This option is contrary to the preferred settlement hierarchy which seeks to focus 

development on the most sustainable settlements. Desk top analysis of a new 

settlement option highlights the potential impact upon areas and asset of importance, 

especially impacts on the landscape. While the Land Availability Assessment and 

‘call for sites’ identified that there is land available around Plumpton, this scale of 

development would have a level of harm that could not be mitigated. No other land 

has been promoted to the Council for a new settlement and therefore this is not 

considered a deliverable option which should be explored further. 

 

The map in Figure 15 provides an indicative illustration of development locations 

under this option including potential sites identified through the Land Availability 

Assessment. Table 9 provides details on the supply of dwellings and sites that would 

contribute to this option. 

 

Figure 15: Spatial Option 6 [INSERTCAD MAP] 

 
Figure 15: Spatial Option 6 Indicative Locations 

 
  

Page 231



 

56 

Table 9: Spatial Option 6 - New settlement within the Low Weald 

Supply source Number of 

sites 

Yield (Number 

of Dwellings) 

LAA sites - Deliverable/Developable 0  0  

LAA Sites - Potentially 

deliverable/Developable 

0  0  

LAA - Not deliverable/Developable 1  3,000  

Commitments (Planning Applications) 0  0  

Allocations (LPP1 & LPP2) 0  0  

Completions (2020-2023) 0  0  

TOTAL SUPPLY IN OPTION 1  0  

Table 9: Spatial Option 6 Development Yield 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

Not including a spatial development strategy is not considered to be an appropriate 

alternative. 

Further information  

Land Availability Assessment November 2023 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 - Spatial Policy 1: Provision of housing & employment land 

Local Plan Part 1 - Spatial Policy 2: Distribution of housing 

  

Page 232



 

57 

Strategic Policy SDS2: Settlement Hierarchy  

  

Objectives  

This policy will group together similar settlements into categories reflecting their 

particular characteristics, scale and sustainability. The policy seeks to provide the 

framework for decisions about the appropriate scale and location of new built 

development within the Plan area.   

  

Preferred Policy Direction  

There are a range of settlements within our plan area. They vary in size, form and 

character from the coastal towns of Seaford, Newhaven and Peacehaven to the 

hamlets of Barcombe, Chailey Green and Wivelsfield and more isolated rural 

communities. There are also several large higher order settlements outside of the 

plan area boundary, including Lewes Town, Eastbourne and Brighton.  

  

The Settlement Hierarchy Review (2023) identified the following changes to the 

hierarchy in the adopted Joint Local Plan (2016):  

▪ Removal of Primary and Secondary Regional Centres.   

▪ Removal of settlements that fall within the South Downs National Park 

within the district boundary.   

▪ South Chailey and South Street settlements have been reclassified as one 

settlement: South Chailey   

▪ South Chailey reclassified from a Local Village to a Service Village.  

 

While we propose that development over the plan period should build upon the 

existing settlement pattern and in those areas where the infrastructure and facilities 

can support sustainable growth, it does mean following allocations of sites, further 

changes to the settlement hierarchy are likely to be included in the draft Local Plan.  

  

Settlements outside of settlement hierarchy are able to deliver additional 

development, but this would be limited to infill or change of use within the settlement 

where a settlement boundary has been defined, and to rural exception schemes for 

affordable housing to meet local needs. This type of limited development will help to 

ensure the long-term sustainability of rural communities. Outside of these 

settlements, we propose that development is restricted and in accordance with other 

policies.   

  

The map in Figure 7 details the settlement hierarchy following the changes.   

  

  

Page 233



 

58 

Figure 7: Proposed Settlement Hierarchy 

 
Figure 16: Proposed Settlement Hierarchy 

  

Why is this policy needed? 

The existing spatial strategy includes towns and settlements for which LDC is not the 

local planning authority and thus the existing hierarchy of the settlements within the 

plan area has been reviewed.  While national policy does not set out specific advice 

for how to prepare and produce a settlement hierarchy, it does highlight the important 

role of a local plan in promoting sustainable locations for development.    

  

This means that the Local Plan must consider the most appropriate locations for 

development growth. The prime factors to be taken into account are accessibility to 

jobs, services and amenities, public transport and the range of services that a 

community can access. National policy promotes the use of development at existing 

settlements to assist in the delivery of homes to meet community’s needs.   

  

Page 234



 

59 

While there is not a standalone policy in Local Plan Part 1, the districts’ settlements 

are categorised hierarchically according to their different roles and grouped 

accordingly. At the top of the existing hierarchy are the larger towns and areas that 

fulfil the most functions and which are viewed as the most sustainable. The smaller 

settlements with fewer functions are towards the bottom of the hierarchy.  

  

An assessment of the services and facilities available within the settlements has 

been carried out. This included dividing the services and facilities into primary and 

secondary categories. In addition, accessibility by public transport to these amenities 

and services contributed towards a settlements place within the hierarchy.  

  

Primary and secondary regional centres have been removed as their inclusion in the 

previous hierarchy was based upon evidence from the South-East Regional Spatial 

Strategy, which could still be used in Local Plan preparation under the framework that 

existed when the Core Strategy was produced. This legislation has since been 

superseded by the NPPF. As settlements that fell within the primary and secondary 

regional centres categories are outside the plan area, the removal of those 

categories is justified.  

 

What you have told us so far 

We did not ask any specific questions on the settlement hierarchy in the Issues and 

Options consultation.   

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

An alternative which sees no limit on the scale of developments for all settlements is 

not considered to be reasonable as it could lead to unsustainable levels of 

development taking place in areas that are not served well by services, facilities or 

public transport. 

   

Further information  

▪ Settlement Hierarchy Review (2023)  

▪ Settlement Services Study (2023)  

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 - Spatial Policy 2: Distribution of Housing   

  

Page 235



 

60 

Strategic Policy SDS 3: Settlement boundaries 

 

Objectives  

This policy will re-define the boundaries of settlements for planning purposes 

following site allocations in the new local plan.   

  

Preferred Policy Direction  

The Local Plan will include settlement boundaries around settlements, identifying 

areas that are considered to be part of the settlement for planning purposes. The 

boundaries will be drawn on the Policies Map that will accompany the draft Local 

Plan for consultation. 

  

We propose that boundaries are defined that include the present extent of the built-

up area as well as planned new development. Buildings associated with countryside 

uses, such as farm or equestrian buildings, would not normally be included within a 

settlement boundary. Boundaries would not be defined around small clusters of 

houses or areas of scattered development where such buildings are isolated in open 

countryside or detached from the main concentration of buildings in a defined 

settlement.  

  

Where sites with planning permission have reached sufficient certainty regarding 

their exact boundaries, new settlement boundaries will be drawn. Within settlement 

boundaries a range of policies within the Local Plan will indicate what sorts of 

developments may be suitable. This includes residential development, as will be 

indicated in the settlement hierarchy policy. 

  

Outside settlement boundaries, no development would be permitted except for:   

▪ allocations within Neighbourhood Plans that have been adopted;   

▪ sites for the provision of affordable housing for people with a local 

connection to the area (see Policy H5: Residential Development in the 

Countryside); 

▪ development for agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation and 

other uses that need to be located in the countryside; or   

▪ development supported by other policies in the plan. 

  

Why is this policy needed?  

Settlement boundaries define where policies for the built-up areas of settlements give 

way to policies for the countryside. This is necessary to ensure that the countryside is 

protected from gradual encroachment, but in particular they help guard against 

incremental growth in unsustainable locations. An important element of the 

development strategy is to focus growth in the more sustainable locations of the area, 

and settlement boundaries help achieve this purpose.  

Page 236



 

61 

  

In the countryside development is generally restricted to uses that need to be located 

there. The plan will seek to include flexibility for reusing existing buildings, for 

development which supports the rural economy, and for other uses which need a 

countryside location.   

  

What you have told us so far 

We did not ask any specific questions on settlement boundaries in the Issues and 

Options consultation.   

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

Alternatives to the policy considered and discounted included not having a policy 

setting out the boundaries of settlements within the plan area. This was discounted 

as it would not provide certainty regarding development proposals, could impact on 

the settlement character and result in the encroachment into the countryside around 

defined settlements.  

 

Further information  

No specific study has been undertaken however settlement boundaries are informed 

by the spatial strategy and settlement hierarchy.  

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM1: Planning Boundary   

  

Page 237



 

62 

Theme: Climate Change 
 

Aim: The Local Plan will contribute to mitigating and adapting to the greatest 

challenge of our lifetime – Climate Change.  

 

Lewes District Council have declared a Climate Emergency, with a headline target of 

becoming a fully resilient and net zero Council by 2030. Addressing climate change is 

one of the core planning principles that the NPPF expects to underpin plan making.  

 

Responding to climate change is underpinned by effective spatial planning 

influencing emissions, protecting the environment and increasing resilience through 

the location and design of development.  

 

Responding and adapting to climate change also links with other themes and 

policies, such as the Natural Environment, Water and Sustainable Transport. 

 

Which Policies Are We proposing? 

CC1 - Mitigating and Adapting to Climate Change  

CC2 - A design response to a changing climate 

CC3 - Solar PV, Storage and Demand Management 

CC4 - Sustainable Construction 

CC5 - Renewable Energy Development 

CC6 - Coastal Change 

 

Carbon Sequestration  

In order to address the impact of development on the potential for carbon 

sequestration the local plan could include a further policy to require developers to 

minimise and compensate for its loss on development sites. The policy could require 

developers to assess the existing carbon sequestration associated with the site, the 

sequestration potential post development and the difference could be calculated and 

potentially used to inform an offset arrangement addressed either through financial 

payment or commitments to deliver equivalent sequestration improvements 

elsewhere. 

 

Consultation Questions for the Climate Theme 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included to respond to Climate 

Change?  Why do you think they should they be included? 

▪ Should the new local plan require minimisation of and compensation for the loss 

of carbon sequestration, and if so, how should off site compensation be 

addressed? 

 

Strategic Policy CC1: Mitigating and Adapting to Climate Change 

 

Page 238



 

63 

Objectives 

The impacts of climate change are unavoidable and are set to get worse. New 

development should consider climate change factors from the outset and ensure that 

the site, and the people who will eventually be using it, will be prepared as possible. 

 

The Local Plan has been identified as key to delivery of the council’s net zero 

ambitions. The Local Plan has the greatest influence on new development, however 

it can also have positive impacts on improving the building standard of existing 

developments by supporting retrofit and improvements to buildings as well as the 

surrounding environment and infrastructure. 

 

Local Plan Policies will support the council’s overall aim of becoming fully climate 

resilient and a net zero district by 2030. Locally led adaption is critical to adequately 

preparing for climate risks. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction  

Climate change is a strategic issue which should be considered and addressed 

where possible in every development.  

 

A strategic policy in the new Local Plan will set out the overall approach to mitigating 

and adapting to climate change. This policy will ensure that development in the plan 

area will represent sustainable development, and include the following principles:  

▪ Ensure that new development is as energy efficient and low carbon as 

possible. 

▪ Encourage the retrofit of existing buildings to reduce carbon emissions. 

▪ Ensure new development is designed to address the risks associated with 

climate change. 

▪ Support suitable opportunities for low carbon energy generation and storage 

to serve the district. 

▪ Reducing the reliance on private vehicles and the emissions associated with 

transport and prioritising walking and cycling measures. 

▪ Improve infrastructure to support sustainable development and help existing 

residents to reduce emissions. 

▪ Work with the natural environment to help reduce emissions and risks 

associated with climate adaptation alongside other benefits such as nature 

restoration and improving biodiversity. 

  

Why is this policy needed? 

Addressing climate change is one of the core land use planning principles which the 

NPPF expects to underpin plan making. To be found sound, local plans will need to 

reflect this principle and enable the delivery of sustainable development. There is 

also a statutory duty for local plans to include policies designed to tackle climate 

change and its impacts. The NPPF emphasises that responding to climate change is 

Page 239



 

64 

central to the economic, social and environmental dimensions of sustainable 

development. 

 

What you have told us so far 

The Issues and Options consultation asked for views on how the new Local Plan 

could mitigate, and adapt to the effects of, climate change. There were 15 

questions covering a number of options under the topic of climate change, and out of 

the total number of representations 32% were received on this issue. This shows that 

climate change resilience and adaptation matter to respondents and is an important 

issue for the residents. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

The alternative of no policy and relying on national guidance is not considered as 

addressing climate change as it is one of the core land use planning principles which 

the NPPF expects to underpin plan making. To be found sound, local plans will need 

to reflect this principle and enable the delivery of sustainable development. 

 

Further information  

▪ Climate Change Topic Paper 

▪ Climate Change Study 2023 

▪ Renewable Energy Potential Study 2023 

▪ Biodiversity Study 2023 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 13: Sustainable Travel  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 14: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

  

Page 240



 

65 

Policy CC2: A design response to a changing climate 
 

Objectives 

The Local Plan policy will support renewable energy generation. For the district to 

become carbon neutral by 2030, energy demands need to be reduced and energy 

generation needs to be switched to renewable energy sources. 

 

Policies around energy efficiency of new developments should be considered two-

fold, not just in relation to carbon emissions from new development but also with 

respect to the benefits of reduced overall energy consumption. The policy options 

consider the carbon emission reductions associated with increased efficiency and 

also have the added benefits of reducing overall energy consumption through the 

following principals:  

▪ Operational costs – Buildings with lower energy demands and systems to 

generate, store and manage energy will cost users significantly less to run. 

▪ Future retrofit costs – It will be significantly more challenging and expensive 

for homeowners to install fabric, energy efficiency and equipment than for it to 

be installed upon construction. 

▪ Local grid resilience – Reduced energy demands from new development will 

have a lower impact on the capacity of the local power network thereby 

allowing capacity for wider decarbonisation (for existing buildings and 

vehicles) and reducing the extent and cost of upgrade work. 

▪ Building resilience – Homes designed with low demands, generation, storage 

and demand management systems will be much more resilient to supply 

issues as well as energy price fluctuations. 

 

The choice of heating and hot water system will have the most significant impact on 

operational carbon emissions of buildings. The decarbonisation of electricity, with 

national plans for supply from the national grid to be net zero by 2035, mean that 

heating from systems that use electricity, which will principally be heat pumps, will not 

only be lower carbon now but will continue to reduce over the lifespan of the building 

and become net zero once the grid is fully decarbonised.  

 

In contrast the carbon emissions associated with the combustion of gas will remain 

unchanged and any buildings that are designed with gas boilers now are likely to 

retain those for at least the expected lifespan of that product which in most cases will 

be approximately 15 years. New building regulations will enforce the switch from gas 

boilers to electric heat pumps or low carbon technologies, however the change to 

building regulations is still under development and could be altered or delayed. Even 

if delivered as expected, there may be transitional arrangements and as such there 

may be a gap between the adoption of the new Local Plan and updated building 

regulations coming into force.  This could mean that gas boilers are still being 

Page 241



 

66 

installed in new developments, with the costs of replacement then being passed to 

the homeowner. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction  

The Climate Change Study demonstrates that to meet the districts climate ambitions 

there is a need to transition away from fossil fuels and towards electrical systems.  To 

support this it is essential to lower overall energy demands on the electrical 

infrastructure locally and nationally. Fabric and energy efficiency measures are the 

most cost effective and reliable way to reduce energy demands; as well as reducing 

CO2 emissions this will reduce costs for occupants of new buildings.  

 

The new Local Plan policy will require all new developments to follow a clear energy 

hierarchy when developing an energy strategy which should be documented in an 

Energy Statement.  The Energy Statement will need to set out how the development 

will: 

▪ Reduce energy demands 

▪ Use energy efficiently 

▪ Generate and store renewable energy 

▪ Monitor energy use 

 

The policy will be clear that gas boilers or other fossil fuel heating systems should 

only be used where it proven by the developer that other options are not technically 

feasible or financially viable. The plan will also set out that strategic allocations 

should consider the incorporation of heat networks. 

 

Submitted Energy Statements should set out how the development meets the 

following requirements, details of which will be set out in further policies or additional 

guidance; 

▪ How developments will reduce energy demands and where practical and 

viable meet a maximum space heating demand of 30kWh/sqm/yr. 

▪ Require all development to install heating systems that align with carbon 

neutral policy, and which are designed to maximise efficiency 

▪ Set requirements for assessing overheating risks and mitigating these 

through design, avoiding the use of active cooling systems unless 

essential. 

 

Overheating is recognised as a key risk in the built environment in the future as a 

result of climate change and the impact of rising temperatures. There is a link 

between the energy performance of a building and the overheating risks. Increasing 

the fabric performance can lead to increasing overheating risks however this can be 

mitigated through design.  Strategies for reducing over heating risk need to be 

incorporated in the early stages of design to be effective. New local plan policy will 

require applications to be accompanied by a risk assessment showing the 

Page 242



 

67 

overheating risks which have been identified and the measures taken to address 

these in the proposal while avoiding the use of active cooling systems wherever 

possible. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

The Climate Change Study sets out baseline emissions of Carbon (CO2e) from the 

district27. The study shows that the predominant emissions in the district arise from 

the buildings and transportation sectors, within which the residential buildings and 

on-road transport (primarily private vehicles) subsectors are the most important.  

 

While the current building regulations requirements on fabric performance are 

expected to be improved, further reducing energy consumption will deliver additional 

benefits such as: 

▪ Reduced energy costs for residents/occupiers; 

▪ Reduced demands of the local electricity network; and, 

▪ Homes designed with low demands, generation, storage and demand 

management systems will be much more resilient to supply issues. 

 

What you have told us so far 

The issues and options consultation was accompanied by a Topic Paper ‘Tackling 

Climate Change’ which set out broad ways in which the new local plan should seek to 

address climate change.  

 

The majority of responses to the Issues and options consultation agreed that the new 

Local Plan should set lower carbon emissions targets for new homes/buildings than 

those set through building regulations. Comments showed support for modern 

construction techniques and features including modular construction, use of ground 

source heat pumps on both new buildings and retrofitting existing properties.  

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

Alternatives to the proposed policy are to rely solely on building regulations to 

decarbonise future development and not set any additional standards beyond this. 

However, there are two key risks associated with this alternative position, both of which 

would lead to emissions from new development being significantly higher.  The first 

risk would be that the Future Homes Standard and Future Buildings Standard do not 

go as far as anticipated or take effect later than expected.  The second risk is that 

electricity grid is not decarbonised, or this process happens at a slower rate than 

expected. 

 

 
27 The carbon emission baseline used in the Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy 2021 was the baseline developed by Anthesis using 

their SCATTER tool, a summary of which is provided in the Climate Change Study. 

 

Page 243



 

68 

Further information  

▪ Climate Change Topic Paper 

▪ Climate Change Study 2023 

▪ Renewable Energy Potential Study 2023 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 13: Sustainable Travel 

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 14: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy  

Page 244



 

69 

Policy CC3: Solar PV, Storage and Demand Management 

 

Objectives 

In common with other coastal parts of the South East, Lewes District has some of the 

highest irradiance across the whole of the UK, therefore properties stand to gain the 

most from solar technologies. Although decarbonisation of the electricity grid will 

result in the use of Photo Voltaic (PV) having less of an impact on carbon savings 

over time, the main driver for a policy to require PV will be on reducing energy costs 

and providing energy security for the building and the local power networks. 

 

While the notional building used in Building Regulations Part L (as updated 2021) 

includes PV in the reference specification, the indicative specification for the planned 

Future Homes Standard notional building does not. Therefore, it may be possible to 

comply with the proposed building regulations through a combination of good fabric 

and energy efficiency specification and the use of an electric heat pump. As such, 

given that the developer must factor in the up-front costs of the PV and doesn’t 

realise the longer-term benefits, they might decide not to include PV if there is no 

need to do so to comply with Building Regulations.  

 

Solar PV will have an impact on the total energy consumption of a development, and 

therefore the operational costs for occupants. Cumulative use of solar PV will also 

have a positive impact on local grid resilience. 

 

The costs of installing PV during construction are significantly lower than retrofitting 

so there is justification for the Local Plan to require installation during construction of 

development. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction  

The local plan policy will require all developments to incorporate PV and have a 

presumption to maximise the amount of PV installed, unless it is shown this is not 

technically feasible or financially viable.  

 

All developments should consider the potential for thermal and battery storage as 

well as smart metering and other demand management systems. The use of these 

systems will provide long term benefit for the building owners in both energy costs 

and resilience as well as providing wider benefits to the local power networks. 

Options relevant to the development should be considered in the Energy Statement. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

For Lewes to become carbon neutral by 2030, energy demands need to be reduced 

and energy generation needs to be switched to renewable energy sources. Any 

increase in energy consumption or additional use of non-renewable energy sources 

from new development will make these targets more difficult to achieve. Generating 

Page 245



 

70 

renewable energy on site helps to meet targets for renewable energy use and can 

reduce bills for building users.  

 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the Issues and Option consultation were generally supportive of 

requiring new developments to incorporate on site renewable energy generation. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

Alternatives to the proposed policy are to rely solely on building regulations to 

decarbonise future development and not set any additional standards beyond this. 

However, the indicative specification for the planned Future Homes Standard notional 

building does not require the installation of PV and therefore it may be possible to 

comply with the proposed building regulations through a combination of good fabric 

and energy efficiency specification and the use of an electric heat pump. For Lewes 

to become carbon neutral by 2030, energy demands need to be reduced and energy 

generation needs to be switched to renewable energy sources. The costs of installing 

PV systems during construction are also significantly lower than retrofitting these so 

there is justification for the Local Plan to require installation during construction of 

development.  

 

Further information  

▪ Climate Change Topic Paper 

▪ Climate Change Study 2023 

▪ Renewable Energy Potential Study 2023 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 13: Sustainable Travel 

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 14: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy  

Page 246



 

71 

Policy CC4: Sustainable Construction 

 

Objectives 

The sustainability of a development cannot just be considered from a point of view of 

the resulting development. During construction, emissions come from the creation of 

the materials to be used in construction, from bringing people and materials to the 

site, and from the use of machinery. This links with Circular Economy principles and 

the approach to retaining as much material in use as possible, to extract the 

maximum value, thereby reducing waste.  

 

Building regulations only address regulated operational emissions associated with 

development, they do not include unregulated emissions or the embodied carbon 

emissions which make up a large share of the whole lifecycle emissions of a building. 

 

The amount of energy that will need to be consumed on a site should be reduced as 

much as is practical. Where energy needs to be used, it should be done in the most 

efficient way possible.  The Local Plan policy will support sustainable construction 

methods and techniques. 

 

Achieving lower carbon emissions from buildings and energy efficiency is only one 

aspect of building sustainably. The use of appropriate building materials and 

techniques and minimising waste are additional steps that can improve the 

sustainability of buildings. Extending the life of a building and recovering and reusing 

materials at the end of its life can significantly reduce the demand for materials and 

subsequent waste produced.  

 

To be effective, sustainable construction and design needs to be considered at the 

outset of the development of scheme.  

 

Preferred Policy Direction  

Demolition often leads to large amounts of waste and can impact on the amenity of 

residents. Reusing, or adapting buildings can reduce waste and can preserve the 

character of the surrounding area and therefore the local plan will encourage the 

reuse, repair and refurbishment of existing buildings to new uses where possible.  

 

The policy will set out requirements for development proposals to provide evidence of 

circular economy principles and demonstrate how waste arising from construction is 

to be minimised. This will include consideration of the longevity, maintenance, and 

repair of developments and how they can be adapted to changing needs through the 

development lifetime. The policy will also set out the priority for use of locally sourced 

and/or sustainable materials that have smaller carbon footprints.  

 

Page 247



 

72 

A policy requiring whole life cycle carbon assessment is being considered for larger 

developments. In these circumstances the developer would be required to document 

the whole life carbon assessment and the steps taken to minimise/mitigate these 

through the design of the development within the Energy Statement. There would be 

a cost to carrying out such assessments which would need to be assessed by the 

whole plan viability assessment. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

In the UK, construction is one of the largest consumers of materials and produces 

more waste than any other sector. In East Sussex and Brighton & Hove, construction 

and demolition wastes amount to over half the total of all wastes produced28, of 

1.75million tonnes of solid waste handled each year construction and demolition 

waste accounts for 51%. 

 

Extending the life of buildings and recovering and reusing materials at the end of 

their life can significantly reduce the demand for materials and subsequent waste 

produced. Adopting a circular economy approach in the development sector will play 

a significant role in promoting resource efficiency and addressing the challenge of the 

climate emergency. 

 

What you have told us so far 

Question 1.2 of the Issues and Options Consultation set out three options for  

decarbonising a buildings life cycle, asking whether the local plan should require 

development proposals to: 

1. Provide evidence of circular economy principles and waste reduction – 

requiring retention of existing buildings unless evidence of need to demolish? 

2. Evidence reductions in carbon by prioritising the use of materials and 

construction techniques that have smaller ecological and carbon footprints? 

3. Consider the lifecycle of the building and whether it can be easily adapted to 

meet changing needs. 

 

In response t96% of respondents selected at least one of the three listed options. 

while 85% selected all three options.  Option 1 received marginally more support than 

the other two options. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy and relying on the ESCC Waste and Minerals Plan policies or national 

policy is an alternative option. However, given how much waste is associated with 

construction it is considered necessary for the local plan to promote resource 

efficiency. 

 

 
28 ESCC Waste and Minerals Plan (2013) https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/planning/waste-minerals-
plans-monitoring-reports 

Page 248

https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/planning/waste-minerals-plans-monitoring-reports


 

73 

A policy for whole life cycle carbon assessments is being considered for larger 

developments due to the costs and expertise required, this will need to be tested in 

the whole plan viability study to ensure that it is a viable policy option when 

considering all policy requirements. 

 

Further information  

▪ Climate Change Topic Paper 

▪ Climate Change Study 2023 

▪ ESCC Waste and Minerals Plan 2013 

▪ ESCC Supplementary Planning Document on Construction and Demolition Waste 

(2005)29 

▪ LDC Circular Economy Planning Technical Advice Note 202130 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 14: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy  

 
29 https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/planning/waste-minerals-plans-monitoring-reports 
30 https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/media/2408/Circular-Economy-Technical-Advice-
Note/pdf/Circular_Economy_Technical_Advice_Note.pdf?m=638200215633970000 

Page 249



 

74 

Policy CC5: Renewable Energy Development 

 

Objectives 

For the district to become carbon neutral by 2030, energy demands need to be 

reduced and energy generation needs to be switched to renewable energy sources.  

 

A transition to a low carbon district will involve a change in the way existing 

infrastructure is used and may require new infrastructure. The Local Plan can 

allocate land for new infrastructure through identifying areas suitable for renewable 

energy generation, or land for supporting energy infrastructure including power 

transmission, distribution and storage systems.  

 

The Renewable Energy Study carried out an assessment of the potential for Solar 

Energy generation from ground and roof mounted solar PV and from Wind Turbine 

Generators (WTG’s) and identified areas of land that might be suitable for wind and 

solar energy generation and advised that these wider areas should be identified on 

the policy map. 

  

The Local Plan can also support the transition to renewable energy by supporting 

electricity infrastructure upgrades.  The Local Plan can identify specific infrastructure 

upgrades and include them in the Infrastructure Development Plan after consultation 

with the electricity infrastructure provider.  This will help to ensure renewable energy 

delivery within the plan period to support the existing and new population. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction  

The policy will encourage and support the principle of renewable energy generation 

in suitable locations providing proposals meet all other policies in the plan and take 

account of local constraints such as in relation to landscape and visual impacts, 

amenity impacts etc. 

 

The Local Plan will identify areas on the policies map which are suitable for 

renewable energy generation and identify strategic sites for renewable energy 

generation.  

 

In addition to strategic allocations, the policy will support neighbourhood plan 

identification of renewable energy sites including community renewable energy 

schemes. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

For Lewes to become carbon neutral by 2030, energy demands need to be reduced 

and energy generation needs to be switched to renewable energy sources. Any 

increase in energy consumption or additional use of non-renewable energy sources 

from new development will make these targets more difficult to achieve. The local 

Page 250



 

75 

plan supporting and encouraging renewable energy generation schemes will help to 

ensure renewable energy delivery within the plan period to support the existing and 

new population. 

 

While respondents to  he Issues and Options consultation supported neighbourhood 

plans identifying land for renewable energy generation, given the strategic nature of 

the scale of renewable energy, it is also important for the local plan to consider 

strategic allocations and allocations to support improved infrastructure that may be 

required to support the existing and new population of the district. 

 

What you have told us so far 

There was overall support from respondents to the Issues and Options consultation 

for supporting renewable energy generation, although some concerns raised about 

the impact of wind turbines, primarily on the landscape. 

 

A number of respondents suggest that existing or new buildings are the best places 

for solar panels rather than large scale farms. There was also support for off shore 

wind farms in preference to onshore.  

 

Overall there were mixed responses on whether the allocation of land for renewable 

energy generation should be through the local plan or neighbourhood plans, many 

respondents supported communities identifying the best location of such 

developments. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

An alternative option is to not identify sites for renewable energy generation, however 

not supporting strategic allocations may reduce the ability to deliver enough 

renewable energy in the district. For the district to become carbon neutral by 2030, 

energy demands need to be reduced and energy generation needs to be switched to 

renewable energy sources. A lack of support for renewable energy generation at a 

strategic level will make these targets more difficult to achieve. 

 

Further information  

▪ Climate Change Topic Paper 

▪ Climate Change Study 2023 

▪ Renewable Energy Potential Study 2023 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 14: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy  

Page 251



 

76 

Strategic Policy CC6: Coastal Change 

 

Objectives  

Policy CP12 of Local Plan Part 1 seeks to ensure that development avoids areas of 

undeveloped coastline unless it specifically requires a rural coastal location, meets 

the sequential test and does not have other adverse impacts.  The policy however 

does not currently meet the requirements of the NPPF in terms of defining a ‘Coastal 

Change Management Area’ to cover the coastline where rates of shoreline change 

are significant over the next 100 years, taking into account climate change. NPPF 

paragraph 171 states that plans should reduce risk from coastal change by avoiding 

inappropriate development in vulnerable areas and not exacerbating the impacts of 

physical changes to the coast.  

 

The district has 14.5km of coastline, erosion rates vary from year to year and at 

different rates along the coast. In the long-term erosion will have impact on the 

coastline and in some areas the risks are larger for infrastructure, beaches and 

properties. Coastal protection engineering works can affect species and habitats, or 

beaches and paths. The impact of these should be considered. The emphasis is now 

on working with natural processes to adapt to climate change rather than trying to 

prevent it in all situations.  

 

The Shoreline Management Plan for the area is The Beachy Head to Selsey Bill 

Shoreline Management Plan (SMP)31. The SMP sets out the preferred policies for 

managing the risks of coastal erosion.  In four of the eight policy units in the plan area 

the policy approach is managed realignment, allowing retreat of the shoreline, or no 

active intervention - a decision not to invest in providing or maintaining defences. The 

unit recommendation plans are set out in the Climate Change Topic Paper in further 

detail. 

 

Planning Practice Guidance sets out that a Coastal Change Management Area 

should be defined where the shoreline management plan policy is anything other 

than hold or advance the line at any time during its plan period32. Therefore the new 

Local Plan will consider designation of Coastal Change management areas where 

the SMP policy is ‘no active intervention’ in the four policy units Telscombe Cliffs, 

Newhaven to Peacehaven Heights, Seaford (Tides Mills) and Seaford Head. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction  

Guided by the Shoreline Management Plan and the Brighton Marina to Newhaven 

Harbour Arm Plan, the Local Plan will identify areas likely to be affected by physical 

changes to the coast in CCMA(s). Local plan policy will be clear what development 

will or will not be appropriate in a CCMA and under what circumstances.  

 
31 https://se-coastalgroup.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/beachy-head-to-selsey-bill/ 
32 PPG Flood Risk and Coastal Change paragraph: 072 Reference ID: 7-072-20220825 

Page 252

https://se-coastalgroup.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/beachy-head-to-selsey-bill/


 

77 

 

Further evidence on coastal change and potential erosion is required to precisely 

define the CCMA(s), an updated Shoreline Management Plan is expected in 2024 

however the new Local Plan policy is likely to set out what types of development will 

be acceptable in CCMA(s) in the short/medium/long term time periods and what 

applications for development will have to demonstrate to be considered acceptable 

as set out in the NPPF33 and NPPG34. 

  

Why is this policy needed? 

The NPPF35 requires that strategic policies set out an overall strategy and make 

sufficient provision for flood risk and coastal change management. The NPPF at 

Paragraph 171 states that plans should identify as a Coastal Change Management 

Area any area likely to be affected by physical changes to the coast, and:  

a) be clear as to what development will be appropriate in such areas and in what 

circumstances; and  

b) make provision for development and infrastructure that needs to be relocated 

away from Coastal Change Management Areas 

The SMP states that from 2055 onwards coastline management practices will cease 

for the stretch at Peacehaven, and properties will be at risk. The Brighton Marina to 

Newhaven Western Harbour Arm Plan assesses viability of coastal management 

options.36   

 

A local plan policy including a CCMA is required in areas that are defined in the 

shoreline management plan as anything other than hold or advance the line to 

ensure inappropriate development is avoided and physical changes to the coast are 

not exacerbated. 

 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation supported the coastline, cliffs 

and other areas at high-risk of sea level rise not being considered for new 

development. Some respondents stated that the whole coast will see changes and 

therefore CCMA(s) should extend along the entire coast. Some respondents 

supported managed retreat, while others commented on the need for active 

measures to prevent or constrain further erosion. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

It is outside of the scope of the Local Plan to promote management policies for the 

coastline, for example whether the shoreline should be protected or allowed to erode 

naturally, this is the purpose of the Shoreline Management Plan.   

 
33 NPPF Paragraph 172 
34 PPG Flood Risk and Coastal Change paragraph: 074 Reference ID: 7-074-20220825 
35 NPPF 2021, par 20 
36 https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/258572.pdf. 

Page 253

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/258572.pdf


 

78 

 

An alternative of no policy defining a CCMA would not be a realistic option given the 

recommendations of the SMP and the requirements of the NPPF. 

 

Further information 

▪ Climate Change Topic Paper 

▪ The Beachy Head to Selsey Bill Shoreline Management Plan37 2006 

▪ The Brighton Marina to Newhaven Western Harbour Arm Plan (2016)38 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 12: Flood Risk, Coastal Erosion, Sustainable 

Drainage and Slope Stability 

 

 

  

 
37 https://www.southdowns.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/TLL-19-Beachy-Head-to-Selsey-
Shoreline-Management-Plan-2006.pdf 
38 Brighton Marina to Newhaven Coastal Management Implementation Plan Local 
Community Summary (lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk) 

Page 254

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/coast-management-protection
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/coast-management-protection


 

79 

Theme: Natural Environment  
 

Aim: We want to put the environment at the heart of all new development to enhance 

and deliver biodiversity net gains rather than detrimentally impact on our 

environmental assets including designated national sites, landscape character, 

biodiversity and water quality. 

 

The District’s natural environment is one of its greatest assets and supports a range 

of habitats, species and other features that contribute to biodiversity or geodiversity 

value. Vital parts of the ecosystem are the soils, the rivers and the wider water 

environment. In addition to protecting and restoring nature, for nature, the natural 

environment contributes to enhancing the quality of life for residents, workers and 

visitors and helps to promote healthy living and social inclusion.  

 

Our natural capital assets have a key role in tackling the two huge environmental 

crises we now face: climate change, and the devastating loss of biodiversity. 

  

Which policies are we proposing: 

NE1: Green and Blue Infrastructure  

NE2: Biodiversity 

NE3: Landscape 

NE4: Clean and Healthy Environment 

 

Tree Planting and Greening Requirements 

The Local plan could set a requirement for greening such as a percentage area for 

canopy cover from trees.  This would require further evidence in relation to the need 

and opportunity for green infrastructure to ensure it is achievable.  

Consultation Questions for the Natural Environment Theme 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included to protect and 

enhance our natural environment? Why do you think they should they be 

included? 

▪ Do you think the policy direction for Green and Blue infrastructure is the right 

one? If not, please identify how it can be changed and why? 

▪ Do you think the policy direction for Biodiversity is the right approach? If not 

please identify how it can be changed and why? 

▪ Should the local plan consider preparing an urban greening policy which requires 

a minimum level of greening on a development site? 

 

  

Page 255



 

80 

Strategic Policy NE1: Green and Blue Infrastructure 

  

Objectives 

Green and Blue Infrastructure (GBI) is a network of multi-functional green and blue 

space and other natural features. With the GBI network the aim is to develop 

multifunctionality, linking the built-up area with the natural environment, delivering 

benefits for nature, the environment, climate, health and wellbeing, even economic 

prosperity.   

 

A Green and Blue Infrastructure network can include street trees, green roofs/walls, 

parks, private gardens, allotments, sustainable drainage systems, through to wildlife 

areas, woodlands, wetlands and natural flood management functioning at local and 

landscape scale. Linear GBI includes roadside verges, green bridges, field margins, 

rights of way, access routes, and canals and rivers.  

 

Green infrastructure Improvements can be delivered as part of new development via 

the planning system, upgrading of existing GBI, and retrofitting of new GBI in areas 

where provision is poor. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The Local Plan will identify the existing GBI network and areas where there is 

potential for the enhancement or restoration of existing GBI and opportunities for the 

provision of new green space.  

 

A Green Infrastructure Study is currently being undertaken to inform the policy. 

However the policy direction is likely to include protection of the GBI network, and 

enhancement to be encouraged where appropriate, the policy would not support 

development that would undermine the functional integrity of the GBI network. The 

policy will also require all development proposals to include GBI appropriate to the 

type, scale and location of the development.   

 

To support the migration of species between different habitats, the Local Plan policy 

will promote the reconnection of habitats across the plan area, through compulsory 

habitat connectivity in new developments. For example, if a site overlaps two 

identified habitats, or the same habitats that are fragmented, local plan policy can set 

out mandatory requirements for the design of the site to include a green or blue 

corridor to connect these habitats. This should then be incorporated into the onsite 

green infrastructure plan. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

Green infrastructure is considered a strategic priority in the NPPF at Paragraph 20 

and its importance is emphasised. It is one of the strategic policies that development 

plans must include. 

Page 256



 

81 

 

Networks of green and blue spaces and other natural features can bring big benefits 

for nature and climate, health and prosperity.  

 

The GBI network will be part of the Local Nature Recovery Network, a network of 

wildlife-rich places where habitats are connected to improve the landscape’s 

resilience. 

 

The council’s Corporate Plan expresses the ambition to have the greenest local plan 

and put sustainability at the heart of the local planning processes. In 2019, Lewes 

District Council committed to reduce council greenhouse gas emissions to net zero 

and to become fully climate resilient by 2030 and further committed, in February 

2021, to address the ecological crisis. Meaningful biodiverse and nature-based 

solutions are at the heart of these ambitions.  

 

What you have told us so far 

In response to the Issues and Options Consultation comments on questions centred 

around GBI demonstrated support for requirements for tree planting in new 

development, allocating land for tree planting or woodland expansion and for the 

identification of green and blue infrastructure assets to improve biodiversity, carbon 

capture and storage of water.  

 

Many respondents mentioned the importance of involvement of local groups, local 

farmers, neighbourhood plans, other stated that green corridors should be part of a 

national network. Respondents supported substantial improvements to corridors and 

green and blue assets and there were many suggestions about assuring the quality 

of the contribution to the network. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy is not an alternative as national planning policy considers green 

infrastructure is a strategic priority that development plans must include. 

Further evidence is required to inform the policy direction and thr Green Infrastructure 

Study is currently being prepared.  

 

Alternative policy directions include considering setting a standard for green 

infrastructure in new developments with a preference for multifunctionality, and 

whether a policy should allow for off-site contributions to GBI instead of on site 

provision in certain circumstances. 

 

Further information  

▪ Environment Topic Paper 

▪ Lewes Biodiversity Study 2023 

▪ Lewes Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 2023 

Page 257



 

82 

▪ Lewes Climate Change Study 2023 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 8: Green Infrastructure 

  

Page 258



 

83 

 

Policy NE2: Biodiversity 

 

Objectives 

The policy will address the protection of international, national, and locally designated 

sites, areas of ancient woodland, and Local Wildlife sites, and habitats and species of 

principal importance for biodiversity, with the level of protection being appropriate to 

its international, national or local significance.  

 

This policy will control the biodiversity impacts from development, including the 

approach to Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG).   

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

All development should ensure the protection, conservation, and enhancement of 

biodiversity. If harm cannot be avoided, then such harm should be adequately 

mitigated. Where it cannot be adequately mitigated then as a last resort such harm 

must be compensated for. Where it cannot be compensated for, then planning 

permission should be refused. This process is known as the mitigation hierarchy. The 

level of protection will be linked to the international, national or local significance. 

Exceptions will only be made where the public benefits significantly outweigh any 

adverse impacts. Development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable 

habitats will be refused. 

 

On top of mitigation and/or compensation of all impact, the policy will 

require development to achieve up to 20% and a minimum of 10% biodiversity net 

gain. This BNG should be delivered on-site, but when this is shown to be 

unachievable off-site measures can be agreed. The off-site BNG must be consistent 

with the strategic aims of the Local Nature Recovery Network and/or Green and Blue 

Infrastructure Network, and preferably be delivered near the development. 

 

The policy will also provide guidance on how development in the north-western part 

of the plan area should consider the specific qualities of the Ashdown Forest and 

contribute to mitigation measures where necessary. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

National policy requires development to achieve a net gain for biodiversity, as well as 

to protect and enhance sites of biodiversity and geodiversity importance, with the 

level of protection being appropriate to its international, national or local 

significance.39  

 

 
39 National Planning Policy Framework, paragraphs 174 and 175 

Page 259



 

84 

The Environment Act makes a 10% biodiversity net gain mandatory. This net gain is 

considered after all impact is mitigated and or compensated, to ensure habitats for 

wildlife are left in a better state than they were before the development. 

 

In the LDC Corporate plan the council expresses the ambition to have the greenest 

local plan and put sustainability at the heart of the local planning process. In 2019, 

Lewes District Council committed to reduce council greenhouse gas emissions to net 

zero and to become fully climate resilient by 2030. The council further committed in 

February 2021, to address the ecological crisis, including a target of all major 

developments achieving at least a 20% biodiversity net gain by 2025 in the Climate 

Change and Sustainability Strategy 202140. Meaningful biodiverse and nature-based 

solutions are at the heart of these ambitions. 

 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the issue and options consultation were in general support of a 20% 

biodiversity net gain in all major developments with some arguing that it should be 

more than 20%. 

 

The majority of the respondents were in favour of off-site BNG provision, with 

comments that it should not be far away from the development, that there should be 

strict parameters, and it should improve habitat connectivity. Many respondents 

stated that there should be no development on greenfield sites and consider this the 

best way to protect wildlife. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy and rely on national legislation setting out a 10% mandatory biodiversity net 

gain - This alternative is not the preferred approach, as it would not result in as much 

benefit for biodiversity. 

 

Require biodiversity net gain higher than 20% - This would require additional 

evidence, and it is not clear that there would be a justification for such a high 

requirement. This is not the preferred approach as it would be likely in most instances 

to require significant off-site measures, and could impact on site viability.  

 

A final option is to rely on national policy for protection of sites of biodiversity 

importance - This alternative is not the preferred approach as we consider that 

additional clarity is required to set out how the principles set out in national policy 

should be applied at a local level. 

 

Further information  

▪ Environment Topic Paper 

 
40 Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy 2021 

Page 260



 

85 

▪ Lewes Biodiversity Study 2023 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans   

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 10: Natural Environment and Landscape Character 

 

  

Page 261



 

86 

Policy NE3: Landscape 

 

Objectives  

The district contains high quality and diverse landscapes. The spatial strategy seeks 

to manage growth in the most sustainable locations to ensure that the most valued 

and sensitive land is protected. Maintaining green gaps between settlements has 

been long standing in the plan area, where settlement boundaries have been used to 

make a clear distinction between town and village locations and the countryside. The 

purpose of the settlement boundaries has been to positively focus growth on the 

sustainable settlements while protecting the character and beauty of the countryside. 

The settlement boundaries were considered taking into account, among other things, 

important gaps between individual towns and villages and important environmental 

considerations such as the need to conserve designated areas of national landscape, 

ecological, geological, or historic importance.  

 

New development will have an impact on the landscape; the new local plan will steer 

developments where harm can be minimised and policies will set out how 

development should conserve and enhance the natural beauty and high quality 

character of the district. The policy must ensure that development in the district does 

not adversely affect the setting of the South Downs National Park (SDNP). 

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will maintain and where possible enhance the natural, locally distinctive 

landscape qualities and characteristics of the district. Development proposals should 

have regard to the Landscape Character Assessment 2023 and the Landscape 

Sensitivity Study 2023 and where a countryside location is proposed a Landscape 

Visual Impact Assessment will be required to identify the effects of a proposed 

development. The landscape policy will set out how the setting of the South Downs 

National Park should be respected, including the key views, and the dark night sky 

quality.  

 

The landscape design policy will require developments to reflect the local character 

and distinctiveness and integrate development into its surroundings. This policy will 

also set out requirements in relation to tree planting which link with requirements for 

climate adaptation, carbon capture and cooling.  

 

Trees providing vital benefits such as temperature regulation, reducing runoff rate 

and water storage, local plan policy will protect existing trees and, where possible 

require additional trees to be planted within a development area.  Street trees provide 

valuable greening, improving climate resilience offering shelter and shade, cooling 

and contributions to natural drainage. Priority will be given to native species, 

including fruit-bearing trees. Local plan policy will also encourage native hedge mixes 

in replacement of fences proving living barriers with ecological value.   

Page 262



 

87 

Why is this policy needed? 

National planning policy is clear that plans should recognise the intrinsic character 

and beauty of the countryside. The NPPF sets out at Paragraph 174 that “planning 

policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 

environment”. Paragraph 176 states that great weight should be given to conserving 

and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks which have the 

highest status of protection in relation to these issues. Further Planning Practice 

Guidance sets out where landscapes have a particular local value, it is important for 

policies to identify their special characteristics and be supported by proportionate 

evidence41.  

 

The Landscape Character Assessment42 and the Landscape Sensitivity Study form 

the evidence base to support the landscape policy and other character policies within 

the new Local Plan.  

 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation expressed great concern on the 

impact of development on the landscape of the district, stating that development 

should be in harmony with the local landscape and nature and that the countryside 

should be protected and the views from the SDNP must be maintained and not be 

eroded by un-sympathetic development. There was strong opposition in the 

responses to the consultation to building on green field sites. Many respondents 

answered that development needs to be in sympathy with the landscape of the 

district. There was also support f in relation to the protection of the countryside and 

natural spaces around villages that prevent coalescence. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

A landscape policy with a restriction of development in the countryside, outside of 

defined planning boundaries, is discounted because of national policy guidelines and 

the benefits or need for some uses of a countryside location which could outweigh 

the harm caused.  

 

Further information  

▪ Environment Topic Paper 

▪ Landscape Character Assessment 2023 

▪ Landscape Sensitivity Study 2023 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 10: Natural Environment and Landscape Character 

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM27: Landscape Design 

 
41 Planning Practice Guidance Natural Environment 036 Reference ID: 8-036-20190721 
42 Link evidence base 

Page 263



 

88 

  

Page 264



 

89 

Policy NE4: Clean and Healthy Environment 

 

Objectives 

This policy will set out how development should contribute positively to the quality of 

the environment and how development should minimise polluting impacts on existing 

and future residents to create a clean and healthy environment for all. 

 

The policy addresses pollution such as air, soil, noise, and light (the dark night sky), 

and includes specific requirements where appropriate for each where relevant. 

Pollution in the watercourse is considered in the Water Theme. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will require all development proposals to: 

▪ avoid significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life for residents and 

quality of the environment from pollutants such as air, soil, noise, and light (the 

dark night sky) or other pollutants now or in the future; 

▪ mitigate any adverse impact on the health and quality of life for residents and 

quality of the environment from pollutants; 

▪ and where possible contribute to the improvement of mentioned quality aspects to 

help improve health, quality of life and the environment.43 

 

Development (residential and commercial) that may potentially contribute to, or 

adversely affect soil quality, air quality, or contribute to noise or light pollution will only 

be permitted where it can be demonstrated that the development will not have an 

adverse impact on the use of other land, the health and quality of life of residents, or 

on the environment.  

 

Specific for noise pollution 

The policy will set out that development that would expose noise sensitive uses to 

unacceptable noise levels will not be permitted. Further the policy would set out that 

noise sensitive development would only be permitted where it can be demonstrated 

that users of the development would not be exposed to unacceptable noise 

disturbance from existing or future uses. In turn, noise generating development will 

only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that nearby noise sensitive uses, 

including existing or planned uses, will not be exposed to noise impacts that would 

adversely affect the amenity of existing or future users/occupiers. 

Applications for residential development in locations where noise from road, rail, or 

other noise generating uses is expected must be accompanied by a Noise Impact 

Assessment.  

 

Specific for light pollution: 

 
43 Contribution requirement is mentioned in paragraphs 174-e NPPF 

Page 265



 

90 

Artificial light has valuable benefits, in terms of feelings of safety and allowing longer 

hours of recreation and sport in some instances. However artificial light can be a 

source of annoyance for people, and it can have negative impacts on wildlife, and our 

enjoyment of the countryside. The policy will prevent development from contributing 

to unnecessary sources of artificial light especially in areas of darker skies or where it 

would negatively impact on the South Downs designated Dark Sky Reserve.  

 

The policy will require minimum light levels in the entire plan area, with special 

attention of developments within the setting of the South Downs National Park.  

In the entire plan area light levels should be the minimum required for working or 

safety purposes, and glare and spillage should be minimised. The policy will specify 

how much luminosity is acceptable. Outdoor lighting should be powered by on-site 

renewable sources where possible. Developments within the setting of the South 

Downs National Park will be required to minimise adverse impacts on the South 

Downs International Dark Sky Reserve.  

 

Specific for soil contamination and unstable soils: 

The policy will set out how development should deal with contaminated soils and will 

have specific requirements to avoid contamination of any watercourse, or aquifer. 

Development proposals on a site that is known or suspected to be affected by 

contamination will only be permitted where the council is satisfied that all works, 

including investigation of the nature of any contamination, can be undertaken without 

escape of contaminants that could cause unacceptable risk to health or to the 

environment. Remediation and mitigation of despoiled, degraded, derelict, 

contaminated and unstable land, where appropriate44 must be ensured prior to the 

commencement of development. Development will not be permitted unless effective 

measures are taken to avoid contamination of any water course, water body or 

aquifer, and to avoid threatening the structural integrity of any building or structure 

built on or adjoining the site. 

 

Specific for air pollution 

The local plan will set out requirements for sustainable travel. Developments that 

support or encourage travel by walking, cycling and public transport, reducing the 

need to travel by private car will be supported, see also sustainable travel policy. The 

environment policy will set out specific requirements for development that could 

impact current or potential AQMAs and will address reduction of pollutants in the 

construction phase. 

 

Development proposals which could impact on a current or potential AQMA must 

have regard to any relevant Air Quality Action Plans (AQAP) and seek improvements 

in air quality through implementation of measures in the AQAP; and provide 

 
44 NPPF 174-f The rest is more or less policy DM21 LPP2 LDC, but as next part is condensed. 

Page 266



 

91 

mitigation measures where the development and/or associated traffic would 

adversely affect any declared AQMA. 

 

All applications for development will be required to secure best practice methods to 

reduce levels of dust and other pollutants arising from the construction of 

development and/or from the use of the completed development. The policy will set 

out requirements for applications in terms of submission of construction details if 

known to avoid conditions. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

Pollution negatively impacts on the quality of the environment and health and 

wellbeing of residents. The National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 174 

states that planning policies should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 

environment by preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being 

put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of 

soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. The NPPF also states that 

development should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental 

conditions such as air and water quality, and remediate and mitigate despoiled, 

degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land, where appropriate.45 

 

The Environment Act 2021 sets legally binding targets to protect the environment, 

clean up air and rivers and boost nature.   

 

The council’s corporate plan puts sustainability at the heart of local planning. The 

goals include providing a well-managed and protected local environment including 

waterways and coastal areas and cleaner air across the district. 

 

In general air quality in the district is good, however there are concerns with regard to 

nitrogen dioxide emissions in certain areas. Poor air quality has been linked to 

respiratory health problems and improving air quality is a Council Priority. There is an 

AQMA in Newhaven Town Centre as a result of nitrogen dioxide emissions from 

transport. Declaration of an AQMA is necessary under Part 4 of the Environment Act 

1005, when certain statutory air quality thresholds are breached. Addressing these 

problematic areas will be key to ensuring that further pockets of poor air quality do 

not become prevalent.  

 

The planning system has a role in seeking to ensure that new noise sensitive 

development such as housing, is not located close to existing sources of noise that 

would lead to nuisance and to ensure that potentially noise creating uses such as 

some industrial processing or recreational activities are not located where they would 

likely create a nuisance.  

 

 
45 National Planning Policy Framework Paragraph 174, criteria e). 

Page 267



 

92 

A policy around noise sensitive development is required to protect the amenity of 

residents, and to ensure noise generating businesses can operate effectively in 

appropriate areas.  

 

The entire SDNP is an International Dark Sky Reserve, Lewes District have a 

responsibility though its plan making and decision taking to ensure that development 

within the plan area does not affect the setting of the SDNP including the Dark Night 

Sky Reserve. This includes from development including external lighting and light 

spill from internal lighting in order to minimise the overall impact of light. 

 

What you have told us so far 

The Issues and Options consultation document set out how existing policies tackle 

Air Quality. There were no specific questions on air quality but respondents 

commented on the importance of the local plan addressing air quality. Improving air 

quality is also related to the policies on Modal Shift, for which, in general, there was 

much support. Some respondents link the need for modal shift measures with 

healthier environmental conditions. 

 

There were also no specific questions on issues of noise, light, or land contamination, 

but the problem of littering, air pollution, noise pollution was mentioned several times 

by respondents. Some respondents mentioned noise from construction and/or 

construction traffic specifically, while others refer to noise impacts of completed 

development, and impacts of allowing noise sensitive development adjacent to 

existing employment spaces with noise generating activities.  

 

Many respondents stated how much they appreciate a healthy, tranquil, green 

environment, or mentioned the importance of the dark night sky reserve. Many 

respondents commented on how much they appreciate the natural environment and 

how important they consider its protection. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy is not considered an alternative as the quality of the environment is a key 

planning issue which needs to be addressed in the Local Plan. 

 

Further information  

▪ Environment Topic Paper 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 9: Air Quality 

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM20: Pollution Management  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM21: Land Contamination   

Page 268



 

93 

Theme: Homes for Everyone  
 

Aim: Plan for enough housing to meet our needs  

The strategy for the plan sets out how many homes are needed and the locations in 

which they will be built.  The Homes for Everyone theme will guide how new homes 

will be delivered.  The plan will need to ensure that there are enough homes in the 

district that are affordable to people living and working in the district, that meet the 

needs of people at different life stages and provide for enough specialist homes so 

that people with different needs are able to access a home suitable for their needs.  

  

In the Homes for Everyone theme, the plan will set out the policies that will help to 

determine whether planning applications that include residential development meet 

the needs of the district. The policies propose to ensure that new homes include 

sufficient indoor and outdoor space and that new housing developments respond to 

the needs of the different sized households and different household income levels 

that are expected from existing and future residents over the plan period in 

accordance with Healthy Homes principles46.  This includes those who would like to 

build their own homes. The policies will also guide conversions of existing buildings 

to residential use and the subdivision and expansion of existing homes.  Sites 

suitable to meet the needs of Gypsies and Travellers will be identified alongside a 

criteria-based policy to guide planning applications for Gypsy and Traveller sites.  

  

Which Policies Are We Proposing?  

H1: Meeting Housing Needs  

H2: Suitable Homes for All  

H3: Affordable Housing  

H4: Specialist Accommodation for Vulnerable People 

H5: New Residential Development in the Countryside   

H6: Making Best Use of Existing Rural Buildings   

H7: Making Best Use of the Existing Housing Stock   

H8: Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 

  

Consultation Questions for the Homes for Everyone Theme 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included to meet housing 

needs? Why do you think they should they be included? 

▪ Do you agree with the emphasis on securing two-bedroom homes through new 

development and retaining smaller homes in the housing stock?  If not, please 

explain why. 

▪ Do you agree with the affordable housing policy direction that is being set in the 

Affordable Housing policy? If not, please identify how it could be changed. 

 
46 Healthy Homes Principles - Town and Country Planning Association (tcpa.org.uk) 
 

Page 269

https://www.tcpa.org.uk/resources/healthy-homes-principles/


 

94 

▪ Do you agree with prioritising rented affordable tenures over affordable home 

ownership tenures? If not, please explain why you think different tenure 

proportions should be sought. 

▪ Can you identify specific sites that could accommodate Gypsies and Travellers?  

If you can identify a site, please submit it to our call for sites using the form on the 

consultation portal. 

  

Page 270



 

95 

Strategic Policy H1: Meeting Housing Needs  

  

Objectives 

This strategic policy will set out the overall approach to meeting the housing 

requirements of the district guiding the features that builders of residential 

development will need to incorporate in order to make their schemes work for existing 

communities and future residents.  

  

Preferred Policy Direction  

This strategic policy will set out the number of homes that are expected to be 

delivered on different types of site.  It will set out the proportion of homes that are 

expected on sites that already have planning permission, sites allocated to be 

developed by the plan and development that we expect to come forward from sites 

that have not been allocated (windfall development). In accordance with national 

policy this will include meeting at least 10% of the housing requirement on small 

sites.  The policy will set a challenging target of achieving 40% affordable housing 

contributions and will highlight the council’s own housebuilding and acquisition 

programme as set out in the Corporate Plan as a source of supply.  

  

The policy will require that on sites which will provide 100 or more dwellings, plots to 

accommodate 5% of the total number of dwellings proposed on site will be made 

available as self build or custom build plots subject to consideration of the nature of 

the development proposed and the viability of the development.  Where a partial 

number of self build plots is required by the policy, this will be rounded to the next 

highest whole number. Sites consisting of specialist accommodation for particular 

groups in their entirety and those consisting solely of flatted development, will not be 

expected to contribute self build plots.  Serviced plots will be expected to be 

marketed to self builders including those on the Self Build Register.  Those plots not 

sold after 6 months of continuous marketing will revert to the developer to be built 

out.  

  

The approach to delivering homes in the plan will embody Healthy Homes 

Principals47 through the policies set out in each theme. The detailed policies for 

infrastructure requirements and design of residential developments will be set out in 

the Design and Community Facilities and Infrastructure themes, but this strategic 

policy will set the high level expectation that residential development will be designed 

to a high quality that integrates private and communal outdoor space, provides a 

suitable level of children’s play space, mitigates for the expected impacts of climate 

change and integrates active and low carbon travel infrastructure.   

  

 
47 Healthy Homes Principles - Town and Country Planning Association (tcpa.org.uk) 

Page 271

https://www.tcpa.org.uk/resources/healthy-homes-principles/


 

96 

The policy will set out density expectations for residential development in order to 

make best use of the land available for development in accordance with the national 

policy requirement that developments make optimal use of the potential of each 

site.  This will be established with reference to the settlement hierarchy.   Sites in 

district centres and other locations that are well served by public transport should 

achieve a minimum density of 50 dwellings per hectare, sites at Rural Service 

Centres and Service Villages should achieve a minimum of 30 dwellings per 

hectare.  Outside of these areas residential development should aim to achieve a 

minimum of density of 20 dwellings per hectare.  All densities will be based on the net 

developable area of the site following the RICS approach4 to establishing the extent 

of the developable area.  

  

Why is this policy needed?  

National planning policy requires that strategic policies should set out the minimum 

number of homes that need to built over the plan period. The size, type and tenure of 

housing needed for different groups in the community should be assessed and 

reflected in planning policies.  This includes those in need of affordable housing and 

those wishing to build their own homes. 

 

Under the Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended by the 

Housing and Planning Act 2016) (the Act), local authorities are required to keep a 

register of those seeking to acquire serviced plots in the area for their own self-build 

and custom house building. They are also subject to duties to have regard to this 

register and to give enough suitable development permissions to meet the identified 

demand. 

 

National planning policy requires that, where there is an existing or anticipated 

shortage of land for meeting identified housing needs, it is especially important that 

planning policies and decisions avoid homes being built at low densities and ensure 

that developments make optimal use of the potential of each site. In these 

circumstances plans should include policies to optimise the use of land and set out 

minimum density standards that reflect the accessibility and potential of different 

areas.  

 

The LHNA suggests that there is a substantial need for affordable homes to buy in 

the district alongside the need for affordable homes to rent.  The headline need is for 

290 affordable homes per year for the plan area, which consists of a need for 125 

homes additional rented affordable homes per year and 165 for affordable home 

ownership. 

  

The Settlement Hierarchy Review helps to determine the settlement hierarchy for the 

plan based on the findings of the Settlement Services Study. The study identifies the 

locations in the district which have good accessibility where it may be appropriate to 

Page 272



 

97 

maximise opportunities with higher density development or locate development 

where easy access to services is needed. The study recommends that Newick and 

Ringmer are defined as Rural Service Centres; Barcombe Cross, Plumpton Green, 

Wivelsfield Green and South Chailey as Service Villages. 

 

The Land Availability Assessment looks at the density of residential completions and 

residential permissions within different locations within the district and summarises 

the findings.  This assessment is summarised the appendices to the Land Availability 

Assessment. 

 

Since April 2016 the council has kept a Self Build Register which identifies individuals 

and groups who are looking for a plot to self- or custom build their own homes.  Part 

1 of the register includes all individuals and groups of individuals with a local 

connection to the district. Part 2 contains all people who have requested to be listed 

on the register. Based on analysis of CIL receipts and the number of people on Part 

1 of the register there is a need for a further 26 plots to be identified by 2025.  There 

is demand for an additional six plots for people on Part 2 of the register. 

 

The Viability Assessment will consider all the requirements set out in the policies in 

the plan and advise whether different types of sites can realistically be developed 

under those requirements.  The assessment will help to identify the level at which the 

affordable housing contribution can be set so that other development requirements, 

such as infrastructure contributions and climate change mitigations, are able to be 

secured.  

  

What you have told us so far  

Respondents to the Issues and Options Consultation gave strong support to 

maximising the amount of affordable housing secured through development, albeit 

tempered with regard to the need to secure appropriate contributions to support 

education, health and public transport infrastructure and climate change mitigation 

actions. Respondents also supported the delivery of affordable housing where it was 

needed with both on site delivery and contributions towards an affordable housing 

fund supported. 

 

Industry respondents noted that affordable housing requirements should reflect the 

evidence base and suggested that viability assessment needs to factor in the higher 

end of the scale of developer profits in order to ensure that sites continue to come 

forward for development and to reduce the need for renegotiation where the viability 

of schemes may be marginal. 

 

Some support was expressed for achieving higher densities by “building up” within 

the coastal towns but there was also recognition of the quality of the landscapes 

surrounding existing settlements; some respondents suggested that extensions to 

Page 273



 

98 

villages should be built at densities reflecting the existing fabric of the settlement 

rather than maximising the potential of the land available.    

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting  

Policy option not to set an affordable housing target and instead rely on an 

affordable housing requirement.  

Not including a target is not the preferred option as the inclusion of a target gives 

officers greater scope to negotiate for more affordable housing than may be achieved 

through the affordable housing policy requirement alone.  

  

Policy option to detail sustainable design, construction and infrastructure and 

community facilities requirements in the housing policies.  

This is not the preferred approach as clarity and legibility of the plan will be improved 

by setting out design, construction, infrastructure and community facility requirements 

in the appropriate sections of the plan.  

  

Policy options to support self builders  

No sites have been submitted to the council’s land availability assessment from 

landowners willing to accommodate a self build development.  Concentrating the 

requirement on larger sites supports the need to diversify the housing land supply by 

supporting small and medium builders who are more likely to develop smaller 

sites.  Larger sites are more likely to be built in phases so that the developer will 

more easily be able to plan the build out of unsold serviced plots.  

  

Policy option to set minimum density levels for the coastal towns and Low 

Weald.   

This is not the preferred approach because the minimum densities would need to be 

set at a much lower level to comply with the national policy requirements for 

maximising densities in accordance with accessibility.  

  

Further Information  

▪ Topic Paper – Improving Access to Housing  

▪ Local Housing Needs Assessment 2023 

▪ Settlement Hierarchy Review 2023 

▪ LDC Self Build Register 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans   

Local Plan Part 1 - Spatial Policy 2: Distribution of Housing  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 1: Affordable Housing  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 2: Housing Type, Mix and Density  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM1: Planning Boundary  

  

  

Page 274



 

99 

Policy H2: Suitable Homes for All   

    

Objectives 

This policy will set out the approach to achieving a dwelling stock that reflects 

anticipated demographic changes over the plan period. It will set the required internal 

space standards for new homes, the proportion of accessible and adaptable 

dwellings to be provided and the most appropriate bedroom size mix for residential 

developments.  

  

Preferred Policy Direction    

The policy will require that the market element of residential schemes on sites of 

0.5ha or more or delivering 10 or more dwellings will include more two bedroom 

homes than other sizes of dwelling.  The requirement will be subject to the overall 

viability of the scheme and will require that a home size mix that does not prioritise 

two-bedroom homes reflects the needs of the surrounding community.  

  

Gross internal floor areas for all new homes will be required to meet or exceed 

the nationally described residential space standard or successor standards. 

Exceptions will be permitted where the homes are provided to meet the needs of 

specific groups such as students, and evidence is provided to demonstrate that 

meeting the space standards would result in homes that would be unsuitable for the 

intended occupants.   

  

New homes created through conversions and changes of use from non-residential 

land uses should seek to meet or exceed the nationally described residential space 

standards or successor standards.   

  

All new homes will be required to meet the Building Regulations M4(2) ‘accessible 

and adaptable’ dwellings standard as a minimum. Exceptions will be permitted only 

where it can be demonstrated that site specific circumstances and other 

requirements for the development, would make the proposed development 

impractical, unachievable or unviable.  

   

Why is this policy needed?  

National planning policy requires that the size, type and tenure of housing needed for 

different groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in planning 

policies.  Planning policies should ensure that developments, “create places that are 

safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high 

standard of amenity for existing and future users, and . . . do not undermine quality of 

life”. The use of the nationally described residential space standard and the optional 

technical standards for accessible and adaptable housing as a means of meeting 

these requirements is supported.  

  

Page 275



 

100 

A government consultation on Raising Accessibility Standards in New Homes 

concluded in July 2022 that Building Regulations will need to be changed to require 

that all new homes meet the M4(2) accessible and adaptable dwellings 

standard.  Exceptions will be set out in the regulations to specify where M4(1) 

standards will be acceptable, with the onus on developers to justify why M4(2) 

standards are not appropriate for a particular site or individual dwellings.  The focus 

is on physical characteristics of the site, rather than viability constraints.  

  

The policy will draw primarily on the LHNA but will also have reference to the Viability 

Assessment.  

  

Section 5 of the LHNA anticipates that there is a need for the proportion of two-

bedroom homes in the district to increase over the plan period.  The anticipated need 

is expected to be more pronounced in the Low Weald where the dwelling stock is 

dominated by larger dwellings.  An increase in one-bedroom homes is also needed.  

  

Sections 9 of the LHNA reports that the proportion of older people in Lewes District is 

higher than is demonstrated in the sub-regional, regional and national populations as 

measured by the 2021 census.  Older people aged 75+ are more likely to need some 

level of care than younger age groups.  The LHNA models the proportion of older 

people that are expected to require care in 2040 and the need for specialist 

accommodation for older people. The study anticipates that specialist 

accommodation will meet the needs of some older people with care needs but that 

most will be accommodated in mainstream housing that is likely to need to be 

adapted to meet their needs as they age.  

  

What you have told us so far  

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation supported the achievement of a 

mix of dwelling sizes on both a site by site basis and across the district in both rural 

areas and the coastal towns.  Respondents noted that one and two bedroom 

properties in a mix of tenures and building types were needed for people who want to 

downsize from larger properties and also younger people who could not afford to 

purchase larger properties.  

  

Respondents generally supported the setting of minimum space standards in the 

Local Plan. There was support for adopting the Nationally Described Space 

Standard, for ensuring that homes were built to the Building Regulations M4(2) 

standard and that an appropriate proportion of homes were built to accommodate 

those with mobility impairments with respondents specifying various proportions as 

appropriate.  

 

Page 276



 

101 

Some respondents noted that flexibility was required within the policy to allow for 

exceptional circumstances on a site-by-site basis, such as smaller homes for student 

housing and circumstances where level access was not achievable.   

    

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting  

Policy option to require a specific mix of dwelling sizes in all schemes  

This is not the preferred approach as there is a pressing need for more two bedroom 

homes across the district and particularly in the Low Weald.  A more formulaic 

approach that sets out an idealised dwelling mix for schemes is more likely to need 

amendment for individual schemes at the application stage which is likely to 

contribute to delays in the determination process.  

 

Policy option to set out tenure requirements alongside home size 

requirements.  

This is not the preferred approach as the requirements for the affordable element of 

the scheme may be different to the market element dependent on the households 

registered on the waiting list at the time the application is determined.  It is 

considered that the requirements for the mix of homes needed to meet affordable 

housing needs are best set out in the affordable housing policy.  

  

Policy option to require smaller homes without regard to overall scheme 

viability  

This is not the preferred approach as where a scheme may not be viable to develop, 

more larger homes may need to be included in the housing mix to ensure that other 

contributions, for example towards affordable housing, are secured.  The option to 

mandate the priority for more smaller homes without reference to viability has 

therefore been discounted.  

  

Policy option to not require a minimum space standard  

This is not the preferred approach because there was strong support from 

respondents to the Issues and Options consultation to adopt minimum space 

standards.  

  

Policy option to set out a local standard that exceeds those set out in the 

Nationally Described Space Standard  

This is not the preferred approach because it is not consistent with national policy. At 

present the NPPF at Paragraph 130 Footnote 49 requires that local authorities make 

use of the Nationally Described Space Standards to specify the size of homes where 

this is justified. However, “Healthy Homes” principals were introduced into the 

Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill as it passed through the House of Lords during 

September 2023.  The Healthy Home principals include that, ‘all new homes should 

have, as a minimum, the liveable space required to meet the needs of people over 

their whole lifetime, including adequate internal and external storage space’. Subject 

Page 277



 

102 

to the progress of the LURB through the House of Commons, a review of the national 

space standards would be implied. 

  

Policy option to set a target or a proportion of new homes to be built to M4(2) 

standard (percentage of a site or district target)  

This is not the preferred approach because in order to make a difference to the 

proportion of the dwelling stock that is adaptable over the plan period, it is necessary 

for all homes to be built to adaptable standards as represented by M4(2) of the 

building regulations.  This is needed to meet the needs of a rapidly ageing population 

and is in harmony with Healthy Homes principals. 

  

Policy option to set a requirement for the proportion of new homes to be built 

to M4(3) standard.  

This is not the preferred approach because setting a requirement for M4(3) 

wheelchair accessible homes where there may not be occupant for them is costly in 

viability terms.  Those with poor mobility are more likely to be in need of affordable 

housing so requirements for M4(3) accessible dwellings are included in the affordable 

housing policy.  

  

Policy Option to rely on Building Regulation updates to ensure new homes 

meet M4(2) standards  

This is not the preferred approach as it is currently unclear whether the Building 

Regulation update will come into force prior to adoption of the plan. Officers will 

continue to monitor the progress of changes in the Building Regulations throughout 

the process of producing the local plan and reflect changes to the preferred M4(2) 

policy requirement as appropriate in accordance with Healthy Homes principals. 

  

Further Information    

▪ Topic Paper – Improving Access to Housing  

▪ Local Housing Needs Assessment 2023 

   

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans   

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 2: Housing Type, Mix and Density  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 5: Built and Historic Environment and High Quality  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM25.9: Design  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 278



 

103 

  

  

Page 279



 

104 

Strategic Policy H3: Affordable Housing  

  

Objectives  

This policy will set out the approach to meeting the affordable housing requirements 

of the district setting out the circumstances under which affordable housing 

contributions will be required and how the type and tenure of affordable housing will 

be determined.  

  

Preferred Policy Direction  

The policy will require that sites providing 10 to 99 homes make a minimum 

contribution of 25% of the total homes to be provided as affordable housing on 

site.  Further contributions commensurate with the 40% affordable housing target 

may be made on site or as commuted sum payments.   

  

The policy will require that sites providing 100 or more homes make a minimum 

contribution of 30% of the total homes to be provided as affordable housing on 

site.  Further contributions commensurate with the 40% affordable housing target 

may be made on site or as commuted sum payments.  

  

Where a viability assessment at application stage supports the provision of less than 

the 40% overall target for affordable housing contributions, the policy will require that 

the viability of the scheme is subject to review over the course of the build out of the 

development. Any additional affordable housing provision identified as a result of the 

viability review will be acceptable as commuted sum payments.  

  

A tenure and house size mix for affordable housing reflecting the most up to date 

local housing needs evidence and national policy requirements will be expected on 

sites delivering a mix of market and affordable homes for sale. The delivery of homes 

for social and affordable rent will be prioritised over the delivery of homes for 

affordable ownership.  The delivery of homes for social rent will be prioritised over the 

delivery of homes for affordable rent.  A tenure mix of 75% rented to 25% affordable 

ownership products will be set out in the policy.  At present, it is anticipated that the 

tenure mix set out in the policy will be for 60% social rent, 15% affordable rent, 25% 

affordable ownership products.  

  

Discounted affordable home ownership products should be offered with sufficient 

discount that they are affordable to households with median incomes as determined 

by the most up to date housing needs evidence.  The implications of this will be set 

out in the supporting text to the policy. At present, it will require First Homes to be 

offered at 50% discount.  Shared home ownership products will need to be offered 

with a range of initial share purchases from 10%.  Where Rent to Buy homes are 

offered, these will form part of the affordable rent contribution.  

  

Page 280



 

105 

Affordable homes should be integrated with and indistinguishable from market homes 

and constructed of hard wearing, durable materials. Small clusters of affordable 

homes throughout the site will be supported.   A mix of smaller and larger homes 

should be offered.  Housing waiting lists will be used to determine specific 

requirements for the affordable element of the scheme to be delivered on site, 

including bedroom sizes.  These may include clusters of two bedroom flats or houses 

to meet the needs of vulnerable people, care home accommodation, delivery of 

M4(3)(a) wheelchair adaptable accommodation or M4(3)(b) wheelchair accessible 

accommodation.  

  

All major residential development will be expected to contribute to meeting affordable 

housing needs. Where a development consists of Build to Rent homes, the 

affordable housing contribution will consist of homes offered at Affordable Private 

Rent with a minimum discount of 20% on market rents inclusive of service charges, 

secured through agreement with the council.  Where a development consists of C2 

residential accommodation, the affordable tenure mix will consist of predominantly 

accommodation for social rent, but the precise tenure mix will be negotiated with the 

council with regard to evidence from housing waiting lists.  

  

Why is this policy needed?  

NPPF Paragraph 62 requires that the size, type and tenure of housing needed for 

different groups of the community should be assessed and reflected in planning 

policies including those who require affordable housing.  Planning practice guidance 

clarifies that this includes affordable homes to rent and to buy and states that a 

minimum of 25% of all affordable housing units secured through developer 

contributions should be for “First Homes”. National planning policy requires that 

affordable housing policies should specify the type of housing required and expect 

provision to be made on site unless off-site provision or an appropriate financial 

contribution in lieu can be justified and will contribute to the objective of creating 

mixed and balanced communities.  

  

National planning policy stipulates that affordable housing contributions should not be 

sought from minor residential development other than in designated rural areas and 

that requirements may be reduced to support the re-use of brownfield land.  Where 

major residential developments provide affordable housing at least 10% of the total 

homes need to be made available for affordable home ownership unless this would 

significantly prejudice the ability to meet the identified affordable housing needs of 

specific groups.  Exceptions to the requirement for affordable home ownership 

contributions are made for Build to Rent homes, specialist accommodation for groups 

of people with specific homes, self-build developments and developments consisting 

exclusively of affordable housing or rural exception sites.  

  

Page 281



 

106 

The LHNA found that there is a substantial need for affordable homes to buy in the 

district alongside the need for affordable homes to rent.  The headline need is for 290 

affordable homes per year for the plan area, which consists of a need for 125 homes 

additional rented affordable homes per year and 165 for affordable home 

ownership.   

 

Analysis of the ability of households to afford different home ownership products 

confirms that households with median incomes would only be able to access lower 

quartile First Homes with a 50% discount on market prices or a 10% share of lower 

quartile shared ownership homes.  For First Homes, these households would also 

need to have saved for a deposit.  

 

Waiting list data analysis in the LHNA suggests that the bedroom size mix for 

affordable rented tenures should reflect an overall need for 47% one bedroom 

properties, 26% two bedroom properties, 20% three bedroom properties and 7% 

four+ bedroom properties.  These reflect the minimum size property for which a 

household is eligible.  While this property size distribution reflects trends in the 

waiting list, it is also noted within the LHNA that there is significant pressure on three 

bedroom properties, for which there are many more applicants than properties 

available.   

  

What you have told us so far  

There was strong support for securing high levels of affordable housing albeit there 

was no overall clear steer from the consultation regarding how best the affordable 

housing should be secured or delivered.  

  

Some respondents stated that all development should consist solely of affordable 

housing in recognition of the capacity of the district to accommodate new homes 

while others supported different levels of affordable housing.  Differential targets 

recognising the different sub-markets in the district were supported by some 

respondents.  There was also strong support for the delivery of affordable housing 

being prioritised alongside essential infrastructure.  Industry respondents highlighted 

the need for viability assessments that recognised the cost of all policies of the plan 

and built in contingency to accommodate sites with marginal viability.  This included a 

comment that viability assessments need to factor in the higher end of the scale of 

developer profits in order to ensure that sites continue to come forward for 

development and to reduce the need for renegotiation later.  

  

Respondents supported affordable housing that reflected the needs of current 

residents, this included the inclusion of local connection criteria and pricing for 

affordable homes that are affordable to those with incomes reflective of the 

community.  Smaller starter homes were also supported, particularly in the Low 

Page 282



 

107 

Weald.  Council house building programmes were supported as an alternative to 

market delivered affordable housing development.  

  

Opinions on the tenure of affordable housing were divided, with respondents 

suggesting a number of different approaches to proportions of rented and low cost 

home ownership tenures.  The government requirement for inclusion of the First 

Homes tenure also divided respondents, with some suggesting that rented tenures 

should be priorities once the First Home requirement had been satisfied, and some 

suggesting that rented tenures should form a lower proportion so that shared 

ownership homes could be included in the housing mix.  Industry respondents noted 

that tenure assumptions would have an impact on viability and would need to be 

reflected in those assessments; the cost and risk to the developer of providing First 

Homes mean that a market return is expected rather than the lower return anticipated 

for other forms of affordable housing where Registered Providers share the risk.  

  

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting  

Policy Option to Set Higher or Lower Affordable Housing Targets  

Setting a lower affordable housing target is not the preferred approach because 

affordable housing need exceeds 48% of the housing need as established under the 

Standard Method. It is anticipated that developments comprising 10 or more homes 

will generally be viable with a 40% affordable housing contribution; but this will be 

tested through the whole plan viability assessment.  Setting a target higher than 40% 

will be reviewed based on the viability assessment but may not be supported in view 

of plan wide requirements for achieving other goals.  

  

Setting Lower On Site Affordable Housing Requirements  

Setting a lower on site affordable housing requirement is not the preferred approach 

as this is unlikely to support the achievement of mixed and balanced communities 

where development occurs.  

  

Alternative proportions of rented and affordable ownership homes  

The LHNA identifies that there is a need for 125 affordable homes for rent per annum 

and a further potential need for 165 homes for affordable home ownership per 

annum.  This includes newly arising households falling into need and those currently 

on housing waiting lists. Translated directly to a policy requirement would imply 43% 

rented and 57% owned tenures.  This is not the preferred approach because the 

potential need to increase access to affordable home ownership products does not 

outweigh the Council Plan priority to provide homes for those who are not able to 

access a decent home at all.  The preferred approach is supported by the 

consultation responses and the corporate priority to secure high levels of affordable 

homes for rent.    

Further Information  

▪ Topic Paper – Improving Access to Housing  

Page 283



 

108 

▪ Local Housing Needs Assessment 2023 

  

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans   

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 1: Affordable Housing  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM2: Rural Exception Sites  

  

  

  

Page 284



 

109 

Policy H4: Specialist Accommodation for Vulnerable People  

  

Objectives 

This policy will set out the approach to meeting the need for specialist 

accommodation for those with specific needs that are not met by standard 

homes.  These include older people in need of care, disabled people, people with 

learning disabilities, those in need of support with their mental health, single 

homeless people with support needs, and young people leaving care.  

  

Preferred Policy Direction  

Specialist housing will be supported where a need for the type of specialist housing 

proposed is demonstrated by the most recent district housing needs assessment or 

other care needs assessments published by health or government bodies, and where 

the development would not lead to concentrations of such provision in a 

community.    

  

All development proposals for independent and supported living schemes and new 

build development for care home accommodation should be located within settlement 

boundaries and should include communal facilities for residents and accommodation 

for any essential resident staff on the site.  

  

Development proposals for independent and supported living schemes and care 

home accommodation will be supported where they are located in district centres.    

  

Development proposals for independent and supported living schemes and care 

home accommodation will be supported in Rural Service Centres and Service 

Villages where applicants contribute to the provision of demand led public transport 

services to support residents’ independence.  

  

Provision of care home accommodation and conversion of existing buildings to care 

home accommodation in Local Villages and Hamlets will be supported where 

applicants contribute to the provision of demand led public transport services to 

support residents’ need to access community and health services.  

  

Development proposals for specialist accommodation for older people will be 

required to meet M4(2) adaptable standards as a minimum and include a proportion 

of the homes as wheelchair accessible in accordance with both M4(3)(a) and 

M4(3)(b) standards set out in Building Regulations.   Affordable housing contributions 

from such development will be required in accordance with the Affordable Housing 

Policy.  

  

Conversion of existing buildings to specialist accommodation will be supported. 

Where the accommodation is for older people, requirements for wheelchair access 

Page 285



 

110 

will need to be accommodated.  The loss of specialist accommodation will be resisted 

unless the applicant can demonstrate that there is no longer a need for that type of 

specialist housing and the building cannot be converted, remodelled or redeveloped 

to meet the need for other types of specialist housing.  

  

Evidence based proposals for the provision of residential annexes to accommodate 

an elderly or disabled dependent will be supported.  The accommodation should 

meet the functional need of the occupant(s), be proportionate in scale and remain 

ancillary to the main dwelling.  Conditions restricting the occupancy and subsequent 

sale of such accommodation will be applied to the grant of permission.  

  

Why is this policy needed?  

NPPF Paragraph 61 requires that strategic policies should be informed by a local 

housing need assessment.  NPPF Paragraph 62 requires that the size, type and 

tenure of housing needed for different groups of the community should be assessed 

and reflected in planning policies including older people and people with disabilities.  

  

Planning Practice Guidance for Housing for Older and Disabled People5 advises that 

clear policies should be set to address the housing needs of groups with particular 

needs.  The policies can set out how the authority will consider proposals for the 

different types of housing that these groups are likely to require and may provide an 

indicative figure for the number of specialist homes will be needed over the plan 

period.  

  

What are the headlines from the evidence gathered?  

The LHNA investigates the need for specialist accommodation for older persons in 

Section 9. The LHNA found that there is likely to be an additional 7,779 older people 

aged 75 plus in the district population in 2040.  These are expected to form 

approximately 5,484 households.  This gives rise to a need for a further 1,877 

specialist homes in the plan area.  There is likely to be some cross over in the extra 

care figure between the need for independent C3 provision and communal C2 bed-

spaces.  

  

The LHNA compares the current supply of specialist homes with the idealised 

provision rates from the Housing Learning and Improvement Network (LIN) Shop 

tool.  Current provision of specialist homes is estimated to be 152 units per 1000 age 

75 plus persons across the whole district.  The Housing Lin recommends provision at 

a rate of 250 specialist homes per 1000 age 75 plus persons.  The LHNA goes on to 

examine the need for C2 bed-spaces and recommends that approximately 451 

additional care home beds (23 per annum) will be required over the plan period for 

older persons.  

  

Page 286



 

111 

Section 10 of the LHNA examines the needs for specialist housing for vulnerable 

people identified in the district.  These include older people, people with learning 

disabilities, people with physical disabilities, people with mental health support needs, 

single homeless people with support needs and young people leaving care.  The 

study notes that the prevalence of vulnerable people in the district is somewhat below 

or commensurate with national averages.  The pressing need for accommodation for 

younger vulnerable people is for independent move on accommodation and for two-

bedroom accommodation where support can be provided by a resident care 

provider.  

  

What you have told us so far  

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation supported the provision of 

homes suitable for older people.  The provision of generally smaller homes in the 

development mix and of small schemes of purpose built older persons 

accommodation was supported.  There was some support for the inclusion of 

bungalows in the housing mix policies and strong support for increasing the 

accessibility requirements of new housing from public respondents.  Industry 

respondents noted that Building Regulation M4(1) standards already exceed the 

accessibility of the general housing stock, while the imposition of requirements for 

M4(2) adaptable and M4(3) accessible homes could impact negatively on viability 

and needs to be appropriately evidenced in accordance with the PPG.  The need for 

independent living schemes to be located in places with good access to community 

facilities, shops and public transport was noted by respondents.  

  

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting  

  

Set a requirement for provision of specialist homes on larger sites  

This is not the preferred approach because Policy H2 sets a requirement for all new 

development to meet M4(2) standards to ensure that there is a supply of easily 

adaptable homes across the plan area.   However, the LHNA notes that older people 

are more likely to need to use a wheelchair either some or all of the time.  Where 

schemes are developed specifically for older people, it is likely that a proportion of 

the intended occupants will need to use a wheelchair at some point in time.  For this 

reason, the preferred approach is that a proportion of the dwellings provided in such 

development should be fully wheelchair accessible in accordance with Building 

Regulations M(3)(b).    

  

Support Provision of Specialist Homes in All Settlements  

This is not the preferred approach because the spatial strategy seeks to 

accommodate development in locations where residents will be able to easily access 

the good and services they require.  Specialist schemes for independent living, 

whether these are intended for older people or people with different support needs 

are more likely to be occupied by those without access to a private vehicle.  In 

Page 287



 

112 

addition, those with poor mobility may find walking longer distances or making 

repeated changes when using public transport problematic.  Concentrating provision 

in settlements at the top of the settlement hierarchy will support the continued 

independence of residents. 

  

Allocate sites for the provision of care homes  

This is not the preferred approach as none of the sites promoted to the plan have 

been submitted for allocation for specialist accommodation.  Should a site be 

promoted to the council for the provision of a care home then this would need to be 

assessed against the spatial strategy to ensure allocation was appropriate.  In the 

absence of such sites, a criteria based policy is set out to ensure that applications for 

care homes are directed to the most appropriate locations.  

  

Further Information  

▪ Topic Paper – Improving Access to Housing  

▪ Local Housing Needs Assessment 2023 

  

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans    

Local Plan Part 1 - CP2: Housing Type Mix and Density  

Local Plan Part 2 - DM4: Residential Conversions in the Countryside   

Local Plan Part 2 - DM29: Garages and other buildings ancillary to existing dwellings  

  

  

  

Page 288



 

113 

Policy H5: New Residential Development in the Countryside  

  

Objectives 

This policy will set out the circumstances where new residential development outside 

of defined settlement boundaries will be acceptable including where homes are 

needed to support rural businesses. 

  

Preferred Policy Direction  

The policy will support the delivery of residential development on sites closely related 

to existing settlements outside of defined settlement boundaries for the delivery of 

affordable housing.  These may take the form of:   

▪ Rural exceptions sites, where the development is for 100% affordable housing 

to be retained in perpetuity to meet local needs;  

▪ First Home exception sites where the homes are sold at a 50% discount on 

market values and offered to those with a local connection first and;  

▪ Single plots for self builders, where the applicant will be expected to have a 

local connection to the parish, have a maximum household income of £80k per 

annum and the home built will be subject to a maximum floorspace of 90m2 on 

plots of a maximum of 0.05 ha.  

Where the delivery of an affordable housing scheme on an exception site will not be 

achievable without grant funding, a small element of market housing may be 

supported as enabling development, subject to viability evidence.  

  

Sporadic residential development in the countryside will generally be resisted.  The 

approach to rural workers dwellings will be carried forward from the adopted LPP2 

Policy DM3. In order to support existing viable rural businesses of at least three years 

trading, new permanent homes will be supported where the business requires one or 

more workers to be readily available at most times and there is no other suitable or 

available accommodation within the site or buildings that could be converted to 

residential use.  Where a business is unable to demonstrate ongoing viability over a 

three year period, a temporary dwelling may be permitted.  Occupancy conditions 

related to the business will be applied to any homes permitted by the policy.  

  

Why is this policy needed?  

  

What is required by legislation from the Local Plan  

Paragraph 72 of the NPPF requires that the development of exception sites offering 

one or more types of affordable housing, including those suitable for first time buyers 

should be supported where they are adjacent to and proportionate in size to existing 

settlements.  NPPF Paragraph 78 requires that policies are responsive to local 

circumstance in rural areas and support residential developments that reflect local 

needs.  Furthermore, it is required that opportunities to bring forward rural exception 

Page 289



 

114 

sites are supported including consideration of whether a market element would help 

to facilitate the development.  

  

The NPPF at Paragraph 80 requires that planning policies should generally avoid the 

development of new isolated homes in the countryside.  Exceptional circumstances 

for countryside development include the needs for rural workers, securing the future 

of heritage assets and the re-use of existing buildings. The NPPF Paragraph 80e 

also supports isolated residential development that is of an exceptional design 

quality.  

  

Under the Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended by the 

Housing and Planning Act 2016) (the Act), local authorities are required to keep a 

register of those seeking to acquire serviced plots in the area for their own self-build 

and custom house building. They are then required to have granted permission for an 

equivalent number of plots of land suitable for self and custom housebuilding as 

there are entries for a prescribed period within three years.  

  

What are the headlines from the evidence gathered?  

The LHNA suggests that there is a substantial need for affordable homes to buy in 

the district.  The need for affordable home ownership equates to approximately 165 

homes per annum.  Analysis of those registered with the Help to Buy agent suggests 

that the majority comprise smaller households with household incomes that are 

sufficient to access home ownership with a 50% discount on lower quartile properties 

achieved either as a 50% First Homes discount or 25% share via Shared 

Ownership.  The study also notes that there are far fewer people registered with the 

Help to Buy agent in the district than is common in other local authorities and 

suggests that this may reflect a perceived lack of supply.  

  

The Settlement Services and Facilities Study helps to determine the settlement 

hierarchy for the plan as set out in the spatial strategy policy. The study identifies all 

the recognised settlements in the district, including hamlets.  

  

The Self Build Register Part 1 identifies that there is a need for the council to grant 

permission for sufficient land for a further 26 self and custom build plots by 30th 

October 2025 for people with a local connection to the district.  There is existing 

demand for an six additional plots for people on Part 2 of the register who do not 

have a local connection.  Registration is open to anyone who wishes to self build. 

New registrations to Part 1 of the register are approximately 15 households per 

annum which suggests that there is an ongoing need for plots for people with local 

connections to the district.  Analysis of registrants suggests that plots are sought 

primarily in the rural north of the district.  

  

Page 290



 

115 

The 2023 Economic Needs Assessment recommends at R5, Paragraph 9.3.17 that 

flexibility in the rural economy should be supported to respond to opportunities to use 

land and buildings previously in agricultural use for industrial or office 

employment.  The ENA notes that Lewes has a relatively large agricultural sector, 

which is forecast to decline slightly in size over the new Local Plan period which 

could bring opportunities for diversification of use of land and buildings currently in 

agricultural use. The rural economy in Lewes district could provide significant 

economic opportunities for local people.  

  

What you have told us so far  

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation were generally in support of 

achieving high levels of affordable housing in the district with some respondents 

supporting only the delivery of affordable housing over the plan period.  Industry 

respondents noted that an evidence based approach to affordable housing was 

needed, with due regard to scheme viability.  

  

Rural exception sites were supported as a means of addressing very high levels of 

affordable housing need in rural areas but there was less support for including First 

Homes exception sites within the policy.  This was in part due to the likelihood of 

government guidance changes and in part due First Homes only delivering 

discounted market housing that may not be affordable to residents, rather than the 

rented and shared ownership tenures that residents need.  

  

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting  

Policy Option to Omit First Homes Exception Sites from the Policy  

This is not the preferred option because it would allow First Home Exception Sites to 

come forward with a discount of 30%.  The LHNA concludes that, for First Homes to 

be affordable to those in need of affordable home ownership products in the district, 

a discount of 50% on market prices would be needed.  The First Homes Guidance 

states that local authorities are only able to stipulate a discount of greater than 30% 

on market prices through the plan making process.  In order to ensure that any First 

Homes Exception Sites that may come forward meet the needs of the district, the 

preferred approach is to include the required discount within the policy.  

  

Widen Exception Policy for Rural Workers to all Live/Work Businesses  

This is not the preferred option because there is not necessarily an operational need 

for all rural businesses to have residential accommodation on site and national policy 

requires that the development of isolated homes in the countryside should be 

avoided.   

Page 291



 

116 

Define Exceptional Design Criteria for Isolated Rural Homes  

This is not the preferred approach. By not including a specific policy in the plan the 

onus will be on applicants to prove the high architectural merit of their design in 

accordance with NPPF Paragraph 80e rather than the plan setting out what would be 

looked for in order to make an exception to the spatial strategy.    

  

Rely on Market Delivery of Self Build Plots  

This is not the preferred approach because some people who desire to build their 

own homes will not be able to afford the cost of market delivered serviced plots.  The 

inclusion of the policy opens a route to rural affordable home ownership to self-

builders that has been successful in other areas of the country where the affordability 

and availability of homes in rural areas is poor.  

  

  

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Improving Access to Housing  

▪ Local Housing Needs Assessment 2023 

▪ Settlement Services and Facilities Study 2023 

▪ Self Build Register 

  

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans   

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 1: Affordable Housing guides rural exception 

schemes in accordance with saved policy RES10 of the 2003 Local Plan.  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM1: Planning Boundary  

Local Plan Part 2 - Rural Exception Sites 

Local Plan Part 2 - Accommodation for Agricultural and Other Rural Workers  

  

Page 292



 

117 

Policy H6: Making Best Use of Existing Rural Buildings  

  

Objectives  

This policy will set out the approach to the conversion of existing rural buildings for 

residential purposes and residential redevelopment that will be acceptable in the 

countryside, outside of defined settlement boundaries.  

  

Preferred Policy Direction  

New residential development will be generally restricted in the countryside, outside of 

defined settlement boundaries. There will be some circumstances under which the 

conversion of existing buildings to a residential use will be acceptable and it is 

proposed that these are broadly carried forward from the Lewes Local Plan Part 2 

2020.  

  

Replacement dwellings in the countryside will only be permitted where a replacement 

dwelling is not substantively larger than the one it replaces and adheres to the design 

principles set out in the plan. The replacement of caravans, mobile or park homes 

with permanent dwellings will not generally be permitted.  

  

There are some circumstances where existing rural buildings used for agriculture 

purposes may be converted to residential use under permitted development Class 

Q.  The policy will guide those conversions which need planning consent.  

  

▪ For residential conversions in the countryside, the change of use and 

adaptation of redundant or disused buildings to residential use will be 

supported where:  

▪ the buildings are unsuitable for employment use, or it is demonstrated through 

marketing of the property that there is no demand for their development for 

employment use,  

▪ the proposed development could be achieved without prejudice to any viable 

agricultural operations;  

▪ the buildings are structurally sound and are of permanent construction, 

demonstrated through the submission of a structural survey;  

▪ the applicant can demonstrate that access to a district centre, rural service 

centre or service village is achievable by walking or using public transport 

(locations within 800m of a bus stop).  

▪ the creation of a residential curtilage can be achieved that enhances the rural 

setting and responds sensitively to the rural character of the surrounding 

landscape, particularly through appropriate boundary treatment.  The removal 

of existing structures and features that detract from the rural character and 

identity of the locality will be supported.  

  

Page 293



 

118 

Why is this policy needed?  

Paragraph 80 of the NPPF requires that planning policies avoid the development of 

isolated homes in the countryside unless the development would re-use redundant or 

disused buildings and enhance its immediate setting or the development would 

involve the subdivision of an existing residential building.  Paragraph 84 of the NPPF 

requires that planning policies should enable the sustainable growth and expansion 

of all types of business in rural areas through conversion of existing buildings.  

  

The 2023 Economic Needs Assessment recommends at Paragraph 9.3.17 that 

flexibility in the rural economy should be supported to respond to opportunities to use 

land and buildings previously in agricultural use for industrial or office employment.  

  

The 2023 Landscape Character Assessment identifies five different landscape types 

in the area of the district to the north of the South Downs National Park.  The 

dominant landscape character type identified is that of Western Low Weald which 

exhibits a highly rural and tranquil character due to the land use and the enclosure 

from mature vegetation, with localised references to villages via church 

towers.  Other landscape character types are more localised in extent and include 

Eastern Low Weald to the east, Scarp Footslope bordering the national park, Ouse 

Catchment bordering the River Ouse, and an area of Heathland to the northwest.  

   

The Landscape Sensitivity Assessment will consider the impacts of development on 

the Landscape Character.  

  

What you have told us so far  

There was general support for policy approaches that make best use of brownfield 

and redevelopment opportunities by respondents to the Issues and Options 

consultation.  There was some support for supporting farm diversification through use 

of redundant rural buildings for economic use including for tourist accommodation but 

also for using redundant rural buildings for residential development.   There was 

general support for policy approaches that maintain the character of the countryside 

landscape allied to some limited support for the protection of open countryside with 

design control that ensure that a rural, open feeling is maintained and 

environmentally and locally sensitive designs are used.   

  

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting    

Option to not include a policy  

This approach is not considered a reasonable alternative as proposals for conversion 

of rural buildings would revert to Paragraph 80 of the NPPF. This could lead to 

derelict buildings being bought back into use for residential purposes and would not 

necessarily reflect the ENA recommendations that the conversion of existing 

agricultural buildings to industrial or office use should be prioritised over residential 

conversion.  

Page 294



 

119 

  

Option to Set Out Landscape Considerations in the Policy  

This is not the preferred policy because the approach taken in the plan is that 

detailed design considerations, including those for reflecting landscape character, are 

more appropriately contained within the suite of design policies.  

  

Option not to include a public transport restriction  

This is not the preferred policy approach because the development of homes in 

isolated rural locations would be contrary to the spatial strategy and is likely to make 

access to goods and services difficult for the future occupants of the property.  

  

  

Further Information   

▪ Topic Paper – Improving Access to Housing 

  

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans    

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM4: Residential Conversions in the Countryside  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM5: Replacement Dwellings in the Countryside  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM27: Landscape Design 

  

Page 295



 

120 

  

 Policy H7: Making Best Use of the Existing Housing Stock  

  

Objectives  

This policy will set out the circumstances where it will be acceptable for existing 

residential plots or buildings to be developed to increase the number of homes on the 

site.  It will guide the subdivision and extension of existing homes.  

  

Preferred Policy Direction  

The policy will continue the approach of the adopted Lewes Local Plan by supporting 

the subdivision of existing residential plots within settlement boundaries that increase 

the number of homes on site.  The policy will support the provision of replacement 

homes where this will increase the number of homes on the site.  Subdivision of 

larger homes into smaller homes for single households and multiple household 

shared homes will also be supported.  The net loss of existing homes through 

development will be resisted unless the loss would result in substantial improvements 

to the quality of residential accommodation provided.  

  

The policy will set out a restriction on substantially increasing the size of smaller 

homes to ensure that the stock of smaller homes is not eroded.  This will limit the 

increase to 30% of the existing floorspace.  The size of smaller homes will be defined 

as those of 90m2or less at the time of application.  The cumulative floorspace added 

to the property by previous extensions will also be considered by the decision 

maker.  Evidence based proposals for the provision of residential extensions to 

accommodate an elderly or disabled dependent will be supported in accordance with 

Policy H4.  

  

Intensification of residential development will be subject to the suite of design policies 

that reference a range of factors including potential harm to local character, occupier 

and neighbour amenity, trees, heritage and biodiversity.   

  

Why is this policy needed?  

The NPPF at Paragraph 62, requires that the size, type and tenure of housing 

needed for different groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in 

planning policies.  

  

NPPF Paragraph 119 requires planning policies to promote an effective use of land 

in meeting the need for homes in a way that makes as much use as possible of 

previously developed land, while safeguarding and improving the environment and 

ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.  Paragraph 120(c) states that planning 

policies should give substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land 

within settlements for homes and other identified needs.  

  

Page 296



 

121 

Section 5 of the LHNA has found that there will be a need for the proportion of two-

bedroom homes in the district to increase over the plan period.  The anticipated need 

is expected to be more pronounced in the Low Weald where the dwelling stock is 

dominated by larger dwellings. The LHNA also anticipates that an increase in one-

bedroom homes is needed.  

  

Section 7 of LHNA notes that households with lower quartile incomes are only able to 

afford the market rent of a single lower quartile room and that the supply of these 

lower priced properties is very limited.  

  

What you have told us so far  

Respondents to the Issues and Options Consultation were generally in support of 

policy approaches that prioritise or make best use of brownfield land.  This included 

some support for the provision of low rise apartment blocks and smaller properties 

that may suit older persons looking to downsize.  There was some limited support for 

increasing the supply of shared housing to allow young people access to 

independent living, with recognition that the creation of smaller, cheaper one and two 

bedroom properties would also help younger people to access suitable 

homes.  Respondents also commented on the need for study space to accommodate 

home workers.  There was some very limited support for allowing substantial 

extensions to smaller properties as a way of allowing those with limited budgets to 

access larger homes.  

  

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting  

Option to take a design led approach to subdivision and intensification  

This is not the preferred approach because intensification of existing residential sites 

provides scope for providing more housing in the most sustainable locations within 

existing built up areas.  The very limited supply of brownfield land in the plan area 

means that there is a need to make the best use of all opportunities to increase the 

supply of homes. The inclusion of a housing policy that sets a clear indication that the 

subdivision and intensification of existing residential plots is supported, means that 

schemes for this type of development can be enhanced with regard to the design 

policies set out in the plan, making both application and decision making processes 

more straight forward.  

  

Option to limit the development of Homes in Multiple Occupation (HMO)  

This is not the preferred approach because there are no significant concentrations of 

licenced HMO accommodation within the plan area and very few licenced HMO 

overall within the district.    

  

Options for the threshold size of home for which substantial increases will be 

limited and appropriate level of increase.  

Page 297



 

122 

Policy H7 seeks to support the supply of two bedroom homes by retaining existing 

two bedroom homes as such.   Permitted development means that there is 

substantial scope for home owners to increase the size of their homes without 

recourse to the development management system.  This includes the creation of 

single storey rear and side extensions and modest loft conversions.  However, there 

is limited scope for additional upstairs bedrooms to be created via two storey 

extensions without requiring planning consent.  The preferred policy approach would 

mean that householder applications to substantially increase the size of smaller 

homes could be refused planning permission.  The intention is that smaller homes 

would be retained in the housing stock, an approach that has been successfully 

adopted within the South Downs National Park.  The preferred policy approach sets 

the threshold for the application of the policy at 90m2. This would mean that homes of 

up to 90m2 would only be able to increase the floorspace of the dwelling by a limited 

proportion where planning permission is required.  Setting the threshold at 90m2 is 

considered to be the most appropriate value as it is most likely to impact on two 

bedroom homes within the plan area.  A lower threshold is less likely to capture 

smaller bungalows which would mean that substantial extensions to them could 

make them less suitable for smaller, elderly households.  A higher threshold is more 

likely to capture three bedroom homes, which the LHNA advises will still be needed 

within the housing stock.  

  

The limit of a 30% increase to smaller homes has been set with reference to the 

Nationally Described Space Standards.  The choice of a 30% increase would 

therefore permit a modest two storey extension with a footprint sufficient to 

accommodate a generous single bedroom on the first floor for dwellings of 60m2 to 

90m2 and would accommodate a modest double bedroom on the first floor of 

dwellings of 80m2 to 90m2.  This approach supports the need for three bedroom 

homes in the housing stock.  

  

Further Information    

▪ Topic Paper – Improving Access to Housing  

  

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans     

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 11: Built and Historic Environment and High Quality 

Design  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM8: Residential Sub-Divisions and Shared Housing  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM25: Design  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM28: Residential Extensions  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM30: Backland Development 

Policy H8: Accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 

Showpeople  

  

Page 298



 

123 

Objectives  

This policy will allocate sites for Gypsies and Traveller accommodation and set out 

the criteria against which permission for new sites will be determined.  

  

Preferred Policy Direction  

The policy will seek to allocate land for five pitches for ethnic Gypsies and 

Travellers.    

  

The submission of sites to accommodate the need for pitches or for transit 

accommodation is invited through the consultation.  Should no suitable sites be 

identified through the call for sites process, the policy will require that sites providing 

100 or more homes contribute to the provision of accommodation for Gypsies and 

Travellers.  

  

The policy will set out criteria against which planning applications for Gypsy, Traveller 

and Travelling Show Person Accommodation will be determined.  The criteria are 

drawn from the existing adopted policy but have been modified to reflect the other 

proposed policies.  The following criteria are expected to be satisfied by applications:  

▪ The capacity of the site or extensions to existing sites, can be 

demonstrated to meet a need for further Gypsy, Traveller or Travelling 

Showperson accommodation, and is of a sufficient size to accommodate 

the needs of the intended occupants.  

▪ The site is not subject to absolute barriers to development such as 

flooding, poor drainage, poor ground stability or proximity to other 

hazardous land uses where residential development would not be 

considered appropriate.  

▪ The site has safe and satisfactory vehicular and pedestrian access to the 

surrounding principal highway network and is large enough to enable 

vehicle movements, parking and servicing to take place.  

▪ The site can be provided with safe drinking water, sewage treatment, 

waste disposal facilities and electricity.  

▪ The proposal will be sensitively designed to give privacy to the occupants, 

minimise impacts on the amenity of neighbouring properties and visual 

impacts on the surrounding landscape.  

  

Proposals that would lead to a loss of accommodation for Gypsies and Travellers will 

be resisted unless it can be demonstrated that suitable alternative accommodation is 

to be provided or that a need for such accommodation no longer exists in the plan 

area.  

  

Why is this policy needed?  

  

What is required by legislation from the Local Plan  

Page 299



 

124 

  

Humans Rights Act 1998 and the Equalities Act 2010  

The Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 protect Gypsies and Travellers’ 

cultural and ethnic way of life, including living in a caravan. This relates to all those 

who are ethnically recognised as Gypsies and Travellers and includes Romany 

Gypsies and Irish Travellers.  

  

Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS), August 2015  

Gypsies and Travellers are defined by the PPTS as:   

“Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons 

who on grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ educational or 

health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excluding members of 

an organised group of travelling showpeople or circus people travelling together as 

such.”   

  

In determining whether persons are “gypsies and travellers” for the purposes of the 

PPTS, consideration should be given to the following issues among other relevant 

matters:   

a) whether they previously led a nomadic habit of life   

b) the reasons for ceasing their nomadic habit of life   

c) whether there is an intention of living a nomadic habit of life in the future, 

and if so, how soon and in what circumstances.  

  

While the PPTS excludes those who have ceased to travel permanently as being 

Gypsies and Travellers for planning purposes, it does not state how the planning 

definition should be interpreted in relation to other factors, such as whether families 

travel for economic or work purposes.   

  

Travelling Show People are defined by the PPTS as:  

“Members of a group organised for the purposes of holding fairs, circuses or shows 

(whether or not travelling together as such). This includes such persons who on the 

grounds of their own or their family’s or dependants’ more localised pattern of trading, 

educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but 

excludes Gypsies and Travellers.”  

  

The PPTS emphasises the need for local authorities to use evidence to plan 

positively and manage development and requires local authorities to identify the 

accommodation needs of Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople who accord 

with the planning definition.  

  

The East Sussex Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation 

Needs Assessment (GTAA) (May 2022) recommends that the East Sussex 

authorities plan to meet the PPTS figure for the required number of pitches and plots 

Page 300



 

125 

and view the “ethnic” need as an indication of the level of need that is likely to be 

required to meet the needs of all of the Gypsies and Travellers in the area.  

  

The accommodation needs were assessed using both secondary data and primary 

consultation with Gypsies and travellers, those that work with Gypsies and Travellers 

and site owners and managers. The accommodation assessment found 3 permanent 

pitches were occupied in the plan area and that a further 3 pitches were required for 

Gypsies and Travellers that meet the ethnic definition, are currently housed in the 

traditional bricks and mortar housing stock but have an aversion to living in such 

accommodation due to their ethnic origin.  

  

The study then applies an annual growth rate to the identified population of 3.25% 

per annum, which it considers appropriate and likely to continue during the period 

2026 to 2040.   This results in a need for a further 3 pitches for those that meet the 

PTTS definition.  No further pitches are expected to be needed for those that meet 

the ethnic definition, but not the PTTS definition.  

  

In total 6 pitches are required during the period 2021 to 2040.  A total of 3 pitches are 

required for those that meet the PTTS definition.  This requirement needs to be met 

over the period from 2026 to 2040.  A further 3 pitches are needed for those that 

meet the ethnic definition.  These will be needed during the period from 2021 to 2026 

for families that are currently housed in the traditional bricks and mortar housing 

stock but have an aversion to living in such accommodation due to their ethnic 

origin.  This need may be met through the allocation of sites in the plan or through 

the application of a criteria based policy.  

  

Applications for Permanent Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation  

The East Sussex GTAA was published in May 2022 based on evidence gathered 

over the preceding year.  Since publication of the study, one pitch for permanent 

accommodation for a Gypsy or Traveller family has been granted in the plan area.  

  

What you have told us so far  

One respondent noted that there were no questions regarding Gypsy and Traveller 

accommodation in the consultation materials.  One respondent noted that the site 

allocated by policy GT01: Land South of the Plough had previously been found 

unsuitable for general development.  

  

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting  

Seek to allocate sites for those that meet the PTTS definition only.  

The council has a duty to assess the need for sites for accommodation for Gypsies 

and Travellers in accordance with the PTTS definition.  However there still exist 

members of the travelling community who are currently unsuitable accommodated 

that meet the ethnic definition of Gypsies and Travellers as set out in the Equalities 

Page 301



 

126 

Act.  NPPF Paragraph 60 requires that “the needs of groups with specific housing 

requirements are addressed”. At present, no sites suitable to accommodate Gypsies 

and Travellers have been submitted for consideration by the plan.  One pitch has 

been granted permission over the plan period.  A further call for sites may bring 

forward a site that is capable of accommodating the five further pitches which are 

expected to be needed to accommodate all those who meet the ethnic definition.  

  

The preferred approach is to accommodate all those who meet the ethnic definition 

through the allocation of suitable sites.  Should this not be possible to achieve, a 

requirement for strategic sites to make land available within the development to meet 

the needs of those Gypsies and Travellers who meet the PTTS definition will be 

sought; the criteria based policy will be used to support the accommodation needs of 

those who meet the ethnic definition. 

  

Rely on provision through a criteria based policy  

This is not the preferred approach as the council need to make sufficient land 

available to meet the needs of those Gypsies and Travellers that meet the PTTS 

definition.  This requires that sufficient land for two pitches for Gypsies and Travellers 

is identified.  The GTAA does not identify a need for plots for Travelling Show People 

and as such a criteria based policy is considered sufficient.  

  

Further Information    

▪ Topic Paper – Improving Access to Housing 

▪ The East Sussex Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation 

Needs Assessment 2022 

  

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans     

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 3: Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy GT01: Land south of the Plough  

 

 

  

Page 302



 

127 

Theme: Economy and Regeneration 
 

Aim: To promote a prosperous local economy and building community wealth 

through regeneration of the coastal towns and support for the rural economy 

 

The new Local Plan has an important role to play helping to stimulate and maintain a 

prosperous and balanced local economy that keeps the wealth generated within the 

district. It will need to provide policies that ensure sufficient quality and quantity of 

sites and premises for businesses and other uses to provide local employment for 

local communities, which will help to reduce unsustainable commuting in and out of 

the district. It should also encourage the provision of relevant employment skills, 

training and support to meet the needs and aspirations of existing and potential 

companies and the local workforce, both now and in the future, which will help to 

address the pockets of socio-economic deprivation, particularly along the coast. 

 

The Economy and Regeneration theme will support and encourage local economic 

development by identifying key locations for improving the quality of employment 

floorspace (with a particular emphasis on office and industrial uses), protecting well-

functioning existing employment sites from other competing uses, encouraging the 

growth of the rural economy and tourism, and supporting the expansion and 

modernisation of Newhaven port. It also seeks to maintain and enhance the vitality of 

town and district centres. 

 

Which Policies Are We Proposing? 

 

E1: Meeting Economic Needs 

E2: Newhaven Town 

E3: Newhaven Port 

E4: Local Labour Agreements 

E5: Rural Employment  

E6: Retail and Town Centres  

E7: Visitor Economy 

E8: Equestrian Development 

 

Consultation Questions for the Economy and Regeneration Theme 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included to meet economic 

and regeneration needs? Why do you think they should they be included? 

▪ Do you agree with the policy direction for employment and economic 

development? What other issues should the policy consider? 

▪ Do you agree with our policy direction relating to retail and leisure? If not, what 

would you change and why? 

  

Page 303



 

128 

Strategic Policy E1: Meeting Economic Needs 

 

Objectives 

The Local Plan is required to identify the amount of new employment space that will 

be required over the plan period, and how and where this will be delivered. The 

Lewes District Economic Needs Assessment anticipates that there will only be a 

modest requirement for new additional employment floorspace to 2040, and therefore 

the Local Plan should concentrate on protecting and improving the quality of 

employment sites that already exist, with any new floorspace being provided through 

the intensification and redevelopment of sites within existing employment locations. 

   

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will set out the requirement for approximately 4,900 sqm of new office 

space provision over the plan period. This will be delivered through the intensification 

and densification of existing employment locations, particularly the mixed-use 

industrial estates where offices are present. 

 

While there is a limited anticipated requirement for additional industrial floorspace 

over the plan period, it will be important to ensure that existing industrial floorspace in 

locations that are performing well is appropriately safeguarded. Therefore, the Local 

Plan will seek to protect employment land from loss to other uses, which include 

specific protection for existing, well-performing sites in the district. Where loss is 

proposed, it will need to be justified by evidencing that it is no longer required (by 

being effectively marketed, with the plan setting out what this would entail).   

 

The following well-performing office sites in our plan area will be protected from 

development that would result in the loss of office floorspace or land:  

▪ East Quay, Newhaven 

▪ Quarry Road Industrial Estate, Newhaven  

▪ Railway Quay, Newhaven  

▪ Railway Road Industrial Estate, Newhaven  

▪ Meridian and Enterprise Estates, Peacehaven 

▪ Caburn Enterprise Centre, Ringmer 

▪ Land adjacent to The Esplanade, South Coast Road, Peacehaven 

 

The following well-performing industrial sites will be protected from development that 

would result in the loss of industrial floorspace or land:  

▪ Denton Island, Newhaven 

▪ Avis Way, Newhaven 

▪ Bevan Funnell, Newhaven 

▪ Eastside, Newhaven 

▪ East Quay, Newhaven  

▪ Quarry Road Industrial Estate, Newhaven 

Page 304



 

129 

▪ North Quay, Newhaven 

▪ Railway Quay, Newhaven 

▪ Railway Road Industrial Estate, Newhaven 

▪ Robinson Road Industrial Estate, Newhaven 

▪ Old Cement Works, Newhaven 

▪ Meridian and Enterprise Estates, Peacehaven 

▪ Cradle Hill Industrial Estate, Seaford 

▪ Caburn Enterprise Centre, Ringmer 

▪ Blatchington Road Industrial Estate, Seaford 

▪ Land adjacent to The Esplanade, South Coast Road, Peacehaven 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

The NPPF requires that local plans promote a pattern of development that seeks to 

meet the development needs of their area and set out an overall strategy that makes 

sufficient provision for employment, retail, leisure and other commercial development. 

Planning policies should set out a clear economic vision and strategy which positively 

and proactively encourages sustainable economic growth, while being flexible 

enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in the plan.  

 

The Lewes District Economic Needs Assessment identifies that there will be a net 

additional need for up to 9,818 sqm of office floorspace over the plan period, of which 

a portion will fall within the South Downs National Park. Lewes town is the key office 

location within the district accommodating 65% of the existing office provision in the 

district.  

 

Subject to further duty to co-operate discussions with the South Downs National Park 

Authority, it has been assumed that up to 50% of the future office need will be 

located within the plan area. Therefore, the Local Plan should plan for the provision 

of an additional 4,900 sqm of office floorspace over the plan period.  

 

The Economic Needs Assessment identifies that a number of the existing 

employment clusters are low density and present opportunities for intensification and 

redevelopment to provide additional office development to meet the need for 4,900 

sqm of office space arising over the plan period.  

 

Although the Economic Needs Assessment projections indicate a limited decline in 

industrial floorspace need over the plan period, this decline is more likely to be 

stronger within the SDNP part of the district, particularly considering the higher 

demand, low vacancy rates and higher values in locations such as Newhaven. 

Therefore, to ensure that there is sufficient industrial floorspace by the end of the 

plan period it is appropriate to ensure that existing employment locations that are 

performing well are safeguarded from loss. 

 

Page 305



 

130 

In recent years, permitted development rights have been expanded which allows 

greater flexibility in changing from one use to another without the council needing to 

grant planning permission. As a result, employment sites within the district are under 

pressure for redevelopment from residential and other uses. The uncontrolled loss of 

employment land should be avoided, as it can jeopardise the local economy and the 

needs of existing and new businesses.  

 

While the majority of the listed areas fall within the coastal towns, the Caburn 

Enterprise Centre in Ringmer has been included in this list as it comprises the largest 

employment area outside the coastal towns. It is important for Ringmer and the rural 

networks it services to protect the employment offer in this area. In addition, two sites 

in Ringmer within the Land Availability Assessment have been considered suitable 

for development. These sites would comprise strategic level development if allocated 

and become part of the growth strategy for the district. A separate strategic policy for 

Ringmer may be required to ensure infrastructure and employment opportunities are 

suitably planned for. 

 

What you have told us so far 

Section 5 of the Issues and Options Consultation contained questions relating to the 

economy and regeneration. In addition, the topic of economy and regeneration was 

addressed by respondents in other areas of the consultation.  

 

Respondents supported optimising existing employment sites, whether that be 

promoting the use of vacant sites or intensifying existing provision in the first 

instance. In addition, there was support for the rural economy and ensuring rural jobs 

are protected. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy, allow employment land to be changed to other uses without restriction – 

This is not the preferred approach, as it is considered there is an evidenced need to 

protect employment sites.  

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Economy and Regeneration 

▪ Lewes District Economic Needs Assessment (2023) 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 – Spatial Policy 1: Provision of housing and employment land 

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 4: Encouraging Economic Development and 

Regeneration 

  

Page 306



 

131 

Strategic Policy E2: Newhaven Town 

Objectives 

This policy will support the regeneration of Newhaven as a key strategic asset for the 

local economy.  It will support the wide range of investment that is being made in the 

town, including through the Future High Street Fund, the Levelling Up Fund and the 

Town Deal. This will include enhancing the provision of high-quality employment 

space and encouraging opportunities to revitalise the town centre to make Newhaven 

an attractive location for business and support a sustainable economy.  

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will support the intensification and densification of existing sites within the 

Newhaven Enterprise Zone that provides opportunities for provision of employment 

floorspace and supports economic growth within the area. The policy would 

particularly support the redevelopment of existing sites to provide employment space 

that replaces ageing and poorly maintained buildings with high quality floorspace that 

meets modern standards, including transition to net zero.  

 

The policy will support employment development that provides a mix of employment 

floorspace including the provision of small and medium sized, flexible floorspace, 

start-up business space to support the town’s key employment sectors and help build 

community wealth. 

 

The policy will resist the loss of existing employment space within the Newhaven 

Enterprise Zone to residential use, which will work alongside new and updated Article 

4 Directions covering the area that removed relevant permitted development rights.  

 

The policy will also reflect the Newhaven Neighbourhood Plan ambition for the 

regeneration of Eastside to promote a range of new employment opportunities, 

alongside a variety of housing types and tenures, education and leisure uses set 

within a high-quality environment. 

 

The policy will require new development to demonstrate that it would not have a 

significant adverse impact on the operation of local highway network or on the air 

quality within the Newhaven Air Quality Management Area.  
 

Why is this policy needed? 

The NPPF is clear that planning policies should help create the conditions in which 

businesses can invest, expand and adapt, and should set out a clear economic vision 

and strategy which positively and proactively encourages sustainable economic 

growth, having regard to Local Industrial Strategies and other local policies for 

economic development and regeneration. 

 

Page 307



 

132 

Newhaven is identified as a priority employment growth location in a number of 

strategic economic plans and strategies. Significant ambition for growth associated 

with the Newhaven Enterprise Zone is set out in a number of Lewes District Council 

reports, including the Newhaven Enterprise Zone Strategic Framework (2018), 

Newhaven EZ Implementation & Investment Plan (2017), and more recently 

Newhaven Unleashed Newhaven Enterprise Business Plan 2023-2026. 

 

The Lewes District Economic Needs Assessment identifies that Newhaven is a key 

location for the provision of employment space, with almost half (46%) of the 

industrial floorspace in Lewes District located within Newhaven. Office space in 

Newhaven is generally found within mixed-use industrial estates, and within the town 

centre. 

 

The Economic Needs Assessment identifies 12 employment clusters within 

Newhaven, including sites across Newhaven Enterprise Zone, local plan allocated 

employment sites, and several industrial sites outside of the Enterprise Zone, 

comprising 110.1 hectare of land.  

 

Although there is projected to be a slight decline in industrial floorspace across the 

district, the Newhaven Enterprise Zone drives higher demand in the town and has a 

strong existing industrial market as evidenced by market signals showing very low 

rates of vacancy across existing space. There could also be greater demand in 

Newhaven over and above that projected as a result of potential overspill effect from 

Brighton. Therefore, provision of new employment space within Newhaven should be 

supported through the densification and redevelopment of sites within existing 

industrial locations within the town, which will further enhance rental values and 

quality of accommodation and attract new business to the town. 

 

Newhaven Enterprise Zone Employment Property Market Report 2022 identified a 

number of sites and locations with potential for commercial property development or 

refurbishment, and the Local Plan should support opportunities for employment 

development of these sites. The Economic Needs Assessment also notes that in 

Newhaven there is a concentration of employment sites built out to low densities with 

large areas of landscaping, which could be well suited to accommodate future growth 

through intensification and densification.  

 

Continual changes to permitted development rights over recent years mean that 

previous Article 4 Directions that remove permitted development rights to protect 

employment space from being lost to residential use within the Enterprise Zone may 

no longer be effective. The effectiveness of the Article 4 Directions will need to be 

reviewed and where necessary updated, and alongside this the policy will need to 

seek to resist loss of employment space and set out strict criteria when alternative 

uses might be appropriate.  

 

Page 308



 

133 

There are a number of large-scale grant funded projects that will deliver real change 

for Newhaven, and it is important that any future opportunities to secure grant funding 

are supported by the Local Plan. The projects currently being delivered in Newhaven 

have secured funding from the Town Deal, Future High Streets Fund and the 

Levelling Up Fund.  

 

An Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) is in operation in Newhaven town centre, 

where most of the air pollution is generated by traffic. Development proposals in 

Newhaven will be required to demonstrate that they do not have an adverse impact 

on air quality, or an adverse impact on southern access junctions of the Newhaven 

Ring Road (A259) in that they would be at or above their operating capacity. 

 

What you have told us so far 

Many respondents to the Issues and Options consultation emphasised the good work 

that has been ongoing in transforming Newhaven and that development that supports 

this should continue. There was support for greater emphasis on employment 

development in Newhaven and promotion of the importance of the Newhaven 

Enterprise Zone in the regeneration of the town.  

 

There were also a mix of views on whether the focus of the provision of new 

employment space should be within towns or countryside, although many 

respondents were keen that new space be focused on locations that have existing 

provision and brownfield site opportunities, and where there is good access via public 

transport.  

 

Respondents suggested that the focus of protecting employment space should be in 

towns and established employment locations such as Newhaven, and there should 

be particular restrictions applied to converting commercial space to residential, while 

also encouraging a mix of different uses within town centres. Some respondents 

suggested that Covid has changed demand for employment space, and there is no 

longer the need for continuing levels of provision.  

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy for Newhaven 

Not providing a policy for economic development in Newhaven is not the preferred 

option as it would not support priorities for the regeneration of the town and would be 

inconsistent with the council’s approach to supporting the Newhaven Enterprise Zone 

and the funding that has been given to Newhaven.  

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Economy and Regeneration  

▪ Lewes District Economic Needs Assessment (2023) 

▪ Newhaven Unleashed: Newhaven Enterprise Zone Business Plan 2023 – 2026 

Page 309



 

134 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 – Spatial Policy 1: Provision of housing and employment land 

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 4: Encouraging Economic Development and 

Regeneration 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy E1: Land at East Quay, Newhaven Port 

 

Existing Policies Newhaven Neighbourhood Plan 

Policy TC1 – Regeneration of the Town Centre 

Policy E1 – Land around Avis Way 

Policy E2 – Denton Island  

Policy ES1 – The Regeneration of Eastside  

 

  

Page 310



 

135 

Policy E3: Newhaven Port 

Objectives 

This policy will support the expansion, diversification and intensification of Newhaven 

Port for freight and passengers, including the use of existing vacant land and 

maximising the use of the railhead at South Quay, and the delivery of appropriate 

HGV parking and driver welfare facilities. The policy will continue to allocate land at 

East Quay for employment uses that support the operations at the port, subject to 

appropriate environment assessment and measures to mitigate potential adverse 

impacts from development. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will support proposals that diversify employment uses on the site, 

maximise the use of existing operations and land already in use through revised 

internal layout and modernisation, including the number of available berths for cargo 

and roll-on and roll-off (passenger cars and goods vehicles) movements. 

 

The policy will also support proposals that maximise the use of the railhead and 

extend the rail sidings at the South Quay to support greater quantities of freight by 

rail and overall increased modal shift in the freight sector and support the delivery of 

HGV parking and welfare facilities that are complementary to the operations at the 

port. 

 

The policy will continue to allocate land at East Quay to support the expansion of the 

port, subject to appropriate measures to mitigate against potential adverse impacts of 

the development including: 

▪ loss or damage to the nature conservation interest of the site, which would 

need to be mitigated to achieve a net gain in biodiversity. 

▪ adverse impact on the setting of the South Downs National Park. 

▪ impacts on the setting of the Newhaven Fort Scheduled Monument and the 

Tide Mills Archaeological Notification Area. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

Newhaven Port is well-located to serve the needs of both the local area, as well as 

the wider south-east of England. The presence of road and rail access is of great 

advantage to the port area, allowing the port to attract the wide variety of businesses 

located there. The ferry service between Dieppe and Newhaven is an attractive 

option for freight users, as well as passengers. The ferry link also helps to facilitate 

economic activity and industry both in East Sussex as well as in northern France and 

is a key strategic corridor in part due to being the most direct sailing connecting 

London, Newhaven, Dieppe and Paris. These factors, along with land availability and 

a lack of surrounding housing or other developments that would further limit the uses 

port land can be put to, offer Newhaven advantages over other ports located within 

the region. 

Page 311



 

136 

 

Newhaven Port is a key strategic asset both for the district and the wider region, and 

the continued growth of Newhaven is recognised as important in strategic economic 

plans and strategies. Development and job-creation opportunities related to the Port 

are considered vital to the regeneration of Newhaven and the surrounding coastal 

area and to improve the continental ‘gateway’ to the South Downs National Park. 

A freight assessment of Newhaven Port was undertaken in November 2022 which 

included an analysis of past, present and future activity at Newhaven Port with 

respect to freight and logistics operations. The results of the forecasting exercise with 

regard to throughput of cargo by sea between 2015 and 2043 show that only 

moderate growth is possible based on the existing infrastructure at Newhaven Port. 

 

However, the study outlines future opportunities for Newhaven Port, which relate to 

recent developments including the construction of the McKinley Way access route 

and additional roads which provide the primary routes to the Port and railhead which 

may facilitate modal shift of freight. These opportunities are summarised as follows: 

▪ Opening of the port access road: the McKinley Way access route is described 

as creating direct access to employment and businesses locally, creating 

direct access to allocated development land potentially opening up 80,000 

sqm of business space, potentially facilitating creation of new jobs, relieving 

traffic on neighbouring residential areas, and enabling easier movement 

between the Ferry Terminal and Border Control Post. 

▪ Opening of new railhead: the new railhead currently used by Brett Aggregates 

facilitates modal shift to rail (in light of 76% reduction in carbon emissions per 

tonne of freight compared to road). 

▪ Key markets and growth: intermodal freight to and from ports and construction 

were the largest rail freight sectors in 2016/2017 and are anticipated to remain 

so to 2043/44. Bulk cargoes (pertaining especially to construction sector) are 

identified as the most economically viable commodities to be transported using 

rail at the port.  

▪ Potential new markets for freight: consideration may be given, in the context of 

anticipated growth, to new sectors not currently related to rail activity at 

Newhaven Port including delivery of consumer goods, express parcel 

deliveries, and utilisation of passenger stations. Although stakeholders 

consider higher volumes of existing commodities to represent the greatest 

potential for growth. 

 

What you have told us so far 

No comments were received in response to the Issues and Options consultation 

regarding the expansion, intensification and safeguarding of the Port. A haulier 

stakeholder engagement task was undertaken to inform the Newhaven Port Freight 

Study to gauge opinions of hauliers who utilise the Newhaven-Dieppe route with 

regard to potential future developments. Overall, the study identified: 

Page 312



 

137 

▪ Firms were looking to retain or increase their use of the route, hauliers use 

other routes, particularly to return to continental Europe. 

▪ Reduced travel times and mileage from Spain and Portugal are benefits. 

▪ Lorry parking in the vicinity of Newhaven is a key issue although this does not 

altogether prevent respondents from using the port. 

▪ Hauliers would like to see early morning crossings to the UK throughout the 

year. 

 

It is clear from the stakeholder engagement in particular that the growth of Newhaven 

Port is restricted by the lack of available land for expansion. This is reinforced by the 

high occupancy rate of port land, and the fact that businesses located at the port are 

making use of all land available to them to conduct their activities. It is therefore 

especially important that land continues to be allocated for employment uses 

associated with Newhaven Port and is both safeguarded and developed to allow the 

port to develop and grow. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy for Newhaven Port 

Not providing a policy for Newhaven Port is not the preferred option as it would not 

provide a framework for the expansion, diversification and intensification of 

Newhaven Port for freight and passengers, which is a key part of the local economy. 

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Economy and Regeneration 

▪ Lewes District Economic Needs Assessment (2023) 

▪ Newhaven Port Freight Assessment (AECOM, November 2022) 

▪ East Sussex, South Downs and Brighton & Hove Waste and Minerals Local Plan 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 – Spatial Policy 1: Provision of housing and employment land 

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 4: Encouraging Economic Development and 

Regeneration 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy E1: Land at East Quay, Newhaven Port  

Page 313



 

138 

Policy E4: Local Labour Agreements 

 

Objectives 

This policy will set out how development can help to build community wealth by 

increasing local employment and training opportunities to redirect wealth back into 

the local economy. This will be done through ensuring that local labour agreements 

are secured from new residential and commercial development.  

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will seek to support development that can demonstrate its contribution to 

building community wealth and fair work by offering employment and training 

opportunities to local people and small and medium enterprises within the district.  

 

The policy will set out how local labour agreements will help to secure local 

employment at all stages of development with a focus on the operational phase and 

creation opportunity for local small and medium enterprises (SMEs). Local labour 

agreements will also assist in education, training and skills initiatives for local people 

and SMEs. 

 

The policy will seek a local labour agreement require residential developments of 50 

homes or more, and commercial developments that provide 1,000sqm additional 

floorspace or would create 25 or more new full-time equivalent jobs to ensure that 

local employment and training measures are provided as part of development 

proposals, with the objective of improving employment, training and skills to support 

the local economy.  

 

For residential development the requirement will apply to the construction phase. For 

commercial developments the requirement will apply to both construction and 

operational stages. Local labour agreements will be secured through Section 106 

agreement.  

 

Planning applications for development that meets the above threshold would be 

expected to commit to working with the council to complete an Operational 

Employment and Training Plan detailing deliverables and confirming a financial 

contribution where appropriate. Financial contributions will be used to fund the 

monitoring of operational employment and training plans, assist towards the co-

ordination of employment, training and educational initiatives, as well as recruitment 

campaigns and pre-employment training for local residents to prepare candidates for 

vacancies generated by the development. Monies may also be used to support a 

Local Employment and Training Grants Programme.  

 

Page 314



 

139 

Why is this policy needed? 

Creating sustainable community wealth is a focus for the council, in order to provide 

a people-centred approach to local economic development that redirects wealth back 

into the local economy, which benefits residents and local companies. Requiring local 

labour agreements from new development is a direct way that the local plan can help 

build community wealth.  

 

The use of local labour within the construction and operational stages of 

development can have significant benefits for local communities by providing 

opportunities for small and medium-sized businesses and creating employment for 

local people. It also provides opportunities for the improvement of the skills and 

educational attainment levels of the district’s labour supply; all of which helps to keep 

wealth generated within the local community. 

 

The Economic Needs Assessment notes that Lewes district’s unemployment rate of 

4.8% is higher than both the regional (3.9%) and national (4.6%) averages, and that 

job density for Lewes district, which is the number of jobs in an area per resident 

population aged 16 to 64, is estimated at 0.77 compared to 0.86 for the South East 

and 0.85 for England as a whole. Approximately 60% of the workforce based in 

Lewes district are Lewes district residents, but there are more Lewes residents 

commuting out of the district to work than commuting in to work from elsewhere. The 

policy will help to improving access to local job opportunities for local people through 

the provision of local labour agreements.  

 

Newhaven in particular is identified as an area that has higher unemployment rates 

than the district and is lower skilled than the surrounding region, with a lower 

percentage of the population with high level qualifications and over a quarter of the 

population having no qualifications at all. Within Newhaven, local labour agreements 

provided through new development as part of the Newhaven Enterprise Zone could 

have a significant impact.    

 

The policy direction could be impacted by viability considerations. The Viability 

Assessment will consider all the requirements set out in the policies in the plan and 

advise whether different types of sites can realistically be developed under those 

requirements.  The assessment will help to identify the extent to which local labour 

agreements can be secured so that other development requirements, such as 

infrastructure contributions and climate change mitigations, are able to be secured. 

 

It is essential that sufficient local employment is available for local residents, and 

highly desirable that more and better quality local employment options should be 

available to existing residents to reduce out-commuting.  

 

Page 315



 

140 

What you have told us so far 

The Issues and Options consultation asked whether there should be a blanket 

approach to requiring local labour agreements across the plan area, or whether it 

should focus on specific locations. Views were broadly split between specific area 

focus and local labour agreement requirements applied across the whole of the plan 

area, although comments supporting a specific area suggested focus on seaside 

towns where the levels of unemployment are likely to be highest, and particularly 

coastal towns. However, some respondents suggested it would be best applied to 

large scale allocations only.  

 

Respondents to other parts of the Issues and Options Consultation gave support for 

the creation of apprenticeships and vocational training opportunities, particularly for 

young people. Respondents also told us that more local employment opportunities 

should be created in order to create a sustainable local economy reduce travel to 

work distances, particularly commuting by car to work locations outside of the district.  

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No requirement for local labour agreements 

This is not the preferred approach as the council has a strong commitment to building 

community wealth, and securing local labour agreements through new development 

is a key part of delivering this.  

 

Lower threshold for local labour agreements 

Lowering the threshold for size of development to meet local labour commitments 

could have an adverse impact on the delivery of small sites and discourage small and 

medium sized enterprises who are more likely to employ local people anyway.  

 

Option for policy to apply to Newhaven only 

Newhaven has the most significant potential to be positively impacted by this policy 

due to the expected levels of commercial development through regeneration and the 

Newhaven Enterprise Zone, in an area where employment rates and skill levels are 

challenged. However, restricting the policy to just Newhaven may compromise the 

council’s community wealth building agenda across the whole district.  

 

Apply policy to specific allocations sites only 

This is not the preferred approach as this could exclude areas where the 

regeneration or redevelopment of significant commercial and employment could take 

place, such as within Newhaven Enterprise Zone.  

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Economy and Regeneration 

▪ Sustainability in Development Technical Advice Note 

▪ Circular Economy Technical Advice Note 

Page 316



 

141 

▪ Newhaven Local Employment & Training Technical Guidance Note 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

None 

  

Page 317



 

142 

Policy E5: Rural Employment 

Objectives 

This policy will set out the approach to rural employment sites and diversification of 

farms. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The proposed policy direction will support proposals which enable farming operations 

to continue. Examples may include, but are not limited to, development that supports 

the local food system or diversification schemes, particularly where they are engaged 

in sustainable land management or renewable / low carbon energy, where they are 

appropriate in scale to their location and, where possible, reuse existing buildings. 

 

Expansion proposals relating to other businesses not related to agricultural enterprise 

that are currently located in a rural, undefined industrial estate or employment cluster, 

will be expected to demonstrate that it would not be feasible to re-locate to one of the 

identified industrial clusters in rural areas in the first instance. These clusters are:   

▪ Land adjacent to Clayhill Service Station, Uckfield Road, Ringmer 

▪ Mid Sussex Business Park, Ditchling Common  

▪ Sheffield Park  

▪ Land at Balcombe Pit, Glynde   

▪ Broyle Place Farm, Ringmer  

▪ Frick Farm 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

It is important that the plan supports rural employment sites and rural enterprises for 

them to continue to thrive as part of a sustainable rural living network. This may 

involve re-use or expansion of a site to meet a particular identified need or to enable 

the site to support the needs of the existing business. 

 

Policies are usually restrictive to new development in the countryside, but supporting 

certain uses is necessary to support the rural economy. Farms and small rural 

industrial estates provide an important employment opportunity for people in rural 

areas and often provide services to local people, including supporting the local food 

system in specific relation to farms. They need to be able to respond to a changing 

climate and funding schemes (regionally and nationally) that support their longevity. 

However, it is also important that diversification or expansion proposals are well 

founded in terms of the contribution to the rural economy and contribution to the 

countryside setting. 

 

What you have told us so far 

Section 5 of the Issues and Options consultation contained questions centred around 

the economy and regeneration. Within that section, questions were posed directly 

Page 318



 

143 

regarding the rural economy. In addition, comments were received throughout the 

consultation to other questions referencing the rural economy.  

 

The responses supported a policy approach that supports agricultural businesses 

and rural employment opportunities, in addition to protecting rural jobs. Furthermore, 

there was general support for local and market gardening and farming to produce 

local food and reduce food miles. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy 

This approach is not considered a reasonable alternative as it would lead to 

uncertainty as to how development proposals outside of the planning boundary in 

countryside locations would be considered and would not provide sufficient support 

to the re-use of buildings in supporting the rural economy. 

 

Increased flexibility for residential uses of rural buildings 

This is not the preferred approach. Allowing greater flexibility for residential uses of 

rural buildings would reduce the opportunities to support the rural economy where a 

rural business is already established and encourage residential development outside 

the planning boundary in the countryside where there is greater reliance on the 

private car to access everyday services. 

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Economy and Regeneration 

▪ Lewes District Economic Needs Assessment (2023) 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  
Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 4: Economic Development & Regeneration 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM9: Farm Diversification  

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM10: Employment Development in the Countryside 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM11: Existing Employment Sites in the Countryside 

  

Page 319



 

144 

Policy E6: Retail and Town Centres 

 

Objectives 

This policy will cover proposals relating to retail, leisure (arts, culture and 

entertainment) and other town centre proposals in Lewes District, including the 

district, local and neighbourhood centres. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The preferred policy direction for the Lewes Local Plan is to establish a hierarchy of 

town centres and primary shopping areas: 

▪ Town Centres – Seaford 

▪ District Centres – Peacehaven (Meridian Centre) and Newhaven 

▪ Local Centres – Peacehaven (South Coast Road/ Telscombe Cliffs), Ringmer 

and Newick 

 

The Local Plan should also set out a series of policies to support the vitality of retail 

and town centre uses across the district:  

▪ Revitalise high streets through retention of uses typically found within high 

streets, such as retail, leisure and entertainment uses. This includes 

encouraging development of small-scale, flexible units, to attract independent 

shops, leisure activities and small businesses to improve the appeal of the 

high street as well as allowing local communities to meet their day-to-day 

needs with village shops and services.  

▪ Continue to resist the loss of town centre uses (retail, leisure, entertainment) in 

primary shopping areas where it would undermine existing centres’ vitality or 

ability to serve local communities and require proposals to support the 

character, safety, and accessibility of existing centres and village high streets. 

▪ Proposals for new and existing shops and related high street services should 

be guided towards the hierarchy of town centres and primary shopping areas 

in the first instance, followed by edge of centre locations. If neither of these are 

locations are available, then out of centre locations will be considered with a 

preference for those with the best accessibility to the centre. 

▪ Ensure that large-scale developments provide a range of new shops and local 

services, proportionate in size for people to meet their day-to-day needs. 

 

In addition, the council will require that both existing and proposed retail and leisure 

spaces are well-connected to public transport and active travel networks. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

Town and village centres play an important role in local communities, it is therefore 

important to take a positive approach to their growth, management and adaptation. 

The council also needs to acknowledge that retail is changing, and the centres will 

need to adapt. Since the adoption of LPP1, there have been significant changes to 

Page 320



 

145 

permitted development rights, most notably the change regarding Class E use, which 

has reduced the control over changes between certain uses. In addition, there have 

been other challenges to the retail environment in the form of the COVID-19 

pandemic. Local amenities not only help create local employment opportunities and 

provide opportunities for social interaction among residents, but they also reduce the 

need for local people to have to travel to access these services.  

 

The Retail and Leisure Study 2023 recommends that a tiered retail hierarchy should 

be defined to reinforce and enhance the identified role of each centre, in accordance 

with Paragraph 86a of the NPPF. The proposed hierarchy of centres will guide 

proposals relating to new and existing shops and high-street related services towards 

centres and will help promote long term vitality of these shopping areas.   

 

The development of small-scale, flexible units should attract independent shops and 

small businesses as well as encourage more leisure activities. These units will help 

allow the high street to adapt to the changing retail market and the way people use 

these centres. It is also important that rural settlements provide a range of village 

shops and services to allow local communities to meet their day-to-day needs. 

It is important that large-scale developments provide a range of new shops and local 

services as these facilities can help create a sense of local community and improve 

social cohesion and community resilience in the early stages. 

 

What you have told us so far 

Section 5 of the Issues and Options Consultation contained questions related to the 

economy and regeneration. In addition, the topic of economy and regeneration was 

addressed by respondents in other areas of the consultation. 

 

Key feedback received included support for ensuring town centres can thrive. There 

was support for optimising existing sites (previously developed land), whether that be 

through promoting the use of vacant sites or intensifying existing provision in the first 

instance. There was also support for ensuring flexible workspaces are provided and 

appropriately sized facilities to allow small and medium sized enterprises to thrive 

and to ensure that both new and existing workspaces are well connected and 

accessible via public transport and active travel modes. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy 

This is not considered a reasonable alternative as the council considers this policy is 

needed as the considerations for the different centres, along with the shops and 

services they provide are essential to supporting their long-term vitality.  

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Economy and Regeneration 

Page 321



 

146 

▪ Lewes District Retail and Leisure Study (2023)  

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  
Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 6: Retail and Town Centres 

  

Page 322



 

147 

Policy E7: Visitor Economy 

 

Objectives 

This policy will state where visitor accommodation and other tourism development will 

be supported and how the loss or gain of new accommodation and tourism 

development will be managed. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction  

The Local Plan will seek to encourage opportunities for the sustainable development 

of the visitor economy as a whole and encourage sustainable tourism proposals. 

Proposals, including those for tourist accommodation, will be supported where they 

are of a scale, type and appearance appropriate to the locality, relevant tourism 

economy and provide local employment. This policy will seek to protect tourism 

venues that represent anchors to the tourism economy. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

Within the district, there are broadly two definitive types of tourism, coastal tourism 

and rural tourism, that are typical of their environment: coastal towns and rural areas. 

There are some crossovers in terms of typical attractions that are enjoyed in each 

environment, such as, but not limited to, arts & culture, viewfinding and heritage 

assets which comprise significant attractions. Focussing on each tourism area 

specifically, coastal tourism typically centres around the sea, beach and cliff top 

environments which encourage visitors engaging in watersport activities or 

recreational activities around those key features. Rural tourism typically centres 

around open countryside environments and rights of way which encourage visitors 

engaging in walking/ hiking/ biking, equine usage and visiting diversified farms. 

Tourism data demonstrates that the tourism economy continues to be a significant 

contributor to the overall economy of the district and therefore should be 

appropriately planned for and considered. 
 

With reference to the two types of tourism within the district, coastal tourism has 

strong links to the Retail and Town Centres policy in terms of visitors requiring 

services and facilities that are often found within town centres. In relation to rural 

tourism, there are strong links to the Rural Employment policy in terms of the typical 

tourism offer surrounding diversified farms. As such, development proposals that 

relate to these two policies should take account of the impact those proposals may 

have on the tourism economy. 

 

In terms of visitor accommodation, Airbnb and holiday apartments remain popular 

options for both rural and coastal tourism. Specifically for coastal tourism, hotels and 

beach huts are popular forms of accommodation. Specifically for rural tourism, 

camping is a popular form of visitor accommodation.   

 

Page 323



 

148 

What you have told us so far 

Section 5 of the Issues and Options consultation contained questions centred around 

the economy and regeneration. Within that section, there were questions posed 

specifically relating to tourism.  

 

The responses supported a policy approach that looked to preserve and enhance the 

intrinsic character of the district relevant to the visitor economy; including protecting 

green spaces, improving links to the SDNP and Low Weald AONB, enhancing the 

seaside offer, encouraging more tourist accommodation, supporting town and village 

centres. Furthermore, responses supported a more focussed approach to sustainable 

tourism, through improving active travel and public transport accessibility to areas 

involved in the visitor offer.  

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No Policy 

This approach is not considered a reasonable alternative as the tourism economy 

continues to be a significant contributor the overall economy of the district and 

intersects with other key policies and therefore should be planned for and considered 

accordingly. 

 

Policy controlling certain forms of visitor accommodation 

This is not the preferred approach. It is acknowledged that Airbnb and holiday homes 

have caused issues in other areas of the country, however at present there is no data 

to suggest these forms of accommodation are creating issues relating to the tourism 

economy in Lewes District, and as such a policy to control these forms of 

accommodation is not felt necessary at this stage, however this will continue to be 

monitored through the plan period. In relation to hotels, beach huts and camping, 

again there is no data to suggest there is either an oversupply or a lack of provision 

of these accommodation types within the district, however, this will continue to be 

monitored through the plan period. 

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Economy and Regeneration 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  
Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 5: The Visitor Economy  

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM12: Caravan and Camping Sites 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM13: Existing Visitor Accommodation  

Page 324



 

149 

Policy E8: Equestrian Development 

 

Objectives 

This policy will set out where equestrian development will be supported and how 

proposals for equestrian development should be managed. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The countryside, both within and adjacent to the Plan area, provides an attractive 

environment for horse riders and there is a good network of bridleways. Policies are 

usually restrictive to new development in the countryside, but supporting certain uses 

is necessary to support the rural economy. Equestrian development and the facilities 

that support equine use, comprise an important employment opportunity for people in 

rural areas. However, it is also important that equestrian development schemes are 

well founded in terms of their siting within a countryside setting. 

 

Equestrian development and associated uses are considered part of the rural 

economy and therefore this policy acts as an extension to the ‘Rural Employment’ 

policy. However, equestrian facilities and development have intrinsic characteristics 

that need to be accounted for and clearly set out, such as:  

▪ consider the cumulative impact of equestrian developments on landscape 

character, features and biodiversity; 

▪ ensure any associated floodlighting, earthworks, new access routes or other 

ancillary structures, including storage facilities, manure bays, hardstanding, 

fencing and jumps, do not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the 

surrounding countryside, biodiversity or local residential amenities; 

▪ ensure adequate provision is made for the safety and comfort of horses in 

terms of the size of accommodation and land for grazing and exercising; 

▪ ensure commercial riding schools, livery stables and other commercial 

facilities should have satisfactory access to the public bridleway network 

without the use of unsuitable roads. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

The riding and keeping of horses are popular leisure pursuits in Lewes District and 

equestrian development and businesses contribute to the rural economy. These 

businesses that provide services to equine development include but are not limited 

to, livery yards, vets, farriers, saddlers, feed merchants and forage providers. The 

British Horse Society note that the keeping of a horse is estimated at £5548 pa per 

horse. Further, using this figure and information from DEFRA, they estimate that 

equine development and services contribute £5million pa to the economies of Lewes 

and Eastbourne. This figure comprises a significant contribution to the rural economy 

and should be planned for to support the sustainable growth and expansion of rural 

businesses in line with Paragraph 84 of the NPPF. 

 

Page 325



 

150 

In terms of modal shift, provision for active travel intrinsically lends itself to the 

inclusion of equestrians, particularly in rural areas. While horse riding is not 

predominantly used for active travel, the British Horse Society note that equestrians 

often use horses in place of cars for short local journeys, which contributes to 

encouraging modal shift. In line with this theme, ensuring equestrian development is 

suitably planned for will contribute to promoting healthy communities and recreation 

particularly in rural areas.   

 

What you have told us so far 

Section 5 of the Issues and Options consultation contained questions centred around 

the economy and regeneration. Within that section, questions were focussed on the 

rural economy as a whole but did not include specific questions around equestrian 

development.  

 

The responses supported a policy approach that supports agricultural businesses 

and rural employment opportunities as a whole. In addition, a detailed response was 

received from the British Horse Society, citing the social, economic and 

environmental benefits of equine development to Lewes District.  

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No Policy 

This is not the preferred option as equestrian development comprises a specific form 

of development that if not properly planned for, can lead to negative impacts on the 

countryside, environment and neighbouring amenity. Developing and including an 

effective policy is therefore crucial to controlling these potential impacts. 

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Economy and Regeneration 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  
Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM6: Equestrian Development 

 

  

Page 326



 

151 

Theme: Infrastructure and Community Facilities 
 

Aim: To ensure that that new or improved infrastructure is provided in the most 

effective way to keep pace with development growth in the plan area, and 

existing valued community facilities and services are retained. 

 

The timely provision of infrastructure requirements associated with the growth of new 

homes and jobs is critical to ensuring that the plan area is a place where people want 

to be – whether to live, work, study or visit. The new Local Plan will seek to protect 

existing community facilities and services and to ensure that new facilities are located 

where they are accessible, particularly for less mobile residents. It will also ensure 

that development is permitted only where either there is sufficient capacity in the 

existing local infrastructure to meet the demands arising from that development, or 

any necessary new or improved facilities will be provided at the time they are 

needed. 

 

The Infrastructure and Community Facilities theme will require the provision of 

appropriate infrastructure to accommodate the needs of new development without 

adverse impacts on the environment.  Policies in this theme will also protect 

community infrastructure that is important to the sustainability of local communities. It 

also sets out expectations for outdoor sports and food growing in new developments 

and identifies expectations around sustainable travel.   

 

Which Policies Are We Proposing? 

 

IC1: Infrastructure Provision 

IC2: Water Supply and Wastewater Management 

IC3: Digital Infrastructure and Communications 

IC4: Safeguarding Community Facilities 

IC5: Commercial community uses 

IC6: Outdoor Playing Space 

IC7: Local Food Infrastructure 

IC8: Sustainable transport and movement 

IC9: Parking Standards [and EVCP] 

IC10: Former Lewes to Uckfield Railway Line 

IC11: Public Rights of Way 

 

Consultation Questions for the Infrastructure and Community 

Facilities Theme 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included to meet the need for 

infrastructure and community facilities? Why do you think they should they be 

included? 

▪ Should there be a separate policy on resisting the loss of playing pitches? 

Page 327



 

152 

• Should a design-led policy for parking standards be progressed and included in 

the next version of the local plan? 

• How should we seek to manage cycle hire schemes to encourage the modal shift 

but at the same time avoid their potential for cluttering the street scene?  

 

 

 

  

Page 328



 

153 

Strategic Policy IC1: Infrastructure Provision 

 

Objectives 

The policy will set out how necessary infrastructure to support development should 

be delivered. New development creates additional demand for infrastructure and 

services, and it is reasonable for developers to address these needs in order that 

development is sustainable. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will identify that land should only be permitted for development where it 

can be demonstrated, in liaison with service providers and statutory consultees, that 

there is sufficient capacity in the existing local infrastructure to meet the additional 

requirements arising from the proposed development.  

 

Where development would create the need to provide additional or improved 

infrastructure or community facilities, the developer will be required to work with the 

relevant infrastructure providers to ensure that these improvements are provided at 

the time they are needed. 

 

The policy will support the development of new infrastructure, including community 

facilities, in appropriate locations where there is a local need for the infrastructure, 

and they are in close proximity and accessible to the people they will serve. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

The NPPF identifies that all plans should align growth and infrastructure, and 

strategic policies should make sufficient provision for infrastructure for transport, 

telecommunications, security, waste management, water supply, wastewater, flood 

risk and coastal change management, and community facilities (such as health, 

education and cultural infrastructure).  

 

The NPPF also requires that plans should set out the contributions expected from 

development, including for infrastructure, although such policies should not 

undermine the deliverability of the plan.  

 

We are preparing an Infrastructure Delivery Plan, which will identify the infrastructure 

that is needed to deliver the local plan strategy, when it is needed, and how much it 

would cost. We already require development to pay a Community Infrastructure Levy, 

which is used to help funding infrastructure improvements across the district, 

although development may still be required to make on-site provision or direct 

infrastructure improvements as part of development proposals where necessary. 

 

The timing of infrastructure relative to the development is very important to the 

community, as people are concerned about pressure on existing communities. While 

Page 329



 

154 

desirable, it is not always practicable to deliver all the planned infrastructure upfront 

before development starts, but a phased approach is needed so that it becomes 

available as the development progresses. 

 

Further work will be required in terms of viability assessment to ensure that the 

level of infrastructure provision needed to support development, together with 

other planning policy requirements, does not undermine the deliverability of the 

Local Plan.  

 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the Issues & Options consultation expressed a strong view that 

infrastructure should be taking into account in the local plan, and that improvements 

are necessary to accommodate new and additional development. This would include 

prioritising development in locations where there is sufficient existing infrastructure 

capacity.  

 

There were a number of comments identifying areas where infrastructure provision 

was considered to be lacking. Respondents also commented that it is important that 

infrastructure is accessible to local communities to reduce reliance on the private car.  

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy 

No policy is not the preferred option as this would not provide sufficient clarity 

regarding the requirement of developers to mitigate the impacts of their 

developments, what infrastructure was needed and when, and how it would be 

secured. 

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Infrastructure and Community Facilities 

▪ Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 7: Infrastructure  

  

Page 330



 

155 

Policy IC2: Water Supply and Wastewater Management 

 

Objectives 

The policy will ensure that there is sufficient infrastructure to deal with demand for 

water supply and wastewater management arising from new development.  

  

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will require that proposals for new development demonstrates that there 

are adequate water supply and wastewater treatment facilities in place to serve the 

whole development, or that improvements are being made to water supply and 

wastewater infrastructure that will be in place prior to the development being 

completed and occupied. The developer will be required to work with the appropriate 

service providers to ensure that upgrades are provided where necessary.  

 

The policy will also support infrastructure proposals designed to increase water 

supply and wastewater treatment capacity subject to there being no significant 

adverse environmental impacts. These will be identified through the Detailed Water 

Cycle Study and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan.  

 

Why is this policy needed? 

The NPPF requires that strategic policies should make sufficient provision for 

infrastructure, including water supply and wastewater. It states that plans should take 

a proactive approach to mitigating and adapting to climate change, taking into 

account the long-term implications for water supply, and policies should support 

appropriate measures to ensure the future resilience of communities and 

infrastructure to climate change impacts.  

 

Planning Practice Guidance states that planning policies can be used to ensure that 

new development and mains water and wastewater infrastructure provision is aligned 

and to ensure new development is phased and not occupied until the necessary 

works relating to water and wastewater have been carried out. 

 

It suggests that plan-making may need to consider: 

▪ the sufficiency and capacity of wastewater infrastructure 

▪ the circumstances where wastewater from new development would not be 

expected to drain to a public sewer 

▪ the capacity of the environment to receive effluent from development in 

different parts of a strategic policy-making authority’s area without preventing 

relevant statutory objectives being met 

 

The Water Cycle Study Scoping Report (2023) identifies that there are 14 wastewater 

treatment works, and that further investment will be needed in the future to increase 

the capacity of the wastewater treatment works to accommodate new homes and 

Page 331



 

156 

businesses. It also identifies that climate change is expected to have an impact on 

wastewater treatment works especially Peacehaven Brighton and Newhaven East 

where there is already a very significant risk from rainfall related flooding. 

 

Further evidence will be provided within a Detailed Water Cycle Study which will be 

prepared to inform the local plan. The Detailed Water Cycle Study will assess 

network capacity for strategic growth locations (wastewater and water supply) in 

liaison with Southern Water and South East Water and consider the impact on 

combined sewer overflow events, and also identify the likely infrastructure required to 

accommodate the proposed growth or identify opportunities within the water cycle to 

increase capacity for proposed growth without new infrastructure.  

 

The Detailed Water Cycle Study will be required to help meet PPG recommendations 

that plan-making consider: 

• identifying suitable sites for new or enhanced waste water and water supply 

infrastructure. When identifying sites it is important to recognise that water and 

wastewater infrastructure can have specific locational needs (and often consists 

of engineering works rather than new buildings). This means exceptionally 

otherwise protected areas may have to be considered, where this is consistent 

with their designation. 

• existing and proposed development in the vicinity of a location under 

consideration for water and wastewater infrastructure. In two-tier areas there will 

need to be close working between the district and county councils. 

• whether new development is appropriate near to sites used (or proposed) for 

water and wastewater infrastructure (for example, odour may be a concern). 

• phasing new development so that water and wastewater infrastructure will be in 

place when and where needed. The impact on designated sites of importance for 

biodiversity should be considered to ensure the required infrastructure is in place 

before any environmental effects occur. 

 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the Issues & Options consultation told us how important it is that we 

protect rivers and waterways, particularly from sewage and farm run-off, and support 

better measures to stop sewage discharges into rivers.  

 

There is some concern about the capacity of sewage treatment systems, and that the 

strain on infrastructure is leading to river and sea pollution. There was also some 

concern about a water shortage and that water company promises about reducing 

leakage are unlikely to address future demand.  

 

There was a suggestion that sewage infrastructure is a major issue in the Low Weald 

and should be prioritised, and in areas where housing development is to take place, 

there needs to be a corresponding improvement in water supply and wastewater 

Page 332



 

157 

infrastructure. It was also suggested that access to water and wastewater facilities 

should be considered in Health Impact Assessment. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy  

No policy is not the preferred option as it is considered that water supply and 

wastewater infrastructure is an important issue that can affect the area, and we 

should set out this position in terms of ensuring that new development does not 

progress without the adequate infrastructure in place.  

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Infrastructure and Community Facilities 

▪ Lewes Water Cycle Study Scoping Report (2023) 

▪ Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 7: Infrastructure  

  

Page 333



 

158 

Policy IC3: Digital Infrastructure and Communications 

Objectives 

Good communications and the supporting infrastructure is central to the economy 

and a key component of modern day life. However, poorly designed and sited 

infrastructure can not only impact detrimentally on the character and appearance of 

heritage assets, it can also have an unacceptable level of harm on the wider area.  

 

This policy will set the contributions from development that will be required for 

telecommunication and smart infrastructure in order to futureproof our economy. It 

will enable our communities to access services and goods through innovative ‘smart 

technologies’ as well as being connected as part of the global community.  

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will seek to provide a clear assessment criteria and guidance to applicants 

about the considerations that will be expected to be to considered for digital 

communications and infrastructure equipment.  

 

The council will seek to work with stakeholders to secure the provision of digital 

infrastructure and require development proposals to take appropriate measures to 

enable full-fibre, or equivalent, connectivity to all end users within new development – 

unless for technical or viability reasons it can be demonstrated that this is not 

achievable. This will be sought alongside an expectation to meet the demand for 

mobile connectivity generated by the development. 

 

The policy will also seek development proposals to demonstrate that the 

development will be ‘connection-ready’ on first occupation.48 Where digital 

connectivity it already in place, then no further action will be required although 

mitigation measures will be expected where adverse impact from new development 

are identified. 

 

Where there are spaces within our towns and villages that experience considerable 

levels of use by members of the public, then the policy will seek to encourage these 

spaces and premises to provide regular publicly accessible wi-fi.  

 

Where existing equipment cannot be used, and planning permission is needed for 

new telecommunications equipment, such as masts and base stations, then 

applications will be expected to demonstrate its necessity and sympathetic design in 

line with national and Local Plan policies.  

 

 
48 ‘Site Connectivity Statement’ will be expected to be submitted as part of the application process.  

Page 334



 

159 

Why is this policy needed? 

Infrastructure provision, as identified in national policy, is vital to all three of the 

overarching sustainable development objectives: economic, social and 

environmental. Digital infrastructure is considered essential strategic infrastructure 

and necessary to support more inclusive and sustainable communities, especially 

those living within the more isolated areas within the our plan area. .  

 

Communication infrastructure, including digital infrastructure is playing increasingly 

important roles in the functioning of our communities and is considered essential to 

sustainable economic development. The government agreed with mobile network 

providers to take 4G coverage to 95% of the UK landmass by 2025. In evidence to 

the DCMS Select Committee, it also set out its position on 5G.49 

 

Over the plan period the use and demand of digital communication is forecast to 

grow, and in doing so its impacts on the transport network, helping to reduce demand 

and/or traffic volume, especially at peak hours are expected to be significant. Digital 

infrastructure also has implications for physical connectivity and the transport 

network. While new technologies are changing the way people are working, smart 

technologies are supporting efficiencies within the logistics sector are in likely to have 

the greatest impact on Newhaven Port Freight and the wider Enterprise Zone. 

Homeworking is becoming an increasing feature in rural areas, which has been 

further accelerated as an business and industry adapts to the post-Covid 19 

environment. 

 

The expansion of broadband and digital infrastructure are important to support 

sustainable forms of employment and will encourage the development of enterprises 

in the plan area. Nevertheless, access to digital networks and highspeed broadband 

remains inconsistent across the plan area and it is vitally important that coverage, 

especially of [full fibre] broadband, or equivalent, is enhanced. Digital infrastructure 

has the potential to provide future technologies with a platform on environmental 

monitoring and management, health and energy efficiency.  

 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the  Issues and Options consultation supported the provision of new 

telecommunications infrastructure from new development and that this should be for 

both residential and non-residential. Respondents supported this being provided on 

an open-access basis.  

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No Policy  

This is not considered appropriate as it will not support delivery of digital inclusivity. 

 
49 Written evidence submitted by the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport Select 
Committee Inquiry on Broadband and 5G.  

Page 335



 

160 

  

Continuation of current DM Policy 32: Telecommunications Infrastructure 

This focuses on the erection of telecommunications infrastructure rather than the 

actual connectivity of the development.  

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Infrastructure and Community Facilities 

▪ Broadband and the road to 5G - Committees - UK Parliament 

▪ Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM32: Telecommunications Infrastructure  

Page 336

https://committees.parliament.uk/work/89/broadband-and-the-road-to-5g/publications/


 

161 

Policy IC4: Safeguarding Community Facilities 

 

Objectives 

The policy will seek to resist the loss of important community infrastructure that is 

essential to supporting strong, sustainable and inclusive communities. Community 

infrastructure could include community centres, village halls, youth centres, places of 

worship, libraries, health and education facilities, and sport and recreation facilities. It 

is important change and growth, is supported by a network of high-quality, accessible 

and effective social infrastructure, and the unnecessary loss of these facilities should 

be resisted. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will set out the strong presumption that land or buildings currently used or 

last used for community facilities, including sport and recreational facilities, are 

safeguarded against loss to other uses.  

 

The policy will be clear that the loss of a community facility would be considered 

acceptable only in exceptional circumstances and will set out the criteria that would 

need to be satisfied to justify this. 

 

The criteria that would justify an exceptional circumstance would include: 

▪ Where an assessment can demonstrate that the existing community use is 

surplus to requirements and opportunities for alternative community uses have 

been explored, and therefore is no realistic prospect of a continued community 

use.  

▪ Where there is replacement or re-provision of community facilities of an 

equivalent or improved quality that is in an accessible location and that 

continues to meet the needs of the local community that the existing facility 

serves 

▪ Where it can be demonstrated that there is some other overriding public 

benefit that would result from the loss of the community facility.  

 

The involvement of the local community will be sought in identifying the importance of 

local community facilities by including them (where appropriate) on the statutory list 

of assets of community value and developing appropriate solutions for their retention 

and enhancement. 

 

Why is this policy needed? 

NPPF indicates that Local Plans should set out a strategy for a range of uses, 

including provision of community facilities. The NPPF is clear that planning policies 

should plan positively for the provision of community facilities (such as local shops, 

meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses and 

places of worship) to enhance the sustainability of communities and residential 

Page 337



 

162 

environments and should guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and 

services, particularly where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-

to-day needs. 

 

In relation to open space, sports and recreation building and land, including playing 

pitches, the NPPF states that these should not be built on unless an assessment has 

been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, buildings or land to be 

surplus to requirements; or the loss resulting from the proposed development would 

be replaced by equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a 

suitable location; or the development is for alternative sports and recreational 

provision, the benefits of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. 

 

Access to community facilities is essential to social cohesion and the quality of life of 

the district’s residents. The availability of such facilities and services reduces the 

need to travel, particularly benefiting the less mobile and more deprived members of 

the community. 

 

The Settlement Services Study (2023) identifies a number of types of community 

facility as being key services that are important for day-to-day living. This includes 

doctors’ surgery, chemist, primary school, convenience store, post office, and 

community hall as key services (being accessed most regularly), and secondary 

school, library, public house (or restaurant), place of worship, dentist, nursery, cash 

point / bank, and petrol station as other important services. The Settlement Services 

Study concludes that the towns within the plan area have all key services available, 

and the majority of the village settlements of the district have reasonable levels of 

services and facilities and connectivity. However, more remote rural villages and 

hamlets have less available services and less connectivity with main towns. 

Therefore it is considered important that the community facilities that are available 

are safeguarded from loss.  

 

The Open Space Strategy (2020) recommends that the existing amount of open 

space should be protected, and that both quantitative and qualitative considerations 

should be taken into account in determining proposals that involve loss of open 

space.  

 

The council maintains a statutory list of Assets of Community Value (ACV) that have 

been nominated by the local community and where the criteria for inclusion has been 

met. This helps to identify community facilities that should be safeguarded, but does 

not identify all relevant community facilities – there may be other across the District 

that do not have ACV designation. Therefore, while ACV designation is a material 

planning consideration, all community facilities would need to be considered on a 

case-by-case basis, whether or not they have an ACV designation.  

 

Page 338



 

163 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation made many broad comments 

about community facilities, although few that were specific to the issue of 

safeguarding existing facilities.  

 

The comments supported better provision and accessibility to services and 

amenities, including community spaces, to enhance towns and villages. They also 

opined that community facilities should be incorporated within the 20-minute 

neighbourhood concept to improve accessibility, and residents should not have to 

drive to access them.  

 

A number of respondents did suggest greater protection for green spaces including 

playing pitches, and that there should be better support sport and recreational 

opportunities including local sports clubs. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy 

No policy is not the preferred option as this would restrict the ability to ensure that 

important community facilities are protected when new development is proposed  

 

To have a separate policy on resisting the loss of playing pitches 

Playing pitches are considered to be a type of community use and therefore would be 

covered by a policy that safeguards all community facilities. However, there may be 

additional factors that may need to be considered in relation to playing pitches, and 

therefore having a separate policy on resisting the loss of playing pitches could be an 

appropriate option.  

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Infrastructure and Community Facilities 

▪ Lewes Open Space Strategy (2020) 

▪ Lewes District Playing Pitch Assessment (2020) 

▪ Lewes Local Plan Settlement Services Study (2023) 

▪ Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

▪ Lewes District Council Asset of Community Value List 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 7: Infrastructure  

Policy IC5: Commercial community uses 

 

Objectives 

There are some commercial uses that are also key community facilities, such as 

small local shops and public houses, which play a key role in the sustainability of 

Page 339

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/assets-of-community-value


 

164 

communities. However, the commercial elements of these uses mean that they may 

need to be treated slightly differently in policy terms that other community facilities.  

 

The council will seek to guard against any unnecessary loss of commercial 

community uses, and will require proposals for their redevelopment or demolition to 

provide convincing evidence that there is no reasonable prospect for the building to 

continue its operation, or for alternative community use. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will resist the loss of commercial community uses including local shops 

and public houses unless it can be demonstrated that: 

▪ Opportunities to use for premises for alternative community uses (commercial 

or non-commercial) have been fully explored, including the use by a social 

enterprise or charitable group 

▪ The commercial community use is no longer economically viable 

▪ There has been no market interest in the building as a commercial community 

use or interest from local communities for the space to be used for alternative 

community uses over an appropriate period 

In addition, the policy would set out that proposals for development that would 

compromise the operation or viability of the community use will be resisted.  

 

Why is this policy needed? 

The NPPF indicates that planning policies should plan positively for the provision of 

community facilities, and some of the community facilities identified, such as local 

shops, and public houses, would be considered to be commercial community uses. 

The NPPF confirms that local plans should guard against the unnecessary loss of 

valued facilities and services, particularly where this would reduce the community’s 

ability to meet its day-to-day needs. 

 

The Use Classes Order identifies a class of uses that are important for the operation 

of local communities. This includes Class F2(a) use of small local shops that mostly 

sell essential goods where there is no other such facility within 1,000. The policy 

would be aimed at protecting such uses.   

 

The commercial element means that they should be treated differently in policy terms 

of other community facilities. In order to justify the loss of a commercial community 

use, there should be an additional element of marketing the existing use for an 

appropriate period of time to demonstrate that there is no demand for the commercial 

community use to continue. This is different to other community facilities where there 

is less likely to be a market for an alternative owner/operator.  

 

It is also important to ensure that new development does not compromise the 

operation or viability of the commercial community use. For example, development 

Page 340



 

165 

within the curtilage of a public house may impact its operation, so such proposals will 

need to be carefully considered to ensure that it does not adverse impact the 

community use.  

 

Lewes District Retail and Leisure Study (2023) identifies that local shops outside of 

the retail hierarchy in the District’s rural areas are likely to provide an important local 

function and reduce the need to travel, and therefore the Local Plan Part 1 (Joint 

Core Strategy) policy to retain these shops should be retained and aligned with the 

definition of local community shop as set out in the Use Classes Order, and 

broadening the policy response to include other uses such as public houses, given 

the important local role such uses can play in supporting rural communities.  

 

Settlement Services Study (2023) identifies a number of types of community facility 

as being key services that are important for day-to-day living. This includes 

commercial uses that are important for the sustainability of local communities such as 

convenience stores, post offices and public houses.  

 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the Issues & Options consultation felt that there should be protection 

for village shops and convenience shops outside of town centres to ensure that all 

communities have access to shop, pub and community space without the need to 

drive. Communities should be helped to run them as co-operatives if they are seen to 

be under threat.  

 

Respondents also commented that local shops and public houses are key features in 

promoting 20-minute neighbourhoods. It was also suggested that small village shops 

are more likely to source products locally, therefore reducing food miles and 

supporting the rural economy.  

 

  

Page 341



 

166 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy 

No policy is not the preferred option as this would restrict the ability to ensure that 

important commercial community uses are protected when new development is 

proposed  

 

To include commercial community uses within the safeguarding community 

facilities policy 

It is considered that there are additional considerations that would need to be taken 

into account in a policy on commercial community uses, that might not be relevant for 

other community facilities. For example, it would be expected that a commercial 

community use would be appropriate marketed before any loss is proposed, whereas 

for other community facilities that do not have the commercial aspect this may not be 

applicable. Therefore combining commercial community uses with other community 

facilities is not the preferred option.   

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Infrastructure and Community Facilities 

▪ Lewes Settlement Services Study (2023) 

▪ Lewes District Retail & Leisure Study (2023) 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 7: Infrastructure  

  

Page 342



 

167 

Policy IC6: Outdoor Playing Space 

Objectives 

This policy will set out how new development should provide new and enhanced 

outdoor playing space, including children’s play space and playing pitches, to meet 

the needs it generates. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

Outdoor play space provision will be required to be provided by new development, 

appropriate to the scale and location of new development. Provision should be on-

site in the first instance, however, if it is not practicable to locate the space on site, 

then financial contributions will be sought to improve existing, or provide new, 

facilities off-site.  

 

The policy will seek to achieve provision of outdoor playing space to ensure that the 

following minimum quantity standards are met across the plan area: 

▪ 0.25 ha per 1,000 population for equipped and designated children’s play 

space 

▪ 1.6 ha per 1,000 population for outdoor sports including playing pitches, tennis 

courts and bowling greens 

 

In addition, it is the preferred option to set accessibility standards for the open space 

typologies.  

 

The following minimum accessibility standards are proposed:  

▪ 400m (5 minute walk) for equipped and designated children’s play space 

▪ 1,200m (15 minute walk) for outdoor sports  

 

Why is this policy needed? 

The NPPF confirms that access to a network of high-quality open spaces and 

opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health and well-being 

of communities.  

 

Planning Practice Guidance emphases that open space, which includes outdoor 

playing space, should be taken into account in planning for new development. In line 

with Government guidance, it is considered essential that adequate provision for 

outdoor playing space is made in association with new housing developments in 

order to meet the recreational needs of new residents and to avoid exacerbating 

existing deficiencies. 

 

The NPPF states that planning policies should be based on robust and up-to-date 

assessments of the need for open space, sport and recreation facilities (including 

quantitative or qualitative deficits or surpluses) and opportunities for new provision. 

We commissioned an Open Space Strategy and Playing Pitch Assessment for the 

Page 343



 

168 

entirety of Lewes District, which published in 2020. This study provided 

recommendations for open space typologies which are reflected in the proposed 

policy direction above. In addition, accessibility standards have been included within 

the proposed policy direction as improving accessibility of facilities and amenities is a 

key mission of the new Local Plan, to reduce travel time, encourage walking and 

cycling where possible and help support the response to climate change.  

 

What you have told us so far 

In response to the question in the Issues and Options consultation about whether 

there should be specific benchmark standards for the provision of other open spaces 

in addition to outdoor playing space, there were a mix of views. Some respondents 

suggested that there was no need for additional standards as each community will 

have different needs that are best addressed through neighbourhood plans, and 

specific standards for provision could create unforeseen consequences and result in 

delays and unnecessary negotiations at the planning application stage. Others 

supported standards for other types of space, including woodland, dog exercise 

areas and school playing fields. However, there was strong support for standards for 

playing pitches and children’s play areas.  

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy 

Not having a policy for the provision of outdoor playing space in new development is 

not the preferred option as it could lead to lower provision than required, which would 

result in deficiencies in open space across the area.  

 

Alternative standards of provision 

The Open Space Strategy proposes quantity standards for open spaces based on 

evidence through assessment and taking into account national benchmark 

standards. Setting alternative standards through the policy is not the preferred option 

as there is no evidence to justify higher or lower standards of provision.  

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Infrastructure and Community Facilities 

▪ Lewes District Open Space Strategy (2020) 

▪ Lewes District Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment (2020) 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans     

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM15: Provision of Outdoor Playing Space 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM16: Children’s Play Space in New Housing 

Development  

 

 

  

Page 344



 

169 

Policy IC7: Local Food Infrastructure 

 

Objectives 

The policy will encourage the provision of community and horticultural food growing 

opportunities through new development and land use decisions in order to help 

encourage healthy lifestyles, enhance biodiversity and reduce food miles, which can 

all have positive impacts on carbon emissions. Provision of food growing in any new 

developments will need to be considered and integrated with other uses for outside 

space, for example provision of sport and play facilities and access to open space.  

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will support the use of land and buildings as new allotments, orchards and 

for local food growing spaces and production, and other infrastructure that supports 

the local food system.  

 

The provision of new community food growing space may form part of the open 

space provision that is required to be provided on larger residential developments. 

The use of existing amenity open space for food growing will be supported where it 

can be demonstrated that land is surplus to requirements. 

 

The policy will expect developers to engage with district and parish councils who 

manage allotments to identify need for areas for food growing, taking into account 

any waiting lists that there may be for allotment space. New space should be 

provided as extensions or improvements to existing community food growing spaces, 

rather than creating new ones.  

 

The policy will support the inclusion of productive trees and plants in landscaping 

schemes where appropriate. This could include community orchards, although these 

may need to be avoided where the space is close to main thoroughfares.  

 

Outside of sites specifically allocated for development through the local plan, the 

policy will seek to avoid the loss of best and most versatile (BMV) agricultural land. 

Where developments are proposed on sites that include BMV agricultural land, 

opportunities for community food growing, agricultural or horticulture should be 

incorporated into proposals in the areas with the highest grades.  

 

Why is this policy needed? 

The NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, 

inclusive and safe places which enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially 

where this would address identified local health and well-being needs. 

 

Planning Practice Guidance states that local planning authorities can have a role by 

supporting opportunities for communities to access a wide range of healthier food 

Page 345



 

170 

production and consumption choices. It also confirms that where significant 

development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning 

authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a 

higher quality. 

 

Using the planning system to promote food growth, and the creation of a sustainable 

food network, is growing in popularity. Local Plan policies can require new 

developments to include space for growing food and encourage the use of productive 

trees or other edible planting. Food producing plants can replace ornamental plants 

in landscape schemes without excessive cost to the developer, thereby ensuring that 

any outdoor amenity space required within development can be food-friendly. 

 

The Open Space Strategy identifies that there is a current provision of 17.33 hectares 

of ‘allotments, community gardens and city farms’ across the district. It proposes that 

the proposed standard for provision of ‘allotments, community gardens and city 

farms’ should be 0.2 hectares per 1,000 people. This means that using the proposed 

standards, there is a projected deficiency in provision of 0.04 hectares per 1,000 

people to 2030.  

 

What you have told us so far 

The Issues & Options consultation asked a specific question about whether the local 

plan should introduce a policy supporting food growing. Respondents were generally 

supportive of such a policy, particularly if this is through the provision of allotments as 

a clearly demarcated area for such activities. Some comments supported 

comprehensive tree planting schemes to encourage food growing. Respondents 

were also cautious of allowing housing development on productive farming land.  

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy 

No policy is not the preferred option because it would not encourage the provision of 

community food growing through new development, which can help encourage 

healthy lifestyles, enhance biodiversity and reduce food miles, and therefore reduce 

carbon emissions.  

 

Further Information 

▪ Climate Change Topic Paper 

▪ Lewes District Open Space Strategy (2020) 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 8: Green Infrastructure 

 

  

Page 346



 

171 

Policy IC8: Sustainable transport and movement 

 

Objectives 

The integration of land use and transport, including a public transport, are essential 

to delivering communities that are sustainable, healthy and inclusive. This strategic 

policy will set out how the transport impact of development should be managed, and 

how new development should be connected to the transport network. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

This policy will seek to give local effect to national policy and as such the preferred 

policy direction is to retain elements of the existing policy that are generally in 

conformity with national policy. The policy will then be amended to reflect the key 

transport schemes and priorities for the district once the evidence base is up to date.  

 

The policy will seek to improve accessibility and widen transport choices through 

requiring, as far as possible, all new developments to be served by an attractive 

choice of transport modes, including public transport, cycle routes, bridleways, and 

footpaths. The policy not only seeks to encourage a modal shift away from the use of 

the private car, but in doing so promotes healthier lifestyles. 

 

Continuing to work with partners to improve accessibility by enhancing sustainable 

transport opportunities, and encouraging development that reduces the need to travel 

behavioural change will be a key component of this policy. Future development within 

the district will be focussed on the most accessible and sustainable locations to 

reduce the need to travel. 

 

Travel Statements demonstrating how many trips will be generated by the 

development, their impact and how they will be accommodated and addressed as 

well as maximising sustainable travel will be required from major development 

proposals. 

 

To assist in meeting the objective of net zero, the policy will seek developments to be 

designed around the principles of ‘walkable or cyclable neighbourhoods’; giving 

priority to people over vehicular traffic – to make journeys by walking and cycling 

more direct and convenient over the car. 

 

The policy will also seek contributions to improvements to public and community 

transport. These are being identified and developed through the ongoing work on the 

Local Transport Plan 4 and other transport related evidence.  

 

The council will only support developments that will, or are likely to, have an 

unacceptable level of impact on the transport network in exceptional circumstances 

Page 347



 

172 

and will not support developments that are wholly dependent on use of the private 

car or promote unsustainable travel behaviour.  

 

Why is this policy needed? 

Sustainable Transport is a key component of sustainable development. Both national 

and local planning policy promote the idea of sustainable development. Locating jobs 

and employment closest to new and existing residential development, as well as to 

services and facilities will mean that people can meet their day to day needs locally, 

reduce the need to travel by private car, and support Active Travel. 

 

The current Local Plan Core Policy 13 relates to sustainable transport. This sets out 

the initiatives for sustainable transport improvements which will be supported by the 

council within the district and what improvements will be required, in particular to the 

road network. 

 

Development Management policies DM35, DM36 and DM37 also relate to 

sustainable travel and seek to secure its delivery. DM35 sets out the approach to 

footpaths, cycle and bridleways; DM36 to station Parking and DM37 in relation to the 

Uckfield to Lewes former railway line. 

 

Transport related emissions are one of the largest contributing source to climate 

change, as well as having an impact on the quality of the environment. An Air Quality 

Management Quality is in place in covering Newhaven, and the policy will need to 

continue to seek to shift travel choices away from the private car. 

 

A wider range of evidence is being gathered to support the emerging Local Plan. We 

have begun work understanding the capacity of the transport network. Additionally, 

East Sussex County Council (as the local transport authority) is developing the Local 

Transport Plan 4 (LTP4) and this policy will seek to influence the aims of LTP4 and 

eventually address the specific challenges relating to the plan area. This policy will 

also look to complement schemes that are proposed by Transport for the South East 

in its emerging Strategic Investment Plan. 

 

This policy will seek to ensure that development does not lead to unacceptable 

transport impact. 

 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the Issues & Options consultation addressed the accessibility to 

services and facilities and encouraging sustainable modes of transport / active travel 

opportunities. This included improving the provision of accessible routes and 

connectivity – including clear signage, particularly to rural settlements, providing safer 

routes and options for alternative modes of travel to private transport. 

 

Page 348



 

173 

Respondents expressed a desire for the re-ordering of the transport hierarchy, with 

more importance placed on car-free developments and of active travel and public 

transport having priority over private car use. In particular, the improvement of cycle 

infrastructure including expansion of the network, enhanced connectivity, bicycle 

parking facilities, including electric bicycle provision, and a safer network were 

consistently raised comments. 

 

Respondents who suggested improvements of accessibility to rural settlements and 

the countryside, identified the provision of safer bridleways and a more connected 

rural public transport offer as important issues to be addressed in the plan. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No Policy 

This is not considered a reasonable option as it would mean relying on national 

policy or the Local Transport Plan. Neither of these would provide sufficient 

information on the local context and fall short of fully addressing considerations 

through the planning application process. 

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Infrastructure and Community Facilities 

▪ Strategic Transport Evidence Base 

▪ East Sussex County Council - East Sussex Local Transport Plan 3 (2011-2026) 

▪ Transport for the South East - A Strategic Investment Plan for the South East 

(2023) 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 13: Sustainable Transport 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM35: Footpath, Cycle and Bridleway Network 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM36: Station Parking 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM37: Former Lewes to Uckfield railway line 

  

Page 349

https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/roads-transport/transport-planning/local-transport-plan/plan-3-2011-2026
https://transportforthesoutheast.org.uk/our-work/strategic-investment-plan/
https://transportforthesoutheast.org.uk/our-work/strategic-investment-plan/


 

174 

Policy IC9: Parking Standards [and EVCP] 

 

Objectives 

This policy will set out the requirements for managing vehicle and cycle parking, 

including ensuring that the transition to electric vehicles is supercharged through the 

provision of electric charging infrastructure. New development will be expected to 

help facilitate ‘a greener local plan’ by facilitating movement by walking and cycling. 

  

Preferred Policy Direction 

Parking standards are set in accordance with national policy and reflect the needs of 

our communities. East Sussex County Council is the responsible transport planning 

authority and as such has prepared the parking standards for both residential and 

non-residential development. These are the standards that are implemented within 

the plan area. It will be necessary to update the existing parking standards to provide 

flexibility for development to respond to the mix of land uses, location and 

accessibility to other modes of transport. 

 

Although, cycling and walking will be the preferred method of travel with regards to 

reducing congestion and emissions, it is recognised that vehicle transport will still be 

necessary, and electric vehicles will play an important role in the transition away from 

combustion engines. However, the shift to electric vehicles will rely on a significant 

increase in the availability of charging infrastructure and will put additional pressure 

on electrical power networks.  Public facilities in convenient locations will provide 

access to charging for residents without off street parking and for visitors to the 

district. 

 

The recent changes to building regulations now ensure that new developments have 

EV charging points installed however, local plan policy could require a greater 

provision of charging points, and require a proportion of these to be rapid charging 

(50kW+) in suitable locations on a range of different developments to support new 

public charging facilities to serve existing communities. In particular, to ensure on-site 

charging facilities are provided in non-residential development, the policy will seek 

these to be designed into the public realm and for residential development seek with 

each new dwelling at least 1 charge point. 

 

Cycle hire schemes are increasingly becoming popular, convenient and economical 

option for individuals to make their entire or partial journey, especially when located 

in or close to centres or travel hubs. The council, while supporting the expansion and 

provision of cycle hire schemes will seek to properly manage them, so that ‘docking 

stations’ or cycles do not become a street hazard, unsightly or impact negatively on 

the public realm, safety and local amenity. 

 

Page 350



 

175 

Why is this policy needed? 

Managing parking spaces as well as the demand is an important factor in influencing 

the choice of mode people make. Although, evolutionary technology and the adoption 

of autonomous vehicle are likely to drive the change in options including the 

potentially transformative effects on road conditions, for the local plan period parking 

will need to continue to be managed given the local congestion, and poor air quality 

above government objective levels experienced in parts of the district.50     

 

Through the NPPF local authorities are able to set local parking standards where 

there is clear and compelling justification and a need to manage the local road 

network; or for optimising density in town centres and locations that are well served 

by public transport.  

 

Paragraph 107 of the NPPF requires that parking standards take into account local 

factors and circumstances, including; 

a) the accessibility of the development; 

b) the type, mix and use of development;  

c) the availability of and opportunities for public transport; 

d) local car ownership levels; and  

e) the need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in and 

other ultra-low emission vehicles. 

National Planning Policy Guidance sets out further guidance which suggests that the 

provision of parking should be appropriate to the needs of the development and not 

reduced to a level considered unreasonable. Policies in the plan need to address a 

wide range of locations, from hamlets with limited or no bus services to the coastal 

towns of Newhaven, Peacehaven and Seaford where the car may be the least 

convenient way to make a local journey. 

 

The current East Sussex County Council parking standards set the optimal level of 

parking. There is a tendency that these become the default level rather than respond 

to site specific circumstances. A site by site design-led approach may be a better 

approach and provide the flexibility to respond to the local circumstance of each site, 

as well as adapt to the changing patterns of vehicle ownership over the plan period.  

 

Additionally, the council’s climate change evidence identifies road transport as the 

biggest generator of carbon emission. A large proportion of plan area’s population 

drives to work in places outside of the plan area. While the location of new 

development near to bus and rail service may help to reduce car generated 

emissions in order to meet the objective of net zero, the council will need to seek 

more ambitious requirements for both on-street and off-street charging point to 

support electric vehicle ownership. 

 
50 Newhaven and Lewes town tare covered by Air Quality Management Orders, although Lewes Town 
falls outside the plan area.  

Page 351



 

176 

 

Cycling and walking are zero-emission modes of travel and will have a key role in 

helping to meet the net-zero targets. Charging infrastructure for cycles may 

encourage take up of electric cycles for some journeys considered too far to cycle. 

 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents supported reducing private car use as well as the speed of vehicles.  

Respondents supported seeking less car-dependent development through improving 

public and active transport options. In addition, ensuring better EVCP would 

encourage the modal shift as well as helping to reduce carbon emissions. 

 

Respondents to the consultation supported prioritising development in existing areas 

and around transport hubs. This would improve accessibility to active travel 

pathways. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No Policy 

National policy requires consideration of parking, and while ESCC has produced 

guidance for optimal parking levels in residential and non-residential development 

these, this was produced more than six years ago and has gaps in relation to 

technological advancements. 

 

No set requirements for electric vehicle charging points (EVCP)  

This is not considered a reasonable alternative given the need for development to 

address changing vehicle types, climate change and transition to cleaner energy. 

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Infrastructure and Community Facilities 

▪ East Sussex County Council – Parking standards for non-residential development 

▪ East Sussex County Council - Parking standards for new residential development 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

None 

Policy IC10: Former Lewes to Uckfield railway line 

 

Objectives 

The policy will seek to protect the route of the former Lewes to Uckfield railway line 

from development that could impact the potential re-opening of the line in the future.  

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will restrict any development along the former Lewes to Uckfield railway 

line that would significantly prejudice the reinstatement of the former rail line in the 

Page 352

https://rdcpublic.blob.core.windows.net/website-uploads/2020/01/parking_guidance_non_residential.pdf
https://democracy.eastsussex.gov.uk/documents/s16309/LMTE%20161017%20-%20Parking%20Policy%20App%201%20-%20ESCC%20Guidance%20for%20Parking%20at%20Residential%20Developments.pdf


 

177 

future. Meanwhile uses that would not prejudice the future reinstatement of the rail 

line may be considered acceptable.  

 

Why is this policy needed? 

The Lewes to Uckfield railway line closed in 1969. The re-opening of the Lewes to 

Uckfield line would provide an additional public transport link that would not only ease 

pressure on the existing network and provide an additional rail route between 

Brighton and London, but also make more sustainable travel options available to 

more people across the region. 

 

The London and South Coast Rail Corridor Study, published by the Department for 

Transport in 2017, concluded that a transport case could be made for such a scheme 

subject to additional economic growth. The Transport for the South East Strategic 

Investment Plan (2023) identifies an aspiration to reinstate the railway between 

Lewes and Uckfield to increase resilience of rail connectivity between the South 

Coast and London.  

 

East Sussex County Council and Lewes District Council support the reinstatement of 

the line in order to provide additional rail capacity in the county, in line with the 

objectives of the Local Transport Plan 2011-2026 and the East Sussex Rail Strategy. 

 

In 2018, Lewes District Council declared a climate change emergency with a 

headline target of achieving net-zero carbon emissions and being climate-resilient by 

2030. Road transport is a significant contributor to carbon emissions in the District51, 

and taking opportunities to provide sustainable transport options such as the re-

opening of the Lewes to Uckfield line, will play a key part of reducing carbon 

emissions by reducing car journeys and lessening traffic congestion around Lewes 

and Brighton.  

 

Lewes District Council also sees important benefits of the re-opening of the line for 

the District and also the wider area. There will be quicker and more convenient 

access between the Weald and employment centres at Lewes, Newhaven and 

Brighton, which will support economic recovery and growth; and the provision of 

sustainable transport opportunities will provide greater options and facilitate the 

sustainable delivery of new homes. It would also provide an additional Sussex Coast 

to London route to relieve the Brighton Main Line in the event of any disruption.  

 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the Issues & Options consultation suggested that transport issues 

were underrepresented within the consultation, and that more importance should 

 
51 Lewes Climate Change & Sustainability Strategy Framework 2020 

Page 353



 

178 

have been given to rail improvements and new rail connections (Lewes-Uckfield) 

given the urgency in addressing climate change, but also to help tourism to the area. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy to protect route of former railway line 

No policy is not the preferred option as it could lead to development taking place on 

the route of the former railway line that would make its reinstatement impossible to 

achieve.  

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Infrastructure and Community Facilities 

▪ East Sussex County Council - East Sussex Local Transport Plan 3 (2011-2026) 

▪ Transport for the South East - A Strategic Investment Plan for the South East 

(2023) 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM37: Former Lewes to Uckfield railway line 

 

 

  

Page 354

https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/roads-transport/transport-planning/local-transport-plan/plan-3-2011-2026
https://transportforthesoutheast.org.uk/our-work/strategic-investment-plan/
https://transportforthesoutheast.org.uk/our-work/strategic-investment-plan/


 

179 

Policy IC11: Public Rights of Way 

 

Objectives 

Public Rights of Way (PROW) are routes that any member of the public may use a 

right, rather than a privilege granted by the land owner. The PROW network can 

provide traffic- free alternatives to on-road routes, which can encourage people to 

travel by cycle or foot. East Sussex County Council are legally responsible for 

managing these paths to ensure that they give safe and easy access for the public, 

but it is considered important that the local plan ensures that new development does 

not adversely affect PROWs and enhances them wherever possible.  

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The policy will ensure that Public Rights of Way are protected and not adversely 

affected by development. Where this is not possible, the policy will require that good 

quality, safe and convenient alternative provision is made or suitable replacement 

Public Rights of Way are secured.  

 

In addition, the policy will require that development adjacent to the settlement 

boundaries should improve and enhance access into the countryside, through the 

Rights of Way network and/or open space and creation of new Rights of Way.  

 

Why is this policy needed? 

The NPPF states that access to a network of high quality open spaces and 

opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health and wellbeing 

of communities, and can deliver wider benefits for nature and support efforts to 

address climate change. The NPPF is also clear that planning policies should protect 

and enhance public rights of way and access, including taking opportunities to 

provide better facilities for users, for example by adding links to existing rights of way 

networks including National Trails. 

 

Planning Practice Guidance specifically notes that public rights of way form an 

important component of sustainable transport links and should be protected or 

enhanced.  

 

DEFRA’s The Rights of Way Circular (1/09) confirms that proposals for the 

development of land affecting public rights of way give rise to two matters of 

particular concern: the need for adequate consideration of the rights of way before 

the decision on the planning application is taken and the need, once planning 

permission has been granted, for the right of way to be kept open and unobstructed 

until the statutory procedures authorising closure or diversion have been completed.  

The Green Infrastructure Study will give further consideration and evidence on the 

Public Rights of Way network and linkages to open space and countryside.  

 

Page 355



 

180 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the Issues & Options consultation supported the retention and 

proper management of PROW as they can make a big difference to local 

communities. They can also enable better accessibility to amenities and services, as 

well as access to countryside with well-marked and maintained paths, which is good 

for residents’ mental health. However, it is important to ensure that new footpaths do 

not adversely affect habitats.  

 

Creation of new public footpaths within large developments that go from border to 

border and can link with other footpaths. 

 

Respondents also noted that footpaths and bridleways are safe joined up routes for 

cycling and enhance wider access and tourist experience across the district. New 

development should help facilitate the creation of new public footpaths that links well 

to the network.  

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy 

There are other mechanisms to help keep public rights of way open and 

unobstructed, however it is considered that it is important that there is a clear policy 

for not only protecting public rights of way, but also for securing improvements and 

enhancements for the wider network. Therefore no policy is not the preferred option.  

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Infrastructure and Community Facilities 

▪ East Sussex County Council – East Sussex On-line rights of way map 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM35: Footpath, Cycle and Bridleway Network 

  

Page 356

https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/leisure-tourism/discover-east-sussex/rights-of-way/east-sussex/online-rights-of-way-map


 

181 

Theme: Design, Landscape and the Built 

Environment 
 

Aim: To enhance the high quality and character of the district’s towns, villages 

and rural environment, while ensuring that all forms of development respond 

positively to climate change and create inclusive, healthy places.  

 

The district’s historic and built environment is highly valued and enjoyed by residents 

and visitors alike throughout the countryside, towns and villages. The built 

environment and spaces around it contribute significantly to the quality of life for 

those living and working in the district, which in turn is essential to the continued 

economic and social well-being of the area. It is therefore imperative that the new 

Local Plan protects and enhances the built environment of the district’s towns, 

villages and countryside for future generations to enjoy. Encouraging good quality 

design, respecting the historic environment, and enhancing local character and 

distinctiveness whenever the opportunity arises is therefore a key mission for the 

Local Plan. 

 

The district benefits from listed buildings and conservation areas, scheduled ancient 

monuments, and sites of archaeological importance. These assets contribute to the 

district's cultural identity within Sussex, unique sense of place and subsequently 

require protection and to be treated with due sensitivity and care. 

 

Development is never too small to be considered in design terms. Cumulative effects 

of extensions and alterations have a significant impact on people's perceptions of a 

place in a day-to-day scenario. In addition, improving the existing fabric of the built 

environment is key to ensuring that development at every scale responds 

appropriately to its context, protecting what is of value while enhancing the 

environmental qualities of the district for future generations. The new Local Plan will 

encourage the creation of accessible, healthy, safe and sustainable development, 

which makes the best use of its siting, layout, orientation and design to achieve the 

highest practicable degree of resource and energy efficiency. 

 

The proposed approach is to set out in a series of design policies, which will be built 

upon by two design guides as Supplementary Planning Documents, or their 

replacements, that also provide more detail to other policies within the new Local 

Plan. One of the guides will detail high level strategic considerations, and one will set 

out householder application design considerations. The strategic level guide will set 

out expectations around best-practice in site layout, including details such as but not 

limited to, expected densities and clear ways of access. The Householder Application 

Design Guide will set out best practice guidance and expectations of additions to 

existing development. The vision is that Neighbourhood Plan design guides, codes 

Page 357



 

182 

and design sections within Neighbourhood Plan’s will provide the locally specific, site-

by-site detail that communities expect development proposals to adhere to. 

 

Which Policies Are We Proposing?  

D1: Development Principles 

D2: Achieving High-Quality Development 

D3: Landscape Character 

D4: Conservation and Enhancement of Heritage Assets 

D5: Public Realm 

 

Which Policies Are We Proposing to carry forward? 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM26: Refuse and Recycling 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM31: Advertisements 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM32: Telecommunications Infrastructure 

 

Consultation Questions for the Design, Landscape and Built 

Environment Theme 

▪ Have we chosen the right policies to respond to meeting the needs for Design, 

Landscape and the Built Environment? 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included?  Why should they be 

included? 

  

Page 358



 

183 

Strategic Policy D1: Development Principles 

 

Objectives  

The purpose of this policy is to set out overarching principles for achieving high 

quality design and to ensure a consistency of approach, while providing scope for 

innovative and imaginative design. It will further provide clarification on the 

expectation of the use of design guides and codes provided at the National, Local 

and Neighbourhood level.  

 

Preferred Policy Direction    

This policy will require that development at every scale responds appropriately to its 

context, protecting what is of value while enhancing the qualities of the district. Lewes 

district benefits from a variety of built and natural spaces from historic coastal towns 

and rural villages, to biodiverse countryside and open clifftop and seaside locations. 

In addition, the district benefits from communities that have invested in 

neighbourhood planning, particularly on the topic of design, within their designated 

neighbourhood plan areas. Development proposals will be supported that:  

 

Respond to the climate emergency by:  

▪ Being designed to be long lasting and low impact in construction and 

maintenance. 

Improve connectivity within the district by: 

▪ Being well-connected to and integrated with nearby existing or planned 

social and environmental nodes and transport infrastructure. 

Enhance the character of the district by:  

▪ Contributing to local distinctiveness and sense of place through 

relationships with the built and natural environment; 

▪ Providing high-quality routes that connect people and wildlife to the wider 

landscape by optimising Green Infrastructure opportunities;  

▪ Avoiding harmful impact to and from surrounding uses and amenities. 

Respond to the district’s communities by:  

▪ Responding positively to Neighbourhood plan design guidance, codes and 

identified character areas within Neighbourhood Plans; 

▪ Creating accessible public spaces within the public realm that are high-

quality, safe environments and have a clear de-lineation from private 

areas. 

 

Why is this policy needed?   

Design has been a point of focus at the national level, with the NPPF being updated 

to have a tighter focus on design, alongside the National Design Guide and National 

Model Design Code released in 2022. The updated NPPF puts a strong emphasis on 

LPAs developing their own design guides, stating that their geographic coverage, 

level of detail and degree of prescription should be tailored to the circumstances and 

Page 359



 

184 

scale of change in each place, and should allow a suitable degree of variety. It also 

states that these design guides and codes should be consistent with the principles 

set out in the National Design Guide and National Model Design Code.  

 

In addition, neighbourhood planning has been popular within the plan area, with the 

district benefitting from 8 made (adopted) Neighbourhood Plans, 1 at Regulation 16 

stage and another in the early phases of development. Design has been a 

particularly prominent addition within the neighbourhood plans whether that be both 

through designated sections of the plan and separate design guides and codes. The 

sections that focus on design within the Neighbourhood Plans, provide detailed 

character assessments and set out expectations for development proposals in terms 

of building fabric design and expected layout. 

 

What you have told us so far   

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation addressed the topic of design 

both with regards to the design questions and the design influences on a number of 

other policy areas.   

  

Key feedback received included:  

▪ General support for design codes and guides, with support for codes and guides 

that cover the whole plan area, specific parts of the plan area and for individual 

sites. 

▪ Ensuring neighbourhood plans are used. 

▪ Consideration of accessibility and connectivity of development  

▪ That design is an important theme of the plan. 

▪ Ensuring development is specific to place and is resilient to climate change. 

▪ Support for modal shift and encouraging active travel through development. 

▪ Enhance the sense of community in places. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting   

No policy - Not considered a reasonable alternative due to requirement for plans to 

set out a clear design vision and provide clarity about design expectations. 

 

Rely solely on Neighbourhood Plan design guides and codes – Not considered a 

reasonable alternative due to the requirement for plans to develop a stand-alone 

design guide for the LPA area. 

 

Further Information 

Topic Paper – Design, Landscape and the Built Environment  

  

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans    

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 2: Housing Type, Mix and Density 

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 11: Built and Historic Environment & Design  

Page 360



 

185 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM25: Design 

 

  

Page 361



 

186 

Policy D2: Achieving High-Quality Design in Development 

 

Objectives 

This policy will set out requirements for the design quality to be achieved by new 

developments, and alterations and extensions to all existing development. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

This policy will require development proposals to demonstrate how they meet the 

following expectations: 

 

Designed with communities in mind: 

▪ Ensure buildings are orientated to provide surveillance and create active edges 

with public spaces by locating entrances and windows of habitable rooms, as well 

as appropriate uses, next to the street. 

▪ Provide high quality outdoor amenity space appropriate to the needs of its 

occupiers or users. 

 

Achieve accessible development by: 

▪ Ensuring entrances and exits are safe, convenient and accessible for all users 

during the day and night, with lighting and security features successfully 

integrated into the design. 

 

Respond positively to climate-change by, including but not limited to: 

▪ Creating robust and adaptable buildings that can be adapted and reused to 

extend their lifespan.  

▪ Reducing the carbon impact during demolition and construction of development, 

adhering to circular economy principles. 

 

Enhance the local character of the district by: 

▪ Providing a comprehensive design approach that contributes to local 

distinctiveness and sense of place through successful integration of adjoining 

buildings, routes and topography, including historic settlement pattern. 

▪ Using materials that are of high quality, that will age well and be easy to maintain, 

and if an extension or alteration, reflect, or successfully contrast with, the existing 

building form, through the use of materials and architectural detailing. 

▪ Using design to minimise adverse impact on the amenity of existing and future 

occupiers or users of nearby building and spaces, in terms of overlooking, 

dominance or overshadowing, traffic generation and pollution. 

 

Why is this policy needed?   

The NPPF sets out that a robust policy framework is required to achieve high-quality 

design, which is supported through PPG, the National Design Guide and National 

Model Design Code. High quality design is fundamental to the creation of high-quality 

Page 362



 

187 

places. It contributes to community cohesion and inclusion, influences safety and 

security and encourages economic investment. The design of the built environment is 

intrinsic in promoting modal shift which in turn positively influences health and well-

being, as well as addressing the causes and effects of our changing climate. It is 

important that high-quality design in place-making puts people first so that places are 

welcoming, feel safe and are enjoyable and easy to use for all. 

 

Materials to be used in development should be suitable for their purpose and setting, 

accounting for the durability of materials and how they weather. This is particularly 

important in the plan area as there are a number of exposed locations in the district 

where particularly durable materials are required to ensure developments remain 

secure and efficient for their lifespan. Necessary environmental services, plant, 

recycling and refuse storage, bicycle and car parking must be considered early in the 

design process to ensure they are successfully integrated into the development and 

not an afterthought. Such features must be secure and located conveniently but 

unobtrusively to allow for seamless transitions through development. 

 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation addressed the topic of design 

both with regards to the design questions and the design influences on a number of 

other policy areas.    

 

Responses were received that covered measures needed to achieve high quality 

development. Comments included that:  

• Development should be carbon neutral and encourage low carbon lifestyles.  

• The use of renewable materials in construction should be maximised, and that 

a balance should be found between established building patterns and 

innovative technologies. 

• Pollution sources from development should be mitigated through considerate 

design technologies. 

• Shared spaces where children can play safely and residents can use freely 

and safely should be fundamental in development, 

  

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting   

No policy – Not considered a reasonable alternative due to the need to respond to 

local design issues. 

 

Further Information 

Topic Paper – Design, Landscape and the Built Environment  

  

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans    

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 2: Housing Type, Mix and Density 

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 11: Built and Historic Environment and Design  

Page 363



 

188 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM25: Design 

 

  

Page 364



 

189 

Policy D3: Landscape Character 

 

Objectives    

This policy will set out how development should address landscape character within 

the plan area. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction  

The preferred policy direction o will be to require developments to: 

▪ Retain or enhance local landscape character, respecting the key characteristics of 

each character area. 

▪ Fully consider cumulative effects of development and incremental changes on 

landscape character areas. 

▪ Retain and enhance existing landscape features including but not limited to, trees 

and hedgerows, within new developments. 

▪ Protect and enhance the setting of green corridors that extend into settlements 

from character areas and strengthen or create other Green and Blue 

Infrastructure opportunities and corridors and improve visual amenity. 

▪ Protect and enhance the setting of the villages in the plan area. 

▪ Respect the clear de-lineation and separation of villages from one and other. 

 

Why is this policy needed?   

Lewes District benefits from a variety of landscapes including river valleys, forests, 

chalk cliffs and downlands. In addition, the South Downs National Park which bisects 

the plan area has a primary designation relating to landscape character. As such, the 

local plan needs to properly account for the variety of landscapes that are present 

and ensure the differing areas are properly considered in decision making, by 

ensuring development responds positively to the local landscape character. 

 

The Lewes Landscape Character Assessment (2023) covers themes of the social, 

cultural, perceptual, aesthetic, and natural environment that can be used as a tool to 

help understand what the landscape is like today, the influence of the past, and how 

the landscape may change in the future. Further, the assessment provides a 

framework to help protect, manage, enhance, mitigate, and restore landscapes in the 

future and retain their distinctiveness, while guiding future development. The 

assessment identified 7 distinct Landscape Character Types, within which there are 

15 Landscape Character Areas. Five of these landscape types are in the area to the 

north of the SDNP. The dominant landscape character type identified is that of 

Western Low Weald which exhibits a highly rural and tranquil character due to the 

land use and the enclosure from mature vegetation, with localised references to 

villages via church towers. Other landscape character types are more localised in 

extent and include Eastern Low Weald to the east, Scarp Footslope bordering the 

SDNP, Ouse Catchment bordering the River Ouse, and an area of Heathland to the 

northwest. Detailed information is provided within each, and includes key 

Page 365



 

190 

characteristics, forces for change and guidance on landscape management and 

integrating development inro the landscape. 

 

What you have told us so far   

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation supported a policy approach to 

landscape that:  

▪ protects designated landscape areas. 

▪ protects open countryside spaces. 

▪ encourages better connected green corridors and infrastructure. 

▪ encourages a landscape-led approach to development, respecting existing 

features such as trees and hedgerows. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting   

No policy – not considered a reasonable alternative as policy guidance is needed to 

guide how landscape issues are addressed in decision making. 

 

Further Information 

▪ Topic Paper – Design, Landscape and the Built Environment   

▪ Lewes Landscape Character Assessment (2023)  

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans    

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 11: Built and Historic Environment and Design  

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM27: Landscape Design  

 

  

Page 366



 

191 

Policy D4: Conservation and Enhancement of Heritage Assets  

 

Objectives  

This policy will control development that involves or affects conservation areas, 

historic buildings and structures and their historic places within the plan area. 

 

Preferred Policy Direction   

Proposals affecting heritage assets will be considered in accordance with the 

guidance set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. This policy will require 

that proposals provide sufficient information to demonstrate the impact of the 

proposed development upon the asset and further require them to demonstrate how 

the proposal preserves or enhances the significance of the heritage asset.  

 

This policy will further set out how the environmental performance of heritage assets 

should be balanced against the need to protect and enhance the character and value 

of that asset. For example, this policy will:  

▪ Support proposals which seek to undo the damage caused by previous 

interventions, including the inclusion of newer technologies to allow for more 

climate conscious solutions (e.g. removal of cement render and replacement with 

breathable options) 

▪ Require retrofit works to be carried out in accordance with the latest Historic 

England guidance for energy improvement to heritage assets and give 

consideration to measures that will reduce carbon emissions and assist with 

adaptation to our changing climate (for example external shading or property level 

flood protection) 

 

Why is this policy needed?   

There is a wealth of national guidance on heritage assets contained within the NPPF 

and Planning Practice Guidance, together with the relevant legislation applying to 

individual heritage designations, and there is a well-established structure in terms of 

heritage policies, meaning that locally specific planning policies are more limited than 

in other planning policy areas. However, in order to sympathetically manage heritage 

assets as part of the development process, there must be a clear understanding of 

the significance of the asset and the contribution of its setting.  

 

Upgrading the fabric of traditional buildings in general, needs to be part of the push to 

improve energy efficiency across the country. The Committee on Climate Change 

have concluded that at least 90% of existing buildings in the UK should have energy 

efficient retrofits for the UK to meet its zero carbon targets. This analysis does 

however recognise that some buildings simply cannot be adapted to eliminate all 

emissions, however, there are things that can be done provided that the correct 

approach is taken. This policy is therefore needed to support owners of heritage 

Page 367



 

192 

assets to undertake sensitive works to address the performance of their buildings, in 

line with best practice guidance for heritage assets. 

 

What you have told us so far   

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation highlighted the need to improve 

the existing built fabric of the building stock in the district. In addition, respondents 

highlighted a desire to consider more areas for designation as Conservation Areas, 

highlighting the desire for respecting the local character of the district. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting    

No policy, rely on national guidance – Not considered a reasonable alternative due to 

the requirements to set out a strategy regarding heritage, and the need to respond to 

local issues, in this case, the scale of heritage assets that are present within the 

district, and the need to respond to the challenge of climate change. 

 

Further Information 

Topic Paper – Design, Landscape and the Built Environment  

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans     

Local Plan Part 1 – Core Policy 11: Built and Historic Environment and Design  

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM33: Heritage Assets 

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM34: Areas of Established Character 

  

Page 368



 

193 

Policy D5: Public Realm 

 

Objectives 

This policy will set out expectations for the quality of public realm in development 

proposals.  

 

Preferred Policy Direction 

The preferred direction of the policy is that developers will be required to demonstrate 

how development proposals meet the following expectations: 

▪ Development should use gateways, focal points and landmarks to assist people in 

wayfinding. 

▪ Street furniture and infrastructure should be of the highest quality, using materials 

that are easily maintained, have a clear purpose, maintain uncluttered spaces and 

should contribute to the easy movement of people through the space. 

▪ Opportunities for greening (optimising existing GI such as trees, hedges and open 

spaces in the first instance) such as through planting of trees and other soft 

landscaping wherever possible, should be maximised. 

▪ Treatment of the public realm should be informed by the heritage values of the 

place, where appropriate. 

▪ Development should incorporate local social infrastructure such as public toilets, 

drinking water fountains and seating, where appropriate. 

▪ Create streets that respond to their levels of use while not allowing vehicular 

traffic to dominate, including vehicular parking, which if on street, should be inset 

to expanded footways to not compromise pedestrian access. 

 

Why is this policy needed?   

The quality of the public realm has a significant influence on residents quality of life 

because it impacts people’s sense of place, security and belonging, as well as having 

an influence on a range of health and social factors. In addition, creating and 

protecting high quality streets and other open spaces, both public and private, is a 

key part of adapting to climate change pressures, supporting biodiversity, and 

promoting active and healthy lifestyles. The public realm is comprised of the spaces 

between, around and within buildings, streets, squares, parks and open spaces, with 

all components playing a key role in supporting public life and fostering social 

interaction. 

 

The effects of traffic can have a significant impact on the quality of the public realm in 

terms of air quality, noise and amenity of a space. The negative effects of traffic 

should be minimised to ensure people’s enjoyment of public realm is maximised. In 

addition, the lighting of the public realm, be that natural or artificial, requires careful 

consideration to ensure places and spaces are appropriately lit, and there is an 

appropriate balance between issues of safety and security, and reducing light 

pollution.  

Page 369



 

194 

 

What you have told us so far 

Respondents to the Issues and Options consultation highlighted that we should 

encourage accessible places, reducing the reliance on private cars, that support 

movement by walking and cycling, and that improve air quality, communal spaces, 

active play areas and green spaces. In addition, respondents sought improvements 

to the community feel of spaces, making them feel welcoming and safe. Respondents 

also highlighted street shading and tree lines streets as an important element of 

places. 

  

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting   

No policy and relying on national guidance - Not considered a reasonable alternative 

due to the need to respond to local issues. 

 

Further Information 

Topic Paper – Design, Landscape and the Built Environment 

   

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

None 

 

  

Page 370



 

195 

Theme: Water 
 

Aim: Working in partnership with other agencies, to guard against the risk of flooding 

and improving the water quality of our rivers; by ensuring that new development is 

appropriately located and retains and enhances flood defences through river 

restoration works. 

 

Which policies are we proposing:  

 

W1: Flood risk and flood management 

W2: Protection of water resources and water quality 

W3: Water efficiency in new development 

 

Further consideration needs to be given to the use of rivers and or other water bodies 

for recreation. Existing Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM18: Recreation and Rivers is 

permissive of development proposals for recreation uses of the river Ouse, its 

margins and wetlands where it can be demonstrated that there would be no adverse 

impacts, either directly or indirectly on their quiet and natural character, wildlife or 

geological features or on the natural functioning of the river and associated wetlands. 

  

Consultation Questions for the Water Theme 

▪ Are there any further policies you would like to see included to respond to water 

resources and water management? Why do you think they should they be 

included? 

▪ Should the water quality policy specify standards for development for intensive 

livestock production? 

▪ Should the new local plan continue with the existing policy approach set out in 

Policy DM18: Recreation and Rivers or go further and consider specific locations 

for recreational uses, and other, or more specific areas/water bodies. 

 

  

Page 371



 

196 

Strategic Policy W1: Flood risk and flood management 

 

Objectives 

Flooding can arise from a range of sources and as a result of climate change flood 

events are likely to become more frequent and more severe. Sources of flooding 

include rivers and the sea, direct rainfall on the ground surface, rising groundwater, 

overwhelmed sewers and drainage systems, reservoirs, and other artificial sources.  

East Sussex County Council is the Lead Local Flood Authority, responsible for 

managing local flood risk. Within the plan area, this includes managing surface water, 

groundwater and ordinary watercourses. The Environment Agency has responsibility 

for strategic reduction of flood risk from main rivers.  

 

The National Planning Policy Framework sets out strict tests to protect people and 

property from flooding which all local planning authorities are expected to follow. 

Where these tests are not met, new development should not be allowed. 

 

It is not always possible to avoid locating development in areas at risk of flooding. 

The Local Plan will steer new development away from areas with highest flood risk, 

flood risk policy will look at how development should address flood risk. Policies will 

provide guidance on the range of measures that could be considered on site in order 

to manage and mitigate flood risk. 

 

It is important that new development is safe and resilient to flooding and does not 

increase flooding elsewhere. Therefore, opportunities to reduce flood risk through 

natural flood management and the use of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDs) will 

be required.  

 

Natural flood management involves techniques that aim to work with natural 

hydrological and landscape features, and characteristics to manage the sources and 

pathways of flood waters. Techniques include the restoration, enhancement and 

alteration of natural features and characteristics, but exclude traditional flood defence 

engineering that works against or disrupts these natural processes.  

 

Preferred policy direction 

In line with national policy development should be directed away from areas with the 

highest flood risk from any source. Opportunities should be taken to reduce flooding 

through sustainable drainage systems and natural flood management to deliver multi-

functional benefits for people and wildlife. 

 

Developments in areas of potential flood risk will need to demonstrate, through site 

specific flood risk assessments, that the proposed development is safe and resilient 

or adaptive to flooding. Flood risk must not be increased elsewhere as a result of 

development. 

Page 372



 

197 

 

The policy will detail the requirements set out in the NPPF52 for Flood Risk 

Assessments, the sequential test and exception test, cumulative effects, and flood 

resistance and resiliency.  

 

Suitable surface water management measures should be incorporated into new 

development in order to reduce and manage surface water. This should ideally be 

achieved by incorporating SuDS which are typically softer engineering solutions 

inspired by natural processes such as ponds and swales which manage water as 

close to its source as possible. The policy will signpost to the guidance of ESCC on 

SuDs. SuDs techniques can be used to reduce the rate and volume and improve the 

water quality of surface water discharges from sites and they should follow a 

hierarchy of drainage options as reasonably practicable considering the location;  

▪ Into the ground (infiltration), 

▪ To a surface water body,  

▪ To a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system, and,  

▪ To a combined sewer. 

However, connection to a public sewer system should not be at detriment to existing 

users. 

 

Redevelopment in areas at risk of flooding has the potential to affect flood routing 

and increase flood risk elsewhere. Site layouts should preserve as much as possible 

the natural flow of water and not increase flood risk elsewhere. Opportunities shall be 

sought within the site design to make space for water. Where possible the drainage 

system should be multifunctional and be incorporated into the Green and Blue 

Infrastructure Network and opportunities should be taken for nature based solutions. 

 

Why is the policy needed? 

Flood risk is a significant concern within the plan area which is predicted to increase 

as a result of climate change causing more extreme weather events. The Local Plan 

should reduce the district’s vulnerability to climate change and particularly flooding to 

residential properties. This policy is needed to supplement national policy with local 

considerations. 

 

What you have told us so far 

There were no specific questions in the Issues and Options consultation on flooding 

and/or water management. However, when asked to express other concerns many 

people mentioned flooding, and specifically the impact of heavy rainfall. 

 

 
52 NPPF 2023 paragraphs 159-169 
 

Page 373



 

198 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy and rely on national guidance: This is not considered an alternative 

because a policy on avoiding flood risk should be integral part of the Local Plan and 

all detail on how to deal with integral and sustainable water management must be 

linked to local circumstances. 

 

Further information 

▪ Water Topic Paper  

▪ Lewes District Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 2023 

▪ Lewes Climate Change Study 2023 

▪ Lewes Scoping Water Cycle Study 2023 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 12 Flood Risk, Coastal Erosion, Sustainable Drainage 

and Slope Stability 

  

Page 374



 

199 

Policy W2: Protection of water resources and water quality 

 

Objectives 

The quality of the water environment in terms of groundwater, surface water and the 

sea, is of major importance for the ecosystem and biodiversity.  It helps to provide 

good quality drinking water, is an amenity for recreation for sports, and impacts on 

wildlife and the environment. 

 

The policy will require all development proposals to avoid adverse impacts, mitigate 

any adverse impact, and where possible contribute to the improvement of the quality 

of the water environment.  
 

Preferred policy direction 

The policy will extend current Local Plan Part 2 Policy DM22 (Water Resources and 

Water Quality53) with further criteria on water quality and specifically on the effect of 

the handling of sewage.  

 

Further evidence is still required from the Detailed Water Cycle Study however to 

ensure good water quality in the District, the Local Plan will steer development away 

from areas with an unacceptable risk to the quality and quantity of surface and 

ground water.  

Specifically, this could mean that: 

▪ All major developments must demonstrate, where necessary, how the 

development will contribute to the protection and enhancement of waterbodies, 

including natural treatment and pollution control of surface water run off during 

and following construction. 

▪ Linking with policy IC2, all major developments must demonstrate that where it 

will materially increase foul and/or surface water discharges, adequate capacity 

exists or can be provided as part of the development. Where adequate capacity 

does not exist, the developer will be required to work with the appropriate service 

providers to ensure that upgrades are provided where necessary. Cumulative 

impact due to other developments must be considered. 

▪ All major developments must clarify which treatment works will be managing the 

sewage and how sewerage will be treated prior to discharge. Southern Water 

should then be requested to provide information to assess the impact on the 

 
53 Policy DM22: Water Resources and Water Quality 
Development will be only permitted where it can be demonstrated that it would not result in:  
(1) unacceptable risk to the quality and quantity of surface and groundwater (including reservoirs); or  
(2) changes to groundwater and surface water levels that would have unacceptable adverse impacts on:  
(a) adjoining land;  
(b) the quality of groundwater resources or potential groundwater resources;  
(c) the potential yield of groundwater resources, river flows or natural habitats.  
Work beneath the water table will not be permitted unless there is a comprehensive groundwater management scheme agreed 

for the construction, operation, restoration and on-going management of the proposal. 
 

Page 375



 

200 

number or duration of sewage discharges into local rivers or seas, considering 

cumulative impacts of other planned developments. 

 

Why is the policy needed? 

Core Policy 10 Bullet 4 seeks to ensure that water quality is improved where 

necessary or maintained when appropriate (including during any construction 

process) and that watercourses (including groundwater flows) are protected from 

encroachment and adverse impacts in line with the objectives of the South East River 

Basin Management Plan54. Where appropriate, the local planning authority will seek 

the enhancement and restoration of modified watercourses. 

 

Water quality is of great concern of the council. On 3 March 2023 a council motion 

was passed to ask Southern Water for responses on sewage discharges and on 23 

May 2023 a motion55 was passed to protect our local rivers and sea by taking into 

account the cumulative impact of sewage discharge. 

 

Apart from the policy on natural flood management which will reduce peak 

discharges of surface water to the sewage system this policy addresses the impact of 

discharges of foul water of the WwTW. 

 

What you have told us so far 

The Issues and Options consultation did not contain specific questions on flooding or 

water quality. However, when asked to express other concerns many respondents 

mentioned flooding, and specifically the impact of heavy rainfall, adequate sewer 

infrastructure and concerns of sewerage discharge into rivers and the sea. 

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

No policy is not an option given the importance of the issue of water quality and local 

issues around the capacity of existing wastewater treatment works, and sewerage 

discharge. 

 

Further information 

▪ Water Topic Paper 

▪ Lewes District Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 2023 

▪ Lewes Climate Change Study 2023 

▪ Lewes Scoping Water Cycle Study 2023 

 
54 River Basin Management Plan Part 1 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/718
337/South_East_RBD_Part_1_river_basin_management_plan.pdf 
 
55 https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/s26282/Full%20Council%20Motion%20-
%20Protecting%20our%20rivers%20and%20sea%20motion%20appendix%201.pdf 
 

Page 376

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/718337/South_East_RBD_Part_1_river_basin_management_plan.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/718337/South_East_RBD_Part_1_river_basin_management_plan.pdf
https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/s26282/Full%20Council%20Motion%20-%20Protecting%20our%20rivers%20and%20sea%20motion%20appendix%201.pdf
https://democracy.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/documents/s26282/Full%20Council%20Motion%20-%20Protecting%20our%20rivers%20and%20sea%20motion%20appendix%201.pdf


 

201 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 1 - Core Policy 12: Flood Risk, Coastal Erosion, Sustainable 

Drainage and Slope Stability 

Local Plan Part 2 - Policy DM22: Water Resources and Water Quality 

 

  

Page 377



 

202 

Policy W3: Water efficiency in new development 

 

Objectives 

The plan area is within an area of serious water stress and the policy will set out how 

development should address this by requiring and recommending water efficiency 

and reuse measures in new development.  

 

Preferred policy direction 

Current building regulations require that the average water usage of a new homes is 

no more than 125 litres per person per day. Currently, the Lewes District Local Plan56 

Core Policy 14 requires all new dwellings to achieve water consumption of no more 

than 110 litres per person per day. The council’s Climate Change and Sustainability 

Strategy sets a target of 100 litres per person per day in new builds by 2030 and also 

for new builds to be water neutral by 2030. 

 

Reducing water consumption to the greatest extent will be critical in the South-East 

region. Therefore, the new local plan policy will go beyond the existing policy, new 

development will be required to: 

▪ Minimise water consumption, a target water efficiency rate of 90litres per head 

per day (l/h/d) will be encouraged unless it is proven to be not technically or 

financially feasible.  

▪ All developments will be required to be supported by a water calculator which 

demonstrates consumption of a maximum of 110l/h/d. 

▪ Non-residential development will be required to achieve BREEAM ‘very good’ 

or ‘excellent’ standard for water efficiency unless demonstrated impracticable. 

▪ In major developments grey water harvesting (and dual plumbing) should be 

incorporated for WC flushing and washing machine connection unless proven 

to not be technically or financially feasible. 

▪ In all developments rainwater harvesting and/or surface water harvesting must 

be incorporated. 

 

Another aspect of water availability the local plan can contribute to is leakage 

reduction. All new properties are required to be fitted with water meters, therefore 

there is no need for the local plan to mandate such, water meters assist with leakage 

detection. However, the local plan could ensure that new developments do not add to 

leakage problems in the supply network, requiring developers to supply information 

on how the development will contribute to the reduction of, or minimisation of leakage 

in the water network including how new pipes and networks are resilient to future 

problems and leaks. 

 

 
56 Lewes District Local Plan (2016). Available online at: https://www.lewes-

eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/257159.pdf (accessed December 2022)  

Page 378

https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/257159.pdf
https://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/_resources/assets/inline/full/0/257159.pdf


 

203 

Why is the policy needed? 

The South East is classified as an area with serious water stress57, which means that 

the current and future household demand for water is likely to be a high proportion of 

the available effective rainfall. 

 

Due to climate change, with warmer and dryer summers to be expected, the water 

availability may decrease, while the demand will grow. In the State of the 

Environment report on water resources58 the Environment Agency warns that the 

current levels of abstraction are unsustainable in more than a quarter of groundwater 

bodies and up to one-fifth of surface waters, reducing water levels and damaging 

wildlife.  

 

The Water Cycle Study (2022)59 identifies that abstraction and poor nutrient 

management are pressures on the Brighton Chalk Block waterbody, classified as 

WFD ‘Poor’ status; and in terms of availability, there is restricted water available. 

 

What you have told us so far 

There were no specific questions in the Issues and Options consultation on the issue 

of water availability. However, when asked to express other concerns, ‘future water 

shortage’ was highlighted by respondents. Respondents were concerned that future 

demand cannot be met for the increased housing development and that abstraction 

of drinking water impacts on the South Downs aquifers.  

 

Alternatives considered and reasons for discounting 

An alternative of no policy and relying on Building Regulations requirements is not 

considered a reasonable alternative as existing local plan policy goes beyond 

building regulations and this would not reflect the pressure on water resources in the 

area. There is also no Building Regulations standard for water efficiency in non-

residential developments therefore a local plan policy needs to set local requirements 

to respond to the pressure on water resources in the area. 

 

An alternative of requiring a lower water consumption requirement or 100 l/h/d or 90 

l/h/d is not considered because: 

▪ The water providers (South East Water and Southern Water) in their (draft) 

WRMP (2025-2075) consider an average reduction to 110 l/p/d.  

 
57 Environment Agency, 2013 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/244333/water-
stressed-classification-2013.pdf 
58https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/709924/State

_of_the_environment_water_resources_report.pdf 
59 Lewes Water Cycle Study 

Page 379

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/244333/water-stressed-classification-2013.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/244333/water-stressed-classification-2013.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/709924/State_of_the_environment_water_resources_report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/709924/State_of_the_environment_water_resources_report.pdf


 

204 

▪ A lower consumption than set out by the Building Regulation60 (=125 or 110 

l/h/d61) would increase costs significantly which could impact on site viability. 

This option may be pursued following further viability evidence. 

 

Further information 

▪ Water Topic Paper 

▪ Lewes Climate Change Study 2023 

▪ Lewes Scoping Water Cycle Study 2023 

 

Existing Policies in Adopted 2016 & 2020 Plans  

Local Plan Part 2 – Policy DM2: Water Resources and Water Quality 

 
60https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/50
4207/BR_PDF_AD_G_2015_with_2016_amendments.pdf (BR Part G Water efficiency) 
61 The requirement is either a) 125 Litres per person per day or b) in a case to which paragraph 3 applies, the optional 

requirement of 110 litres per person per day  

Page 380

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/504207/BR_PDF_AD_G_2015_with_2016_amendments.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/504207/BR_PDF_AD_G_2015_with_2016_amendments.pdf


 

205 

Delivery and Monitoring 

 

The purpose of monitoring the plan is to assess whether the Local Plan policies are 

achieving their aims and the intended policy outcomes, are still relevant or are having 

unintended consequences and require a review. 

 

We will work positively and proactively with local communities, parish councils, 

businesses, key stakeholders, landowners, developers and the wider public to ensure 

that the Local Plan is successfully delivered. Working effectively across the council 

and with partners will be essential to support new development through securing the 

co-ordinated and timely delivery of social and physical infrastructure improvements, 

including green infrastructure. This will ensure that growth that is being planned for 

and delivered will be ‘good growth.’ 

 

We are preparing an Infrastructure Development Plan (IDP) as a companion 

document to the Local Plan and this will be finalised for Examination.  The IDP will 

set out details on the infrastructure required to support growth and new development 

in the plan area. We will need to review the IDP regularly over the plan period, for 

instance to take account of infrastructure that is delivered and planned. 

 

Table xxx begins to set out the framework for performance indicators for the Local 

Plan including target where they apply. We will continue to develop this during the 

plan making process to identify the performance indicators. and will report the final 

set of performance indicators in our Authority Monitoring Report.62   

 

Table XXX: Emerging Monitoring Framework Performance Indicators 

Theme:  Climate Change 

Related Policies:  

Key Policy 

Outcome 

Delivery 

Indicators 

Target Where 

presented 

    

 

 
62 We produce an Authority Monitoring Report annually. This contains an assessment of the progress 
of the local plan policies.   

Page 381



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

October 2023 

 

FORWARD PLAN OF DECISIONS 
 

Period covered by this Plan: 1 October 2023 to 31 January 2024 
Date of publication: 11 October 2023 

 
Membership of Cabinet: 
 
Councillor Zoe Nicholson: Leader of the Council, Chair of Cabinet and Cabinet member for finance, assets and community wealth building  
 
Councillor Christine Robinson: Deputy leader of the Council, and Cabinet member for community wellbeing 
 
Councillor Chris Collier: Cabinet member for innovation, delivery and people 
 
Councillor Johnny Denis: Cabinet member for arts, culture and tourism & leisure 
 
Councillor Wendy Maples: Cabinet member for neighbourhood wellbeing 
 
Councillor Laurence O’Connor: Cabinet member for planning and infrastructure 
 
Councillor Emily O’Brien: Cabinet member for climate, nature and food systems 
 
Councillor Mark Slater: Cabinet member for tenants and those in housing need 
 
 
Please see the explanatory note appended to this Plan for further information and details of how to make representations and otherwise 
contact the Council on matters listed in the Plan.  Documents referred to will be available at least 5 clear working days before the date for 
decision. 
 

P
age 383

A
genda Item

 8



 

Page 2 
 

Forthcoming decisions: 
 

Title, description and 
lead cabinet member: 

Ward(s): Decision 
type: 

Decision 
maker: 
 

Expected date 
of decision: 

Expected 
exemption 
class: 
 
(Exempt 
information 
reason as 
defined by Part 
1 of Schedule 
12A of the 
Local 
Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)) 
 

Consultation 
arrangements 
proposed or 
undertaken 
(where known): 

Documents to 
be submitted: 

Lead Chief Officer/ 
Contact Officer: 

Interim medium term 
financial strategy 
 
To consider and approve 
the council’s medium 
term financial strategy. 
 
(Lead Cabinet member: 
Councillor Zoe 
Nicholson) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All Wards Key  Cabinet 9 Nov 2023 Open 
 
 
 

Consultation be 
undertaken as 
part of a wider 
consultation on 
the council’s 
budget later in 
the year. 

Report Chief Finance Officer 
(Homira Javadi)  
 
Steven Houchin, Interim 
Deputy Chief Finance 
Officer (Corporate 
Finance) Tel: 01323 
415378 
steven.houchin@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  
 
 

P
age 384

mailto:steven.houchin@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:steven.houchin@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


Forthcoming decisions 
 
 

Page 3 
 

Title, description and 
lead cabinet member: 

Ward(s): Decision 
type: 

Decision 
maker: 
 

Expected date 
of decision: 

Expected 
exemption 
class: 
 
(Exempt 
information 
reason as 
defined by Part 
1 of Schedule 
12A of the 
Local 
Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)) 
 

Consultation 
arrangements 
proposed or 
undertaken 
(where known): 

Documents to 
be submitted: 

Lead Chief Officer/ 
Contact Officer: 

Climate Change and 
Sustainability Strategy 
- Annual update 2023 
 
Annual progress report 
detailing the council and 
district carbon footprints, 
and progress against the 
action plan. 
 
(Lead Cabinet member: 
Councillor Emily O'Brien) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All Wards Key  Cabinet 9 Nov 2023 Open 
 
 
 

Policy and 
Performance 
Advisory 
Committee to 
receive report if 
requested. 

Report Director of Regeneration 
and Planning  
(Ian Fitzpatrick)  
 
Jo Wunsch, Specialist 
Advisor (Sustainability)  
jo.wunsch@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  
 
 

P
age 385

mailto:jo.wunsch@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:jo.wunsch@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


Forthcoming decisions 
 
 

Page 4 
 

Title, description and 
lead cabinet member: 

Ward(s): Decision 
type: 

Decision 
maker: 
 

Expected date 
of decision: 

Expected 
exemption 
class: 
 
(Exempt 
information 
reason as 
defined by Part 
1 of Schedule 
12A of the 
Local 
Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)) 
 

Consultation 
arrangements 
proposed or 
undertaken 
(where known): 

Documents to 
be submitted: 

Lead Chief Officer/ 
Contact Officer: 

Updated and Aligned 
Scheme of Delegation 
to Officers 
 
The report will 
recommend that Cabinet 
approves a revised 
Scheme of Delegation to 
Officers, updated and 
aligned to reflect current 
organisational structure 
and legislation.  Cabinet 
is permitted to approve 
only the executive 
delegations. 
 
(Lead Cabinet member: 
Councillor Chris Collier) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All Wards Non-Key Cabinet 9 Nov 2023 Open 
 
 
 

Heads of 
Service 
Audit and 
Standards 
Committee 
(September 
2023) 

Report Monitoring Officer  
(Simon Russell)  
 
Oliver Dixon, Lawyer and 
Data Protection Officer 
Tel: 01273 085881 
oliver.dixon@lewes.gov.u
k  
 
 

P
age 386

mailto:oliver.dixon@lewes.gov.uk
mailto:oliver.dixon@lewes.gov.uk


Forthcoming decisions 
 
 

Page 5 
 

Title, description and 
lead cabinet member: 

Ward(s): Decision 
type: 

Decision 
maker: 
 

Expected date 
of decision: 

Expected 
exemption 
class: 
 
(Exempt 
information 
reason as 
defined by Part 
1 of Schedule 
12A of the 
Local 
Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)) 
 

Consultation 
arrangements 
proposed or 
undertaken 
(where known): 

Documents to 
be submitted: 

Lead Chief Officer/ 
Contact Officer: 

War Pensions and 
Armed Forces 
Compensation Policy 
 
The Housing Benefit 
regulations set a 
statutory disregard of 
£10.00 on War Pensions 
and Armed Forces 
compensation schemes 
when assessing a 
claimant’s entitlement to 
housing benefit. A local 
authority can at its 
discretion disregard the 
remaining amount.  
  
(Lead Cabinet member: 
Councillor Zoe 
Nicholson) 
 
 
 
 
 

All Wards Budget and 
policy 
framework  

Cabinet 
 
Full Council 

9 Nov 2023 
 
20 Nov 2023 

Open 
 
 
 

Policy and 
Performance 
Advisory 
Committee (if 
requested) 

Report Director of Service 
Delivery (Tim Whelan) 
 
Bill McCafferty, Lead for 
Income Maximisation and 
Welfare Tel: (01323) 
415171 
bill.mccafferty@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  
 
 

P
age 387

mailto:bill.mccafferty@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:bill.mccafferty@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


Forthcoming decisions 
 
 

Page 6 
 

Title, description and 
lead cabinet member: 

Ward(s): Decision 
type: 

Decision 
maker: 
 

Expected date 
of decision: 

Expected 
exemption 
class: 
 
(Exempt 
information 
reason as 
defined by Part 
1 of Schedule 
12A of the 
Local 
Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)) 
 

Consultation 
arrangements 
proposed or 
undertaken 
(where known): 

Documents to 
be submitted: 

Lead Chief Officer/ 
Contact Officer: 

Lewes Local Plan - 
Towards a Spatial 
Strategy and Policies 
Approaches 
 
The decision being 
sought is for Cabinet 
approval to undertake 
public consultation on the 
Local Plan as part of the 
preparation of the Lewes 
Local Plan as per 
Planning legislation and 
Regulations. 
 
(Lead Cabinet member: 
Councillor Laurence 
O'Connor) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All Wards Budget and 
policy 
framework  

Cabinet 
 
Full Council 

9 Nov 2023 
 
20 Nov 2023 

Fully exempt 
 
Exempt 
information 
reason: 3 
 

Policy and 
Performance 
Advisory 
Committee 

Report Director of Regeneration 
and Planning  
(Ian Fitzpatrick) 
 
Nadeem Din, Planning 
Policy - Lead  
Nadeem.din@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  
 
 

P
age 388

mailto:Nadeem.din@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:Nadeem.din@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


Forthcoming decisions 
 
 

Page 7 
 

Title, description and 
lead cabinet member: 

Ward(s): Decision 
type: 

Decision 
maker: 
 

Expected date 
of decision: 

Expected 
exemption 
class: 
 
(Exempt 
information 
reason as 
defined by Part 
1 of Schedule 
12A of the 
Local 
Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)) 
 

Consultation 
arrangements 
proposed or 
undertaken 
(where known): 

Documents to 
be submitted: 

Lead Chief Officer/ 
Contact Officer: 

Local council tax 
reduction scheme 
 
To approve the local 
council tax reduction 
scheme and agree any 
amendments as 
necessary.  It is a legal 
requirement that the 
council approve the 
scheme annually. 
 
(Lead Cabinet member: 
Councillor Zoe 
Nicholson) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All Wards Budget and 
policy 
framework  

Cabinet 
 
Full Council 

7 Dec 2023 
 
19 Feb 2024 

Open 
 
 
 

With such 
persons and 
groups as the 
council 
considered likely 
to have an 
interest in the 
operation of the 
scheme. 

Report Director of Service 
Delivery (Tim Whelan) 
 
Bill McCafferty, Lead for 
Income Maximisation and 
Welfare Tel: (01323) 
415171 
bill.mccafferty@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  
 
 

P
age 389

mailto:bill.mccafferty@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:bill.mccafferty@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


Forthcoming decisions 
 
 

Page 8 
 

Title, description and 
lead cabinet member: 

Ward(s): Decision 
type: 

Decision 
maker: 
 

Expected date 
of decision: 

Expected 
exemption 
class: 
 
(Exempt 
information 
reason as 
defined by Part 
1 of Schedule 
12A of the 
Local 
Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)) 
 

Consultation 
arrangements 
proposed or 
undertaken 
(where known): 

Documents to 
be submitted: 

Lead Chief Officer/ 
Contact Officer: 

Changes to 
Discretionary Council 
Tax Discounts and 
Empty Homes 
Premiums from 01 April 
2024 
 
Recommend changes to 
Discretionary Council 
Tax Discounts and 
Empty Homes Premiums 
from 01 April 2024. 
 
(Lead Cabinet member: 
Councillor Zoe 
Nicholson) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All Wards Budget and 
policy 
framework  

Cabinet 
 
Full Council 

7 Dec 2023 
 
19 Feb 2024 

Open 
 
 
 

There is no legal 
requirement to 
consult on 
changes to 
Discretionary 
Council Tax 
Discounts and 
Premiums. 

Report Director of Service 
Delivery (Tim Whelan) 
 
Nick Ducatel, Functional 
Lead - Growth and 
Prosperity Tel: (01323) 
415914 
nick.ducatel@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  
 
 

P
age 390

mailto:nick.ducatel@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:nick.ducatel@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


Forthcoming decisions 
 
 

Page 9 
 

Title, description and 
lead cabinet member: 

Ward(s): Decision 
type: 

Decision 
maker: 
 

Expected date 
of decision: 

Expected 
exemption 
class: 
 
(Exempt 
information 
reason as 
defined by Part 
1 of Schedule 
12A of the 
Local 
Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)) 
 

Consultation 
arrangements 
proposed or 
undertaken 
(where known): 

Documents to 
be submitted: 

Lead Chief Officer/ 
Contact Officer: 

Council tax base and 
non-domestic rate 
income for 2024/25 
 
The Council is required 
to set its council tax base 
and the expected 
business rate income for 
the forthcoming year. 
These calculations are 
used as the basis for the 
amount of income the 
Council will precept from 
the collection fund. 
 
(Lead Cabinet member: 
Councillor Zoe 
Nicholson) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All Wards Key  Cabinet 7 Dec 2023 Open 
 
 
 

Policy and 
Performance 
Advisory 
Committee (if 
requested) 

Report Chief Finance Officer 
(Homira Javadi)  
 
Steven Houchin, Interim 
Deputy Chief Finance 
Officer (Corporate 
Finance) Tel: 01323 
415378 
steven.houchin@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  
 
 

P
age 391

mailto:steven.houchin@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:steven.houchin@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


Forthcoming decisions 
 
 

Page 10 
 

Title, description and 
lead cabinet member: 

Ward(s): Decision 
type: 

Decision 
maker: 
 

Expected date 
of decision: 

Expected 
exemption 
class: 
 
(Exempt 
information 
reason as 
defined by Part 
1 of Schedule 
12A of the 
Local 
Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)) 
 

Consultation 
arrangements 
proposed or 
undertaken 
(where known): 

Documents to 
be submitted: 

Lead Chief Officer/ 
Contact Officer: 

Portfolio progress and 
performance report 
quarter 2 - 2023-2024 
 
To update Members on 
the Council’s 
performance against 
corporate plan priority 
actions, performance 
indicators and targets 
over the quarter 2 
2023/24 period. 
 
(Lead Cabinet member: 
Councillor Chris Collier) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All Wards Key  Cabinet 7 Dec 2023 Open 
 
 
 

Policy and 
Performance 
Advisory 
Committee 

Report Chief Finance Officer 
(Homira Javadi)  
 
Luke Dreeling, 
Performance Lead  
luke.dreeling@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  
 
 

P
age 392

mailto:luke.dreeling@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:luke.dreeling@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


Forthcoming decisions 
 
 

Page 11 
 

Title, description and 
lead cabinet member: 

Ward(s): Decision 
type: 

Decision 
maker: 
 

Expected date 
of decision: 

Expected 
exemption 
class: 
 
(Exempt 
information 
reason as 
defined by Part 
1 of Schedule 
12A of the 
Local 
Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)) 
 

Consultation 
arrangements 
proposed or 
undertaken 
(where known): 

Documents to 
be submitted: 

Lead Chief Officer/ 
Contact Officer: 

Finance update - 
performance quarter 2 - 
2023-2024 
 
To provide an update on 
the Council’s financial 
performance, revenue 
budgets and capital 
programme to the end of 
quarter 2 2023/2024 and 
explain the impact on the 
current financial position. 
 
(Lead Cabinet member: 
Councillor Zoe 
Nicholson) 
 

All Wards Key  Cabinet 7 Dec 2023 Open 
 
 
 

Audit and 
Standards 
Committee 

Report Chief Finance Officer 
(Homira Javadi)  
 
Steven Houchin, Interim 
Deputy Chief Finance 
Officer (Corporate 
Finance) Tel: 01323 
415378 
steven.houchin@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  
 
 

P
age 393

mailto:steven.houchin@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:steven.houchin@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


 

Page 3 
 

 

 
 
 
Explanatory Note 
 
The Council is required to publish information about all key decisions at least 28 days in advance of the decision being taken. 
 
This plan is a list of the decisions likely to be taken over the coming four months.  The list is not exhaustive as not all decisions are known 
that far in advance.  The Plan is updated and re-published monthly. 
 
The forward plan shows details of key decisions intended to be taken by the Cabinet and Chief Officers under their delegated powers. 
 
The plan shows:- 

• the subject of the decisions 
• what wards are affected 
• the decision type  
• who will make the decision 
• when those decisions will be made 
• expected exemption class (open, part exempt or fully exempt.) 
• what the consultation arrangements are 
• what documents relating to those decisions will be available 
• who you can contact about the decision and how to obtain copies of those documents referred to in the plan 

What is a key decision? 
 
"Key decisions" relate to a decision, which is likely:- 
 

P
age 394



 

Page 4 
 

(1) to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the 
Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 
 
(2) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the Council's 
area. 
 

What is budget and policy framework? 
 
When a decision is marked as “budget and policy framework”, it requires the approval of Full Council.  
 

Confidential and exempt information 
 
From time to time, the forward plan will indicate matters (or part thereof) which may need to be considered in private, during which time 
the press and public will be excluded. This is in accordance with the provisions of Regulation 5(2) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 
Any representations that such matters should not be considered in private should be sent to the contact officer. 
 
Information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which forbid its disclosure to the public, information which cannot 
be publicly disclosed by a Court Order and information, the disclosure of which is prohibited by an enactment are all legally defined as 
“Confidential Information” and must not be disclosed.  All other local authority information which it is desired should not be disclosed has 
to be categorised under one or more of the following “Exempt Information” reasons (as given under Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972) and subject to the public interest test. 
 
Category Condition No. 
1.  Information relating to any individual. 
 

See conditions 9 and 10 below. 

2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
 

See conditions 9 and 10 below. 

P
age 395



 

Page 5 
 

Category Condition No. 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information). 
 

See conditions 8, 9, 10 and 12 below. 

4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising between the authority or a 
Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 
 

See conditions 9, 10, 11 and 12 below. 

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings. 
 

See conditions 9 and 10 below. 

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes— 
 
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on 
a person; or 
 
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 
 

See conditions 9, 10 and 12 below. 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of crime. 
 

See conditions 9 and 10 below. 

 
Conditions 
8. Information is not exempt information if it is required to be registered under: 
(a) the Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of the Companies Act 2006; 
(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 
(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 
(d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978; 
(e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or 
(f) the Charities Act 1993. 
 
“Financial or business affairs” includes contemplated as well as past or current activities. 

P
age 396



 

Page 6 
 

 
9. Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for which the local planning authority may grant itself planning 
permission pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 
10. Information which: 
(a) falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and 
(b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph 8 or 9 above, 
is exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
11. “Labour relations matter” means: 
(a) any of the matters specified in paragraphs (a) to (g) of section 218(1) of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 
(matters which may be the subject of a trade dispute, within the meaning of that Act); or 
(b) any dispute about a matter falling within paragraph (a) above; 
and for the purposes of this definition the enactments mentioned in paragraph (a) above, with the necessary modifications, shall apply in 
relation to office-holders under the authority as they apply in relation to employees of the authority; 
 
“Office-holder”, in relation to the authority, means the holder of any paid office appointments to which are or may be made or confirmed by 
the authority or by any joint board on which the authority is represented or by any person who holds any such office or is an employee of the 
authority. 
 
“Employee” means a person employed under a contract of service. 
 
12. "The authority" is a reference to the council or a committee or sub-committee of the council or a joint committee of more than one 
council. 
 
 

Further information 
 
The plan is available to view on our Council website: http://www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/councillors-committees-and-meetings/cabinet-
and-committees/ 
 

P
age 397

Council%20website:%20http:/www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/councillors-committees-and-meetings/cabinet-and-committees/
Council%20website:%20http:/www.lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk/councillors-committees-and-meetings/cabinet-and-committees/


 

Page 7 
 

If you have any questions about the Forward Plan please contact Simon Russell, Head of Democratic Services, on (01323) 415021, or e-
mail simon.russell@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk. 

P
age 398

mailto:simon.russell@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


 
Policy and Performance Advisory Committee Work Programme 

2023/2024 
 
Subject Lead Officer Date of meeting 
Southern Water Panel Nick Peeters, Committee Officer nick.peeters@lewes-

eastbourne.gov.uk 
11 July 2023 

Policy and Performance Advisory Committee work 
programme 

Nick Peeters, Committee Officer nick.peeters@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk 

11 July 2023 

LGA Peer Challenge Jo Harper, Head of Business Planning and 
Performance, jo.harper@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

11 July 2023 

Portfolio progress and performance report quarter 4 
- 2022-2023 

Luke Dreeling, Performance Lead 
luke.dreeling@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

11 July 2023 

Housing Development & Asset Update (PART 
EXEMPT) 

Nathan Haffenden, Head of Development, Investment 
and Delivery nathan.haffenden@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  
Marc Stephens, Capital Delivery Lead Tel: 
marc.stephens@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

11 July 2023 

Property and Assets Update Mark Langridge Kemp, Head of Property and Asset 
Management, mark.langridge-kemp@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  

11 July 2023 

Private Housing Financial Assistance Policy 2023-
2025 

Rebecca Wynn, Regulatory Services Lead 
(Operational Lead - Emergency Planning), 
Rebecca.wynn@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

11 July 2023 

 
Portfolio progress and performance report quarter 1 
- 2023-2024 

Luke Dreeling, Performance Lead 
luke.dreeling@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 

07 September 2023 

P
age 399

A
genda Item

 9

mailto:jo.harper@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:luke.dreeling@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:mark.langridge-kemp@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:mark.langridge-kemp@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:Rebecca.wynn@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:luke.dreeling@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


 
Policy and Performance Advisory Committee Work Programme 

2023/2024 
 
Revenue & Capital Financial Monitoring report 
Quarter 1 2023-24 

Steven Houchin, Interim Deputy Chief Finance Officer 
(Corporate Finance) steven.houchin@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  
Parmjeet Jassal, Interim Head of Financial Planning 
parmjeet.jassal@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  
Mark Walker, Head of Financial Planning 
mark.walker@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

7 September 2023 

Robinson Road Depot - Capital Development 
Project Update 

Nathan Haffenden, Head of Development, Investment 
and Delivery, nathan.haffenden@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  

07 September 2023 

Community Wealth Building Action Plan update Peter Jenion, Project Manager - Community Wealth 
Building Peter Jenion@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

07 September 2023 

Business support for Lewes District Kerry Barrett, Regeneration Project Manager 
kerry.barrett@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

07 September 2023 

Cost of Living Update Seanne Sweeney, Strategy and Commissioning Lead 
for Community and Partnerships 
seanne.sweeney@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

07 September 2023 

Funding Simplification Pathfinder Pilot Lisa Rawlinson, Head of Regeneration and Planning 
Policy lisa.rawlinson@eastbourne.gov.uk  

07 September 2023 

 
Air quality Annual Status Report Rachel Sadler, Specialist Advisor Air Quality 

Rachel.Sadler@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 
02 November 2023 

Update on the Emergency Climate Change Panel Mark Horan, Improvement and Business Design Lead 
Mark.Horan@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk 

02 November 2023 

P
age 400

mailto:nathan.haffenden@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:nathan.haffenden@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:Jenion@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:kerry.barrett@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:seanne.sweeney@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.rawlinson@eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.Horan@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


 
Policy and Performance Advisory Committee Work Programme 

2023/2024 
 
Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy - 
Annual update 2023 

Jo Wunsch, Specialist Advisor (Sustainability) 
jo.wunsch@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

2 November 2023 

Lewes Local Plan - Towards a Spatial Strategy and 
Policies Approaches 

Nadeem Din, Planning Policy Lead 
Nadeem.Din@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

2 November 2023 

 
Petition - 'To Return Lewes Farmers Market Back to 
Cliffe Precinct' 

Julie Quanstrom, Head of Neighbourhood First 
julie.quanstom@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

30 November 2023 

Medium term financial strategy Steven Houchin, Interim Deputy Chief Finance Officer 
steven.houchin@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  
 

30 November 2023 

Local council tax reduction scheme Bill McCafferty, Lead for Income Maximisation and 
Welfare bill.mccafferty@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

30 November 2023 

Council tax base and non-domestic rate income for 
2024/25 

Steven Houchin, Interim Deputy Chief Finance Officer 
(Corporate Finance) steven.houchin@lewes-
eastbourne.gov.uk  

30 November 2023 

Portfolio progress and performance report quarter 2 
- 2023-2024 

Luke Dreeling, Performance Lead 
luke.dreeling@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk  

30 November 2023 

 
 
Standing Items at all meetings of the Committee 
 
• Forward Plan of Decisions 
 
• Policy and Performance Advisory Committee Work Programme 

P
age 401

mailto:jo.wunsch@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:Nadeem.Din@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:julie.quanstom@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:steven.houchin@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:bill.mccafferty@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:steven.houchin@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:steven.houchin@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk
mailto:luke.dreeling@lewes-eastbourne.gov.uk


 
Policy and Performance Advisory Committee Work Programme 

2023/2024 
 
 
 

P
age 402


	Agenda
	Information for the public
	Accessibility:
	Filming/Recording:
	Public participation:

	Information for councillors
	Disclosure of interests:
	Councillor right of address:
	Other participation:

	Democratic Services

	1 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6a 2023 Air Quality Annual Status Report
	Lewes and Eastbourne_Appraisal Letter_2023. Air Quality
	ASR_Lewes_Eastbourne_2023_Final

	7 Requested reports due for consideration by the Cabinet on 9 November 2023
	7a Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy - Annual update 2023
	101 Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy - Appendix 1
	101 Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy - Appendix part 1 23-09-12 Cabinet LDC emission report FINAL 241023
	Lewes District Council Climate Change & Sustainability Update
	November 2023
	Contents
	P3
	1. Introduction
	P4
	2. Lewes District Council Carbon Emissions Report
	      2.1 Methodology
	      2.2 Data summary & review
	      2.3 Scope 3 emissions
	P9
	3. Lewes District Carbon Emissions Summary
	P11
	4. Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy- Strategic Action Areas Update
	P33
	5. Strategy Action Plan Update & Sustainability Indicators
	1. Introduction
	2. Lewes District Council Carbon Emissions Report
	2.1 Methodology
	2.2 Data summary & review
	April 2018 to March 2023

	3. Whole District Carbon Emissions Summary
	4. The Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy – Strategic Action Areas – Update 2023
	Summary of progress
	ENERGY & THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT
	Targets, facts and figures
	Case Studies
	SUSTAINABLE TRAVEL & AIR QUALITY
	Targets, Facts, and figures

	Case Studies
	BIODIVERSITY
	Targets, facts and figures
	Case Studies
	AGRICULTURE & FOOD
	Targets

	Case Studies
	REDUCING EMISSIONS FROM WASTE
	Case Studies
	WATER
	Case Studies
	CIRCULAR ECONOMY & COMMUNITY WEALTH

	5. Strategy action plan update and sustainability indicators

	101 Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy - Appendix Part 2
	LDC



	7b War Pensions and Armed Forces Compensation Policy
	7c Lewes Local Plan - Towards a Spatial Strategy and Policies Approaches
	Lewes Local Plan, Preferred Options and Policies Directions - Appendix 1 v2

	8 Forward Plan of Decisions
	Explanatory Note
	What is a key decision?
	What is budget and policy framework?
	Confidential and exempt information
	Further information

	9 Policy and Performance Advisory Committee Work Programme

